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CFPB Takes Action Against Auto Finance
Company for Distorting Borrower Credit
Reports
First Investors Fined $2.75 Million for Knowingly Providing Inaccurate
Information to Credit Reporting Agencies for Years


WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
taking action against an auto finance company that distorted consumer credit records
for years. Texas-based First Investors Financial Services Group Inc., which lends
primarily to subprime borrowers, failed to fix known flaws in a computer system that
was providing inaccurate information to credit reporting agencies. This potentially
harmed tens of thousands of its customers. Today the CFPB is ordering First Investors
to pay a $2.75 million fine, fix its errors, and change its business practices.


“First Investors showed careless disregard for its customers’ financial lives by
knowingly distorting their credit profiles for years,” said CFPB Director Richard
Cordray. “Companies cannot pass the buck by blaming a computer system or vendor for
their mistakes. Today’s action sends a signal that the CFPB will hold companies
accountable for sending inaccurate information to credit reporting agencies.”


A copy of the Consent Order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201408_cfpb_consent-order_first-investors.pdf


First Investors is a lending company that offers loans directly to consumers to finance
the purchase of motor vehicles. First Investors also offers loans indirectly to consumers
by working through auto dealers. The company specializes in lending to consumers with
impaired credit profiles; including consumers who have gone through bankruptcy.
Because the company services its own loans, it supplies information on its accounts to
the credit reporting agencies and is considered a furnisher under the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (FCRA).


First Investors is one of many thousands of voluntary data furnishers that provide
information to the credit reporting agencies. Furnishers are required by law to have
reasonable policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the
information they provide. Credit reporting agencies track a consumer’s credit history
and other consumer transactions based on information supplied by the furnishers. The
reports that they sell are used in determining everything from consumer eligibility for
credit to employment decisions.


The CFPB investigation found that First Investors furnished inaccurate information
about its customers to credit reporting agencies for at least three years. When First
Investors discovered the problem in April 2011, it notified the vendor but did nothing
more. The company did not replace the system or take any steps to correct the
inaccurate information it had supplied. It continued for years to use a system that it
knew was flawed. Tens of thousands of consumers were likely subject to these systemic
reporting problems.
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Specifically, the CFPB found that First Investors was providing distorted information to
the credit reporting agencies regarding how its customers were performing on their
accounts. The incorrect information First Investors reported included:


• Wrong payments and overdue amounts: First Investors provided
inaccurate information about how much consumers were paying toward their
debts. In many cases, First Investors understated the amounts its customers were
paying. When consumers made multiple payments within a single month, for
example, First Investors only reported one of the payments. This does not give
consumers full credit for keeping up with their loan obligations. First Investors
also overstated the dollar amount by which many of its customers were past due
on their accounts.


• Distorted dates: First Investors inaccurately reported many of its customers’
“date of first delinquency,” which is the date on which a consumer first became
late in paying back the loan. In most cases, First Investors was reporting the date
to be more recent than it actually was. The date an account first becomes
delinquent matters because it determines how long a delinquency can appear on a
consumer’s credit report. Inaccurate reporting of the age of a consumer’s
delinquency can cause it to appear on the consumer’s credit report longer than is
allowed by the FCRA.


• Inflated delinquencies: First Investors substantially inflated the number of
delinquencies for some customers when it reported customers’ last 24 months of
consecutive payment activity. In one case, First Investors reported that a
consumer was delinquent eleven times, when in fact the consumer had only been
delinquent twice.


• Mischaracterization of vehicle surrender:When loans reach a certain stage
of delinquency, First Investors has the option to repossess the car. Before that
happens, though, consumers have the option to voluntarily surrender their vehicle
and avoid a “repossession” showing up on their credit report. First Investors told
credit reporting agencies that some of its customers had their vehicles
repossessed, when in fact those individuals had voluntarily surrendered their
vehicles back to the lienholder.


Enforcement Action
First Investors violated the FCRA by inaccurately furnishing information and it violated
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act by misrepresenting
to consumers that the company would only furnish accurate information. The CFPB’s
order requires First Investors to take the following actions:


• Correct errors on credit reports: First Investors must identify all consumer
accounts affected by its reporting errors and fix any inaccuracies. The company
must either provide the correct information, or, in cases where accurate
information is not available, First Investors must delete references to the loan
altogether.


• Help consumers obtain free copies of their credit reports: First
Investors will identify and inform all affected consumers about this action. It will
also help all affected consumers receive free copies of their credit reports so
consumers can check the reports’ accuracy for themselves.


• Establish consumer safeguards: First Investors must change how it does
business and establish safeguards to ensure that it reports only accurate
information about its customers to credit reporting agencies. In addition, it must
ensure it has the staffing, facilities, systems, and information necessary to timely
and completely respond to consumer disputes. And, it must establish an audit
program to identify any systemic inaccuracies.
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• Pay a civil monetary penalty of $2.75 million: First Investors will pay a
$2.75 million fine for the illegal actions.


The CFPB will continue to enforce federal laws to ensure accuracy in credit reporting
and protect consumers from deceptive acts and practices. Consumers should check
their credit report for inaccuracies at least once a year. Consumers can order a free
credit report once every 12 months from AnnualCreditReport.com.


###


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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Supreme Court May Nix Disparate Impact 
in Fair Lending Enforcement  
 


 


Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates 


In recent years, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) and Department of Justice 


(DOJ) have increased fair lending enforcement under the disparate impact theory of liability. 


This term, however, the U.S. Supreme Court is set to rule in a case that could curtail or 


eliminate the use of disparate impact in the fair lending context. 


In a disparate impact case, a lender can be held liable if a facially neutral policy has an 


adverse impact on a protected group, unless the practice serves a legitimate business need that 


cannot reasonably be achieved by means that have less impact. 


The CFPB, DOJ and other agencies have embraced the disparate impact theory, applying it 


aggressively in numerous enforcement actions against banks, mortgage lenders, indirect auto 


finance companies and others. For example, in matters involving automobile financing, these 


agencies have used disparate impact in their efforts to hold finance companies liable for 


“markup” by automobile dealers. The CFPB and DOJ settled claims of this sort against Ally 


Bank in December 2013 and have since intensified their enforcement efforts. 


The CFPB and DOJ have pursued disparate impact cases in other contexts as well, including 


coordinated enforcement actions against Synchrony Bank in June 2014 for allegedly 


excluding Spanish-speaking borrowers and residents of Puerto Rico from certain credit card 


debt settlement offers. Similarly, the DOJ and CFPB settled a matter with National City Bank 


in December 2013 relating to discretionary mortgage pricing by loan officers. Federal 


agencies have brought disparate impact actions relating to a number of other practices, 


including unsecured consumer loan pricing, mortgage loan underwriting, loan securitization 


and minimum loan amount policies. 


While regulators have continued to pursue disparate impact actions, new questions have 


arisen as to whether the theory can withstand legal scrutiny. Many commentators have argued 


that the disparate impact theory of liability is not available under the two primary fair lending 


statutes — the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) and Fair Housing Act (FHA) — 


because those statutes lack language that the Supreme Court has found supports the theory in 


the employment and other contexts. 


In November 2014, a federal district court ruled that disparate impact is not a valid theory 


under the FHA, invalidating a recent rule by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 


Development. American Ins. Ass’n v. HUD, No. 13-00966, 2014 WL 5802283 (D.D.C. Nov. 


3, 2014). In so holding, the district court relied on Supreme Court precedents that indicate 


that a statute permits disparate impact only when it clearly states this — for example, by 


prohibiting not only actions that discriminate, but those that have the “effect” of creating 


disparities. The District of Columbia Circuit is the only federal circuit that does not have a 


binding precedent recognizing the disparate impact theory under the Fair Housing Act, 


making the decision unique — for now. 


On October 2, 2014, the Supreme Court granted certiorari in Texas Department of Housing 


and Community Affairs v. The Inclusive Communities Project, Inc., No. 13-1371, to decide 


whether the disparate impact theory is valid under the FHA. In this case, a community 


organization challenged a state housing agency’s allocation of low-income housing tax 
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credits in the Dallas area, claiming that the allocation of more credits in predominantly 


minority neighborhoods than in predominantly Caucasian neighborhoods perpetuated racial 


segregation and constituted illegal disparate impact in violation of the FHA. Given that there 


is no circuit split to resolve, the Supreme Court’s decision to hear the case suggests that the 


Court may be inclined to overrule the circuit courts and hold that disparate impact cannot be 


recognized under the FHA. Such a ruling would strongly support an argument that the 


disparate theory is likewise unavailable under ECOA. Oral argument in Inclusive 


Communities is scheduled for January 21, 2015, and a ruling is expected by the end of June. 


Agencies likely will continue to use the disparate impact theory well into 2015. Should the 


Supreme Court, however, hold that this theory is no longer available, the agencies will lose a 


primary fair lending enforcement tool. They would still have available the theory of disparate 


treatment, however, meaning more cases potentially would be brought alleging intentional or 


willful discrimination. 
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Our enforcement practice includes the representation of companies 
and individuals in investigations and litigation brought by the 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau; the U.S. Department of 
Justice; the Federal Trade Commission; the Department of Housing 
and Urban Development; federal bank regulators, including the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Office of the Comptroler 
of the Currency and the Federal Reserve Board; state attorneys 
general; congressional committees; and other federal and state 
enforcement and regulatory agencies.


We regularly represent financial services companies in federal and 
state consumer class action litigation, including lawsuits under the 
Fair Housing Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, and matters 
alleging Unfair, Deceptive or Abusive Acts or Practices, as well as 
matters brought under state consumer protection, sales practices, 
privacy and anti-discrimination statutes. 


Our group also has an active examination and regulatory compliance 
practice, providing ongoing advice regarding day-to-day complance, 
fair lending, statistical modeling and litigation risk management. We 
regularly assist clients in preparing for and managing the regulatory 
examination process and in responding to examination findings, and 
we provide ongoing advice regarding clients’ existing compliance 
and self-assessment programs. 


We also conduct internal investigations on behalf of clients 
and advise clients regarding compliance with the Dodd-Frank 
Act and other consumer protection laws. Our attorneys conduct 
regulatory and legal risk assessments for bank and non-bank entities 
considering strategic partnerships or acquisitions and conduct 
litigation and enforcement risk assessments.


Our group and attorneys have repeatedly been included in Chambers 
USA: America’s Leading Lawyers for Business.


Skadden’s Consumer Financial Services Group represents many 
of the nation’s leading banks, lenders, loan servicers, insurance 
companies and other consumer financial services companies 
in connection with government investigations, examinations, 
enforcement actions and class action litigation. We advise our clients 
on compliance with the Dodd-Frank Act and other federal and state 
laws, and in all aspects of their consumer financial products and 
services, including mortgage, credit card, auto and student lending 
and servicing; and deposit-related and ancillary products.


Consumer Financial 
Services
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CFPB Proposes New Federal Oversight of
Nonbank Auto Finance Companies
Bureau Supervision Uncovers Auto-Lending Discrimination at Banks and
Obtains $56Million for Harmed Consumers


WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
proposing to oversee larger nonbank auto finance companies for the first time at the
federal level. The Bureau also released a supervision report that details the auto-lending
discrimination that the Bureau has uncovered at banks. The report highlights that the
Bureau’s supervisory actions against banks will result in about $56 million in redress
for up to 190,000 consumers harmed by discriminatory practices.


“Many people depend on auto financing to pay for the car they need to get to work,”
said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Nonbank auto finance companies extend
hundreds of billions of dollars in credit to American consumers, yet they have never
been supervised at the federal level. We took action after we uncovered auto-lending
discrimination at banks we supervise. Today’s proposal would extend our oversight,
allowing us to root out discrimination and ensure consumers are being treated fairly
across this market.”


Cars are indispensable for most working Americans. Nearly 90 percent of the U.S.
workforce commutes to work by car. Auto loans are the third largest category of
household debt, behind mortgage and student loans. With the average loan for a new
car nearing $27,000, American consumers had 87.4 million outstanding auto loans
valued at nearly $900 billion in the first quarter of 2014. The leasing market also
continues to grow as more than a quarter of new cars are acquired through leases.


Auto loans are financed by both banks and nonbanks. Consumers can either get a loan
through direct financing where they seek credit directly from a lender or through
indirect financing where an auto dealer typically facilitates a loan from a third party.
Banks, credit unions, and nonbank auto finance companies provide credit to consumers
both directly and indirectly. Some nonbank finance companies are “captive” nonbanks,
meaning finance companies owned by auto manufacturers who generally do only
indirect lending.


Currently, the Bureau supervises large banks making auto loans, but not nonbank auto
finance companies. Today the CFPB is proposing to extend its supervision authority to
the larger participants of the nonbank auto finance market. Under the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd-Frank Act), the CFPB
has authority to supervise certain nonbanks the Bureau defines through rulemaking as
“larger participants” in a market.


Today’s proposed rule would generally allow the Bureau to supervise nonbank auto
finance companies that make, acquire, or refinance 10,000 or more loans or leases in a
year. The Bureau would be supervising them to ensure they are complying with federal
consumer financial law. The Bureau estimates that about 38 auto finance companies
would be subject to this new oversight. These companies originate around 90 percent of
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nonbank auto loans and leases, and in 2013 provided financing to approximately 6.8
million consumers.


Given the significance of car ownership in the lives of consumers, the CFPB wants to
make sure that auto lenders, including auto finance companies, are treating consumers
fairly throughout the life of loan by:


• Fairly marketing and disclosing auto financing: The Bureau wants to
make sure that auto finance companies who market directly to consumers are not
using deceptive tactics to market loans or leases. The Bureau would be concerned
if consumers are being misled about the benefits or terms of financial products.
The Bureau is also looking to ensure that consumers are getting terms they
understand and accept.


• Providing accurate information to credit bureaus: The Bureau wants to
make sure that information provided to the credit bureaus is accurate. The CFPB
recently took an enforcement action against an auto finance company that
distorted consumer credit records by inaccurately reporting information like the
consumer’s payment history and delinquency status to credit bureaus. The CFPB
is looking to prevent inaccurate information from being reported in the future.


• Treating consumers fairly when collecting debts: The Bureau wants to
make sure that auto finance companies are not using illegal debt collection tactics.
The Bureau has received complaints from consumers who say that their autos
have been repossessed while they are current on the loan or have a payment
arrangement in place. The Bureau also is looking to ensure that collectors are
relying on accurate information and using legal processes when they collect on
debts or repossess autos.


Today’s proposed rule is open for comment for 60 days after the rule is published in
the Federal Register.


Discrimination in the Auto-Lending Market
The CFPB is also concerned about discriminatory pricing in the auto-lending market.
When consumers receive indirect financing, often the finance company or other
indirect lender authorizes the dealer to mark up the interest rate. Markups lead to
dealers and indirect lenders charging different rates to similarly situated consumers,
which increases the risk of discrimination. Discriminatory markups on auto loans may
result in tens of millions of dollars in consumer harm each year.


In March 2013, the CFPB issued a bulletin reminding indirect auto lenders that
under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), it is illegal for a creditor to
discriminate in any aspect of a credit transaction on prohibited bases including race,
color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, and age.


Today the Bureau is releasing a new “Supervisory Highlights” report, which details the
auto-lending discrimination the CFPB has uncovered at banks under Bureau
supervision over the past two years. CFPB examiners found that these indirect auto
lenders had discretionary pricing policies that resulted in discrimination against
African-American, Hispanic, and Asian and Pacific Islander borrowers. As a result,
these borrowers paid more for their auto loans than similarly situated non-Hispanic
white borrowers.


When lenders have not followed the law, the Bureau has used both enforcement and
supervisory actions to direct institutions to obtain remediation to harmed consumers.
Recent non-public CFPB supervisory actions at indirect auto financing institutions
resulted in approximately $56 million in remediation for up to 190,000 consumers.
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To prevent discrimination from reoccurring at these lenders, the CFPB has identified at
least three possible ways institutions can limit their fair lending risk:


• Conduct internal monitoring for discrimination: Auto lenders should
monitor and correct for potential discrimination that stems from discretionary
pricing policies and address the effects of markup policies as part of a robust fair
lending compliance program.


• Limit discretionary markups: Indirect auto lenders can reduce the risk of
potential discrimination by limiting the discretion dealers have to mark up the
price of a loan financed by the lender.


• Eliminate dealer discretion for markups: Indirect auto lenders can also
lower their fair lending risk by eliminating dealers’ ability to markup the price of a
loan and fairly compensating dealers using a different mechanism.


Today’s supervisory highlights report is available
at: http://www.consumerfinance.gov/reports/supervisory-highlights-summer-2014/


Methodology for Evaluating Auto Lending
In order to evaluate a lender’s compliance with fair lending laws, CFPB examination
teams use a proxy methodology just as other federal supervisory agencies and many
private companies do. To proxy for race and national origin, exam teams rely on data
associated with consumers’ last names and places of residence. Census Bureau data is
first used to calculate the probability that an individual belongs to a specific race and
ethnicity based on their last name. Exam teams then update that probability based on
the demographics of the area in which the person resides again using Census Bureau
data.


The CFPB is releasing a white paper which details the precise methodology the Bureau
uses to calculate these probabilities, and is also releasing the Bureau’s computer code so
that lenders can perform the same analysis that the Bureau’s examination teams
perform. The white paper also reports on a study the Bureau has conducted which finds
that the integrated approach to building a proxy is more accurate than either surname
or geographic data individually.


More details on the CFPB’s proxy methodology for race and national origin
can be found at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/reports/using-publicly-available-information-to-
proxy-for-unidentified-race-and-ethnicity/


###
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit ConsumerFinance.gov.
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3 SUPERVISORY HIGHLIGHTS 


1. Introduction 
This special edition of Supervisory Highlights describes the Bureau’s fair lending supervisory 


activity in the indirect automobile lending market. Promoting a fair, equitable, and 


nondiscriminatory auto lending market is a priority for the Bureau. In March 2013, the Bureau 


issued the Indirect Auto Lending and Compliance with the Equal Credit Opportunity Act 


Bulletin (Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin),1 which reminded indirect auto lenders2 of their 


existing responsibilities under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA).3 It also noted the 


heightened fair lending risks associated with lenders’ pricing and compensation policies that 


allow auto dealers the discretion to increase (or “mark up”) the consumer’s interest rate and 


benefit from the increased interest revenue.  


Since issuing the Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin, the Bureau’s examination teams4 have 


continued to review indirect auto lenders for ECOA compliance. These targeted ECOA reviews 


generally have included an examination of three areas: credit approvals and denials, interest 


rates quoted by the lender to the dealer (the “buy rates”), and any discretionary markup or 


adjustments to the buy rate.  


                                                        


1 CFPB Bulletin 2013-02 (March 21, 2013), available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201303_cfpb_march_-


Auto-Finance-Bulletin.pdf. 


2 In contrast to direct financing, which occurs when a consumer finances a vehicle directly through a financial 


institution, indirect auto lending occurs when a consumer secures vehicle financing through the dealer, which 


typically originates the loan to the consumer and arranges financing through a third-party financial institution (the 


indirect lender). 


3 15 USC 1691-1691f. 


4 As used in this edition of Supervisory Highlights, an “examination team” generally includes personnel from 


multiple Bureau offices, including the Offices of Supervision Examinations, Supervision Policy, Fair Lending, and 


Research.  



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201303_cfpb_march_-Auto-Finance-Bulletin.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201303_cfpb_march_-Auto-Finance-Bulletin.pdf
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Whenever there is reason to believe that a lender’s discretionary pricing policies have resulted in 


a pattern or practice of discrimination in violation of the ECOA, the Bureau is required to refer 


the matter to the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ).5 Where appropriate, the Bureau and the 


DOJ coordinate investigations and resolutions of fair lending matters. However, a referral to the 


DOJ does not affect the Bureau’s authority to take independent corrective action.  


During the last two years, multiple supervisory reviews have identified indirect auto lenders 


with discretionary pricing policies that resulted in discrimination against African-American, 


Hispanic, and/or Asian and Pacific Islander borrowers in violation of the ECOA.6 These 


institutions maintained discretionary pricing policies while not adequately monitoring and 


controlling the fair lending risk associated with their policies. Examination and enforcement 


teams have already reached resolutions with several supervised institutions that will collectively 


pay about $136 million to provide redress for up to 425,000 consumers, an average of more 


than $300 per consumer. For example, together with the DOJ, the Bureau took public 


enforcement action against Ally Financial Inc. and Ally Bank (collectively, Ally) in December 


2013, requiring Ally to pay $80 million to address harm to about 235,000 borrowers. 


Supervisory resolutions with several other auto lenders will account for the remaining 


approximately $56 million to provide redress for up to 190,000 consumers. In addition to the 


matters discussed above, there are additional supervisory reviews that have cited ECOA 


violations at other auto lending institutions, and examination and enforcement teams are 


actively working toward resolutions for the harmed consumers in each of these matters. 


When examination teams have determined that discrimination has occurred and corrective 


action is necessary, the indirect auto lender was directed to pay remediation sufficient to 


address direct and indirect consumer harm from the examination period through the date of the 


resolution addressing the discrimination. To the extent that a lender has chosen to maintain 


discretionary pricing policies, examination teams have directed the lender to establish and 


                                                        


5 See Memorandum of Understanding between the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and the United States 


Department of Justice Regarding Fair Lending Coordination 7 (Dec. 6, 2012), available at 


http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_doj-fair-lending-mou.pdf [MOU Regarding Fair Lending]; see 


also 15 USC 1691e(g). 


6 As used in this document, “African American” includes “Black or African American,” “Hispanic” includes “Hispanic 


or Latino,” and “Asian and Pacific Islander” includes both “Asian” and “Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander,” 


as defined by the Office of Management and Budget. See Revisions to the Standards for the Classification of Federal 


Data on Race and Ethnicity (Oct. 30, 1997), available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/fedreg_1997standards. 



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_doj-fair-lending-mou.pdf

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/fedreg_1997standards
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maintain strong compliance management to prevent, detect, and remediate future disparities in 


pricing on prohibited bases. Supervisory and enforcement resolutions have also directed 


indirect auto lenders to limit maximum allowable discretionary markup.  


Already, as a result of these supervisory actions, some lenders are more stringently monitoring 


dealers and, when monitoring reveals evidence suggesting discrimination, implementing 


additional limits to discretionary pricing adjustments or taking other appropriate action to 


manage or reduce the lender’s fair lending risk. Further, supervisory resolutions will result in 


prompt remuneration of affected consumers when pricing analysis reveals unexplained 


disparities on a prohibited basis. Although approaches vary, some lenders are instituting 


remuneration of affected consumers as frequently as monthly by adjusting interest rates to 


address emerging disparities, in addition to regular compliance management that includes 


annual analysis of portfolio pricing.  


Supervisory experience suggests that significantly limiting discretionary pricing adjustments—


for example, imposing limits of 100 basis points, rather than the more common limits of 200 or 


250 basis points—may reduce or even effectively eliminate pricing disparities.7 An institution 


that implements significant limits on discretionary pricing may find that it can significantly 


reduce certain compliance management activities, such as dealer-specific monitoring and 


discipline, to which the institution would otherwise need to devote significant attention and 


resources. 


Alternatively, the indirect auto lender could choose to adopt non-discretionary dealer 


compensation policies. Since publication of the Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin, several indirect 


auto lenders have chosen to fully implement or pilot policies that do not rely on discretionary 


markup to compensate dealers.  


As with all lending products, fair lending examination teams expect indirect auto lenders to use 


underwriting and risk-based pricing practices that appropriately take into account objective 


factors, including borrower creditworthiness, the characteristics of the collateral, and the terms 


of the transaction. The supervisory focus on indirect auto lending, however, has been primarily 


concerned with the fair lending risk created by lenders’ policies that compensate dealers by 


                                                        


7 250 basis points equal 2.5 percentage points. Basis points often denote interest rate variations. 
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allowing them the discretion to mark up each consumer’s interest rate after the lender has 


already underwritten the consumer’s loan application and generated a risk-based price.  


Given the fair lending risk associated with discretionary pricing policies affecting dealer 


compensation, indirect auto lending remains a significant focus of supervisory reviews, 


especially for indirect auto lenders that maintain discretionary markup policies and have not yet 


been subject to a fair lending review. Examination teams will continue to review lenders for 


compliance with Federal consumer financial law, and take supervisory action as appropriate to 


reduce fair lending risk and to promote a fair and competitive auto lending market for 


consumers. 


Questions or comments can be directed to CFPB_Supervision@cfpb.gov.  



mailto:CFPB_Supervision@cfpb.gov
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2. Supervising indirect auto 
lenders – authority, methods, 
and procedures 


In the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd-Frank 


Act),8 Congress gave the Bureau the authority to supervise larger depository institutions with 


more than $10 billion in assets, and their affiliates.9 These institutions include a number of 


indirect auto lenders. The Bureau is also authorized to supervise nonbanks that are larger 


participants in other markets, as defined by a Bureau rule.10 To provide more complete oversight 


of the auto financing market, the Bureau has proposed a rule to define larger participants in this 


market.11 In addition to its supervisory authority, and subject to certain exceptions, the Dodd-


Frank Act also gives the Bureau enforcement authority over both banks and nonbanks in the 


auto lending market, including “captive” auto lenders.12 


Consistent with the jurisdiction granted by the Dodd-Frank Act, the Bureau uses both 


supervisory and enforcement tools to ensure compliance with Federal consumer financial laws, 


                                                        


8 Pub L No 111-203, 124 Stat 1376 (2010) (codified at 12 USC 5301 et seq.).  


9 See 12 USC 5515. 


10 See 12 USC 5514(a)(1)(B), (b). 


11 Defining Larger Participants of the Automobile Financing Market (proposed Sept. 2014) (to be codified at 12 CFR 


Parts 1001 and 1090), available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_proposed-rule_lp-v_auto-


financing.pdf. 


12 See 12 USC 5563, 5564. Captive auto lenders are indirect auto lenders that are directly affiliated with a particular 


automobile manufacturer.  



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_proposed-rule_lp-v_auto-financing.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_proposed-rule_lp-v_auto-financing.pdf
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including the ECOA. The ECOA and its implementing regulation, Regulation B, make it illegal 


for a “creditor” to discriminate against any applicant in any aspect of a credit transaction 


because of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age, receipt of income from 


any public assistance program, or the exercise, in good faith, of a right under the Consumer 


Credit Protection Act.13 Consistent with statements by the Interagency Task Force on Fair 


Lending,14 the Bureau has indicated that it will consider evidence of disparate treatment and 


disparate impact in identifying lending discrimination under the ECOA.15  


As noted in the Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin, the ECOA applies to indirect auto lenders that, 


in the ordinary course of business, regularly participate in the credit decision.16 Supervisory 


reviews have revealed that indirect auto lenders’ standard policies and practices related to 


underwriting and pricing often constitute participation in a credit decision.17 The following 


section addresses what indirect auto lenders can expect of a targeted ECOA review and the 


methodologies that examination teams employ in evaluating ECOA compliance in this context. 


2.1 The targeted ECOA review 
Bureau examination teams rely on the Interagency Fair Lending Examination Procedures18 


and the Bureau’s ECOA Examination Procedures19 in conducting a targeted ECOA review. 


                                                        


13 See 15 USC 1691(a); 12 CFR 1002.2(z), 1002.4. 


14 See Policy Statement on Discrimination in Lending, 59 Fed Reg 18,266 (Apr. 15, 1994), available at 


http://www.occ.treas.gov/news-issuances/federal-register/94fr9214.pdf.  


15 See CFPB Bulletin 2012-04 at 2 (Apr. 18, 2012), available at 


http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201404_cfpb_bulletin_lending_discrimination.pdf [Lending Discrimination 


Bulletin]. 


16 See Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin, supra note 1, at 2-3 (citing 15 USC 1691a(e); 12 CFR 1002.2(l)). 


17 See also Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin, supra note 1, at 2-3. 


18 Interagency Fair Lending Examination Procedures (Aug. 2009), available at 


http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervision-and-examination-manual-v2.pdf. 


19 ECOA Examination Procedures (Oct. 2012), available at 


http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervision-and-examination-manual-v2.pdf. 



http://www.occ.treas.gov/news-issuances/federal-register/94fr9214.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201404_cfpb_bulletin_lending_discrimination.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervision-and-examination-manual-v2.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervision-and-examination-manual-v2.pdf
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Examination teams evaluate ECOA compliance in light of a particular lender’s business model, 


the product type, and other unique facts and circumstances. The typical targeted ECOA review 


of an indirect auto lender includes a review of the lender’s relevant policies, procedures, and fair 


lending compliance management. As mentioned above, examination teams also typically 


consider statistical analyses of three areas: credit approvals and denials, buy rates, and any 


discretionary markup or adjustment to the buy rate.  


The first step in a targeted ECOA review is to identify areas of fair lending risk. One indicator of 


fair lending risk is policies and procedures that allow for broad discretion in underwriting, 


pricing, and compensation decisions.20 When a review identifies lender policies that allow broad 


discretion without appropriate monitoring and controls, examination teams may evaluate 


whether such policies result in violations of the ECOA and Regulation B.  


Regarding the indirect auto lender’s compliance management, previous editions of Supervisory 


Highlights have indicated the importance of strong compliance management in adhering to 


consumer financial laws, including, for lenders, strong fair lending compliance management.21 


Key components of such systems are preventative measures—such as limits on discretionary 


markups—and self-monitoring, which often includes statistical analyses to identify disparities 


on a prohibited basis. In the context of a lender’s discretionary pricing policies, 


self-monitoring—and appropriate corrective action if potential discrimination is detected—is 


important to managing the fair lending risk inherent in such systems. Accordingly, targeted 


ECOA reviews of indirect auto lenders will generally review mechanisms for prevention, 


monitoring, corrective action, and other aspects of the lender’s compliance management. 


Examination teams may also conduct statistical analyses of lending data to identify evidence of 


discrimination. Such analyses may include the use of regression models to test whether a 


specific policy results in unlawful differences based on race, national origin, or other prohibited 


basis characteristics. In analyzing lending data for statistical disparities, examination teams 


typically construct regression models based on the particular institution’s specific policies and 


practices, which vary from institution to institution and may also vary by product and product 


                                                        


20 See Interagency Fair Lending Examination Procedures, supra note 18, at 15. 


21 See Supervisory Highlights: Fall 2012 at 6, available at 


http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervisory-highlights-fall-2012.pdf. 



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervisory-highlights-fall-2012.pdf
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characteristic. For this reason, for each institution subject to review, examination teams may 


construct multiple regression models and tailor different models by including controls that 


reflect the institution’s various policies, practices, and products, as well as any additional factors 


identified by the examination team or the institution.  


A regression model to detect disparities on a prohibited basis in the buy rate that the lender 


quotes the dealer, for example, typically must control for characteristics appropriate to setting 


the buy rate. In general, such a model will consider creditworthiness factors, such as credit 


scores and debt-to-income ratios; characteristics of the collateral; and terms of the deal, such as 


the amount financed, down payments, the existence of a manufacturer discounted rate, and the 


term of the loan, as these factors are typically taken into account by lenders in arriving at the 


appropriate buy rate.  


Controls that may be appropriate to a statistical analysis of buy rates may not be appropriate in 


an analysis of dealer markup, however. Such controls may not be appropriate to a dealer 


markup analysis because, when the dealer considers applying a discretionary markup, the 


indirect auto lender’s underwriting and pricing systems have often already considered risk-


based factors related to creditworthiness, the characteristics of the collateral, and the terms of 


the transaction. Absent a showing of a legitimate business need, it is generally not appropriate to 


consider such factors for a second time in conducting an analysis of dealer markup to identify 


disparities on a prohibited basis. 


2.2 The use of proxy methodology in 
supervision 


Regulation B generally prohibits a creditor from inquiring “about the race, color, religion, 


national origin, or sex of an applicant or any other person in connection with a credit 


transaction,”22 with a few exceptions, including for home mortgages covered under the Home 


                                                        


22 12 CFR 1002.5(b). 
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Mortgage Disclosure Act.23 For this reason, information on race, ethnicity, and sex is typically 


not collected as part of an auto lending transaction or a transaction involving other non-


mortgage consumer lending products. In the context of discussing comparative file reviews, the 


Interagency Fair Lending Examination Procedures provide that when direct evidence of a 


particular prohibited basis characteristic is not otherwise available, “[a] surrogate for a 


prohibited basis group characteristic may be used to set up a comparative analysis with control 


group applicants or borrowers.”24 Similarly, when analyzing lending data for prohibited 


disparities, Bureau examination teams, other federal supervisory and enforcement agencies, and 


many lenders use a proxy methodology to differentiate among consumers based upon race, 


national origin, and sex. The concept of using proxies for unavailable data is a mathematical and 


statistical approach used across disciplines.25  


When utilizing a proxy, examination teams are using a borrower’s name and geographic 


information to match data that are publicly available from the Social Security Administration 


and the United States Census Bureau. In general, the proxy methodology used depends on the 


characteristic being proxied. For example, to proxy for sex, examination teams are relying on a 


first-name database from the Social Security Administration that reports counts of individuals 


by sex and birth year for first names occurring at least five times for a particular sex in a birth 


year.26 In such a case, the proxy method assigns a probability that a particular applicant is 


female based on the distribution of the population across sex categories (male or female) for the 


applicant’s first name. 


                                                        


23 See 12 CFR 1002.5(a)(2), 1002.13. For the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act and its implementing regulation, 


Regulation C, see 12 USC 2801-2810 and 12 CFR Part 1003. For the Regulation B provisions concerning requests for 


information generally, see 12 CFR 1002.5. 


24 Interagency Fair Lending Examination Procedures, supra note 18, at 19. 


25 See Marc N. Elliott et al., Using the Census Bureau’s Surname List to Improve Estimates of Race/Ethnicity and 


Associated Disparities, Health Services & Outcomes Research Methodology 69-83 (June 2009); Using Publicly 


Available Information to Proxy for Unidentified Race and Ethnicity: A Methodology and Assessment (Sept. 2014), 


available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_report_proxy-methodology.pdf [Proxy Methodology 


and Assessment]. 


26 Social Security Administration, Beyond the Top 1000 Names (Sept. 12, 2014, 3:01 pm), 


http://ssa.gov/oact/babynames/limits.html. 



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_report_proxy-methodology.pdf

http://ssa.gov/oact/babynames/limits.html
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There are several methods that can be used to proxy for race and national origin. One common 


method for proxying the probability that an applicant is Hispanic or Asian is to use the surname 


database published by the Census Bureau.27 Another method to proxy for race and national 


origin—typically referred to as “geocoding”—uses the demographics of the census geography 


(e.g., census tract, block group, or block) in which an individual’s residence is located, and 


assigns probabilities about the individual’s race or national origin based on the demographics of 


that area. This method may be used, for example, to proxy the probability that an applicant is 


African-American, Hispanic, or Asian or Pacific Islander.  


To proxy for race and national origin in the non-mortgage context, examination teams are using 


a proxy method that integrates both the surname and geographical approaches described above, 


called Bayesian Improved Surname Geocoding (BISG).28 The BISG method combines the 


respective probabilities generated by the surname and geographical proxies. Published academic 


research has found that the integrated approach produces proxies that correlate highly with self-


reported race and ethnicity data and are more accurate than using surname or geography 


alone.29 The Bureau’s own analysis demonstrates that the BISG proxy probability, which assigns 


an individual probability of inclusion in a prohibited-basis group, is more accurate than a 


geography-only or surname-only proxy in its ability to predict individual applicants’ reported 


race and ethnicity and generally more accurate than a geography-only or surname-only proxy at 


approximating the overall reported distribution of race and ethnicity.30 The BISG methodology 


has evolved over time and will continue to evolve as enhancements are identified that improve 


accuracy and performance. 


There are proxy methods for race and national origin that use nonpublic information, such as 


proprietary databases developed in the private sector matching first or middle names to certain 


racial or ethnic groups. However, for the purpose of conducting supervisory work, examination 


teams use proxy methods that rely solely on public data so that lenders can, if they choose, 


                                                        


27 United States Census Bureau, Genealogy Data: Frequently Occurring Surnames from Census 2000 (Sept. 12, 2014, 


3:02 pm), http://census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/index.html. 


28 See Proxy Methodology and Assessment, supra note 25. 


29 See Elliott, supra note 25. 


30 See Proxy Methodology and Assessment, supra note 25. 



http://census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/index.html
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replicate these proxy methods without the need to recreate or purchase proprietary databases as 


part of their own fair lending compliance management. There may be other proxy 


methodologies that would also be appropriate in particular circumstances, and examination 


teams consider analyses based on such methodologies when provided by lenders. 


2.3 What to expect if the examination 
reveals potential violations 


If the examination team finds statistically significant disparities on a prohibited basis or other 


evidence of possible discrimination, the Office of Fair Lending will send a letter stating its 


preliminary findings and inviting the institution to provide additional information for 


consideration in determining whether the institution has violated the ECOA. In appropriate 


circumstances, the Office of Fair Lending’s notification may now include the unique, custom 


computer code or scripts used to prepare analytical data and perform statistical analyses, 


including regression modeling. Additionally, the Office of Fair Lending notifies the institution 


that if the potential legal violations constitute a pattern or practice of lending discrimination, the 


Bureau is required to refer the findings to the DOJ.31 Resolutions arising from supervisory 


findings are based on a case-by-case assessment to determine the appropriate corrective action, 


including supervisory or enforcement resolutions.32 


In addition, if the Bureau is required to refer the lender to the DOJ based on a pattern or 


practice of discrimination, the DOJ may elect to open an investigation, initiate a civil action, or 


defer resolution to the Bureau.33 Findings of disparities in discretionary markup in an indirect 


auto lender’s portfolio typically constitute a pattern or practice of discrimination if the 


disparities cannot be justified by “a legitimate business need that cannot reasonably be achieved 


                                                        


31 See MOU Regarding Fair Lending, supra note 5, at 7; see also 15 USC 1691e(g). 


32 For information on the factors that the Bureau considers related to responsible business conduct, see CFPB Bulletin 


2013-06 (June 25, 2013), available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_bulletin_responsible-


conduct.pdf. 


33 See MOU Regarding Fair Lending, supra note 5, 7-9. 



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_bulletin_responsible-conduct.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_bulletin_responsible-conduct.pdf
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as well by means that are less disparate in their impact.”34 Where both the Bureau and the DOJ 


determine that they will take actions related to the potential violation, they seek to coordinate 


that action in a consistent and complementary manner.35 However, a referral to the DOJ does 


not affect the Bureau’s authority to take independent supervisory or enforcement action. 


                                                        


34 12 CFR 1002, Supp I, 1002.6, 6(a)-2. See also Lending Discrimination Bulletin, supra note 15, at 2-3. 


35 See MOU Regarding Fair Lending, supra note 5, at 8. 
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3. Supervisory observations 
To date, examination teams have conducted targeted ECOA reviews at institutions that 


represent over 30 percent of the indirect auto lending market. Many, but not all, of these 


indirect auto lending examinations have revealed illegal discrimination and a need for corrective 


action. Examination teams found that indirect auto lending policies that allow discretionary 


markups affecting dealer compensation often resulted in disparities in dealer markup based on 


race and/or national origin. Examination teams generally determined that these disparities 


could not be explained by a legitimate business need that was not reasonably achievable as well 


by means less disparate in their impact. In many instances, these disparities persisted across the 


institution’s entire indirect auto lending portfolio. In other cases, disparities were limited to 


certain products or programs and did not exist in other areas of the institution’s auto lending 


business.  


Examination teams also observed that indirect auto lenders often limit discretionary dealer 


markup to between 200 and 250 basis points. Yet examination teams found that indirect auto 


lenders often do not otherwise engage in significant monitoring and internal control of the fair 


lending risk related to their discretionary pricing policies and practices. In contrast, supervisory 


activity identified some auto lending products that significantly limit, by policy, discretionary 


dealer pricing adjustments. Supervisory experience suggests that where these significant limits 


on discretionary pricing have been in effect, they may result in considerable reductions or 


effective elimination of markup disparities for the particular product or business line subject to 


the limit. Thus, supervisory experience suggests that significant limits on markup, such as a 


limit of 100 basis points, may reduce fair lending risk and significantly reduce the need for 


certain compliance management activities. When institutions did not implement significant 


controls on discretionary pricing adjustments and did not engage in strong compliance 


management, fair lending examination teams have generally identified statistically significant 


disparities in dealer markup. 
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3.1 Remedial action involving indirect auto 
lenders 


Examinations of indirect auto lenders have found disparities in dealer markup and have resulted 


in supervisory resolutions with some institutions and an enforcement resolution against Ally 


Financial Inc. and Ally Bank. Thus, examination and enforcement teams have already reached 


resolutions with several institutions that will collectively pay about $136 million to provide 


redress to up to 425,000 consumers. Redress directed by such resolutions has included damages 


for direct and indirect harm to affected consumers.  As a result of these supervisory actions, 


some lenders are more stringently monitoring dealers and, when monitoring reveals evidence 


suggesting discrimination, are implementing additional limits to discretionary pricing 


adjustments or taking other appropriate action to manage or reduce their fair lending risk. As 


noted in the April 2014 Fair Lending Report of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau36 


and The Attorney General’s 2013 Annual Report to Congress Pursuant to the ECOA 


Amendments of 1976,37 discrimination in auto lending continues to be an area of focus for the 


Bureau and the DOJ.  


3.1.1 Non-public supervisory actions 


When appropriate, the Office of Fair Lending and the Office of Supervision have reached non-


public supervisory resolutions with institutions to address identified discrimination on a 


prohibited basis across indirect auto lending portfolios. As a result, supervisory resolutions have 


directed indirect auto lenders to pay about $56 million to provide redress for up to 190,000 


consumers. Corrective action in the supervisory context in many ways mirrors corrective action 


in the public enforcement context. Supervisory resolutions have, to date, directed remediation 


sufficient to address consumer harm for past disparities in dealer markup, based on a 


methodology that is appropriately designed to distribute funds to harmed consumers. In 


addition, examination teams directed the supervised institutions to address the aspects of their 


businesses that gave rise to the fair lending risk. Consistent with the enforcement resolution 


with Ally, supervisory resolutions have not required institutions to adopt a single compliance 


                                                        


36 Available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201404_cfpb_report_fair-lending.pdf. 


37 Available at http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/hce/documents/ecoareport2013.pdf. 



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201404_cfpb_report_fair-lending.pdf

http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/hce/documents/ecoareport2013.pdf
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alternative. Instead, institutions have the choice to adopt compliance mechanisms that suit their 


particular business structure, provided that the institution addresses the policies and practices 


that resulted in the disparities in dealer markup. A discussion of some compliance options 


follows in Section 3.2.  


The institutions also were directed to remunerate harmed consumers on a prospective basis if 


compliance mechanisms do not eliminate disparities in dealer markup in the future. Supervisory 


actions will result in prompt remuneration of affected consumers when pricing analysis reveals 


unexplained disparities on a prohibited basis. Although approaches vary, some lenders are 


instituting remuneration of affected consumers as frequently as monthly by adjusting interest 


rates to address emerging disparities, in addition to regular compliance management that 


includes an annual analysis of portfolio pricing. Unlike enforcement resolutions, supervisory 


resolutions do not include the possibility of civil money penalties. 


3.1.2 Public enforcement activity 


On December 20, 2013, the Bureau and the DOJ announced an enforcement action and 


concurrent consent orders that required Ally to pay $80 million to establish a settlement fund to 


provide redress to consumers who were harmed by Ally’s discretionary pricing policy between 


April 2011 and December 2013.38 The policy resulted in illegal discrimination against 


approximately 235,000 African-American, Hispanic, and Asian and Pacific Islander borrowers. 


In addition, the consent orders required Ally to hire a settlement administrator to distribute 


funds to harmed borrowers identified by the Bureau and the DOJ. The administrator must be 


accessible to victims on a cost-free basis and ensure that impacted borrowers receive 


compensation. In addition, Ally was directed to pay an $18 million civil money penalty.  


Pursuant to the consent orders, Ally will monitor discretionary dealer markups to prevent future 


discrimination or may choose to eliminate discretionary dealer markup policies altogether. Ally 


is required to implement a compliance program to prevent future discrimination, including: 


dealer education, dealer monitoring and prompt corrective action against dealers when there are 


dealer-level disparities in loan pricing, and portfolio-wide analysis of pricing data for disparities 


                                                        


38 See CFPB and DOJ Order Ally to Pay $80 Million to Consumers Harmed by Discriminatory Auto Loan Pricing (Dec. 


20, 2013), available at http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-and-doj-order-ally-to-pay-80-million-


to-consumers-harmed-by-discriminatory-auto-loan-pricing/. 



http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-and-doj-order-ally-to-pay-80-million-to-consumers-harmed-by-discriminatory-auto-loan-pricing/

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-and-doj-order-ally-to-pay-80-million-to-consumers-harmed-by-discriminatory-auto-loan-pricing/
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and consumer remuneration if Ally detects disparities. In the alternative, Ally can decide to 


move away from discretionary pricing affecting dealer compensation to a non-discretionary 


dealer compensation structure, which would eliminate Ally’s obligation to monitor the fair 


lending risk of its policy permitting discretionary dealer markups and reduce Ally’s overall fair 


lending compliance responsibilities. The Bureau is currently engaged in additional enforcement 


investigations involving other indirect auto lenders.  


3.2 Mitigating fair lending risk 
When addressing discrimination in indirect auto lending, a key component of supervisory 


resolutions has been to direct the lender to adopt policies and practices that effectively mitigate 


fair lending risk. Supervisory and enforcement experience has identified three possible methods 


of mitigating the fair lending risk associated with auto lending policies that allow discretionary 


pricing adjustments; however, there may be other methods, and examination teams recognize 


that the appropriate program will vary among financial institutions. One alternative is to 


monitor and, if necessary, correct disparities through a strong compliance management system. 


Another alternative is to implement policies that limit the maximum discretionary pricing 


adjustment to an amount that significantly reduces or eliminates disparities and fair lending 


risk. This option may significantly reduce but will not eliminate compliance activities related to 


discretionary pricing. A third alternative is to eliminate discretionary dealer adjustments to risk-


based buy rates altogether and fairly compensate dealers using a non-discretionary mechanism 


that does not result in discrimination. By eliminating dealer pricing discretion, the lender 


eliminates the need for monitoring of discretionary dealer pricing adjustments. Each of these 


three options is discussed in detail below.  


Innovation and experience may provide other effective alternatives to mitigating fair lending 


risk in indirect auto lending. Further, no one alternative is necessarily exclusive of the others 


and hybrid approaches may effectively mitigate fair lending risk. For example, a combination of 


tighter limits on discretionary pricing and compliance management may significantly reduce fair 


lending risk. Alternatively, adopting a non-discretionary dealer compensation program or 


imposing strict limits on discretionary pricing may significantly reduce an institution’s fair 


lending risk, thereby requiring fewer resources for compliance management.  
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3.2.1 Fair lending compliance management systems 


In prior issues of Supervisory Highlights, the Bureau has identified the following common 


features found at financial institutions with well-developed fair lending compliance systems: 


 An up-to-date fair lending policy statement;  


 Regular fair lending training for all employees involved with any aspect of the 


institution’s credit transactions, as well as all officers and board members;  


 Ongoing monitoring for compliance with fair lending policies and procedures;  


 Ongoing monitoring for compliance with other policies and procedures that are intended 


to reduce fair lending risk (such as controls on loan originator discretion);  


 Review of lending policies for potential fair lending violations, including potential 


disparate impact;  


 Depending on the size and complexity of the financial institution, regular statistical 


analysis of loan data for potential disparities on a prohibited class basis in pricing, 


underwriting, or other aspects of the credit transaction;  


 Regular assessment of the marketing of loan products; and 


 Meaningful oversight of fair lending compliance by management and, where 


appropriate, the financial institution’s board of directors.39 


Elaborating on these elements, the Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin identified a number of 


features of a strong fair lending compliance program that may be effective in mitigating fair 


lending risk for indirect auto lenders.40 Supervisory and enforcement experience provides 


further guidance. Institutions that choose to permit discretionary pricing affecting dealer 


compensation after an examination revealing discrimination on a basis prohibited by the ECOA 


have been directed to take the following corrective actions to ensure strong fair lending 


compliance management: 


                                                        


39 Supervisory Highlights: Fall 2012, supra note 21, at 6. 


40 See Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin, supra note 1, at 4-5. 
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 Maintaining appropriate limits on maximum rate spread between the institution’s buy 


rate and the contract rate of the auto loan;  


 Sending regular communications to all participating dealers explaining the ECOA, 


stating the lender’s expectations with respect to ECOA compliance, and articulating the 


dealer’s obligation to mark up interest rates in a non-discriminatory manner in instances 


where such markups are permitted;  


 Conducting regular analyses of both dealer-specific and portfolio-wide loan pricing data 


for potential disparities on a prohibited basis resulting from discretionary pricing 


policies, including: 


 using only controls that reflect legitimate, nondiscriminatory, demonstrated factors 


when analyzing the discretionary pricing adjustments (as discussed above, controls 


appropriate in analyzing the lender buy rate may not be appropriate in analyzing 


subsequent discretionary pricing adjustments); and 


 applying a reasonable proxy when analyzing loans for disparities based on race or 


ethnicity (see Section 2.2 for a discussion of proxy methodologies);  


 Commencing prompt corrective action against dealers, when analysis identifies 


unexplained, statistically significant disparities on a prohibited basis, including: 


 providing dealer education and training, as well as assisting the dealer in developing 


a strong fair lending compliance management system; 


 restricting or eliminating the dealer’s discretion to adjust the buy rate; or 


 excluding dealers from future transactions when the disparities cannot be corrected 


or explained by a legitimate, nondiscriminatory, and demonstrated factor; 


 Promptly remunerating affected consumers—including issuing checks, providing 


account credits, or adjusting interest rates—sufficient to address consumer harm, when 


unexplained disparities on a prohibited basis are identified by an institution across its 


portfolio using a regression model and proxy method that are appropriately designed to 


identify harmed consumers.  


Supervisory experience has identified an array of possible approaches to dealer monitoring and 


corrective action. Effective dealer monitoring programs generally set a reasonable minimum 


volume requirement to identify dealers with sufficient transactions with the indirect lender to 
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permit effective statistical analysis for prohibited basis disparities. At the same time, any 


approach to dealer monitoring should ensure broad coverage of dealers conducting business 


with the indirect lender to maximize risk mitigation. Supervisory experience suggests multiple 


approaches to setting this minimum volume requirement, but the approach chosen should 


consider sufficient information for a large enough pool of applicants to permit sound statistical 


analysis of the prohibited basis groups identified for testing. Supervisory experience suggests 


such an analysis may be difficult or may result in statistical anomalies when a dealer has limited 


transactions with the indirect lender. A strong dealer monitoring program will appropriately 


weigh this consideration while also ensuring broad coverage of participating dealers. Such 


minimum volume requirements would only apply to dealer-specific monitoring, rather than the 


portfolio-level analyses. 


Robust processes to monitor and correct for potential discrimination resulting from 


discretionary pricing policies can be critical to ensuring compliance with the ECOA. Supervisory 


experience is that the scope of the monitoring regime may appropriately vary based on the 


nature, size, and complexity of the institution’s auto lending operations. However, examination 


teams have observed that implementing a compliance management system that includes most of 


the above elements can reduce disparities or quickly address them, thereby significantly 


mitigating fair lending risk.  


In general, if a lender involved in an examination is not sure whether its compliance 


management system or corrective actions adequately address potential fair lending risk, the 


lender can contact the Office of Fair Lending or the Office of Supervision for input on specific 


questions by emailing CFPB_Supervision@cfpb.gov. 


3.2.2 Limits on maximum allowable discretionary pricing 
adjustments 


Based on supervisory experience, indirect auto lenders may also substantially mitigate fair 


lending risk by significantly limiting the maximum allowable discretionary pricing adjustment 


that a dealer can make for a loan financed by the lender. For example, fair lending reviews to 


date have found no actionable disparities associated with certain auto lending products or 


business lines that limit, by policy, discretionary pricing adjustments to significantly less than 


200 or 250 basis points (for example, limits of 100 basis points). Imposing such limits on 


discretionary pricing adjustments does not completely eliminate all fair lending risk, though it 


can effectively mitigate such risk. Strict limits on discretionary pricing adjustments may result 


in significant reductions in portfolio-level disparities in dealer markup and ease reliance on 
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compliance management alone to address disparities. For example, an institution that 


implements significant limits on discretionary pricing may find that it can significantly reduce 


certain compliance activities, such as dealer-specific monitoring and corrective action, to which 


the institution would otherwise need to devote significant attention and resources. As with any 


policy that limits but does not eliminate discretion, limits on discretionary pricing adjustments 


require ongoing monitoring of fair lending risk at each stage of the transaction across the 


lender’s portfolio. Yet, if successful in reducing or eliminating disparities, limits on discretionary 


pricing reduce or eliminate the need for portfolio-level remediation. 


3.2.3 Dealer compensation not based on discretionary 
markup 


The Bureau remains concerned about indirect lending programs built around discretion and 


financial incentives that create fair lending risks. As described above, when a lender allows for 


discretionary pricing affecting dealer compensation, the lender should employ strong controls or 


engage in robust compliance management to address the potential for discrimination. The 


Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin also noted that lenders may choose to adopt alternative pricing 


policies as a method of addressing fair lending risks.41  


During the last year, supervisory experience has revealed that some entities have chosen to 


develop dealer compensation policies not based on discretionary markup. In addition, industry 


participants have identified several possible models of non-discretionary dealer compensation. 


One model compensates dealers using the same fixed amount for each loan (sometimes called a 


“flat fee”). Under another model, dealers are paid a fixed percentage of the amount financed. 


Alternatively, a lender could develop a multiple-criteria system in which compensation is tied to 


both the amount financed and the duration of the contract. Both of these latter approaches are 


non-discretionary compensation systems that allow for differences in compensation based on 


loan amount and potentially term and hence differ from a flat fee approach. These are a few 


examples of potential non-discretionary compensation systems, which could vary in design and 


sophistication, depending on the needs of an individual lender’s business. There could be many 


other possibilities, and the Office of Fair Lending welcomes their creation and development, so 


long as they appropriately mitigate fair lending risk and do not adversely impact consumers.  


                                                        


41 See Indirect Auto Lending Bulletin, supra note 1, at 4. 
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For example, BMO Harris Bank publicly announced in April that it has eliminated dealer 


compensation for discretionary markups.42 BMO Harris publicly stated that it will instead pay 


dealers three percent of the amount financed, up to a fixed dollar figure.43 As CFPB Director 


Richard Cordray stated at the time, BMO Harris’s new policy represents “a proactive step to 


protect consumers from discrimination.”44 This institution’s approach is an example of but one 


option to limit fair lending risk in indirect auto lending.  


As a general matter, the Office of Fair Lending expects that lenders consider a variety of factors 


in designing a dealer compensation system, including the extent to which the system mitigates 


fair lending risk, whether the system would create new risks of discrimination or other 


consumer harm, and the system’s economic sustainability. 


                                                        


42 See Bank Eliminates Dealer Markup, Cites CFPB Guidance, F&I and Showroom (Apr. 24, 2014), available at 


http://www.fi-magazine.com/channel/f-i-products/news/story/2014/04/bank-eliminates-dealer-markup-cites-


cfpb-guidance.aspx. 


43 See Bank Eliminates Dealer Markup, supra note 42. 


44 Statement of CFPB Director Richard Cordray on BMO Harris Auto Lending Policy (Apr. 30, 2014), available at 


http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/statement-of-cfpb-director-richard-cordray-on-bmo-harris-auto-


lending-policy/.  



http://www.fi-magazine.com/channel/f-i-products/news/story/2014/04/bank-eliminates-dealer-markup-cites-cfpb-guidance.aspx

http://www.fi-magazine.com/channel/f-i-products/news/story/2014/04/bank-eliminates-dealer-markup-cites-cfpb-guidance.aspx

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/statement-of-cfpb-director-richard-cordray-on-bmo-harris-auto-lending-policy/

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/statement-of-cfpb-director-richard-cordray-on-bmo-harris-auto-lending-policy/
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4. Conclusion 
Supervisory and enforcement experience reveals that significant discrimination often results 


from indirect auto lending policies that compensate dealers based on discretionary markup. 


Supervisory and enforcement resolutions have directed institutions to pay remediation 


sufficient to address consumer harm, engage in ongoing robust compliance management, and 


consider the option of adopting compensation and pricing policies not based on discretionary 


markup. Through the supervisory process, the Bureau will continue to conduct regular 


examinations to ensure that indirect auto lenders comply with the ECOA and Regulation B, and 


to promote fair and equal access to credit in the auto lending market. 


To avoid risking liability for violations of the ECOA, indirect auto lenders should take proactive 


steps to mitigate fair lending risk. Supervisory and enforcement experience suggests that 


maintaining strong compliance management, imposing strict caps on discretionary pricing 


adjustments, and/or adopting non-discretionary dealer compensation models may limit fair 


lending risk. Innovation and experience may reveal other compliance options.  
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CFPB Proposes Rule to Improve
Information About Access to Credit in the
Mortgage Market
Bureau Aims to Simplify the Reporting Process for Financial Institutions


WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
proposed a rule to improve information reported about the residential mortgage
market. The rule would shed more light on consumers’ access to mortgage credit by
updating the reporting requirements of the HomeMortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA)
regulations. The Bureau also aims to simplify the reporting process for financial
institutions.


“It is critical that we shed more light on the mortgage market – the largest consumer
financial market in the world,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “The Home
Mortgage Disclosure Act helps financial regulators and public officials keep a watchful
eye on emerging trends and problem areas in the mortgage market. Today’s proposal
would help us understand better how to protect consumers’ access to mortgage credit
while simplifying the reporting requirements for financial institutions.”


HMDA, which was originally enacted in 1975, requires many lenders to report
information about the home loans for which they receive applications or that they
originate or purchase. The public and regulators can use the information to monitor
whether financial institutions are serving the housing needs of their communities and
identify possible discriminatory lending patterns.


Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
(Dodd-Frank Act) in 2010 in response to the mortgage market crisis. The Dodd-Frank
Act directed the CFPB to expand the HMDA dataset to include additional information
about loans that would be helpful to better understand these aspects of the mortgage
market.


In 2012, 7,400 financial institutions reported information about approximately 18.7
million mortgage applications and loans. While the HMDA dataset is the leading source
of information about the mortgage market, it has not kept pace with the market’s
evolution. For example, the HMDA data do not provide adequate information about
certain loan features that helped contribute to the mortgage crisis, such as adjustable-
rate mortgages and non-amortizing loans.


Today’s announcement is part of the Bureau’s public rulemaking process to improve
HMDA that began in February when the CFPB convened a panel of small businesses to
provide feedback on possible changes to the regulations. The Bureau is proposing to
improve the quality and type of HMDA data as required by the Dodd-Frank Act. The
Bureau is also looking at ways to make submission of data easier for lenders and to
improve the user experience in accessing the public data.
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Better Information About the Mortgage
Market
To provide better information about residential mortgage credit, the Bureau is
proposing changes to the rules that establish what data financial institutions are
required to provide. The Bureau wants to improve the quality of HMDA data in today’s
housing market. The proposed changes include:


• Improving market information: In the Dodd-Frank Act, Congress directed
the Bureau to update HMDA regulations by having lenders report specific new
information that could help identify potential discriminatory lending practices
and other issues in the marketplace. This new information includes, for example:
the property value; term of the loan; total points and fees; the duration of any
teaser or introductory interest rates; and the applicant’s or borrower’s age and
credit score.


• Monitoring access to credit: The Bureau is proposing that financial
institutions provide more information about underwriting and pricing, such as an
applicant’s debt-to-income ratio, the interest rate of the loan, and the total
discount points charged for the loan. This information would help regulators
determine how the Ability-to-Repay rule is impacting the market, and would also
help the Bureau monitor developments in specific markets such as multi-family
housing, affordable housing, and manufactured housing. The proposed rule would
also require that covered lenders report, with some exceptions, all loans related to
dwellings, including reverse mortgages and open-end lines of credit.


Simplifying Reporting Requirements
In developing the proposed rule, the CFPB reviewed the HMDA reporting
requirements. The Bureau is looking to simplify these requirements for financial
institutions. The CFPB aims to:


• Standardize the reporting threshold: Depository institutions, such as banks,
satisfying HMDA’s general reporting requirements must submit HMDA data,
even if they make only a single home-purchase loan or refinancing in a given year.
However, non-depository mortgage lenders may be required to report only if they
make at least 100 loans. The proposal would generally require that institutions
report HMDA data if they make 25 or more closed-end loans or reverse mortgages
in a year. In addition, the proposal would eliminate reporting of certain home
improvement loans.


• Ease reporting requirements for some small banks:With the proposed
standardized reporting threshold, small depository institutions that have a low
loan volume—fewer than 25 mortgages a year—would not have to report HMDA
data. For small banks with few staff members, this change could make a
significant impact in easing compliance costs. The new threshold would reduce
the overall number of banks required to report HMDA data by 25 percent, but,
because those lenders receive a low volume of applications and originate a low
volume of mortgage loans, the change would not compromise the usefulness of
the dataset.


• Align reporting requirements with industry data standards: In addition
to collecting data under HMDA, many financial institutions are collecting the
same or similar data for their own processing, underwriting, and pricing of loans,
or to facilitate the sale of loans on the secondary market. The Bureau is proposing
methods to align the HMDA data requirements with well-established industry
data standards, including definitions that are already in use by a significant
portion of the mortgage market. The Bureau anticipates that this alignment would


Page 2 of 3CFPB Proposes Rule to Improve Information About Access to Credit in the Mortgage Ma...


4/8/2015http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-proposes-rule-to-improve-information-ab...



hsampson

Rectangle







Privacy policy and legal notices


Accessibility


Plain writing


No FEAR Act


FOIA


Whistleblower Act


USA.gov


Office of Inspector General


Ombudsman


Visite nuestro sitio web en
español


mitigate the burden on many lenders, and could improve the quality and the value
of the information reported.


• Improve the electronic reporting process: The CFPB is also looking to
improve the electronic reporting process. The Bureau will be considering what
new technological tools would make the data submission process more efficient,
ease the data formatting requirements and help financial institutions prevent
errors.


• Improve data access: The Bureau also is looking at ways to improve how the
public can securely use HMDA data modified to protect applicant and borrower
privacy. In February 2014, the Bureau released an online tool that helps the public
better use available mortgage loan data. The tool allows users to filter
information, create summary tables, download the data, and save their results.


The proposed rule will be open for public comment through October 29, 2014.


A copy of the proposed rule, which includes information on how to submit comments, is
available at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_proposed-rule_home-
mortgage-disclosure_regulation-c.pdf


A copy of the final report of the Small Business Review Panel is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_report_hmda_sbrefa.pdf


###
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.


Updated on September 2, 2014: The final date to submit public comments has been
updated.
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CFPB Defines 'Unfair,' 'Deceptive' and 
'Abusive' Practices Through 
Enforcement Activity 
 


 


Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates 


Since the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) opened its doors in July 2011, it has 


aggressively pursued enforcement actions against a wide range of consumer financial services 


providers. Although the Dodd-Frank Act gives the bureau the authority to enforce numerous 


financial services statutes, the CFPB has relied upon its authority to prosecute Unfair, 


Deceptive, or Abusive Acts and Practices (UDAAP) more than any other authority. Of the 


more than 40 enforcement matters that the CFPB has made public to date, half have alleged 


violations of the UDAAP provision of the Dodd-Frank Act. These actions have resulted in 


restitution to consumers totaling more than $1.7 billion, as well as civil money penalties 


totaling more than $142 million. 


The bureau has relied upon UDAAP as its primary enforcement tool for a number of reasons. 


First, penalties for violating the UDAAP provision can be drastic — up to $1 million per day 


for a knowing violation of the law. In 2014, six of the bureau’s 14 UDAAP enforcement 


actions resulted in penalties greater than $5 million, including two actions with penalties 


greater than $10 million. 


Perhaps more importantly, the language of the UDAAP provision is broad and vague, 


allowing the CFPB to rely on its UDAAP authority to challenge conduct it finds troubling, 


even if not in violation of any express legal requirement. Although some precedent exists 


regarding the interpretation of “unfair” or “deceptive,” those terms remain elastic; as to 


“abusive,” there is no prior precedent, and the statute provides little guidance as to what 


constitutes an abusive act or practice. While both Congress and industry groups have called 


upon the bureau to clarify the scope and meaning of UDAAP through its rulemaking 


authority, the CFPB has declined to do so, choosing instead to rely upon its enforcement 


authority and develop its UDAAP doctrine on a case-by-case basis. 


Recent enforcement cases illustrate the CFPB’s broad application of its UDAAP authority. 


The bureau alleged that: 


• mortgage loan servicers engaged in unfair and deceptive practices by impeding 


borrowers’ access to loss mitigation options and misrepresenting the right to appeal loan 


modification denials. 


• a number of financial institutions engaged in unfair and deceptive practices by failing to 


disclose all relevant terms of identity fraud protection and credit monitoring memberships 


or by billing the full price of the memberships regardless of whether the member was 


utilizing all of the membership benefits. 


• an online loan servicer engaged in unfair, deceptive and abusive practices by collecting 


on debts that were allegedly void under state law without informing the consumers that 


the debts might be void. 


• a payday lender engaged in unfair and deceptive practices by “robo-signing” inaccurate 


affidavits and pleadings in debt collection lawsuits. 



http://www.skadden.com/insights
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Institutions also can infer the bureau's views on what constitutes evidence of a potential 


UDAAP violation from various informal CFPB guidance documents addressing issues such 


as debt collection practices, credit card marketing and student lending. Taken together, the 


CFPB’s enforcement actions and guidance documents highlight the types of practices that are 


likely to be subject to scrutiny, as well as steps that institutions can take to identify and 


mitigate UDAAP risks. 


The CFPB likely will continue to rely upon its UDAAP authority as its primary enforcement 


tool in 2015. In particular, the CFPB may pursue a number of cases alleging abusive acts or 


practices, and these actions could clarify two elements of the abusive standard: (1) whether a 


practice “materially interferes” with a consumer’s ability to understand a product or service, 


and (2) whether the practice takes “unreasonable advantage” of consumers. In addition, the 


CFPB is expected to promulgate rules in 2015 addressing a number of products, such as bank 


account overdraft coverage and prepaid cards. Practitioners will look to these rules not only 


to understand the bureau’s approach for specific products, but also to draw broader 


conclusions about how the bureau is likely to utilize UDAAP as it continues to enforce the 


nation’s consumer financial services laws. 
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EMBARGOED UNTIL 12:01 A.M. EDT:  
March 26, 2015 


 
FACTSHEET: THE CFPB CONSIDERS PROPOSAL TO END PAYDAY DEBT TRAPS 


 
Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) announced it is considering proposing rules that 
would end payday debt traps by requiring lenders to take steps to make sure consumers can repay their 
loans. The proposals under consideration would also restrict lenders from attempting to collect payment 
from consumers’ bank accounts in ways that tend to rack up excessive fees. The strong consumer 
protections being considered would apply to payday loans, vehicle title loans, deposit advance products, 
and certain high-cost installment and open-end loans. 
 
Overview 
The proposals under consideration cover both short-term and longer-term credit products that are often 
marketed heavily to financially vulnerable consumers. The CFPB recognizes consumers’ need for 
affordable credit but is concerned that the practices often associated with these products – such as failure 
to underwrite for affordable payments, repeatedly rolling over or refinancing loans, holding a security 
interest in a vehicle as collateral, accessing the consumer’s deposit account for repayment, and performing 
costly withdrawal attempts – can trap consumers in debt. Consumers can be forced to choose between re-
borrowing, defaulting, or falling behind on other obligations, and also may face deposit account fees and 
closures, vehicle repossessions, and other harms.  
 
For short-term loans, the CFPB has found that for consumers living paycheck to paycheck, the short 
timeframe can make it difficult to accumulate the necessary funds to pay off the principal and fees before 
the due date. Borrowers who cannot repay often roll over the loan – pay more fees to delay paying off the 
loan or take out a new loan to replace the old one. For many borrowers, what starts out as a short-term 
loan turns into an unaffordable, long-term cycle of debt. For longer-term loans, many consumers struggle 
to keep up with unaffordable payments, which can result in defaults, costly refinancing, or falling behind 
on other bills. 
 
The proposals under consideration provide two different approaches to ending debt traps – prevention 
and protection. Under the prevention requirements, lenders would have to determine at the outset that 
the consumer is not taking on unaffordable debt. Under the protection requirements, lenders would have 
to comply with various restrictions designed to ensure that consumers can affordably repay their debt. 
Lenders could choose which set of requirements to follow.   
 
The CFPB is publishing the outline of proposals under consideration in preparation for convening a Small 
Business Review Panel to gather feedback from small lenders, which is the next step in the rulemaking 
process. 
 
Products Covered by Proposals 


 Payday loans: Payday loans typically are structured as single-payment, short-term loans with 
repayment due at the time of the consumer’s next paycheck or benefit payment. Payday storefronts 
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have been commonplace in many states since the 1990s, and many online lenders also offer payday 
loans. About 2.5 million households used payday loans over a 12-month period, according to the 2013 
“National Survey of Unbanked and Underbanked Households” by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. And, according to another study, payday lenders (storefront and online combined) collect 
about $8.7 billion annually in interest and fees. 
 


 Deposit advance products: In the past, a small number of banks and credit unions offered deposit 
advance products. The bank or credit union would automatically collect payment on the loan from the 
borrower’s incoming qualifying electronic deposits. Following recent guidance from two federal 
prudential regulators, however, nearly all of these products have been discontinued. To the extent 
that depository institutions may offer replacement products, those products may be subject to today’s 
proposals under consideration.  


 


 Vehicle title loans: Vehicle title loans typically are expensive credit, backed by a security interest in the 
consumer’s vehicle. About 1 million households use vehicle title loans each year according to the FDIC 
study. They spend approximately $3 billion annually in fees, according to the Pew Charitable Trusts. 
Title loans may be short-term or longer-term, and the lender may repossess the consumer’s vehicle if 
the consumer is unable to pay.  
 


 High-cost installment loans: The proposals under consideration would cover many types of 
installment loans. Installment loans have multiple payments, often over several months, and have loan 
amounts ranging from a hundred dollars to several thousand dollars. They may carry very high interest 
rates. Some have balloon payments. 
 


 Open-end lines of credit and other loans: Open-end lines of credit and other loans that fall within the 
CFPB’s proposal under consideration, regardless of how they are named or marketed to consumers, 
would also be covered.  


 
Ending Debt Traps: Short-Term Loans 
The proposals under consideration would cover short-term credit products that require consumers to pay 
back the loan in full within 45 days. Typical short-term loans include many payday loans, deposit advance 
products, certain open-end lines of credit, and some vehicle title loans. The CFPB is considering using 45 
days to define short-term loans to distinguish those loans that are required to be repaid in one income and 
expense cycle. Many short-term loans are 14 days or one month to match the timing of consumers’ 
paychecks. However, loans taken out shortly before a consumer is paid may not be due until the following 
paycheck. The 45-day definition would capture these slightly longer loans. 


The proposals under consideration include two ways that lenders could extend short-term loans without 
causing borrowers to become trapped in long-term debt. Under the proposals, lenders could either 
prevent debt traps at the outset of each loan, or they could protect against debt traps throughout the 
lending process. Specifically, all lenders making covered short-term loans would be required to adhere to 
one of the following sets of requirements:  
 


 Debt trap prevention requirements: This option would eliminate debt traps by requiring lenders to 
determine at the outset that the consumer can repay the loan when due – including interest, principal, 
and fees for add-on products – without defaulting or re-borrowing. For each loan, lenders would have 
to verify the consumer’s income, major financial obligations, and borrowing history to determine 
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whether there is enough money left to repay the loan after covering other major financial obligations 
and living expenses. Other requirements include: 
o Lenders would generally have to adhere to a 60-day cooling off period between loans. 
o The consumer could not have any other outstanding covered loans with any lender.  
o To make a second or third loan within the two-month window, lenders would have to document 


that the borrower’s financial circumstances have improved enough to repay a new loan without 
re-borrowing. They would have to verify, for example, that the consumer’s income had increased 
following the prior loan. 


o After three loans in a row, all lenders would be prohibited from making a new short-term loan to 
the borrower for 60 days. 


 


 Debt trap protection requirements: These requirements would protect against debt traps by limiting 
the number of loans that a borrower can take out in a row and requiring lenders to provide affordable 
repayment options. These protections would include the following restrictions: 
o The loan could not exceed $500, last longer than 45 days, carry more than one finance charge, or 


require the consumer’s vehicle as collateral. 
o The consumer could not have any other outstanding covered loans with any lender. 
o Rollovers would be capped at two – three loans total – followed by a mandatory 60-day cooling-off 


period. 
o The second and third consecutive loans would be permitted only if the lender offers an affordable 


way out of debt. The Bureau is considering two options for this. The first would require that the 
principal decrease over the three-loan sequence so that it is repaid in full when the third loan is 
due. The second would require the lender to provide a no-cost “off-ramp” if the borrower is 
unable to repay after the third loan, to allow the consumer to pay the loan off over time without 
further fees. 


o The consumer could not be more than 90 days in debt on covered short-term loans in a 12-month 
period.  


 
Ending Debt Traps: Longer-Term Loans 
The proposals under consideration would also apply to high-cost, longer-term credit products of more 
than 45 days where the lender has access to repayment from the consumer’s deposit account or paycheck, 
or holds a security interest in the consumer’s vehicle, and the all-in annual percentage rate is more than 
36 percent. This includes longer-term vehicle title loans, some high-cost installment loans, and similar 
open-end products. In order to reduce compliance burdens for lenders, the CFPB is considering using 
existing lines in federal law for the coverage threshold, such as the Military Lending Act’s 36 percent all-in 
annual percentage rate, which includes interest, fees, and add-on product charges.  
 
Installment loans typically stretch longer than a two-week or one-month payday loan, have loan amounts 
ranging from a hundred dollars to several thousand dollars, and may impose very high interest rates. The 
principal, interest, and other finance charges on these loans are typically repaid in installments. Some have 
balloon payments. The proposal would also apply to high-cost open-end lines of credit with deposit 
account, paycheck, or vehicle title access. 
 
The CFPB’s proposals under consideration for longer-term loans would eliminate debt traps by requiring 
lenders to take steps to determine that borrowers are able to repay their debt. Just as with short-term 
loans, lenders would have two alternative ways to meet this requirement – prevent debt traps at the 
outset or protect against debt traps throughout the lending process. Specifically, lenders making covered 
longer-term loans would have to adhere to one of the following sets of requirements:  
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 Debt trap prevention requirements: This requirement would prevent debt traps by requiring lenders 
to determine at the outset that the consumer can make each payment on the loan when due – 
including interest, principal, and fees for any add-on products – without defaulting or re-borrowing. 
For each loan, lenders would have to verify the consumer’s income, major financial obligations, and 
borrowing history to determine whether there is enough money left to make payments on the loan 
after covering other major financial obligations and living expenses. Other requirements include: 
o Lenders would be required to determine if a consumer is able to repay the loan each time the 


borrower seeks to refinance or re-borrow.  
o If the borrower has been delinquent on a payment, the lender would be prohibited from 


refinancing into another loan with similar terms without documentation that the consumer’s 
financial circumstances had improved enough to be able to repay the loan.   
 


 Debt trap protection requirements: The Bureau is considering two specific approaches to the debt 
trap protection requirements for longer-term products. Under either approach, loans would have a 
minimum duration of 45 days and a maximum duration of six months. 
o Under the first approach, lenders could provide generally the same terms as loans offered under 


the National Credit Union Administration program for “payday alternative loans.” Under this 
requirement, the following restrictions would apply: 
 The loan principal is between $200 and $1,000, and the balance decreases over the loan term. 
 The lender could not charge an interest rate higher than 28 percent and an application fee 


higher than $20. 
 The consumer has no other covered loans. 
 The lender would only be able to provide two of these loans to a consumer within six months, 


and the consumer could only have one at a time.  
o Under the second approach, lenders could make a longer-term loan provided the following 


conditions are met: 
 The amount the consumer is required to pay each month is no more than 5 percent of the 


consumer’s gross monthly income.  
 The consumer has no other covered loans. 
 The lender does not provide more than two of these loans to the consumer in a 12-month 


period. 
 


Restricting Harmful Payment Collection Practices   
Lenders of both short-term and longer-term loans often obtain access to a consumer’s checking, savings, 
or prepaid account to collect payment through a variety of methods, including post-dated checks, debit 
authorizations, or remotely created checks. However, this can lead to unanticipated withdrawals or debits 
and transaction fees. When lenders attempt to get their money through repeated, unsuccessful 
withdrawal attempts, consumers are charged insufficient funds fees by their depository institution and 
returned payment fees by the lender, and may even face account closure. These fees add to the spiraling 
costs of falling behind on these loan products and make it even harder for a consumer to climb out of 
debt. To mitigate these problems, the Bureau is considering proposals that would: 
 


 Require borrower notification before accessing deposit accounts: Under the proposals being 
considered, lenders would be required to provide consumers with three business days advance notice 
before submitting a transaction to the consumer’s bank, credit union, or prepaid account for payment. 
The notice would include key information about the forthcoming payment collection attempt. This 
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requirement would apply to payment collection attempts through any method and would help 
consumers better manage their deposit accounts and overall finances.  
 


 Limit unsuccessful withdrawal attempts that lead to excessive deposit account fees: Under the 
proposals being considered, if two consecutive attempts to collect money from the consumer’s 
account were unsuccessful, the lender would not be allowed to make any further attempts to collect 
from the account unless the consumer provided a new authorization. This would limit fees incurred by 
multiple transactions that exacerbate a consumer’s financial woes.  


 
The Rulemaking Process 
As the next step in the rulemaking process, the Bureau is publishing an outline of the proposals under 
consideration in preparation for convening a Small Business Review Panel to gather feedback from small 
lenders.  
 
An outline of the proposals under consideration will be available on March 26 at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_outline-of-the-proposals-from-small-business-review-
panel.pdf  
 
In addition to consulting with the Small Business Review Panel, the Bureau will continue to seek input from 
a wide range of stakeholders before issuing a proposed rulemaking. Once the Bureau issues its proposed 
regulations, the public will be invited to submit written comments which will be carefully considered 
before final regulations are issued. 
 
A factsheet summarizing the Small Business Review Panel process is at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_factsheet-small-business-review-panel-process.pdf 
 
A list of questions on which the Bureau will seek input from the small business representatives providing 
feedback to the Small Business Review Panel will be available on March 26 at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_list-of-questions-from-small-business-review-panel.pdf 
 


### 
 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer finance markets 
work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering 
consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, visit 
consumerfinance.gov. 



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_outline-of-the-proposals-from-small-business-review-panel.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_outline-of-the-proposals-from-small-business-review-panel.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_factsheet-small-business-review-panel-process.pdf
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DEFINITIONS

There are two principal theories of liability under the fair lending laws:  disparate treatment and disparate impact.

“Disparate treatment occurs when a creditor treats an applicant differently based on a prohibited basis such as race or national origin.”

“Disparate impact occurs when a creditor employs facially neutral policies or practices that have an adverse effect or impact on a protected class unless it meets a legitimate business need that cannot reasonably be achieved as well by means that are less disparate in their impact.”  CFPB Supervision and Examination Manual V.2, ECOA 1 (Oct. 2012). 

“The Act and regulation may prohibit a creditor practice that is discriminatory in effect because it has a disproportionately negative impact on a prohibited basis, even though the creditor has no intent to discriminate and the practice appears neutral on its face, unless the creditor practice meets a legitimate business need that cannot reasonably be achieved as well by means that are less disparate in their impact.”  12 C.F.R. Part 1002, Supplement I, Comment 6(a)-2.
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HUD DISPARATE IMPACT RULE

On February 8, 2013, HUD finalized a rule articulating the disparate impact standard in FHA cases.

Plaintiff bears the burden of proving that “a practice results in, or would predictably result in, a discriminatory effect on the basis of a protected characteristic.”

Burden of proof on the defendant to show that the practice “is necessary to achieve one or more of its substantial, legitimate, nondiscriminatory interests.”

Burden shifts back to the plaintiff to show that the “substantial, legitimate, nondiscriminatory interests could be served by a practice that has a less discriminatory effect.”

24 C.F.R. § 100.500.
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INTENT REQUIREMENT

A key distinction between disparate treatment and disparate impact is the element of intentional discrimination.

In the employment context, the Supreme Court has defined disparate treatment as “intentional discrimination” on a prohibited basis.  Ricci v. DeStefano, 557 U.S. 557, 576 (2009).

“Proof of discriminatory motive is critical.”  Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins, 507 U.S. 604, 610 (1993).

However, overt evidence is not required to establish disparate treatment.  

“No discernable reason” / pretext standard.

“‘Disparate treatment’ may be ‘overt’ (when the creditor openly discriminates on a prohibited basis) or it may be found through comparing the treatment of applicants who receive different treatment for no discernible reason other than a prohibited basis.  In the latter case, it is not necessary that the creditor acts with any specific intent to discriminate.”  CFPB Supervision and Examination Manual V.2, ECOA 1 (Oct. 2012).
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INTENT REQUIREMENT

Some courts have also suggested that discriminatory intent can be inferred from the absence of a non-discriminatory justification.

To establish disparate treatment, the Supreme Court has indicated that motive “can in some situations be inferred from the mere fact of differences in treatment,” but only where no neutral rationale is available to explain those differences.  Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins, 507 U.S. 604, 610 (1993).

In a Fair Housing Act case, the D.C. Circuit held that evidence that a city had almost exclusively targeted buildings in Hispanic neighborhoods for closure, without offering an “objective justification” for this decision, could constitute proof of disparate treatment.  2922 Sherman Ave. Tenants’ Ass’n v. D.C., 444 F.3d 673, 682-83 (D.C. Cir. 2006).

A similar standard has been used by the Supreme Court in the voting context.  See Guinn v. United States, 238 U.S. 347 (1915) (invalidating statute imposing literacy requirement on voters where the law, though facially neutral, “embod[ied] no exercise of judgment and rest[ed] upon no discernible reason” other than to circumvent Constitutional protections).
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STATISTICAL DISPARITIES AS EVIDENCE OF INTENT

Regulators and the DOJ have argued that intent to discriminate can be inferred from evidence of statistical disparities.

The case law is fact-specific and mixed as to whether discriminatory intent to support a disparate treatment claim can be inferred from statistical disparities.  Most relevant case law arises in the employment context.

Cases suggesting that intent to discriminate in disparate treatment claim cannot be demonstrated by statistical evidence alone.

Diamond v. T. Rowe Price Assocs., Inc., 852 F. Supp. 372, 408 (D. Md. 1994) (“In the Fourth Circuit ... statistical evidence alone is insufficient to raise an inference of discriminatory intent in a disparate treatment case”).

Martin v. Citibank, N.A., 762 F.2d 212, 218 (2nd Cir. 1985) (citation omitted) (“statistical proof alone cannot ordinarily establish a prima facie case of disparate treatment under Title VII or § 1981”).
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STATISTICAL DISPARITIES AS EVIDENCE OF INTENT

Cases suggesting that intent to discriminate in disparate treatment claim can be demonstrated by statistical evidence alone.

Pacific Shores Prop., LLC v. City of Newport Beach, 730 F.3d 1142, 1166 (9th Cir. 2012) (in addition to being relevant to disparate impact claim, “statistical evidence . . . also would have been helpful to prove disparate impact to demonstrate discriminatory intent”).

Metrocare v. Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth., 679 F.2d 922, 930 n.12 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (“in disparate treatment cases, proper statistics can raise an inference that the employer acted with discriminatory intent”).

Hazelwood Sch. Dist. v. United States, 433 U.S. 299, 307–08 (1977) (“Where gross statistical disparities can be shown, they alone may in a proper case constitute prima facie proof of a pattern or practice of discrimination.”). 
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PROXIES FOR PROHIBITED FACTORS

A factor that is highly correlated with a prohibited factor could be viewed as an impermissible proxy for a prohibited factor.  Regulators or courts may view use of such proxy factors as disparate treatment.

There is no mathematical threshold that separates a correlation from a proxy.  Courts have suggested that a variable is suspect as an impermissible proxy if there is an “ineluctabl[e]” connection between the variable and a prohibited basis.  See Erie Cnty. Retirees Ass’n v. County of Erie, 220 F.3d 193, 200, 211-12 & n.12 (3d. Cir. 2000).
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PROXIES FOR PROHIBITED FACTORS

Examples

The FDIC reportedly alleged that an occupation classification of “homemaker” constituted a proxy for sex.

Spanish language preference, while not a prohibited factor itself, is likely to be viewed as a proxy for national origin.  See, e.g., In re Synchrony Bank, f/k/a GE Capital Retail Bank (CFPB and DOJ Consent Order, June 2014).

However, “[c]redit-based insurance scores appear to have little effect as a ‘proxy’ for membership in racial and ethnic groups in decisions related to insurance.”  “Credit-Based Insurance Scores: Impacts on Consumers of Automobile Insurance,” FTC Report to Congress (July 2007).  
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ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

In recent years, regulators have alleged disparate treatment and disparate impact somewhat interchangeably.

Even in cases that present classic disparate impact scenarios, complaints have alleged, in addition to disparate impact, that the conduct was intentional and willful. 

Ally Financial, Inc. and Ally Bank (DOJ Consent Order, Dec. 2013)

DOJ alleged that dealer markup disparities violated ECOA.

The complaint alleged that Ally’s “policies and practices . . . were intentional, willful, or implemented with reckless disregard for the rights of African-American, Hispanic, and Asian/Pacific Islander borrowers.”
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ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

Luther Burbank Savings (DOJ Consent Order, Dec. 2012)

DOJ alleged that a $400,000 minimum mortgage loan amount constituted discrimination on the basis of race and ethnicity.  

The complaint alleged that the “discriminatory policy and practice of Defendant has been intentional and willful, and implemented with reckless disregard for the rights of” minorities.

Mortgage broker discretionary pricing

In the September 2013 DOJ settlement with Southport Bank, which involved wholesale (and not retail) pricing, the complaint alleged that the discrimination was “intentional, willful, or with reckless disregard.”

However, in the settlement with Plaza Home Mortgage, Inc., which was factually similar to and announced the same day as the Southport Bank settlement, the complaint did not contain allegations of intentional and willful discrimination.  
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BACKGROUND AND TEXTUAL BASIS

Disparate impact has been recognized by the Supreme Court in the employment context, in Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424 (1971), and Albemarle Paper Co. v. Moody, 422 U.S. 405 (1975).

Title VII, Section 703(a)(2), prohibits employment practices that would “limit, segregate, or classify . . . employees in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or otherwise adversely affect his status as an employee because of such individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.”  (Emphasis added.)
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BACKGROUND AND TEXTUAL BASIS

Lower courts have upheld use of disparate impact theory under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Fair Housing Act.  The Supreme Court, however, has never ruled on those issues.

A new wave of challenges, focusing on the language of ECOA and FHA, were raised after the Supreme Court’s decision in Smith v. City of Jackson, 544 U.S. 228 (2005).

In Smith, the Court rooted its Title VII disparate impact jurisprudence on the “adversely affect” statutory language.  ECOA and FHA do not have this language.

ECOA makes it “unlawful . . . to discriminate against any applicant . . . on the basis of race, color,” etc.

FHA makes it unlawful “[t]o discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling . . . because of race, color,” etc.
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CHALLENGES TO DISPARATE IMPACT

On October 2, 2014, the Supreme Court granted certiorari in Texas Dep’t of Hous. and Cmty. Affairs v. Inclusive Cmtys. Project, Inc., No. 13-1371, to decide whether the disparate impact theory is valid under the Fair Housing Act.

Given that there is no circuit split to resolve, some believed that the Supreme Court’s decision to hear the case suggested that the Court might be inclined to overrule the circuit courts and hold that disparate impact cannot be recognized under the FHA.

Oral argument occurred on January 21, 2015.  A ruling is expected by late June.

The Court’s decision could impact whether disparate impact is cognizable under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act as well.

The Supreme Court granted certiorari in two other fair housing cases in recent years to decide whether disparate impact is a valid theory under the FHA.  Both cases were withdrawn before oral argument.
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CHALLENGES TO DISPARATE IMPACT

In November 2014, a federal district court ruled that disparate impact is not a valid theory under the FHA, invalidating HUD’s disparate impact rule.  American Ins. Ass’n v. HUD, No. 13-00966 (RJL), 2014 WL 5802283 (D.D.C. Nov. 7, 2014).

The court stated that “The Supreme Court has made clear that statutes will only prohibit practices resulting in a disparate impact – in the absence of any discriminatory intent – when they contain clear language to that effect.”

The court focused on the “operative verbs” in the housing anti-discrimination provision – “refuse,” “make,” “deny,” and “discriminate” – and stated “[t]he use of these particular verbs is telling, and indicates that the statute is meant to prohibit intentional discrimination only.” 









“This is, yet another example of an Administrative Agency trying desperately to write into law that which Congress never intended to sanction.”
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POTENTIAL OUTCOMES OF INCLUSIVE COMMUNITIES

		Potential Outcome		Relevance to ECOA Challenge

		Affirm disparate impact liability based on FHA-specific text, structure, and/or legislative history.		This holding would leave open a challenge to disparate impact under ECOA.

		Reverse based on the text of discrimination prohibition and lack of “effects” language.		This holding would strongly support a challenge to disparate impact liability under ECOA. 

		Affirm based on deference to HUD’s disparate impact regulation.		This holding would make it more difficult to challenge disparate impact under ECOA because Regulation B likewise endorses disparate impact.

		Reverse based on constitutional avoidance and equal protection concerns.		This holding would presumably be equally applicable to ECOA. 
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POTENTIAL OUTCOMES OF INCLUSIVE COMMUNITIES

		Potential Outcome		Relevance to ECOA Challenge

		Affirm or otherwise uphold disparate impact liability but stress that it must be caused by an identifiable policy.		Depending on the language of the opinion, a ruling of this sort could support an argument that while disparate impact is permitted under ECOA, the theory does not apply in the discretionary decisionmaking context (e.g., dealer markup) because there is no specific policy that causes the disparities.

		No majority opinion.  Plurality decision.		Any implications for a split decision on an ECOA challenge would be highly dependent on the precise reasoning employed.

		Affirm based on the text of the “discrimination” prohibition alone.		Such a broad holding would likely mean that disparate impact is a valid theory under ECOA, which contains similar statutory language.
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REGULATORY RESPONSE

If the Supreme Court ultimately strikes disparate impact under FHA and ECOA, this will remove one fair lending enforcement tool.  It is likely, however, that regulators would continue to attempt to bring similar cases and regulate similar practices.  

Regulator arguments may include:

Intent can be inferred from statistical disparities.

Knowledge of industry disparities, as well as a lender’s own monitoring, further support an inference of intent.

Purported rationales for policies are pretextual.

Variables are proxies for prohibited factors.
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KEY TAKEAWAYS

Despite efforts by regulators to blur the lines, there are important distinctions between disparate impact and disparate treatment.  

In the enforcement and investigation contexts, it is very important to clarify the theory of liability.

Different potential defenses apply to disparate treatment versus disparate impact.

The most appropriate statistical analysis to conduct can vary based on the theory alleged.

Legal developments may limit disparate impact claims.

Regulators will continue to aggressively enforce the fair lending laws under both disparate impact and disparate treatment.
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KEY TAKEAWAYS

Core elements of a sound Compliance Management System are critically important in preventing and detecting violations, and defending claims under both disparate impact or disparate treatment.  For example:

Monitoring and fair lending statistical analysis

Regulators expect institutions to conduct monitoring in many situations.

Disparities are relevant to adverse impact under the disparate impact theory, and may be used to infer intent in disparate treatment cases. 

Reviewing policies and procedures

Well documented, non-discriminatory policies and procedures are important for ensuring consistent treatment of customers.

Having a valid, documented rationale for practices is relevant to the “business necessity” prong of disparate impact and guarding against a finding there is no “discernible reason” other than discrimination under disparate treatment.
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KEY TAKEAWAYS

Compliance Management Systems implications (continued)

Reviewing model variables

This is relevant to identifying variables that may be overtly discriminatory or “proxies” for a prohibited basis under the disparate treatment theory, as well as variables that may present elevated disparate impact risk.

Limiting discretion

Training
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 


 


ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 


File No. 2014-CFPB- 


 


  


In the Matter of:          CONSENT ORDER 


 


  


ACE Cash Express, Inc.  


 


  


 


I 
Overview 


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) has reviewed the debt 


collection practices of ACE Cash Express, Inc. (“ACE” or “Respondent” as defined 


below), and has determined that ACE has engaged in unfair, deceptive, and abusive 


practices in connection with its collection of payday loans in violation of the Consumer 


Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). Under 


Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau issues this 


Consent Order (“Consent Order”). 


II 
Jurisdiction 


1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 


the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 
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  III 
Stipulation 


2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 


Consent Order,” dated July 3, 2014 (“Stipulation”), which is incorporated by 


reference and accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 


consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau pursuant to 


Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 


admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except 


that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction 


over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 


IV 
Definitions 


3. The following definitions shall apply to this Consent Order: 


a. “ACE” means ACE Cash Express, Inc. or any of its subsidiaries. 


b. “Back-End Collections Department” means ACE in-house debt collectors 


typically responsible for collecting on accounts that are more than 90 days 


past due. 


c. “Board” means ACE’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 


d. “Bureau” means Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 


e. “Consumer” means any person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay a debt 


to Respondent. 


f. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Consent Order issues. 


g. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for 


the Bureau’s Office of Supervision, or his or her delegee. 
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h. “Relevant Period” means the period from March 7, 2011 through September 


12, 2012. 


i. “Respondent” means ACE Cash Express, Inc. or any of its subsidiaries, 


successors, and assigns. 


j. “Restitution Eligible Consumers” mean all individuals who were subject to 


collections by ACE’s Back-End Collections Department or third-party debt 


collectors and who made a payment to ACE or one of its third-party debt 


collectors during the Relevant Period. 


k. “Related Consumer Action” means any private action for damages brought by 


or on behalf of one or more consumers, or an enforcement action by another 


government entity, against Respondent based on similar facts as set forth in 


Section V of this Consent Order. 


BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 


V 


The Bureau finds the following: 


4. ACE is a financial services company headquartered in Irving, Texas. It offers 


and provides a variety of consumer loan products, each of which is a “consumer 


financial product or service” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). ACE offers these 


products over the internet and at brick-and-mortar stores in 36 states and the 


District of Columbia.  


5. ACE is a “covered person” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).   


6. ACE structures its payday loans to be repaid in roughly two weeks, but its 


borrowers frequently roll over, renew, refinance, or otherwise extend their loans 
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beyond the original repayment term. These borrowers typically incur additional 


interest and fees when they roll over, renew, or refinance their loans.  


7. When ACE borrowers default on their loans, they become subject to collections 


by ACE’s in-house and third-party debt collectors. ACE uses in-house debt 


collectors to collect on accounts that are 120 days or less past due. Until 


September 2013, ACE outsourced collections to third-party debt collectors for 


most accounts that were more than 120 days past due. 


8. ACE controlled its third-party debt collectors according to the terms of its third-


party vendor contracts. These contracts include specific terms that govern third-


party debt collectors’ collection activities. ACE’s compliance monitoring, vendor 


management, and quality assurance did not prevent, identify, or correct 


instances of misconduct by some third-party debt collectors. 


9. ACE directed its in-house and third-party debt collectors to call all telephone 


numbers provided in consumers’ loan applications, including numbers of third-


party references.   


10. Some of ACE’s in-house debt collectors continued to contact persons with no 


relation to the debt after being told multiple times that ACE had the wrong 


telephone number.  


11. ACE’s collections training manuals instructed its collectors to “create a sense of 


urgency” for consumers in default. 


12. Some of ACE’s in-house and third-party debt collectors engaged in several acts 


or practices that created a sense of urgency,  including: 
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a. Excessive calls: In-house and third-party debt collectors made an 


excessive number of calls to consumers’ home, work, and cellular 


telephone numbers; 


b. Disclosure to third parties: In-house and third-party debt collectors 


disclosed the existence of consumers’ debts to non-liable third parties; and 


c. Failure to cease collection activity as requested and required: In-house and 


third-party debt collectors continued to call consumers at their workplaces 


after being told that such calls were prohibited. In-house debt collectors 


also continued to call consumers directly after being told that they were 


represented by counsel. 


13. Some collectors in ACE’s Back-End Collections Department also misrepresented 


the acts that third-party debt collectors would take after ACE transferred the 


account. These misrepresentations included: 


a. Tacking on fees: In-house debt collectors told consumers that third-party 


debt collectors would add collection fees. In fact, ACE’s third-party vendor 


contracts expressly prohibited adding collection fees; 


b. Reporting to national credit bureaus: In-house debt collectors told 


consumers that third-party debt collectors would report their failure to pay 


to national credit bureaus, which would prevent the consumer from 


obtaining credit in the future. In fact, ACE’s third-party vendor contracts 


expressly prohibited reporting to national credit bureaus; 


c. Threats of harm: In-house debt collectors made threats regarding what 


consumers would encounter once their accounts were transferred to third-


party debt collectors.  For example, one in-house collector told a consumer 


2014-CFPB-0008     Document 1     Filed 07/10/2014     Page 5 of 28







 


6 
 


that they were “not at liberty to discuss” what would happen after ACE 


transfers the account, but assured consumers that “these people [third-


party debt collectors] are gonna to hassle you.” Another in-house debt 


collector told a consumer that third-party debt collectors’ “actions are 


unlimited.” In fact, both ACE’s third-party vendor contracts and a large 


body of federal and state consumer protection law limit the actions of 


third-party debt collectors; and 


d. Authority to prevent transfer: In-house debt collectors told borrowers that 


they could not prevent the transfer of a debt to third-party collectors.  For 


example, one in-house debt collector told borrowers who asked him to 


postpone an account transfer that the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act or 


the “FDCPA Department” prohibits ACE from postponing transfer to 


third-party debt collectors. In fact, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act is 


a consumer protection statute that does not require creditors to transfer 


debts to third parties. In fact, ACE has no “FDCPA Department.” 


14. Some of ACE’s in-house and third-party debt collectors also falsely threatened 


delinquent borrowers with litigation or criminal prosecution, including by 


referencing or alluding to attorneys, clerks, legal departments, filings, formal 


complaints, and “immediate proceedings based on the law.” The name of one 


company hired by ACE to collect debt on its behalf was “National Attorney 


Collection Services, Inc.”  Its collectors regularly referred to themselves as 


“National Attorney” in communications with consumers. These consumers may 


have reasonably believed that they were likely to be sued or that an attorney had 


reviewed their account, when that was not the case. Another of ACE’s third-
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party debt collectors misrepresented that ACE had hired it to conduct 


“mediations” with consumers before recommending whether ACE should refer 


the consumers’ account or “case” to law enforcement. In fact, ACE does not sue 


consumers for failing to pay or refer non-payment for criminal prosecution; nor 


does it permit its third-party debt collectors to do so.    


15. ACE also trained and instructed its in-house debt collectors to create a “sense of 


urgency.” Some ACE collectors leveraged the sense of urgency to encourage 


delinquent borrowers with a demonstrated inability to repay their existing loans 


to take out new loans. Specifically, ACE’s “Foundations of Collections New Hire 


Training Manual,” which the company used from September 2010 to September 


2011, describes what it calls “The Loan Process”:  
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16. ACE’s “Loan Process” begins with the consumer’s loan application; moves to 


ACE’s loan approval; moves next to a consumer who has “exhaust[ed] the cash 


and does not have the ability to pay”; then, ACE “contacts the customer for 


payment or offers the option to refinance or extend the loan”; after which, the 


consumer “does not make a payment and the account enters collection.” At this 


point, the “Loan Process” starts over again. 


17. While engaged in the unfair and deceptive practices described above, some of 


ACE’s in-house debt collectors suggested to consumers in default that they take 


out a new loan to pay off their existing obligation. When consumers explained 


that they could not afford to repay another ACE loan and also meet their other 


expenses, in-house debt collectors cited the company’s initial loan approval as 


evidence that consumers could afford to repay the new loan.  


18. ACE has begun corrective action and has committed to taking all necessary and 


appropriate steps to remedy the violations of law identified by the Bureau. 


Unfair Acts or Practices 


19. The CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 


5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B).  


20. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if (1) it causes or is likely to cause 


substantial injury to consumers; (2) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by 


consumers; and (3) such injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 


consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 
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21. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 17, in connection with the collection of 


debt, some of ACE’s in-house or third-party collectors engaged in the following 


unfair acts or practices during the Relevant Period: 


a. Making an excessive number of calls to consumers’ home, work, and cell 


phone numbers; 


b. Disclosing the existence of consumers’ debts to non-liable third parties; 


c. Continuing to call consumers at work after being told that such calls were 


prohibited; 


d. Continuing to call consumers directly after being told that they were 


represented by counsel; and 


e. Continuing to call consumers with no relation to the debt after being told 


that ACE had the wrong person. 


22. These acts or practices caused or were likely to cause substantial consumer 


injury that was not reasonably avoidable by consumers or outweighed by 


countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 


23. Therefore ACE engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 


12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 


Deceptive Acts or Practices 


24. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if it involves a material 


representation or omission that misleads, or is likely to mislead, a consumer 


acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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25. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 17, in connection with the collection of 


debt, some of ACE’s in-house or third-party collectors  engaged in the following 


deceptive acts or practices during the Relevant Period: 


a. Misrepresenting the acts that would be taken by third-party debt collectors 


if the debt were transferred; 


b. Misrepresenting its ability to prevent a debt from being transferred to a 


third-party collector; 


c. Falsely threatening litigation; 


d. Falsely threatening to report non-payment to credit bureaus; 


e. Falsely threatening to refer non-payment for criminal prosecution; and 


f. Falsely threatening to add collection fees. 


26. These acts or practices are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under 


the circumstances and are material to consumers subject to debt collection. 


27. Therefore ACE engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 


12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 


Abusive Acts or Practices 


28. An act or practice is abusive under Section 1031(d)(2)(B) of the CFPA if it takes 


“unreasonable advantage of … the inability of the consumer to protect the 


interests of the consumer in selecting or using a consumer financial product or 


service.”  12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 


29. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 17, some Ace collectors created and 


leveraged an artificial sense of urgency to induce delinquent borrowers with a 
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demonstrated inability to repay their existing loan to take out a new ACE loan 


with accompanying fees. 


30. These acts or practices took unreasonable advantage of the inability of 


consumers to protect their own interests in selecting or using a consumer 


financial product or service.  


31. Therefore ACE engaged in abusive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 


12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 


CONDUCT PROVISIONS 


VI 
Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 


 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 


32. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 


have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 


shall cease and desist and that Respondent shall take reasonable measures to 


ensure that its service providers,  affiliates, and other agents cease and desist 


from any violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 


and 5536, and take the following affirmative action: 


a. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 


who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not engage in 


conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse a 


person, including, but not limited to: (1) the use of obscene or profane 


language or language the natural consequence of which is to abuse the 


hearer or reader; (2) causing a telephone to ring, or engaging a person in 


telephone conversation, repeatedly or continuously with the intent to 
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annoy, abuse, or harass the person at the called number; or (3)  placing 


more than one call to any person about a debt after that person has 


notified Respondent either orally or in writing that the person wishes 


Respondent to cease further communication with the person; 


b. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 


who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not disclose the 


existence of a consumer’s debt to any unauthorized third party, unless the 


consumer has given his or her express permission to do so; 


c. In connection with its collection of a debt, Respondent and its officers, 


agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who receive actual notice of 


this Consent Order, shall not contact any consumer indebted to 


Respondent at his or her place of business, if Respondent knows or has 


reason to know that the consumer’s employer prohibits the consumer from 


receiving such communication. 


d. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 


who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not directly 


communicate with any consumer indebted to Respondent that it knows, or 


should know, is represented by an attorney, unless the consumer has given 


his or her express permission to do so; 


e. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 


who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall suspend collection 


efforts against any person disputing the validity of a debt alleged to be 


owed to Respondent until after Respondent has conducted a reasonable 
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investigation into the consumer’s dispute and notified the consumer of the 


results in writing; 


f. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 


who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not misrepresent, or 


assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or by implication: 


i. the acts that will be taken by third-party debt collectors if 


Respondent transfers the debt; 


ii. that Respondent is unable to prevent a debt from being transferred 


to a third-party collector; 


iii. that Respondent intends or plans to sue or otherwise engage in 


litigation with a consumer; 


iv. that Respondent intends or plans to report a consumer’s failure to 


make a payment to credit bureaus; 


v. that Respondent intends or plans to refer a consumer for criminal 


prosecution for failure to make a payment; 


vi. that Respondent intends or plans to add collection fees to a 


consumer’s account balance; or 


vii. any other material fact in connection with the collection of debt. 


g. In connection with the collection of debt, Respondent and its officers, 


agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who receive actual notice of 


this Consent Order, shall not encourage or suggest that a delinquent 


borrower pay off their loan and then take out a new loan from Respondent. 


Provided, however, that ACE may truthfully inform consumers, in 


response to a bona fide consumer inquiry about the availability of a new 
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loan, that ACE does not permit consumers to take out a new loan while 


there is an outstanding balance on their existing loan. 


33. Respondent shall not condition any extension of credit upon a consumer 


granting express permission to engage in any of the acts or practices prohibited 


by Paragraph 32.  


VII 
Compliance Plan 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


34. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Regional 


Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 


compliance plan (“Compliance Plan”) designed to ensure that Respondent’s debt 


collection practices comply with Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 


§§ 5531 and 5536, and the terms of this Consent Order. The Compliance Plan 


shall, at a minimum:   


a. Include detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent 


Order;  


b. Explain Respondent’s consumer compliance organizational and reporting 


structure; 


c. Provide written descriptions of the job duties for key consumer-compliance 


staff positions, which clearly define employee authority and accountability; 


d. Require that Respondent allocate resources to compliance that are 


commensurate with the company’s size, complexity, product lines, and 


business operations to ensure that it implements an adequate compliance 
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program, including appropriate staffing levels with qualified and experienced 


personnel;  


e. Require that Respondent record and regularly monitor its debt collection 


calls; 


f. Require ongoing education and training in federal unfair, deceptive, and 


abusive acts or practices for all appropriate employees, Board members, and 


other appropriate individuals, with training tailored to each individual’s job 


duties or other role within the organization. Respondent shall document its 


training activities and it shall review and update its training activities at least 


annually to ensure that it provides appropriate individuals with the most 


relevant information; and 


g. Require that the Compliance Plan be updated at least semi-annually—or as 


required by changes in laws or regulations, or changes in Respondent’s 


business strategies—to ensure that the Plan remains current and effective. 


35. The Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-


objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. In the event 


that the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, 


Respondent shall make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 


Regional Director within 30 days. 


36. Upon notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-


objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent shall implement and adhere to 


the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the 


Compliance Plan. 
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VIII 
Role of the Board 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


37. The Board shall review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 


policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 


the Bureau. 


38. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 


for review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board shall have the 


ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and 


for ensuring that Respondent complies with Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 


CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 and this Consent Order. 


39. For each instance in this Consent Order in which the Board is required to ensure 


adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of Respondent, the 


Board shall: 


a. Authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of Respondent as may be 


necessary for Respondent to perform its obligations and undertakings 


under the terms of this Consent Order; 


b. Require the timely reporting by Respondent management of such actions 


directed by Respondent management to be taken under the terms of this 


Consent Order; and 


c. Require corrective action be taken in a timely and appropriate manner in 


the case of any material non-compliance with such actions. 
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MONETARY PROVISIONS 


IX 
Order to Pay Redress 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


40. Respondent shall pay $5,000,000 in redress to Restitution Eligible Consumers 


as set forth in this Section. If the total amount of money claimed by Restitution 


Eligible Consumers pursuant to this Section is less than $5,000,000, 


Respondent may use the remainder to pay the third-party costs of administering 


redress as required by this Section. If funds remain after payment of redress and 


the third-party administration costs, such remaining funds shall be paid to the 


Bureau and disgorged to the U.S. Treasury as set forth in this Section. 


41. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Regional 


Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 


providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (“Redress Plan”). The 


Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-


objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. In the event that 


the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, 


Respondent shall make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the 


Regional Director within 15 days. Upon notification that the Regional Director 


has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent 


shall promptly implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, 


and timeframes set forth in the Redress Plan. 


42. The Redress Plan shall: 
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a. Identify a Third-Party Settlement Administrator (“Administrator”) to 


conduct the activities set forth in the Redress Plan; 


b. Require the Administrator, in both English and Spanish languages, to 


provide information to, and accept claim forms from, consumers through, 


at a minimum, a dedicated website, e-mail address, and first-class mail, 


for a claims period of 180 days (“Claims Period”); 


c. Require Respondent, through the Administrator, to provide restitution to 


all Restitution Eligible Consumers who submit a timely Claim Form; 


d. Provide that all Restitution Eligible Consumers who submit a timely claim 


form shall receive a refund of all payments to ACE during the Relevant 


Period plus 1.3%, unless the total of such payments would exceed 


$5,000,000, in which case the amount paid to each Restitution Eligible 


Consumer shall be reduced pro rata by the Administrator; 


e. Provide that Respondent shall pay all costs of administering redress as 


required by this Section; provided, however, that if the total amount of 


money claimed by Restitution Eligible Consumers is less than $5,000,000, 


Respondent may use the remainder to pay the third-party costs of 


administering redress; 


f. Provide for payment to consumers within 90 days of the end of the Claims 


Period, in the form of a certified or bank check that may be cashed by the 


consumer for a period of at least 90 days after issuance; 


g. Provide that the restitution paid to Restitution Eligible Consumers is not 


subject to any condition and does not limit their rights in any way; and 
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h. Provide that nothing in the Redress Plan creates any new collection, credit 


reporting, or litigation rights on behalf of Respondent. 


43. In the event that the total amount of redress provided to Restitution Eligible 


Consumers as set forth in this Section, and the total amount money paid to the 


Administrator for the purpose of administering redress as set forth in this 


Section, is less than $5,000,000, Respondent is ordered to transfer the 


remainder to the Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such 


agent as the Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be 


provided by counsel for the Bureau, so that such funds may be distributed to the 


U.S. Treasury as disgorgement.  Respondent shall make this payment within 180 


days of the end of the Claims Period. 


44. The Redress Plan also shall include the proposed text of the website, e-mail, and 


letter (Restitution Notification), claim form (Claim Form), and envelope the 


Administrator will send to notify Restitution Eligible Consumers. The 


Restitution Notification shall include: 


a. Satisfactory language explaining the reasons for the refunds, including a 


brief description of the Bureau’s findings and conclusions in this Consent 


Order; 


b. A statement that the refund is required by this Consent Order with the 


Consumer Financial Protection Bureau; 


c. A statement that if the consumer wishes to receive a refund, the consumer 


should sign, date, and return a Claim Form by [X] date. The Claim Form 


shall not require the consumer to otherwise swear or attest to any facts;  


2014-CFPB-0008     Document 1     Filed 07/10/2014     Page 19 of 28







 


20 
 


d. The amount of money the consumer paid to ACE during the Relevant 


Period and a statement that the consumer is eligible to receive a refund of 


some or all of that money if he or she submits a timely Claim Form; and 


e. A statement that claiming a refund will not subject the consumer to any 


new debt collection activity. 


45. Respondent shall bear all costs and expenses of the Administrator for 


conducting the Redress Plan.  Respondent’s contract with the Administrator 


shall require the Administrator to comply with the provisions of this Consent 


Order as applicable to the Administrator.  The Administrator’s contract shall 


require the Administrator to work cooperatively with the Bureau in the conduct 


of the Redress Plan, including reporting regularly and providing all reasonably 


requested information to the Bureau.  Respondent shall provide to the 


Administrator all information and data needed to conduct the Redress Plan.  


Such information and data shall be used by the Administrator only for the 


purpose of administering the Redress Plan. 


46. Redress provided by Respondent shall not limit consumers’ rights except for 


double recovery. Respondent shall not be entitled to a set-off, or any other 


reduction, of the amount of payments to Restitution Eligible Consumers because 


of any debts owed by the Restitution Eligible Consumers. 


47. Respondent, through the Administrator, shall make reasonable efforts to locate 


and send Restitution Notifications and Claim Forms to Restitution Eligible 


Consumers, including by running a standard address search using the national 


change of address system before mailing Restitution Notifications and, within 
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30 days, re-mailing all returned letters and any restitution checks to corrected 


addresses, if any. 


48. Within 180 days after the end of the Claims Period, Respondent shall provide a 


final report (“Restitution Report”) to the Regional Director that describes all of 


its efforts to calculate and provide redress to Restitution Eligible Consumers. 


The Restitution Report shall include a signed report from the Administrator 


certifying that Respondent has completed the Redress Plan. The Restitution 


Report also shall include the total number of Restitution Eligible Consumers, 


the total amount of restitution Respondent actually paid, and the amount and 


status of all unclaimed restitution payments. 


X 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


49. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 


violations of law set forth in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 


account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent shall pay a 


civil money penalty of $5,000,000 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and 


as set forth herein. 


50. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall pay the civil money 


penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the 


Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by 


counsel for the Bureau. 
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51. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order shall be deposited in the 


Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the 


CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 


52. Respondent shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the 


government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses 


those funds, Respondent shall not: 


a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 


federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that Respondent pays 


under this Consent Order; or 


b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 


any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 


policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that Respondent pays under 


this Consent Order. 


53. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 


Consumer Action, Respondent shall not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 


nor shall Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary 


remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action, because of the civil money 


penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer 


Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent shall, within 30 days after entry 


of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the 


amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment shall not be 


deemed an additional civil money penalty and shall not be deemed to change the 


amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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XI 
Additional Monetary Provisions 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


54. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 


this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 


shall accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 


date of payment, and shall immediately become due and payable. 


55. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 


the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to 


Respondent. 


56. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, 


shall furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 


for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 


this Consent Order.  


57. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 


Related Consumer Action, Respondent shall notify the Regional Director of the 


final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification shall 


indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent  paid or is required to 


pay to consumers and should describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 


whom that redress has been or will be paid. 


COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 
XII 


Reporting Requirements 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
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58. Respondent shall notify the Bureau of any change in Respondent that may affect 


compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 


limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 


result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 


subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 


this Consent Order; the proposed filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 


proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or 


address. 


59. Respondent shall report any change in the information required to be submitted 


under Paragraph 58 at least 30 days prior to such change. Provided, however, 


that with respect to any proposed change about which Respondent learns less 


than 30 days prior to the date such action is to take place, Respondent shall 


notify the Bureau as soon as is practicable after obtaining such knowledge. 


60. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 


Respondent shall submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 


compliance progress report (each a Compliance Report), which has been 


approved by the Board, which describes in detail the manner and form in which 


Respondent has complied with this Consent Order.   


61. After the one-year period, Respondent shall submit to the Regional Director 


additional Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request 


from the Bureau. 


XIII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
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62. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this 


Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 


any managers, employees, or third-party debt collectors who have 


responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 


63. For 5  years from the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this 


Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as 


set forth in Section XII, any future board members and executive officers, as 


well as to any managers, employees, or third-party debt collectors who will have 


responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 


assume their responsibilities.  


64. Respondent shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 


a copy of this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the 


requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 


delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 


Section.  


 XIV 
Recordkeeping 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


65. Respondent shall create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, and then 


retain, for at least 5 years, and make available to the Bureau upon request, the 


following business records: 


a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 


each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 


Bureau and all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, as 
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set forth in Section IX; and 


b. All consumer complaints related to debt collection (whether received 


directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), and any responses to 


those complaints. 


XV 
Notices 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


66. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, all submissions, requests, 


communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Consent Order 


shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal 


Service), as follows: 


James Carley  
 Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 1700 G Street, N.W. 
 Washington, D.C. 20552 


The subject line shall begin:  In re ACE Cash Express, Inc., File No. 2014-
CFPB-[docket number listed above]. 
 
Provided however that Respondent may send such reports or notifications 


by first-class mail, but only if Respondent contemporaneously sends an electronic 


version of such report or notification to Compliance@cfpb.gov. 


XVI 
Compliance and Extensions of Time 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


67. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his or her 


discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Consent Order (e.g., 


reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements). Any such 


modification by the Regional Director shall be in writing.  
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 


 XVII 


68. The provisions of this Consent Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 


the Bureau, or any other governmental agency from taking any other action 


against Respondent. 


69. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final 


Consent Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and 


expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding 


the Bureau or the United States. 


70. This Consent Order shall terminate 10 years from the Effective Date. The 


Consent Order shall remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to 


the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order shall have been amended, 


suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 


agent. 


71. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be 


based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  


72. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any 


violation of this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 


maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the 


CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 


73. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 


agreement between the parties. No promises, representations, or warranties 


other than those set forth in this Consent Order and the accompanying 


Stipulation have been made by any of the parties. This Consent Order and the 
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‹#›   Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates

23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

What is Big Data and How is it Used in Lending?

Big Data models utilize algorithms to predict behavior based on analysis of large amounts of data, much of which has no immediate apparent connection to the predicted behavior.

Generally, “Big Data” can be defined as “large, diverse, complex, longitudinal, and/or distributed data sets generated from instruments, sensors, Internet transactions, email, video, click streams, and/or all other digital sources available today and in the future.”*  

The proliferation of social media has fueled the development of Big Data and increased the types of information available about consumers. 

Lenders use Big Data for marketing, underwriting, pricing, and servicing.  









*Nat’l Science Found., NSF 12-499: Core Techniques and Technologies for Advancing Big Data Science & Engineering (2012), available at http://www.nsf.gov/pubs/2012/nsf12499/nsf12499.htm.
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What is Big Data and How is it Used in Lending?

Types of data that could be used for marketing, underwriting, and pricing:

Information from social media

Number of “friends” and creditworthiness of friends

Whether an applicant types in ALL CAPS or uses a lot of !!!!

Wi-Fi networks used

Internet browsing history

Length of time with same cell phone number

Regularity of certain payments / purchases

Type of merchants frequented (Wal-Mart / Neiman Marcus)

Role of third-party vendors.

Algorithms can provide scores or rankings, without visibility, as to all of the factors and the weight placed on the factors.
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What is Big Data and How is it Used in Lending? 

Marketing

What sites to place banner ads on, and when.

Targeted marketing based on predicted need or performance.

Underwriting / Pricing

Non-traditional lenders utilizing Big Data to enable faster, cheaper, and possibly more accurate, underwriting and pricing decisions.

Banks taking a more cautious approach

Loan decision based on (i) name; (ii) cell phone number; (iii) date of birth; and (iv) last four social security number digits.
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What is Big Data and How is it Used in Lending?

Big Data is a logical extension of credit score models, with important differences.

Big Data models incorporate an exponentially greater number of specific criteria.  

Criteria not limited to credit history.

In its 2012 patent application, ZestFinance, an online lender that uses Big Data for underwriting purposes, collecting as many as “10,000 pieces of data” to create loan applicant profiles, gave an example how the information its system draws from the Internet will make a (hypothetical) credit decision:





		Nurse				Prison Guard

		$32,000		Reported Income		$65,000

		$800		Rent		$1,200

		2 in 10 years		Number of Addresses		7 in 5 years

		1 		Social Security Numbers		4

		15 in 45 minutes		Number of ZestFinance Web Pages 
Accessed While Completing Application		3 in 7 minutes

		Approved		Loan Status		Rejected



Source: John Lippert, ZestFinance issues small, high-rate loans, uses big data to weed out deadbeats, Wash. Post (Oct. 11, 2014), http://www.washingtonpost.com/business/zestfinance-issues-small-high-rate-loans-uses-big-data-to-weed-out-deadbeats/2014/10/10/e34986b6-4d71-11e4-aa5e-7153e466a02d_story.html
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What is Big Data and How is it Used in Lending?

Criteria may bear no readily apparent relationship to an individual’s creditworthiness.  

Focus is on correlation, rather than causation.

“It is important to maintain the discipline of not trying to explain too much.”  Max Levchin, CEO of Affirm, online finance company

“A decision is made about you, and you have no idea why it was done.  That is disquieting.”  Raj Date, former Deputy Director of the CFPB

Reliance on such factors raises proxy concerns.  

Little available data on Big Data’s success in predicting credit behavior.

Models may be dynamic, not static.
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What Guidance Have the Regulators Provided on the Use of Big Data?

Regulation B addresses “empirically derived” credit scoring systems. 12 CFR 202.2(p).

Must be developed for the purpose of evaluating creditworthiness and must be validated.

Generally, “credit scoring systems treat all applicants objectively and thus avoid problems of disparate treatment,” but “neutral factors used in credit scoring systems could nonetheless be subject to challenge under the effects test.”  12 CFR Part 202, Supp. I ¶ 2(p) cmt. 4.

OCC Bulletin 97-24 - Credit Scoring Models

“The OCC will conclude a variable is justified by business necessity and does not warrant further scrutiny if the variable is statistically related to loan performance, and has an understandable relationship to an individual applicant’s creditworthiness.”  (Emphasis added.)

National banks should avoid including in their credit scoring systems “variables that have little influence on the total credit score, yet disadvantage applicants on a prohibited basis to a statistically significant degree.” 
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What Guidance Have the Regulators Provided on the Use of Big Data?

In December 2013, the FFIEC published “Social Media:  Consumer Compliance Risk Management Guidance”.

Addressed compliance with specific laws, including ECOA and the FHA, as well as general social media risk management concepts.

Recommended institutions implement policies and training for using social media.

Cautioned that adverse action notice requirement applies to denials impacted by data from social media.

Cautioned that steps need to be taken to ensure creditor does not inadvertently request, collect, or use prohibited basis information.  

Noted the reliance on third parties for social media is a risk factor.

Advised that reputation risks could be heightened by reliance on social media.  
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What Guidance Have the Regulators Provided on the Use of Big Data?

2007 FTC report on credit-based insurance scores in automobile insurance. 

Addressed potential discriminatory effects of credit-based scores.

Concluded credit-based insurance scores have an impact based on race and ethnicity, but scores are predictive of risk and may bring benefits to consumers.

Potential for increased availability to higher-risk customers and cost savings in underwriting and pricing process.

FTC is currently analyzing use of credit scores for homeowners insurance.

Recent EEOC report noted that use of Big Data algorithms could potentially lead to employment discrimination.

CFPB very aware of issue.

Potential to seek “No Action” letter.
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Fair Lending Implications of Big Data

Expand access to credit to previously underserved communities.

Big Data algorithms can predict likelihood of repayment even if applicant has thin credit file or no credit file.  

Historically, lack of traditional credit history – such as a record of repayment of mortgage or other loans – has been viewed as a barrier to extending credit to certain groups – particularly Hispanics – who are less likely to have a traditional credit history. 

Decrease or eliminate reliance on subjective criteria and individual discretion, thereby decreasing the risk of prejudice.

Advocates claim Big Data models allow for more accurate assessments of creditworthiness.

Greater predictive power could lead to better pricing.

Reduce cross-subsidization.

The “Promises” of Big Data



Raj Date:  “The potential is there to save millions of people billions of dollars.”
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Fair Lending Implications of Big Data

Lack of Transparency.  The use of “Big Data” for making underwriting and pricing decisions raises concerns because of the lack of an obviously causal connection between factors that can impact an underwriting or pricing decision and the likelihood that an individual will be able and willing to pay back the debt.  

OCC Bulletin 97-24 indicates greater scrutiny for factors that lack an “understandable relationship to an individual applicant’s creditworthiness.”

Potential Disparate Impact.  

HUD Guidance on Implementation of the FHA Discriminatory Effects Standard (Feb. 2013) (“HUD Guidance”): A practice has a discriminatory effect where it actually or predictably results in a disparate impact on a group of persons . . . 

Legally sufficient justification: Challenged practice is necessary to achieve one or more substantial, legitimate nondiscriminatory interests and

Those interests could not be served by another practice that has a less discriminatory effect.

“Legally sufficient justification must be supported by evidence and may not be hypothetical or speculative.”

The “Perils” of Big Data



Could increase underwriting and pricing disparities



Difficult “business justification determination”
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Fair Lending Implications of Big Data

Potential of increasing disparities

Increasing predictive power reduces cross-subsidization

Similar to emergence of risk-based pricing 20 to 30 years ago

Reliance on Big Data to vary pricing based upon location raises risk due to correlation between race or ethnicity and location. 

Compliance with Adverse Action Notice Requirement

Regulation B provides that a lender basing a decision on a credit scoring system must: (1) disclose each factor that was a principal basis for adverse action, and (2) must disclose actual reasons for denial, even if the relationship of that factor to predicting creditworthiness may not be clear to the applicant.

Staff Commentary suggests identifying the factors for which the applicant’s score fell furthest below the average score.
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Risk Mitigation

Compliance Management Systems must adapt to address Big Data risks.

Close coordination with business lines and IT on new initiatives and data sources.

Third-party oversight

Consider whether to analyze impact of data model or individual variables.

Compliance speed vs. technology speed.
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE Thursday, January 15, 2015


JUSTICE NEWS


Department of Justice


Office of Public Affairs


Justice Department Reaches Settlement Agreement With First United Bank Over Allegations of
Discrimination on the Basis of National Origin


The Justice Department announced today that First United Bank, of Dimmitt, Texas, will maintain uniform
pricing policies, conduct employee training and pay $140,000 as part of a settlement to resolve allegations
that it engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination on the basis of national origin.


The settlement, which is subject to court approval, was filed in conjunction with the Justice Department’s
complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas. The complaint alleges that First
United Bank charged higher prices on unsecured consumer loans made to Hispanic borrowers in violation
of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA).


“The Civil Rights Division is committed to ensuring that lenders price all types of loans based on appropriate
credit factors and not based on prohibited factors such as national origin,” said Acting Assistant Attorney
General Vanita Gupta for the Justice Department’s Civil Rights Division. “We commend First United Bank
for implementing a system of loan pricing that provides objective guidance to the bank’s employees.”


The lawsuit originated from a referral by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) to the Civil
Rights Division. First United Bank is a member of the FDIC.


Under the settlement, First United Bank will pay a total of $140,000 to compensate hundreds of victims of
discrimination, monitor its loans for potential disparities based on national origin and provide equal credit
opportunity training to its employees. First United Bank will also maintain its revised pricing policies to
ensure that the price charged for its loans is set in a non-discriminatory manner consistent with the
requirements of ECOA. The agreement also prohibits the bank from discriminating on the basis of national
origin in any aspect of a credit transaction.


“This district is committed to ensuring banks and other lending institutions do not discriminate against
borrowers on the basis of national origin,” said Acting U.S. Attorney John Parker for the Northern District of
Texas. “I join the Acting Assistant Attorney General in recognizing First United Bank’s cooperation in
accomplishing this settlement that will compensate hundreds of victims of this discrimination.”


The Justice Department’s enforcement of fair lending laws is conducted by the Fair Lending Unit of the
Housing and Civil Enforcement Section in the Civil Rights Division. Since the Fair Lending Unit was
established in February 2010, it has filed or resolved 36 lending matters under the Fair Housing Act, ECOA
and the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act. The settlements in these matters provide for over $1.2 billion in
monetary relief for impacted communities and individual borrowers. The Attorney General’s annual reports
to Congress subject to ECOA highlight the department’s accomplishments in fair lending and are available
at www.justice.gov/crt/publication.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 


 


ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 


File No. 2015-CFPB-0004


 
  


In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 


 
  
NEWDAY FINANCIAL, LLC  


 
  


 


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the mortgage advertising, 


marketing, and sales activities of NewDay Financial, LLC (Respondent, as defined below) and has 


identified the following violations of law: First, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices by 


failing to disclose payments to a veteran’s organization that endorsed Respondent while providing 


other substantive reasons for that endorsement. Second, Respondent made payments to third parties 


in connection with the marketing of home loans that constituted illegal payments for referrals of 


mortgage origination business. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection 


Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 


I 
Jurisdiction 


1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 


U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565.  


II 
Stipulation 


2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order,” 


dated February 6, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by 


the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent 
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Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, 


without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 


Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over 


Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 


III 
Definitions 


3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 


a. “Broker Company” means the third party entity with whom Respondent 


contracted whose business included licensing the use of the Veterans’ 


Organization mailing list, logo, and other proprietary marks and managing the 


relationship between Respondent and Veterans’ Organization. 


b. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 


c. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 


Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her delegee. 


d. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 


consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 


against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section 


IV of this Consent Order. 


e. “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 to July 1, 2014. 


f. “Referred Member” means Veterans’ Organization members who learned of 


Respondent as a result of Respondent’s relationship with Broker Company and 


Veterans’ Organization, including members who were on the Veterans’ 


Organization mailing list that was licensed by Respondent and who, as a result, 


received advertising communications from Respondent and contacted 


Respondent.  
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g. “Respondent” means NewDay Financial, LLC, including NewDay USA, and its 


successors and assigns. For the purpose of this Order, Respondent also includes 


NewDay Reverse Mortgage, LLC, which is owned by the same parent company as 


NewDay Financial, LLC, and its successors and assigns.  


h. “Veterans’ Organization” means the non-profit membership organization serving 


veterans through advocacy and assistance with whom Respondent had a 


marketing relationship. This relationship was established via a contract between 


Respondent and Broker Company.  


IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 


The Bureau finds the following: 


4. Respondent, which primarily does business under the name NewDay USA, is a Delaware 


corporation, headquartered in Fulton, Maryland and wholly-owned by Chrysalis Holdings, 


LLC. In 2013, Respondent had revenues of over $100 million.  


5. Before, and continuing through, the Relevant Period to the present, Respondent’s primary 


business has been originating refinance home loans through a program wherein the VA 


guarantees a portion of home loans taken out by servicemembers, veterans, and eligible 


surviving spouses. Until in or around September 2013, Respondent also originated 


government-insured reverse mortgages to seniors. 


6. By extending credit and servicing loans, Respondent has engaged in offering or providing 


“consumer financial products or services” pursuant to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5) and 


(15)(A)(i), and is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).  


Respondent is also a “person” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 2602(5) and provides a “settlement 


service” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 2602(3). 


7. Before, and continuing through, the Relevant Period to the present, Respondent has 


advertised its mortgage products to consumers primarily through direct mail campaigns. 
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During the Relevant Period, Respondent sent over 50 million solicitations by postal and 


electronic mail to consumers offering reverse and forward mortgages. These advertising 


communications were typically sent to a pre-screened list of consumers, generally veterans 


and older Americans, selected due to various characteristics that Respondent believed made 


them more likely to be potential customers for Respondent’s offerings. Consumers who were 


interested in learning more were invited by these mailings to call Respondent’s call center, 


during which calls Respondent’s Account Executives would answer questions, provide 


information, and take applications.  


8. During the Relevant Period, Respondent made residential real estate loans aggregating more 


than $1,000,000 per year. Accordingly, Respondent is a “creditor” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 


2602(1)(b)(iv), and all of Respondent’s mortgage loans are “federally related mortgage 


loan[s]” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 2602(1). 


9. From 2010 and continuing through the Relevant Period, Respondent had a marketing 


relationship with Veterans’ Organization. This relationship was arranged and coordinated by 


Broker Company, which contracted directly with Respondent on behalf of Veterans’ 


Organization and which paid Veterans’ Organization a portion of the fees it received from 


Respondent. Pursuant to agreements and understandings between and among Respondent, 


Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Respondent was designated as the exclusive 


lender of Veterans’ Organization, and Respondent drafted and sent advertising 


communications by postal and electronic mail to Veterans’ Organization members, with 


Veterans’ Organization’s approval, that were identified as being from Veterans’ Organization. 


These advertising communications promoted the relationship between Respondent and 


Veterans’ Organization, and encouraged and recommended the use of Respondent’s 


mortgage products to Veterans’ Organization members. 
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10. From 2010 and continuing through the Relevant Period, the following fees were paid 


pursuant to agreements and understandings between and among Respondent, Veterans’ 


Organization, and Broker Company: 


a. Respondent paid Broker Company a monthly “licensing fee” of $15,000.  


b. For each Referred Member who contacted Respondent to inquire about a reverse 


mortgage and who completed mandatory counseling, Respondent paid Veterans’ 


Organization $75 as a “lead generation fee” and Respondent paid Broker 


Company $100 as a “lead generation fee.”  


c. For each Referred Member who contacted Respondent to inquire about a 100% 


loan-to-value (LTV) mortgage refinancing and had his/her credit report pulled, 


Respondent paid Veterans’ Organization $15 as a “lead generation fee” and 


Respondent paid Broker Company $20 as a “lead generation fee.” 


11. At no point since the relationship began were Veterans’ Organization members made aware 


of the payments by Respondent to Veterans’ Organization and Broker Company nor has this 


information been available publically.  


Findings and Conclusions Related to Respondent's Marketing 


12. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 


12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). A practice is “deceptive” when there is a representation or 


omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 


circumstances, and that information is material to consumers.   


13. During the Relevant Period, Respondent mailed advertising communications to Veterans’ 


Organization members, with Veterans’ Organization’s approval and that were identified as 


being from Veterans’ Organization, endorsing Respondent’s products. These advertising 


communications articulated reasons why Veterans’ Organization selected Respondent as its 


lender-of-choice. Respondent also made similar statements to Veterans’ Organization 


members during phone conversations. The affirmative reasons offered to members created 
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the impression that there were no other connections between Respondent and Veteran’s 


Organization, when, in fact, Respondent was making regular undisclosed payments, both 


directly and indirectly, for these endorsements.  


a. For example, the text of one mailed advertisement read: “[Veterans’ 


Organization] chose NewDay to be our exclusive Reverse Mortgage provider after 


spending significant time with the company's management team and watching its 


loan professionals in action.”  


b. Another e-mailed advertisement read: “NewDay USA is [Veterans’ 


Organization’s] exclusive provider of home loan programs based on their high 


standards for service and the excellent value of their programs. If you need 


money, we recommend you give them a call at 1-800-995-4193. Even easier, click 


here and find out more!”  


c. One phone script read: “NewDay is the EXCLUSIVE lender for [Veterans’ 


Organization]. We earned this because of our focus on helping veteran’s [sic] pay-


off their debt, lower their interest rates and payments, or get additional cash out 


as well.”  


14. The failure to disclose material connections between Respondent and Veterans’ Organization 


while making affirmative statements concerning a substantive basis for the endorsements 


likely would have been material to consumers evaluating the weight or credibility of 


Veterans’ Organization’s endorsement and whether to obtain a mortgage loan from 


Respondent, and likely would have been misleading to reasonable consumers. Thus, these 


communications constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 


1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).   


Findings and Conclusions Related to Respondent's RESPA Violation 


15. Section 8(a) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a), 


provides that “[n]o person shall give and no person shall accept any fee, kickback, or thing of 
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value pursuant to any agreement or understanding, oral or otherwise, that business incident 


to or a part of a real estate settlement service involving a federally related mortgage loan shall 


be referred to any person.” 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a). 


16. During the Relevant Period and pursuant to agreements and understandings between and 


among Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Respondent mailed 


advertising communications to individual members of Veterans’ Organization, with Veterans’ 


Organization’s approval, that were identified as being from Veterans’ Organization. These 


communications typically were sent to pre-screened members of Veterans’ Organization and 


referred recipients to Respondent by encouraging and recommending that members use 


Respondent for mortgage lending services. 


17. During the Relevant Period and pursuant to agreements and understandings between and 


among Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, members who called 


Veterans’ Organization’s call center for information on mortgage products were referred to 


Respondent. 


18. During the Relevant Period and pursuant to agreements and understandings between and 


among Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Broker Company 


maintained a website for Veterans’ Organization members (Broker Website) that was linked 


to from the Veterans’ Organization website and that was identified as being part of the 


Veterans’ Organization website. Members who visited Broker Website were referred to 


Respondent by text “recommend[ing]” Respondent as a source for home loans, along with 


hyperlinks to Respondent’s website and the phone number for the Veterans’ Organization’s 


call center.  


19. During the Relevant Period, pursuant to agreements and understandings among and 


between Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Respondent made more 


than 3,900 payments to Veterans’ Organization and Broker Company (in the form of both 
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monthly payments and “lead generation fees”) for these referral activities. These referrals 


resulted in nearly 400 closed forward and reverse mortgages.   


20. The payments from Respondent to Veterans’ Organization and Broker Company in 


connection with the marketing of home loans constitute payments made pursuant to 


agreements and understandings to refer real estate settlement service business in violation of 


RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a). 


ORDER 


V 
Conduct Provisions 


 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 


21. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 


notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate Sections 


1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, as follows: 


a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 


have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 


connection with advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or selling 


any mortgage credit product, may not misrepresent, or assist others in 


misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, any material fact, including but not 


limited to the fact that an endorsement from a third party was made free of any 


material inducement or connection. 


b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 


have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 


may not enter into any business relationship that would involve third-party 


endorsements inconsistent with the Federal Trade Commission’s (FTC) guidance 


on endorsements, found at 16 C.F.R. part 255, and any subsequent guidance 


issued by the FTC or the Bureau concerning endorsements. 
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22. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 


notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate Section 8 


of RESPA, including by providing a thing of value to a third party pursuant to an agreement 


or understanding to refer real estate settlement service business, including, but not limited 


to, providing a thing of value in exchange for an endorsement of Respondent that is directed 


to a person. 


VI 
Compliance Plan 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


23. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director 


for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan designed to 


ensure that Respondent’s relevant conduct, e.g., marketing of mortgage products, complies 


with all applicable federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order 


(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  


a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; and 


b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 


above. 


24. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection 


to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to make reasonable revisions to the Compliance 


Plan consistent with Paragraph 23. If the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to make 


such reasonable revisions to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and 


resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days of Respondent’s 


receipt of such directions to revise the Compliance Plan. 


25. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-


objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 


recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 


2015-CFPB-0004     Document 1    Filed 02/10/2015     Page 9 of 18







VII 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


26. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of law 


described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors in 12 U.S.C. 


§ 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of two million dollars ($2,000,000) 


to the Bureau. 


27. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty by wire 


transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring 


instructions.  


28. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the Civil Penalty 


Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 


29. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a penalty 


paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 


funds, Respondent may not: 


a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 


any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 


b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 


source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, 


with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 


30. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer Action, 


Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may Respondent benefit by, 


any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related 


Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If 


the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 


within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and 


pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 
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considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil 


money penalty imposed in this action. 


31. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this Consent 


Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any 


outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will 


immediately become due and payable. 


32. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 


extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Respondent. 


33. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the 


Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 


reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  


34. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a Related 


Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of the final judgment, 


consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of 


redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the 


consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 


VIII 
Reporting Requirements 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


35. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 


obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 


assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor 


company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any 


acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 


proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. 
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Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 


practicable after learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 


36. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one telephone 


number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may 


use to communicate with Respondent. 


37. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted under 


Paragraph 36 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after learning about 


the change, whichever is sooner. 


38. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 


Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance 


progress report (Compliance Report) which, at a minimum: 


a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with 


this Order, including steps outlined in the Compliance Plan; and  


b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section IX, 


unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 


39. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director additional 


Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 


IX 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


40. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order 


to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 


Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to 


the subject matter of the Consent Order. 


41. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order to 


any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section VIII, any 
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future board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service 


Providers, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the 


subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities, but not 


including third-party Service Providers who exercise no control over the content of consumer 


communications. 


42. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 


this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of 


the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving 


a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  


X 
Recordkeeping 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


43. Except as provided in subsection 43(f) below, within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent 


must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the following business records: 


a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 


provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 


b. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; 


marketing or endorsement agreements with third parties; agreements for the 


purchase of lists of consumers or for the access to such lists from third parties; 


and other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a third 


party on behalf of Respondent. 


c. All consumer complaints and refund requests (whether received directly or 


indirectly, such as through a third party), and any responses to those complaints 


or requests. 


d. Records showing, for each employee providing services related to mortgage 


advertising, marketing, or sales, that person’s: name; telephone number; email, 
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physical, and postal address; job title or position; dates of service; and, if 


applicable, the reason for termination. 


e. Records showing, for each service provider providing services related to mortgage 


advertising, marketing, or sales, the name of a point of contact, and that person’s 


telephone number; email, physical, and postal address; job title or position; dates 


of service; and, if applicable, the reason for termination. 


f. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must create recordings of all 


consumer phone calls, both incoming and outgoing. Respondent may request a 


90-day extension of this period from the Enforcement Director for good cause 


shown, including Respondent’s diligent efforts to implement the call recording 


system within the time provided.   


44. With the exception of subsection (f), Respondent must retain the documents identified in 


Paragraph 43 for at least 5 years. Respondent must retain the documents identified in 


Paragraph 43 subsection (f) for at least 1 year, or as required by law, whichever period is 


longer. 


45. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 43 available to the Bureau 


pursuant to a request consistent with this Consent Order and within a reasonable period of 


time. 


XI 
Notices 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


46. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 


submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent Order 


in writing, with the subject line, “In re NewDay Financial, File No. 2015-CFPB-0004,” 


and send them either: 


a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 
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Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 
 


b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 


Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 


Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 


XII 
Cooperation with the Bureau 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


47. Respondent will promptly respond in full to any future reasonable information request from 


the Bureau relating to matters described in this Order. 


XIII 
Compliance Monitoring 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with this Consent 


Order: 


48. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must submit 


additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made under 


penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  


49. Upon request and concerning the subject matter of this Consent Order, Respondent must 


permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other person affiliated with 


Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel 


present. 


50. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative 


demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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XIV 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


51. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent Order 


(e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by submitting a 


written request to the Enforcement Director. 


52. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material requirements 


of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 


requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such 


modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing.  


XV 
Administrative Provisions 


53. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or 


any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent, except as 


described in Paragraph 54. 


54. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law violations 


that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in Section IV of 


this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the 


Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices 


described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 


affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 


continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. 


This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 


compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent 


Order.  
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55. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order issued 


under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not 


be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 


56. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the most 


recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the Consent Order by 


Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules that 


Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is 


either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the 


action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until 


such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 


suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 


57. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 


days, unless otherwise noted.  


58. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any violation of 


this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money penalties 


allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any 


attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may 


serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 


court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 


59. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 


between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties 


other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This 


Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written 


communications, discussions, or understandings. 


60. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 


allowing Respondent, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 


 


ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 


File No. 2014-CFPB-0012 


 
  


In the Matter of:          CONSENT ORDER 


 
  
First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc.  


 
  


 


 


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the processes by which 


First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc. (Respondent, as defined below) furnishes consumer 


information to consumer reporting agencies and has identified the following law violations: (1) 


Respondent failed to establish and/or implement reasonable written policies and procedures 


regarding the “accuracy” and “integrity” of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to 


consumer reporting agencies in violation of Subpart E of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a), the 


implementing regulation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq. (FCRA); (2) 


Respondent’s representation regarding the accuracy of the information it furnishes is deceptive in 


violation of 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial 


Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order 


(Consent Order). 
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I 
 


Jurisdiction 


 


1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under (a) Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 


CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565; and (b) Section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(b)(1).  


  II 


Stipulation 


2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order,” 


dated [ ] (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By 


this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the 


Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 


admitting or denying any of the below findings of fact or conclusions of law, except the 


facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 


matter of this action. 


III 


Definitions 
 


3. The following definitions shall apply to this Consent Order: 


a. “Board” shall mean Respondent’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 


b. “Consumer Reporting Agencies” or “CRAs” shall mean any consumer reporting agency 


that compiles and maintains files on consumers on a nationwide basis, as defined in 


Section 603(p) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §  1681a(p). 


c. “Effective Date” shall mean the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 


d. “Enforcement Director” shall mean the Assistant Director of the Office of 


Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her delegee. 


e.  “Furnishers Rule” refers to Regulation V, Subpart E, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.40-43. 
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f. “Furnishing Process” refers to the process Respondent uses to furnish information 


relating to consumers to the CRAs, including but not limited to any computer software 


application Respondent employs for that purpose. 


g. “Respondent” shall mean First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc., and its 


subsidiaries, successors and assigns. 


h. “Systemic Inaccuracy” refers to any aspect of Respondent’s Furnishing Process that 


results in inaccuracies in information furnished to CRAs, including but not limited to 


any failure by Respondent to correctly translate its customers’ account information into 


the standard industry-accepted format  (i.e. “Metro 2”) before furnishing such 


information to CRAs. 


BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 


IV 


The Bureau finds the following: 


4. Respondent is a Texas-based company that extends credit to consumers to finance the 


purchase of motor vehicles. Such credit extensions take the form of indirect credit, where 


Respondent takes assignment of retail installment sales contracts from motor vehicle 


dealers, and direct loans to consumers. Respondent holds the resulting accounts for 


investment. Many of the consumers who obtain credit through Respondent have impaired 


credit profiles. 


5. Respondent provides consumer report information, including information relating to the 


account payment history of its customers, to certain CRAs. That information is used or 


expected to be used in connection with decisions regarding the offering or provision of a 


consumer financial product or service.  


6. Respondent is a “covered person” pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) and (15)(A)(i), (ix). 


2014-CFPB-0012     Document 1     Filed 08/20/2014     Page 3 of 17







4 
 


7. Furthermore, Respondent furnishes information relating to consumers to one or more 


consumer reporting agencies for inclusion in a consumer report. As such Respondent is a 


“furnisher” as that term is defined by Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.41(c). 


8. Since no later than January 2011, Respondent has been furnishing information to CRAs on 


the status of each of the accounts it services. For the period covered by the investigation 


leading to this Consent Order, Respondent furnished information to the CRAs on as many 


as 118,855 unique accounts. 


9. Respondent furnishes information about its accounts in Metro 2 format. Metro 2 was 


developed by the Consumer Data Industry Association to serve as a standard industry-


accepted format for the electronic reporting of credit information. 


10. From at least March 2011 to the present, Respondent published an address through which 


its customers could send Respondent disputes related to credit reporting inaccuracies. 


Indeed, both directly and through the CRAs, Respondent received from its customers 


numerous disputes claiming that Respondent was reporting to the CRAs inaccurate 


consumer account information. In general, Respondent timely responded to disputes and 


corrected information when necessary. 


11. No later than March 2011, Respondent learned it was inaccurately reporting to one CRA its 


customers’ payment history profile. The payment history profile contains up to 24 months 


of consecutive payment activity for the 24 months prior to the date of account information 


being reported. In one example, the information Respondent furnished to the CRA 


indicated eleven historical delinquencies when in fact the consumer had only been 


delinquent twice.  


12. In approximately November 2011, Respondent negotiated with the one CRA to implement 


a workaround that stopped the misreporting of payment history profile information. 
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However, during the nine month period between the discovery of the problem and the 


implementation of the workaround, Respondent continued to furnish payment history 


profile information it knew to be inaccurate for between 11,804 and 14,622 customer 


accounts on a monthly basis. 


13. No later than April 2011, Respondent learned it was inaccurately reporting to the CRAs 


many of its customers’ date of first delinquency. In most cases, Respondent was reporting 


the date of first delinquency to be more recent than it in fact was. That error exposed 


Respondent’s customers to the risk that the delinquency in question would remain on their 


credit reports beyond the statutorily-allowed 7-year period.  


14. Respondent learned no later than April 2011 that it was inaccurately reporting dates of first 


delinquency and, in April 2011, notified its furnishing service provider of the inaccuracy. 


Respondent took no further action to address the problem until December 2012, after 


Respondent received from the Bureau a Civil Investigative Demand relating, in part, to 


Respondent’s Furnishing Process. 


15. Respondent continued to inaccurately report its customers’ dates of first delinquency until 


at least December 2013.  


16. During the approximately thirty month period between April 2011, when Respondent 


discovered the date of first delinquency inaccuracies and December 2013, Respondent 


reported date of first delinquency information it knew to be inaccurate for between 1,620 


and 7,950 customer accounts on a monthly basis.  


17. No later than April 2011, Respondent learned it was systematically overstating to CRAs the 


dollar amount by which its customers were past due on their accounts. 


18. Respondent learned no later than April 2011 that it was inaccurately reporting the amount 


by which its customers were past due and, in April 2011, notified its furnishing service 
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provider of the inaccuracy. Respondent took no further action to address the problem until 


December 2012, after Respondent received from the Bureau a Civil Investigative Demand 


relating, in part, to Respondent’s Furnishing Process. 


19. Respondent continued to inaccurately report the amount its customers were past due until 


at least June 2013. 


20. During the approximately 26 month period between April 2011, when Respondent 


discovered it was inaccurately reporting the amount by which its customers were past due 


and June 2013 , Respondent reported information about the amount its customers were 


past due that Respondent knew to be inaccurate for between 1,326 and 2,747 customer 


accounts on a monthly basis.  


21.  No later than December 2012, Respondent learned it was systematically understating to 


the CRAs the dollar amount many of its customers were paying every month while also 


reporting the correct account status and correct outstanding balance for those customers. 


22. Respondent continued to inaccurately report its customers’ payment amounts until at least 


June 2013.  


23. During the approximately 7 month period between December 2012, when Respondent 


discovered it was inaccurately reporting payment amounts and June 2013, Respondent 


reported payment amount information it knew to be inaccurate on monthly basis for 


between 4,151 and 9,920 customer accounts. 


24. When a consumer defaults or is otherwise unable to make payments on a loan, lienholders 


often have the option to take possession of any collateral given for the loan. In the auto 


loan market, the autos themselves are often used as collateral. 
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25. Metro 2 standards distinguish between involuntary repossession of an auto and voluntary 


surrender of an auto and thus provide different account status codes for furnishers to use 


when reporting such information to CRAs.    


26. The customer account information system Respondent uses to furnish information to the 


CRAs was configured such that it did not distinguish between voluntary surrenders and 


involuntary repossessions. As a result, Respondent reported repossessions of its customers’ 


autos as “involuntary” in cases where the auto was in fact surrendered voluntarily. 


27. Respondent became aware of its failure to accurately report voluntary surrenders to the 


CRAs no later than August, 2012 but allowed the error to persist. 


Findings and Conclusions as to Violations of the Furnishers Rule 


28.  The Furnishers Rule requires furnishers of information to the CRAs to “establish and 


implement reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity 


of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a consumer reporting agency.” 


12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 


29. As set forth in paragraphs 9-27, Respondent was systematically furnishing inaccurate 


information to the CRAs regarding how its customers were performing on their accounts.  


30. Upon learning of the inaccuracies, Respondent did not suspend its furnishing for the 


customer accounts affected by the inaccuracies; instead, it continued to furnish information 


about those accounts Respondent knew to be inaccurate. 


31. Instead of moving to address inaccuracies it learned about, Respondent in several cases 


allowed them to persist.  


32. The Systemic Inaccuracies that plagued Respondent’s furnishing operations; Respondent’s 


decision to continue to furnish information it knew to be inaccurate; and Respondent’s 


failure to require its service provider to correct the issues causing inaccuracies within a 
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reasonable time once Respondent learned of them all demonstrate Respondent’s failure to 


implement reasonable policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the 


information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a consumer reporting agency, in 


violation of the Furnishers Rule. 


Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentation  
Regarding the Accuracy of Furnished Information 


 
33. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 


practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  


34. On its website, Respondent provides answers to a series of “frequently asked questions.” 


One such question was: “What if I have a dispute about information appearing on my 


credit report?” The answer the Company offers was as follows: 


Please be advised that it is the policy of First Investors to comply 
with the requirements of the Fair Credit Reporting Act when we 
furnish information about a consumer to a consumer reporting 
agency. Therefore, we only furnish accurate information relating to a 
consumer to the consumer reporting agencies and will promptly 
correct any inaccurate information. If you believe that we have 
reported inaccurate information concerning your account to any 
consumer reporting agency, then please send us a dispute notification 
indicating the specific information you believe is inaccurate and 
containing all of the relevant information as to why you believe that 
information is inaccurate. Please send the dispute notification to: 
First Investors Servicing Corporation Attn: Compliance Department 
U.S. Mail/Delivery: 380 Interstate North Parkway, Suite 300, Atlanta, 
GA 30339 Facsimile: 866-390-2947 Email: compliance@fifsg.com. 
You may also use our Courtesy Dispute Form. 


 


35. In fact, as set forth in Paragraphs 9-27, some  of the information Respondent furnished 


during the Relevant Period was inaccurate for many customer accounts, and Respondent 


did not promptly correct information it knew to be inaccurate.  


36. Respondent’s representation was material to its customers. 
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37. Therefore, Respondent’s representation, as set forth in Paragraph 34 constitutes a deceptive 


act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 


5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 


CONDUCT PROVISIONS 


 
V 


Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 


 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 


38. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys are deemed to have 


actual notice of this Consent Order, and whether acting directly or indirectly, shall cease 


and desist from any violations of the Furnishers Rule and Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 


CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and in particular: 


a. No later than fifteen days from the Effective Date, Respondent shall cease furnishing 


information to the CRAs about consumer accounts potentially affected by any Systemic 


Inaccuracy that Respondent (a) is currently aware of; and (b) has not yet resolved. 


b. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall identify all inaccurate 


information it has furnished to the CRAs as a result of known Systemic Inaccuracies. 


Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall notify the CRAs of the 


inaccuracies and either i) provide to the CRAs the correct information or ii) delete the 


associated tradeline if accurate information is not available. Respondent will not 


thereafter re-furnish the inaccurate information. 


c. No later than fifteen days from the Effective Date and until such time as Respondent 


resolves all Systemic Inaccuracies, Respondent shall cease and desist from making any 


representation regarding the accuracy or integrity of information it furnishes to CRAs. 
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d. To the extent any affected customers are ineligible for a free credit report, Respondent 


shall arrange means by which such customers may obtain a credit report free of charge 


from one or more of the credit reporting agencies to which Respondent furnishes 


information. Respondent shall ensure the option to obtain the free credit report is 


available to such customers for 180 days after they receive the notice specified in 


paragraph 38(e).  


e. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall post prominently on its website 


for a period of 90 days, and send to each of its customers affected by the known 


Systemic Inaccuracies identified using the process set forth in subparagraph 38(b) at all 


addresses associated with their accounts (including email addresses) a notice (Notice) 


that has been approved by the Enforcement Director advising of at least the following: 


i. Since 2011, Respondent has been providing inaccurate information about some 


of its customers to the CRAs; 


ii. As a result of those inaccuracies, Respondent is the subject of an Enforcement 


Action by the Bureau; 


iii. The inaccuracies may have had an adverse effect on the affected customers’ 


credit; 


iv. Consumers have a statutory right to receive a free credit report annually from 


each of the nationwide consumer reporting agencies.  


v. The process for obtaining a free credit report; 


vi. To the extent the affected customers have already obtained a free credit report 


this year, Respondent will inform such customers of the means by which a credit 


report can be obtained free of charge so long as they apply for such report within 


180 days of receiving a Notice; and 
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vii. The process consumers may use to dispute inaccuracies in their credit report. 


f. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall update its policies and 


procedures to include a specific process for identifying Systemic Inaccuracies (“Audit 


Program”). At a minimum, the policies and procedures for the Audit Program shall 


require that Respondent: (i) examine a randomly selected sample of accounts for 


furnishing inaccuracies on a monthly basis using industry-accepted standards for 


selection and testing; (ii) monitor and evaluate disputes it receives from the CRAs and its 


customers for indications of a Systemic Inaccuracy; and (iii) cease furnishing information 


for all consumer accounts potentially affected by a Systemic Inaccuracy until such time 


as the Systemic Inaccuracy is resolved. 


g. Respondent shall fully implement the Audit Program within 60 days of the Effective 


Date. 


h. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall retain an independent consultant 


(Consultant) to assess Respondent’s compliance with this Order. The Consultant shall 


prepare an Audit Report summarizing its findings, and provide a copy of the Audit 


Report to Respondent’s Board and to the Enforcement Director no later than 180 days 


from the Effective Date.   


i. Respondent shall sufficiently provide the staffing, facilities, systems, and information 


necessary to timely and completely respond to consumer disputes in compliance with the 


FCRA.   


39. For purposes of Paragraph 38 (as it relates to the furnishing of information about 


Respondent’s use of an automobile as collateral), the following definitions apply: 


a. “Repossession Conditions” refers all steps required by applicable state law to effectuate 


the seizure of an automobile as collateral; 
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b. “Voluntary Surrender” refers to Respondent’s taking possession of a customer’s 


automobile as collateral with the customer’s consent and prior to satisfying all 


Repossession Conditions. 


c. “Repossession” refers to the Respondent’s taking possession of a customer’s automobile 


as collateral after satisfying all Repossession Conditions. 


d. In the event the Consumer Data Industry Association provides Metro 2 guidance 


inconsistent with the definitions in this paragraph, such guidance shall control.  


VI 
 


Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


40. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of law 


set forth in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors set forth 


in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent shall pay a civil money penalty of $2.75 million to the 


Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 


41. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall pay the civil money penalty in the 


form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in 


accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the Bureau. 


42. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order shall be deposited in the Civil 


Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 


5497(d). 


43. Respondent shall treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a penalty 


paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses 


those funds, Respondent shall not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for any 


civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 


b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any source, 


including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to 


any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 


44. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this 


Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on 


any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 


shall immediately become due and payable. 


45. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 


extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to Respondent. 


46. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, shall 


furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 


collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  


COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 


VII 


Reporting Requirements 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


47. Within one year after the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Enforcement 


Director an accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which has 


been approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 


a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with this 


Order; and   
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b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section VIII of this 


Consent Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 


48. After the one-year period, Respondent shall submit to the Enforcement Director additional 


Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 


VIII 


Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  


49. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this Consent 


Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 


employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities 


related to the subject matter of the Consent Order.   


50. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this Consent Order 


to any business entity resulting from any change in structure, any future board members 


and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other 


agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 


Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  


51. Respondent shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 


this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of the 


E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a 


copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  


 IX 


Recordkeeping 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall create, for at least 5 years from the 


Effective Date, and then retain, for at least 5 years, and make available to the Bureau upon request, 
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all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of this 


Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 


X 


Notices 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


52. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, all submissions, requests, 


communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Consent Order shall be in 


writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 


Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
 


The subject line shall begin:  In re First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc., File 
No. 2012-CFPB-0005-02. 
Provided however that Respondent may send such reports or notifications by first-class 


mail, but only if Respondent contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report 


or notification to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 


XI 
 


Cooperation with the Bureau 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


53. Respondent shall fully cooperate with the Bureau in this matter and in any investigation 


related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. Respondent shall provide 


truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. For 60 months following the 


Effective Date, Respondent shall cause its officers, employees, representatives, or agents to 
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appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau 


may reasonably request upon reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may 


designate, without the service of compulsory process. 


XII 


Compliance and Extensions of Time 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


54. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may, in his/her 


discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable 


extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements). Any such modification by the 


Enforcement Director shall be in writing.  


 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 


 XIII 


Administrative Provisions 


55. The provisions of this Consent Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, 


or any other governmental agency from taking any other action against Respondent. 


56. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final Consent Order 


issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, 


and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 


57. This Consent Order shall remain effective and enforceable, except to the extent that, and 


until such time as, any provisions of this Consent Order shall have been amended, 


suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 


 


ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 


File No. 2014-CFPB-0017 
 


  
In the Matter of: 
 
 


CONSENT ORDER  
 


DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc. 
and DT Acceptance Corp. 
 


    


 


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed debt collection 


and credit information furnishing processes and practices of DriveTime Automotive 


Group, Inc. and its finance company DT Acceptance Corporation (DriveTime, as defined 


below). The Bureau has identified the following law violations: (1) DriveTime committed 


unfair acts and practices in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 


(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, by failing: (A) to prevent account servicing and 


collection calls to consumers’ workplaces after consumers asked DriveTime to stop such 


calls; (B) to prevent calls to consumers’ third-party references after the references or 


consumers asked DriveTime to stop calling them; and (C) to prevent calls to people at 


wrong numbers after they have asked DriveTime to stop calling; and (2) DriveTime 


furnished information to consumer reporting agencies that DriveTime had reasonable 


cause to believe was inaccurate, failed to correct or delete inaccurate information within 


a reasonable time after learning of the inaccuracies, and failed to establish and/or 


implement reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the “accuracy” and 
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“integrity” of the information it furnished to consumer reporting agencies, in violation 


of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq., and its implementing 


regulation, the Furnisher Rule, Subpart E of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.42(a) and 


(c). Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau 


issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 


I 


Jurisdiction 


1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under (a) Sections 1053 and 1055 


of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565; and (b) Section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 


§ 1681s.  


  II 


Stipulation 


2. DriveTime has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 


Order,” dated November 17, 2014 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 


reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, DriveTime has 


consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 


1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 


denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that DriveTime 


admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over DriveTime 


and the subject matter of this action.   
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III 


Definitions 


3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 


a. “Affected Consumer” means any customer for whom DriveTime furnished 


Systemically Inaccurate Information. 


b. “Board” means DriveTime’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 


c. “DriveTime” means DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc., and its subsidiaries, 


successors and assigns, and its affiliate DT Acceptance Corporation.  


d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 


e. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 


Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 


delegee. 


f. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 


more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 


brought against DriveTime based on substantially the same facts as set forth 


in Section IV of this Consent Order. 


g. “Relevant Period” means the period from 2010 through the Effective Date. 


h. “Systemically Inaccurate Information” means information furnished to one or 


more consumer reporting agencies by DriveTime that arises out of, or is 


related to, systems or processes resulting in similar inaccuracies for multiple 


accounts due to a similar cause. 
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BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 


IV 


General 


The Bureau finds the following: 


4. DriveTime is a “buy-here, pay-here” used car dealer headquartered in Phoenix, 


Arizona. It sells cars and, through its finance affiliate, DTAC, provides subprime 


vehicle financing at 117 dealership locations in 20 states. 


5. DriveTime is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 


6. DriveTime’s average customer is 26 to 42 years of age, has an annual income of 


$37,000 to $50,000, and has a FICO score between 461 and 554. As of 


December 31, 2013, DriveTime had 150,830 retail installment contracts 


outstanding. In 2013, DriveTime originated 68,177 retail installment contracts; 


the average amount financed for those transactions was $16,299; the average 


APR was 19%; and the average customer FICO score was 520. 


7. The used cars that DriveTime sells are usually between two and seven years old 


and usually have mileage of between 40,000 to 120,000 miles.  


8. As of December 31, 2013, 46% of DriveTime’s outstanding retail installment 


contracts – approximately 69,000 – were past due. As of December, 31, 2013, 


16% of DriveTime’s outstanding retail installment contracts – approximately 


24,000 – were more than 30 days past due. 


Findings and Conclusions as to Unfair Collection 
Practices in Violation of the CFPA 


 
9. When DriveTime consumers fell behind on their installment payments, 


DriveTime’s extensive collections operation began calling them. DriveTime had 
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at least 290 collection employees in two domestic call centers and 80 


contractors in Barbados. Collectively, these employees and contractors 


(hereinafter, “collectors”) placed tens of thousands of outbound collection calls 


each weekday to DriveTime’s consumers who fell behind on their installment 


payments.  


Calls to Workplaces 


10. DriveTime called consumers at their workplaces as part of the company’s 


collections efforts. DriveTime’s collections managers encouraged collectors to 


make these calls, in accordance with DriveTime’s collection procedures.  


11. Upon receiving DriveTime’s calls to their workplaces, numerous consumers 


requested that DriveTime no longer call their workplaces. Nonetheless, 


DriveTime collectors had a practice of continuing to call consumers who 


requested not to receive calls (a “do not call” or “DNC” request) from DriveTime 


at work. 


12. For example, one consumer was called 30 times at work after her DNC request. 


Another consumer, who had been called by DriveTime at her workplace eight 


times after her DNC request, was fired because of her receipt of those calls. 


Other consumers were reprimanded by their bosses or threatened with 


termination as a result of their receipt of DriveTime collection calls to their cell 


phones while at work.  


13. Some DriveTime managers have encouraged collectors to call numbers that had 


previously been marked in its system as DNC. 
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Calls to Third-Party References 


14. DriveTime required consumers to provide four to eight names and phone 


numbers as references when they applied for financing to purchase a vehicle. 


15. When consumers fell behind in payments, DriveTime called references in an 


attempt to get the consumers to call DriveTime to discuss their accounts.    


16. Upon receiving DriveTime’s calls, numerous references orally requested that 


DriveTime no longer call them. Numerous customers of DriveTime also 


requested that DriveTime no longer call some or all of their references. Despite 


such requests from references and customers, DriveTime failed to prevent 


repeated calls to third-party references under these circumstances. For example, 


some references complained that DriveTime collectors called them for months 


after the references requested that the calls stop.  


17. References experienced stress as a result of calls they could not stop, and at least 


one customer’s references stopped speaking to her as a result of receiving daily 


calls from DriveTime. DriveTime’s repeated, unwanted calls to references 


harmed those references and the company’s customers’ personal relationships 


with them. 


Calls to Wrong Numbers 


18. In its efforts to reach consumers who fell behind, DriveTime frequently used 


third-party databases to “skip trace” for new phone numbers for its customers. 


These searches frequently led to wrong numbers that were never, or were no 


longer, associated with a DriveTime customer (third parties). 


19. Upon receiving DriveTime’s calls, numerous third parties orally requested that 


DriveTime no longer call them. Despite such requests, DriveTime failed to 
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prevent calls to these third parties or did not remove their numbers from its 


systems in time to prevent such calls. 


20. According to third parties and DriveTime’s internal records, DriveTime 


collectors repeatedly dialed third-party phone numbers even after the company 


was told they were not associated with DriveTime consumers. In some cases, 


DriveTime called third parties for over a year before stopping the calls. 


21. Until at least April 1, 2014, DriveTime did not have an effective system in place 


to prevent repeated calls to third parties as a result of skip tracing.  


22. In December 2011, a DriveTime internal audit recommended systems changes – 


including increased use of physically blocking the system from calling certain 


numbers – to reduce calls to DNC numbers. But DriveTime took no action to 


implement those recommended changes. 


23. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibit “unfair, deceptive, or 


abusive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B).  


24. As set forth in Paragraphs 10-13, in numerous instances, DriveTime failed to 


prevent calls to consumers at their workplaces after consumers requested that 


DriveTime not call them at work or when DriveTime otherwise had reason to 


know that consumers were not permitted to receive calls at work.  


25. As set forth in Paragraphs 14-17, in numerous instances, DriveTime failed to 


prevent repeated calls to third-party references after the references or 


consumers asked DriveTime to stop calling.  


26. As set forth in Paragraphs 18-22, in numerous instances, DriveTime failed to 


prevent calls to third parties at wrong numbers after they asked DriveTime to 


stop calling.  
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27. The acts and practices set forth in Paragraphs 24-26 constituted activity that 


had the effect of annoying, abusing, or harassing consumers and third parties. 


28. The acts and practices set forth in Paragraphs 24-26 caused or were likely to 


cause substantial consumer injury that was not reasonably avoidable by 


consumers or outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to 


competition. 


29. DriveTime’s acts and practices therefore constituted unfair acts and practices in 


violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 


5536(a)(1)(B). 


Findings and Conclusions as to  
Violations of the Furnisher Rule 


 
30. DriveTime furnishes consumer account information for approximately 350,000 


retail installment accounts to all three major consumer reporting agencies 


(CRAs): Experian, TransUnion, and Equifax.  


31. DriveTime implemented written policies and procedures related to credit 


information furnishing in 2010 as mandated by the Furnisher Rule, Subpart E of 


Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a).  


32. Until 2014, DriveTime’s written furnishing policies and procedures were only a 


page-and-a-half long and had not been updated since they were implemented. 


33. DriveTime’s written policies and procedures did not include a discussion of 


credit furnishing dispute investigation procedures nor did they describe what 


constitutes a reasonable dispute investigation.  
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34. In November 2011, DriveTime started using a third-party loan servicing 


platform to compile information to be furnished. By April 2013, DriveTime 


outsourced its furnishing completely.  


35. The conversion to a third-party servicing platform was a massive transition that 


led to inaccuracies in DriveTime’s furnished information. 


36. Following the November 2011 conversion, DriveTime furnished duplicate 


account information for at least 20,000 accounts. DriveTime did not detect 


these furnishing inaccuracies until April 2012, and it corrected the inaccuracies 


in June 2012.  


37. In 2012, DriveTime furnished inaccurate current balances for consumers on 


90,000 charged-off accounts, largely due to problems with the conversion. 


DriveTime did not detect these furnishing inaccuracies until July 2012, and it 


suspended furnishing until the cause of the inaccuracy was corrected in October 


2012. 


38. Although DriveTime detected these inaccuracies during the transition to a third-


party servicing platform, DriveTime did not update its written furnishing 


policies and procedures during the transition to ensure their effectiveness.     


39. At the point of sale, DriveTime described its credit information furnishing to 


consumers in a letter that read, “We want you to know that among the many 


benefits you receive as a DriveTime customer, we report your payment history 


with us to credit reporting agencies, such as Equifax, Experian and TransUnion. 


This is important to you because if you pay on time your credit report will 


improve and you will be eligible for better credit terms from us, finance 


companies and/or banks. We report all information, positive or negative. 
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Negative information means information concerning delinquencies, late 


payments, missed payments or any form of default. If you believe any 


information we have reported is inaccurate, please notify us immediately in 


writing at the address below.” 


40. DriveTime received approximately 22,000 disputes per year related to its credit 


information furnishing practices. DriveTime had two employees who processed 


the credit information disputes that were received. 


41. Some disputes involved the furnishing of information reflecting that a 


repossession occurred more recently than the actual date of repossession. 


42. In several instances, consumers disputed the same account information several 


times without the inaccurate information being corrected. 


43. In some instances, DriveTime informed the consumers in writing that the 


furnishing had been corrected, when it had not been.  


44. In other instances, DriveTime responded in writing – often on the same day a 


consumer complained – and informed the consumer that the consumer’s 


dispute had come back as “non-conclusive” and “the reporting appears 


accurate” when in fact it was not. 


45. The Furnisher Rule requires a furnisher of credit information to “establish and 


implement reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy 


and integrity of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a 


consumer reporting agency.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 


46. The policies and procedures “must be appropriate to the nature, size, 


complexity, and scope of each furnisher’s activities.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a); 


Appendix E, § I(a). 
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47. The policies and procedures should be reasonably designed to promote 


“reasonable investigations of consumer disputes” and the taking of “appropriate 


actions based on the outcome of such investigations.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a); 


Appendix E. § I(b)(3). 


48. The Furnisher Rule further requires a furnisher to perform a periodic review 


and update its policies and procedures as necessary to ensure their effectiveness. 


12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(c). 


49. Since 2010, DriveTime failed to establish and implement reasonable written 


policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the information 


it furnished to CRAs, and its policies and procedures were not appropriate to the 


nature, size, complexity, and scope of its furnishing activities. In addition, 


DriveTime’s written furnishing policies and procedures were not reasonably 


designed to promote reasonable investigations of consumer disputes or the 


taking of appropriate actions based on the outcome of such investigations.  


50. From at least November 2011 until 2014, DriveTime failed to update its written 


furnishing policies and procedures as necessary to ensure their continued 


effectiveness since they were implemented in 2010, despite the fact that 


DriveTime concluded during a 2012 internal review of accounts that it had a 


problem with the furnishing of repossession information and that the 


conversion to a third-party platform for furnishing had led to widespread 


inaccuracies in the furnished information. 


51. DriveTime therefore violated the Furnisher Rule, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.42(a); (c). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Violations of the FCRA 


52. The FCRA prohibits a furnisher who does not clearly and conspicuously specify 


to the consumer an address for notices that specific information furnished is 


inaccurate from furnishing information it “knows or has reasonable cause to 


believe is inaccurate.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(A).  


53. The FCRA provides that: “A person who furnishes information to a consumer 


reporting agency regarding a delinquent account being placed for collection, 


charged to profit or loss, or subjected to any similar action shall, not later than 


90 days after furnishing the information, notify the agency of the date of 


delinquency on the account, which shall be the month and year of the 


commencement of the delinquency on the account that immediately preceded 


the action.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(5). 


54. The FCRA further imposes a duty on furnishers to conduct an investigation into 


disputes and, if an item is found to be inaccurate or incomplete, to modify, 


delete, or permanently block the furnishing of that information. 15 U.S.C. § 


1681s-2(b)(1).  


55. As set forth in Paragraphs 40-41 above, DriveTime received over 22,000 credit 


information furnishing disputes each year, including disputes related to the 


furnishing of information that inaccurately reflected the timing of repossessions 


and dates of first delinquency for charged-off accounts.   


56. In connection with certain consumer complaints, including disputes related to 


the furnishing of information that inaccurately reflected the timing of 


repossessions and dates of first delinquency, DriveTime furnished information 


to the consumer reporting agencies that was different from that maintained in 
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DriveTime’s account servicing database and was inaccurate. In other instances, 


consumers provided DriveTime – directly or through a CRA – with information 


indicating that the DriveTime information appearing in their credit reports was 


inaccurate.   


57. DriveTime therefore had “reasonable cause” to believe information it was 


furnishing was inaccurate, yet it continued to furnish inaccurate information to 


the CRAs. 


58. Some consumers complained about, or disputed, the same DriveTime-furnished 


information on more than one occasion without the inaccurate furnished 


information being corrected.  


59. For some disputes, DriveTime failed to conduct reasonable investigations of 


credit information furnishing disputes, including disputes related to inaccurate 


dates of first delinquency and timing of repossessions.   


60. DriveTime’s acts and practices therefore constituted violations of the FCRA, 15 


U.S.C. § 1681s-2. 


ORDER 


V 


Conduct Provisions 


 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 


61. DriveTime and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 


actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly:  


a. Must not violate Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 


5536, the Furnisher Rule, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.40-43, or the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 


1681s-2; 
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b. Must not communicate with consumers at their workplaces if consumers have 


requested that DriveTime not communicate with them at their workplaces or 


if DriveTime otherwise knows or has reason to know that the consumers’ 


employers prohibit communications to their workplaces. DriveTime shall 


otherwise have reason to know of such prohibition if any representative of the 


consumer’s employer has requested orally or in writing that DriveTime not 


call and the request identifies or refers to particular employees or particular 


numbers; 


c. Must, within 150 days of the Effective Date, provide a clear and conspicuous 


written notice to existing customers of their ability, on the DriveTime website 


used by customers to access information about their accounts, to limit the 


times during which account servicing calls will be made by DriveTime to the 


customer’s cell phone. For all new customers, DriveTime must provide a clear 


and conspicuous written notice as part of a welcome kit, or other initial 


written communication to the customers, that includes a description of the 


customer’s ability, using the DriveTime website that customers use to access 


information about their accounts, to limit the times during which account 


servicing calls will be made by DriveTime. At the beginning of every outbound 


welcome call, at the time of the first collection call on an account (in which 


DriveTime makes a right-party contact), and each time a customer inquires or 


complains about receiving a call to a cell phone, DriveTime must notify the 


consumer of the ability to limit the times of day when DriveTime will make 


calls to that phone number, and DriveTime must accept the customer’s oral 


request to limit such calls, without requiring any additional steps by the 
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consumer. DriveTime must also accept customers’ requests to limit the times 


of account servicing calls by email, fax, and letter. If DriveTime reasonably 


believes it will be necessary to order the repossession of the vehicle in the next 


72 hours, DriveTime may attempt to call the non-work numbers associated 


with the customer during those times permitted by applicable law; 


d. Must, within 120 days of the Effective Date, not call a particular phone 


number related to an account if any person has requested, orally or in writing, 


that DriveTime stop calling such number or has stated, orally or in writing, 


that the consumer that DriveTime is trying to contact cannot be reached at 


that number; 


e. Must not communicate with any person, including references, other than the 


consumer in connection with the collection of a debt, except for the purpose of 


obtaining accurate location information for that consumer and then no more 


than once unless:  


i. Requested to do so by the person after the account has become 


delinquent or DriveTime reasonably believes that the earlier response 


of such person is erroneous or incomplete and such person now has 


correct or complete location information; and  


ii. DriveTime has not had contact (meaning outbound call with right-


party contact or inbound call, email, or letter) with the consumer in 30 


days or more. 


f. Must not communicate with third parties, including references, after the third 


parties have requested, orally or in writing, that DriveTime not communicate 


with them; 
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g. Must take the following affirmative actions within the time periods provided: 


i. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, adopt and implement reasonable 


policies and procedures to prevent communications that would violate 


the prohibitions described in Paragraphs (b) through (c) and (e) 


through (f) above, including, but not limited to: 


(1) Create a Master do not call (DNC) list, integrated with a dialer 


exclusion system; 


(2) Make changes to the account management system to:  


a. Display customer accounts where a DNC has been 


requested in a different color to alert the loan advisor; 


b. Display an account message on screen notifying the loan 


advisor of a DNC on a particular account; 


c. Redact DNC numbers as appropriate in the call notes; 


d. Provide a single method for loan advisors to mark a 


phone number DNC during a call; and 


e. Provide managers with the capability to flag accounts as 


DNC. 


ii. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, develop and implement written 


consumer information furnishing policies and procedures that comply 


with the Furnisher Rule in consultation with a third-party compliance 


consultant; 


iii. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, cease furnishing information 


related to a voluntary or involuntary repossession, unless DriveTime 


has verified that the information is correct after the Effective Date; 
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iv. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, identify all Systemically 


Inaccurate Information it has furnished to the CRAs that has not 


already been corrected, modified, deleted, or blocked as required by 


the FCRA. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must 


notify the CRAs of the inaccuracies and either: (1) provide to the CRAs 


the correct information or (2) delete the inaccurate information from 


the associated trade line if accurate information is not available.  


Thereafter, DriveTime must permanently block the refurnishing of the 


inaccurate information; 


v. Within 30 days of the Effective Date and until such time as DriveTime 


resolves all causes of Systemically Inaccurate Information, cease and 


desist from making any representation to consumers regarding the 


accuracy or integrity of information it furnishes to CRAs; 


vi. Arrange for any Affected Consumers, who have already obtained their 


free annual credit report from the applicable CRA, to obtain a credit 


report free of charge from one or more of the CRAs to which DriveTime 


furnished inaccurate information about that consumer. DriveTime 


must ensure the option to obtain the free credit report is available to 


such consumers for 180 days after they receive the notice specified in 


Subparagraph (vii); 


vii. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, post prominently on the 


DriveTime website used by customers to access information about their 


accounts, for a period of 90 days, and send to each Affected Consumer 


identified using the process set forth in Subparagraph (iv) at all home 


2014-CFPB-0017     Document 1     Filed 11/19/2014     Page 17 of 31







 


18 
 


addresses associated with their accounts (including home email 


addresses) a notice (Notice) that has been approved by the 


Enforcement Director advising of at least the following: 


(1) DriveTime has provided inaccurate information about some of 


its customers to the CRAs; 


(2) As a result of those inaccuracies, DriveTime is the subject of a 


Consent Order by the Bureau; 


(3) The inaccuracies may have had an adverse effect on the affected 


customers’ credit; 


(4) Consumers have a statutory right to receive a free credit report 


annually from each of the nationwide consumer reporting 


agencies; 


(5) The process for obtaining a free credit report; 


(6) To the extent that the Affected Consumers have already 


obtained a free report during the preceding 12 months, 


DriveTime will inform such consumers of the means by which a 


credit report can be obtained free of charge so long as they apply 


for such report within 180 days of receiving a Notice; and 


(7) The process consumers may use to dispute inaccuracies in their 


credit report. 


viii. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, in consultation with a third-party 


compliance consultant, update its written policies and procedures to 


include a specific process for identifying Systemically Inaccurate 


Information (“Audit Program”). At a minimum, the policies and 
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procedures for the Audit Program must require that DriveTime: (1) 


examine a randomly selected sample of accounts for furnishing 


inaccuracies on a monthly basis using industry-accepted standards for 


selection and testing; (2) monitor and evaluate disputes it receives 


from the CRAs and its customers for indications of Systemically 


Inaccurate Information; and (3) cease furnishing information for all 


consumer accounts potentially affected by Systemically Inaccurate 


Information until such time as the Systemically Inaccurate Information 


is corrected, modified, deleted, or blocked as required by the FCRA; 


ix. Implement the Audit Program within 90 days of the Effective Date; 


x. For those accounts that were modified in the seven years prior to the 


Effective Date where DriveTime knows or has reasonable cause to 


believe that Systemically Inaccurate Information caused by a system 


conversion affected the information furnished by DriveTime to the 


consumer reporting agencies, confirm, within 90 days of the Effective 


Date, that all conversion issues and related inaccuracies have been 


resolved; 


xi. For inaccurate account information that DriveTime has reason to 


believe it may have furnished to a CRA, provide, within 120 days of the 


Effective Date, the corrected information to the CRA or request that the 


CRA delete the inaccurate information from the Affected Consumer’s 


file and permanently block the refurnishing of such information; and 


xii. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, create new training materials and 


train staff to comply with the terms of the Consent Order. 
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VI 


Independent Consultant’s Report and Compliance Plan 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


62. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must secure and retain one or 


more independent consultants, with specialized experience in debt collection 


and credit information furnishing, and acceptable to the Enforcement Director, 


to conduct an independent review of DriveTime’s collection and furnishing 


policies, procedures, and practices. The review must include specific 


recommendations on improving DriveTime’s compliance management systems, 


internal control systems, and compliance audit procedures. The purposes of the 


review must be to advise DriveTime of the consultant’s opinion as to: 


a. whether DriveTime’s policies and procedures provide adequate safeguards to 


prevent calls to consumers, references, and third parties that violate this 


Consent Order; and 


b. whether DriveTime has the furnishing policies and procedures, staffing, 


facilities, and systems necessary to furnish accurate information regarding 


consumer accounts and to correct Systemically Inaccurate Information, 


including but not limited to furnishing of information that inaccurately 


reflected the timing of repossessions and dates of first delinquency. 


63. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, the independent consultant(s) must 


prepare a written report detailing the findings of the review (the “Independent 


Consultant Report”), and provide the Independent Consultant Report to the 


Board.  
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64. Within 20 days of receiving the Independent Consultant Report, the Board 


must: 


a. Develop a plan (the “Compliance Plan”) to: (i) correct any deficiencies 


identified, and (ii) implement any recommendations or explain in writing why 


a particular recommendation is not being implemented; and 


b. Submit the Independent Consultant Report and the Compliance Plan to the 


Enforcement Director. 


65. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 


non-objection to the Compliance Plan or to direct the DriveTime to revise it. If 


the Enforcement Director directs DriveTime to revise the Compliance Plan, the 


Board must make appropriate revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to 


the Enforcement Director within 20 days. 


66. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 


determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, DriveTime must 


implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 


timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 


VII 


Role of the Board 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


67. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 


policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 


the Bureau.  


68. Although this Consent Order requires DriveTime to submit certain documents 


for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will 
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have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 


DriveTime and for ensuring that DriveTime complies with Federal consumer 


financial law and this Consent Order. 


69. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 


to, or undertake to perform, certain obligations of DriveTime, the Board must: 


a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for DriveTime to fully comply 


with the Consent Order; 


b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 


compliance obligations; and 


c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 


non-compliance with any Board directives related to this Section. 


MONETARY PROVISIONS 


VIII 


Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


70. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 


violations of law set forth in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 


account the mitigating factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), DriveTime 


must pay a civil money penalty of $8,000,000 to the Bureau. 


71. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must pay the civil money 


penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 


with the Bureau’s wiring instructions. 
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72. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 


Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 


U.S.C. § 5497(d). 


73. DriveTime must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 


a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 


ultimately uses those funds, DriveTime must not: 


a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 


for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 


b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 


any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 


policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 


74. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 


Consumer Action, DriveTime must not argue that DriveTime is entitled to, nor 


may DriveTime benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 


monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 


money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 


Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, DriveTime must, within 30 days 


after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and 


pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will 


not be deemed an additional civil money penalty and will not be deemed to 


change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 


75. In the event of any default on DriveTime’s obligations to make payment under 


this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 
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accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 


of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 


76. DriveTime must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 


the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 


DriveTime. 


77. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, DriveTime, unless it already has done so, 


must furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 


for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 


this Consent Order.  


78. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 


Related Consumer Action, DriveTime must notify the Enforcement Director of 


the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 


must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that DriveTime paid or is required 


to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 


whom that redress has been or will be paid. 


COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 


IX 


Reporting Requirements 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


79. DriveTime must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 


compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 


limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 


result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 


subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 
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this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 


against DriveTime; or a change in DriveTime’s name or address. DriveTime 


must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 


possible after learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 


80. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 


DriveTime must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 


compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 


Board, which, at a minimum: 


a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which DriveTime has complied 


with this Order; and   


b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, 


unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 


81. After the one-year period, DriveTime must submit to the Enforcement Director 


additional Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request 


from the Bureau. 


X 


Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


82. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must deliver a copy of this 


Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 


any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 


representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 


Consent Order.   
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83. For five years from the Effective Date, DriveTime must deliver a copy of this 


Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as 


set forth in Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as well 


as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 


representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 


Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  


84. DriveTime must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 


copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures complying 


with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001 et seq., within 30 


days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 


this Section.  


XI 


Recordkeeping 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


85. DriveTime must create, for at least five years from the Effective Date, the 


following business records: 


a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 


each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 


Bureau. 


b. Copies of all collection scripts; training materials; data on credit information 


furnishing; and including any such materials used by a third party on behalf of 


DriveTime. 


c. All consumer complaints related to debt collection or disputes related to 


credit information furnishing (whether received directly or indirectly, such as 
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through a third party), and any responses to those complaints or disputes. 


86. DriveTime must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 85 for at least five 


years. 


87. DriveTime must make the documents identified in Paragraph 85 available to the 


Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 


XII 


Notices 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


88. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, DriveTime must provide all 


submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 


Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re DriveTime Automotive 


Group, Inc., File No. 2014-CFPB-0017,” and send them either: 


a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 


Assistant Director for Enforcement 


Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  


ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 


1625 Eye Street, N.W.  


Washington D.C. 20006; or 


b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 


Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:   


 Assistant Director for Enforcement 


 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 


 ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  


 1700 G Street, N.W. 
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 Washington D.C. 20552. 


XIII 


Compliance Monitoring 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor DriveTime’s compliance with 


this Consent Order: 


89. Within 30 days of receipt of a reasonable written request from the Bureau, 


DriveTime must submit additional compliance reports or other requested 


information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn 


testimony; or produce documents.  


90. DriveTime must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 


other person affiliated with DriveTime who has agreed to such an interview. The 


person interviewed may have counsel present. 


91. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory 


process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 


92. For the duration of the Order in whole or in part, DriveTime agrees to be subject 


to the Bureau’s supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent with 12 


C.F.R. § 1091.111, DriveTime must not petition for termination of supervision 


under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 


XIV 


Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


93. DriveTime may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 


Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 


requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 
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94. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 


requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 


changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 


modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 


writing.  


XV 


Administrative Provisions 


95. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 


Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 


DriveTime, except as set forth in Paragraph 96. 


96. The Bureau releases and discharges DriveTime from all potential liability for law 


violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 


described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 


occurred before Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 


Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 


Order in future enforcement actions against DriveTime and its affiliates, 


including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or 


the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 


of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 


determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 


for any violations of the Consent Order.  


97. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 


Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 
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does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 


or the United States. 


98. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date or five 


years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 


violation of the Consent Order by DriveTime. If such action is dismissed or the 


relevant adjudicative body rules that DriveTime did not violate any provision of 


the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld 


on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 


been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 


time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 


amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 


designated agent. 


99. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 


calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  


100. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. Any 


violation of this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the 


maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the 


CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to 


enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve 


DriveTime wherever DriveTime may be found and DriveTime may not contest 


that court’s personal jurisdiction over DriveTime. 


101. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 


agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 


representations, or warranties other than those set forth in this Consent Order 
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New risks and renewed interest in 
“old” risks … These are the continu-
ing challenges in the ever-changing 


world of fair lending risk management.  
Regulators have been focused recently on 
several new and re-emerging fair lending 
issues during examinations and investiga-
tions of mortgage lenders.  Some of these 
issues have been front of mind for compli-
ance personnel for years, while others are a 
direct result of the new rules that became 
effective in January 2014.   


Two specific issues – redlining and fee 
consistency – are creating unique chal-
lenges that warrant careful review by com-
pliance staff.  The first issue, redlining, was 
the subject of one of the first fair lending 
enforcement actions by the Department of 
Justice (“DOJ”) in the early 1990s.  None-
theless, focus by the regulatory agencies 
on redlining issues has ebbed and flowed 
over the past decade.  Recently, the DOJ, 
the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
(CFPB), and other regulatory agencies have 
aggressively pursued redlining cases, and 
have identified redlining as one of their top 
fair lending enforcement priorities.


The second issue, fee consistency, re-
lates to the practice of some lenders to 
waive or reduce fees for certain customers 
or to vary fees based on specific factors, 
such as the market in which the borrower is 


Austin Brown
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Regulators have 
been focused 
recently on 
several new and 
re-emerging 
fair lending 
issues during 
examinations and 
investigations of 
mortgage lenders. 


located.  Although regulators have histori-
cally focused on APR and overages/under-
ages as metrics for fair lending analysis of 
mortgage loan pricing, they have recently 
sought to analyze fees in isolation.


Overview of Recent Fair Lending  
Enforcement


As compliance personnel know, the 
Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) and 
the Fair Housing Act (FHA) are two of the 
most important consumer compliance stat-
utes applicable to the mortgage industry.  
Each statute prohibits discrimination with 
respect to certain “prohibited bases,” such 
as race, ethnicity, or gender, and each can 
be an important focal point in compliance-
related examinations.  Fair lending exami-
nations by regulators typically include a 
review to determine whether pricing or 
underwriting practices have resulted in a 
disparate impact on a prohibited basis, or 
whether data shows evidence of disparate 
treatment.


Compliance with the ECOA and the 
FHA has also been the subject of a number 
of enforcement actions over the past two 
decades, resulting in significant restitution 
to borrowers.  For example, in 2013, the De-
partment of Justice entered into four Con-
sent Orders relating to fair lending matters 
in the mortgage industry, with restitution to 







borrowers totaling more than $41 million.  Likewise, in 
2012, the DOJ entered into four fair lending-related 
mortgage settlements, with approximately $208 mil-
lion returned to borrowers.    


The prudential regulators have also played an ac-
tive role in fair lending enforcement recently, referring 
more than 20 fair lending matters to the DOJ during 
2013.  DOJ, 2013 Annual Report to Congress Pur-
suant to the Equal Credit Opportunity Act Amend-
ments of 1976 (July 2014).  In fact, the number of 
public enforcement actions relating to fair lending in 
the mortgage industry paints only a small part of the 
fair lending picture, as several of the referrals from the 
prudential regulators to the DOJ have been returned 
to the agencies for non-public resolution.  


Just as the number and magnitude of fair lend-
ing settlements have grown in recent years, so has the 
breadth of issues involved in the settlements.  In 2013, 
the fair lending allegations in DOJ and HUD enforce-
ment actions ranged from standard pricing and un-
derwriting disparities to maternity leave discrimination 
and discrimination against disabled applicants.  De-
spite this evolution of fair lending enforcement, how-
ever, several common issues continue to appear as fo-
cal points in fair lending matters, or have re-emerged 
in recent years.


Redlining
One issue that has re-emerged recently as a fair 


lending enforcement priority is “redlining,” or the 
practice of excluding high-minority communities from 
lending activities, including marketing.  In general, 
the bank regulatory agencies and the DOJ initiate fair 
lending enforcement relating to redlining when they 
believe that a lender has served the credit needs of 
non-minority neighborhoods to a significantly greater 
extent than it has served the credit needs of majority-
minority neighborhoods.  


When alleging redlining practices in violation of 
the ECOA or the FHA, the enforcement agencies of-
ten rely on circumstantial evidence of intent to exclude 
high-minority communities from an institution’s lend-
ing or marketing.  For example, the DOJ has alleged 
the following facts, among others, in recent redlining 
complaints:


• The percentage of an institution’s lending in high-
minority census tracts or to minority borrowers is 
low in comparison with other institutions in certain 
geographic regions.


• The institution’s application or origination volume 
is concentrated in low-minority areas surrounding 


high-minority areas.
• The institution has defined its assessment area 


with “partial geographies” to exclude high-minor-
ity areas.


• The institution has excluded minorities or high-
minority areas from marketing efforts.


• The institution has placed branches predominate-
ly in low-minority areas.


Not surprisingly, lenders that face redlining alle-
gations seek to resolve the matters as soon as pos-
sible, with as little publicity as possible.  Since the 
first DOJ redlining complaint in 1994, no lender has 
litigated a redlining complaint against the DOJ to ver-
dict.  Perhaps as a result, the monetary commitments 
made by lenders to resolve allegations of redlining 
have been significant.  For example, in a 2011 case, 
United States v. Citizens Republic, the Bank agreed to 
resolve redlining allegations by opening a loan pro-
duction office in an African-American neighborhood 
and invest more than $3.6 million in the community.  
Settlement Agreement dated June 23, 2011, United 
States v. Citizens Republic Bancorp, Inc., No. 2:11-cv-
11976-LPZ-LJM (E.D. Mich. June 28, 2011), available 
at: http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/hce/documents/
citizenssettle.pdf. 


Given the significant focus on redlining by the 
CFPB, the DOJ and prudential regulators, lenders 
should consider taking a number of steps to proac-
tively assess their redlining risk.  As an initial step, 
lenders should identify relevant markets for analysis.  
For example, banks should analyze their assessment 
area data, while other lenders may need to define 
their own market areas for analysis.  In addition, banks 
should analyze data for Metropolitan Statistical Areas 
(MSA), to the extent their assessment areas do not 
include entire MSAs. 


Once the appropriate geographic areas have 
been identified, the type of redlining analysis re-
quired depends upon a number of factors, including 
distribution channels and products.   For example, 
lenders may consider comparing the demographic 
composition of the markets that they serve to the de-
mographic composition of their applicants.  Similarly, 
lenders should consider reviewing their percentages 
of applications and originations in specific census 
tracts in light of relevant demographic and housing 
factors, such as the distribution of census tracts be-
tween high-minority and low-minority, the availability 
of owner-occupied housing, the unemployment rate, 
and the poverty level.    


Lenders should also consider comparing their ap-
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By addressing these issues proactively, lenders 
may be better prepared to answer questions that arise 
during compliance examinations or investigations 
relating to their lending performance, and may also 
be able to take steps to improve their lending perfor-
mance for future examinations.


Fee Consistency
A second fair lending issue that has arisen recently 


during fair lending examinations is fee consistency.  
Historically, regulators have focused on determining 
whether loan pricing practices, such as assessing over-
ages, have resulted in disparities based on ethnicity, 
race, gender or other prohibited bases.  Recently, 
however, regulators have analyzed fees in isolation.  
For example, regulators have sought data relating to 
underwriting and processing fees during recent exam-
inations of mortgage originators.


This recent focus on fee consistency likely results 
from two important factors.  First, the Federal Reserve 
amended Regulation Z effective as of April 1, 2011 to 
prohibit compensation to loan originators based on 
the terms or conditions of loans.  The purpose and 
effect of this change was to eliminate the practice of 
compensating loan originators based on overages, 
which incentivized loan officers to charge rates above 
par.  Now that this incentive has been eliminated, 
however, regulators have shifted their attention to 
other pricing metrics.   


A second important factor in the recent focus by 
regulators on fee consistency is the fact that many loan 
originators continue to have discretion to vary fees on 
a transaction-by-transaction basis.  Likewise, some 
lenders charge different fees or waive fees to custom-
ers based on a number of factors, such as where the 
customer lives (regional fee differences) and, for bank-
ing institutions, whether the customer has a significant 
amount of funds on deposit.  


Variations in fees on a transaction-by-transaction 
basis can lead to disparate treatment or disparate im-
pact concerns if average fees differ between borrow-
ers on a prohibited basis.  Accordingly, lenders should 
carefully evaluate their practices to ensure compliance 
with the fair lending laws.  


First, lenders should consider conducting analy-
ses of standard fees that are charged to customers to 
determine whether they differ, on average, based on 
race, gender, ethnicity, or other prohibited bases.  Any 
differences would not necessarily indicate fair lending 
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plication and origination data to other HMDA-report-
ing institutions in the relevant geographic areas, in-
cluding “peer” institutions, to identify any statistically 
significant differences.  Although defining a “peer” 
institution can be difficult and can take many different 
forms, the Federal Reserve has stated, for example, 
that it considers peers to be those institutions with 
50%-200% of the comparator’s application volume, 
with a rate spread incidence of less than 25%.  Mau-
reen Yap, Fair Lending Webinar Questions and An-
swers, Federal Reserve Board Consumer Compliance 
Outlook, Second Quarter 2013, at 15.


Finally, in addition to analyzing lending per-
formance data, lenders should consider analyzing, 
where applicable:


• Whether branches or sales offices are located 
exclusively, or almost exclusively, in low-minority 
census tracts.


• Whether the institution’s marketing efforts are 
disproportionately focused on low-minority com-
munities.


• Whether the institution excludes from its assess-
ment or market area high-minority geographies 
that surround low-minority geographies.


- continued on page 39
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violations, but would warrant additional analysis to de-
termine the reasons for the differences.


Second, lenders should consider preparing writ-
ten “business necessity” documents that explain the 
reasons for any fee differences based on geography, 
deposit relationships, or other factors.  For example, 
a business necessity document relating to fee differ-
ences based on geography may describe practices 
by specific competitors and explain that the fees es-
tablished by the lender are necessary to compete in 
the market.  By documenting the business necessity, 
lenders will be better prepared to address any dispa-
rate impact concerns that regulators may raise during 
examinations or investigations.


Third, in order to effectively monitor fee exception 
activity, lenders should consider establishing a list of 
acceptable and quantifiable reasons for fee waivers 
or reductions and requiring loan officers to document 
the reason for any exceptions in the loan file.  The 
lender should also periodically audit fee exceptions to 
ensure compliance with established policy and to ad-
dress any evidence of potential disparate treatment.


Wrap-Up
Compliance staff face a number of complex 


challenges in monitoring fair lending compliance.  
Redlining and fee consistency are just two focal 
points identified in recent fair lending examinations 
of mortgage lending institutions.  We expect that 
many lenders will face questions about these issues 
in the near future.  By taking steps to address these 
risks now, compliance staff may be better equipped 
to answer, and hopefully resolve, any concerns that 
regulators may raise. 


Austin Brown is a Counsel in the Washington, DC of-
fice of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP.   
Austin can be reached at austin.brown@skadden.
com.


Loretta Kirkwood is a regulatory compliance and risk 
management executive at Cross Check Compliance. 
Loretta can be reached at lkirkwood@crosscheckcom-
pliance.com.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 


 


ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 


File No. 2014-CFPB-0014 


 
  


In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 


 
  
FLAGSTAR BANK, F.S.B.  


 
  


 


 


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the default 


servicing practices of Flagstar Bank, F.S.B. (Respondent, as defined below) and has 


identified the following law violations. First, Respondent has committed unfair acts or 


practices by impeding borrowers’ access to loss mitigation. Respondent failed to review 


loss mitigation applications in a reasonable amount of time; withheld information that 


borrowers needed to complete their loss mitigation applications; improperly denied 


borrower requests for loan modifications; and improperly prolonged trial periods for 


loan modifications. Second, Respondent has violated the loss mitigation provisions of 


the 2013 RESPA Mortgage Servicing Final Rule, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1024 subpt. c (the 


Mortgage Servicing Rule). Third, Respondent has committed deceptive acts or practices 


by misrepresenting borrowers’ right to appeal the denial of a loan modification. Under 


sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 


U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 


Overview 


1. Respondent is a mortgage servicer responsible for administering loss mitigation 


programs to delinquent borrowers on behalf of the owners or guarantors of the 


borrowers’ loans. Between 2011 and 2013, Respondent serviced loans for over 


40,000 delinquent borrowers. 


2. Respondent has impeded borrowers’ access to loss mitigation at every stage of 


the process: Respondent failed to review loss mitigation applications in a 


reasonable amount of time; withheld critical information that borrowers needed 


to complete their loss mitigation applications; improperly denied loan 


modifications to qualified borrowers; and prolonged trial periods for loan 


modifications.  


3. Respondent’s practices harmed borrowers. Respondent deprived borrowers of 


the ability to make an informed choice about how to save or dispose of their 


home. Respondent improperly closed loss mitigation applications, improperly 


denied loan modifications to eligible borrowers, and charged borrowers 


excessive capitalized interest and fees. 


4. In 2014, Respondent’s unlawful default servicing practices continued. 


Respondent violated the loss mitigation provisions of the Mortgage Servicing 


Rule and engaged in deceptive conduct by misrepresenting borrowers’ right to 


appeal the denial of a loan modification under the Mortgage Servicing Rule.  
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II 


Jurisdiction 


5. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 


the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565.  


III 


Stipulation 


6. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 


Consent Order,” dated September 29, 2014 (Stipulation), which is incorporated 


by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 


consented to the issuance and enforcement of this Consent Order by the Bureau 


under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 


admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except 


that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction 


over Respondent and the subject matter of this action.  


IV 


Definitions 


7. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 


a. “Affected Consumers” are the approximately 6,500 borrowers who had first-


lien residential loans serviced by Respondent between 2011 and 2013 and 


were subject to the conduct described in Section V. 


b. “Foreclosed Consumers” are the approximately 2,000 Affected Consumers 


who were foreclosed upon or completed a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure as of 


September 4, 2014.  


c. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 


d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 
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e. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 


Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 


delegee. 


f. “Performing Loan Pool” means a pool of residential mortgage loans in which 


no more than 5 percent of the loans in the pool are in default at the time of 


acquisition. 


g. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 


more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 


brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 


described in Section V of this Consent Order. 


h. “Relevant Period” includes the period from January 1, 2011 to September 30, 


2014. 


i. “Respondent” means Flagstar Bank, F.S.B. and its successors and assigns. 


j.  “Third Party Originated Loan” means a loan that Respondent did not 


originate itself or acquire from a correspondent lender or broker. 


V 


Bureau Findings and Conclusions 


The Bureau finds the following: 


8. Respondent is a federal savings bank headquartered in Troy, Michigan. 


Respondent originates mortgage loans, services mortgage loans, and provides 


deposits and other fee-based services to consumers and businesses. As of 


September 30, 2013, Respondent had $11,807,815,000 in total assets. 


9. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than 


$10,000,000,000 within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 
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10. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).  


11. Since at least 2011, Respondent has operated a mortgage servicing business. As 


a mortgage servicer, Respondent is responsible for the day-to-day management 


of mortgage loans. Respondent collects cash from borrowers for principal, 


interest and escrow payments; accounts for and remits principal and interest 


payments to the owners of the loans; disburses funds from escrow accounts; and 


pursues collection, loss mitigation, and foreclosure activities with respect to 


delinquent borrowers.  


12. Respondent performs these functions primarily for loans it does not own. The 


vast majority of the loans in Respondent’s first-lien servicing portfolio are 


owned or guaranteed by “investors.” The investor is the entity that holds the risk 


of the loan defaulting; it may also, but does not necessarily, own the loan.  


13. Investors play a critical role in Respondent’s servicing operations. As the default 


risk holder, the investor establishes the terms and conditions by which 


Respondent is required to service the loans the investor owns or guarantees. 


These guidelines include comprehensive rules for the servicing of loans that 


become delinquent. 


14. Beginning in 2007, the United States experienced an unprecedented collapse in 


the housing market. Mortgage loan delinquency rates for first-lien mortgage 


loans nearly doubled between 2007 and 2009. As of December 2010, an 


estimated 4.63 percent of outstanding first-lien mortgages nationwide were in 


some stage of foreclosure—an increase of over 370 percent since the first quarter 


of 2006, when just 1 percent of mortgages were in foreclosure. 
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15. Investors responded to the foreclosure crisis by developing loss mitigation 


programs. The goal of loss mitigation is to minimize the losses to both borrowers 


and investors by providing borrowers alternatives to foreclosure. By 2011, all 


major investors offered borrowers loss mitigation programs, including a loan 


modification, short sale, and deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. Of these, only a loan 


modification allows the borrower to retain ownership of the home. 


16. Respondent is responsible for administering loss mitigation programs on its 


investors’ behalf in accordance with rules established by the investor. 


Respondent’s duties include soliciting borrowers for loss mitigation programs; 


collecting loss mitigation applications; decisioning (i.e., underwriting) complete 


loss mitigation applications to determine if a borrower is qualified for a loss 


mitigation program; and executing the loss mitigation program for qualified 


borrowers. 


17. On or about September 2013, Respondent engaged a service provider to service 


loans in default. The service provider performs servicing for defaulted loans on 


Respondent’s behalf and subject to Respondent’s control. Respondent retains 


ownership of the right to perform servicing or sub-servicing on defaulted loans. 


Respondent also retains responsibility for servicing defaulted loans.  


Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Failure to Review  


Loss Mitigation Applications in a Reasonable Amount of Time 


18. From at least 2011 until September 2013, when Respondent engaged a service 


provider to service its defaulted loans, Respondent failed to review loss 


mitigation applications in a reasonable amount of time. 
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19. Borrowers apply for the loss mitigation programs offered by the owners or 


guarantors of their loans through their mortgage servicer. As the administrator 


of investors’ loss mitigation programs, Respondent is responsible for: (1) 


reviewing documents submitted by borrowers to determine if their loss 


mitigation applications are complete, and (2) reviewing complete loss mitigation 


applications to determine if borrowers qualify for a loss mitigation program. 


20. Respondent, like many servicers, experienced a dramatic increase in the volume 


of loss mitigation applications in connection with the foreclosure crisis. 


Respondent was not equipped to handle the influx. Respondent had insufficient 


staff, no written policies, no quality assurance function, and inadequate 


servicing systems. One former employee described Respondent’s loss mitigation 


process as “literally me in a cubicle with my giant file drawer just pulling 


[applications] out one at a time.” It took loss mitigation staff as long as nine 


months to review a single application during this time. As one former employee 


recalled: “At one point, I remember having almost 400 files in my drawer, 


because I didn’t have any room, and they were no longer in drawers, and they 


were on the window ledge behind me.” 


21. By 2011, Respondent had 13,000 active loss mitigation applications versus 25 


full-time employees in the loss mitigation department and a third-party vendor 


in India reviewing applications. At one point in 2011, the average call wait time 


in the loss mitigation call center was 25 minutes; the average call abandonment 


rate was almost 50 percent. Respondent’s backlog of loss mitigation applications 


numbered well over a thousand.  
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22. In September 2011, a government-sponsored entity (GSE) notified Respondent 


that its servicing rights on loans owned or guaranteed by the GSE could be 


terminated. In a letter to Respondent dated September 12, 2011, the GSE stated: 


[We] ha[ve] been working with Flagstar since December 
2009 to identify and resolve a significant backlog of loss 
mitigation cases, delay in foreclosure referrals, failure to 
meet foreclosure timelines, and other servicing violations. 
Flagstar’s lack of trained personnel, frequent management 
changes, and significant system limitations have contributed 
to its overall ranking as one of [our] lowest performing 
servicers within its peer group. 


Over time, Flagstar has been presented with retention, loss 
mitigation, and liquidation goals as well as a formal 
Servicing Directive designed to remedy the backlogs, time 
delays, and other servicing issues. Notwithstanding, Flagstar 
has continually failed to meet the established goals, fully 
comply with any action plans, or improve its standing as a 
[GSE] servicer.  


 
The GSE concluded that Respondent had “fail[ed] to properly or timely perform 


its loss mitigation and liquidation duties and obligations” and that “borrowers 


have been harmed due to [Respondent’s] unnecessary delays in offering and 


processing foreclosure prevention alternatives.” 


23. In response to pressure from the GSE, Respondent restructured the loss 


mitigation department and hired additional staff in late 2011. Despite these 


changes, the loss mitigation department remained under-resourced. By 


December 2012, the department had over 100 open positions. Respondent often 


replaced experienced staff with agency temp employees. Former managers 


testified that staff quit because Respondent paid under market rates. They also 


testified that senior management repeatedly rejected their requests to increase 


staff salaries. 
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24. This combination of the foreclosure crisis and years of inadequate resources 


resulted in Respondent taking an unreasonable amount of time to review loss 


mitigation applications. Respondent failed to comply with industry guidelines 


for the timely review and decisioning of loss mitigation applications. For 


instance, Respondent’s internal reports and data show that Respondent 


routinely took more than 90 days to decision complete loss mitigation 


applications. Guidelines from GSEs require servicers to decision complete loss 


mitigation applications in 30 days. 


25. Respondent failed to review loss mitigation application documents before they 


expired under investor guidelines. Of the approximately 15,000 borrowers who 


applied for loss mitigation between 2011 and 2013, Respondent closed more 


than 8,000 applications for missing, incomplete or outdated documents.  


26. Respondent failed to make a decision on loss mitigation applications prior to 


referring borrowers to foreclosure. On average, borrowers were over 250 days 


delinquent by the time they knew if they qualified for loss mitigation. In general, 


borrowers are referred to foreclosure by day 120 of delinquency. 


27. Respondent’s acts and practices have caused the improper closure of loss 


mitigation applications. To move the backlog, Respondent sometimes closed 


applications due to expired documents, even though the documents had expired 


due to Respondent’s delay. More typically, Respondent required borrowers to 


resubmit updated documents. If borrowers failed to do so, Respondent closed 


their applications. A former manager described Respondent’s process as follows: 


[Staff] would come in on Saturdays and they would go 
through the files, and if it was missing a document, they’d 
close the file out and send the borrower a denial letter. And 
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that would generate a call into the inbound call group where 
the mortgagors are literally screaming at them because you 
closed the file when the borrower has sent everything in, but 
we closed it because it was stale dated because it took them 
too long to get to the file[.] 


28. Respondent’s acts and practices have also caused borrowers to drop out from 


the loss mitigation process. A former manager testified that when borrowers get 


to an advanced stage of delinquency, “you can feel that they’ve given up. There’s 


no hope left.” Another former manager recalled borrowers telling him that, “you 


know what, my home can just go to foreclosure. I’m not faxing any 


documentation anymore.” 


29. While borrowers wait for a loss mitigation decision, the foreclosure process 


continues to run. Some borrowers are simply unable to wait for a loss mitigation 


decision as foreclosure nears. These borrowers are likely to choose a less 


desirable option to save their home, such as bankruptcy, or to focus their 


resources on preparing for the foreclosure. In addition, some loss mitigation 


options that may have been available earlier in the process, such as listing the 


home in a short sale, are not viable as foreclosure nears. 


30. The failure to review loss mitigation applications in a reasonable amount of time 


harms borrowers. Respondent rejected borrowers’ loss mitigation applications 


for reasons outside of their control, requiring borrowers to spend time and 


money to reapply, or forego a loss mitigation evaluation. Respondent deprived 


borrowers—whether eligible for loss mitigation or not—of their ability to make 


an informed choice about how to retain or dispose of their home. In some cases, 


Respondent caused borrowers’ unpaid principal balance to be so high that they 


either failed to qualify for a loan modification or owed more under the modified 
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note. For borrowers eligible for a loan modification at the time of application, 


Respondent caused unnecessary foreclosures, or forced borrowers to select a 


less desirable option to mitigate the delinquency, such as bankruptcy or short 


sale. 


31. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 


or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or 


is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable 


and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 


consumers or to competition. 


32. Respondent’s acts and practice of failing to review loss mitigation applications 


in a reasonable amount of time caused substantial injury to consumers that was 


not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing benefit to 


consumers or to competition.  


33. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 


1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 


5531(c)(l). 


Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent Withholding Information That  


Borrowers Needed to Complete Their Loss Mitigation Applications 


34. For at least a nine month period in 2012-2013, Respondent withheld critical 


information that borrowers needed to complete their loss mitigation 


applications. 


35. Borrowers almost never submit a complete loss mitigation application on their 


first try. As the administrator of investors’ loss mitigation programs, 


Respondent is responsible for (1) reviewing borrowers’ initial submissions to 
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determine what documents are missing from the loss mitigation application, 


and (2) sending borrowers a missing document letter. The missing document 


letter is the only written notice Respondent provided to borrowers describing 


the documents borrowers must submit to complete their loss mitigation 


application. If a borrower failed to respond to the missing document letter with 


all required items by the date designated in the letter, Respondent closed the 


borrower’s application as incomplete.   


36. Respondent failed to send, or delayed sending, missing document letters to 


borrowers. Due to an incompatibility between Respondent’s loss mitigation 


workflow system and its print vendor, Respondent received, on a weekly basis, 


bins full of missing document letters that were intended for borrowers, but were 


never sent by the print vendor.  


37. Respondent failed to resolve this underlying system problem. As a result, until 


Respondent engaged a service provider to subservice its defaulted loans in 


September 2013, Respondent received hundreds of unsent missing document 


letters per week. 


38. Upon receiving the unsent missing document letters, Respondent’s staff would 


manually stuff envelopes and send the missing document letters—late—to 


borrowers. Despite the efforts of staff, at least some borrowers never received 


their missing document letter. For those who did, Respondent did not account 


for its delay in sending the letters by providing borrowers additional time to 


complete their applications.  


39. Respondent’s acts and practices have caused the improper closure of loss 


mitigation applications. Borrowers who did not receive a missing document 
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letter and were not otherwise informed about the missing documents, or 


received the missing document letter late, did not have a reasonable opportunity 


to complete their loss mitigation applications. Respondent closed incomplete 


applications. 


40. Withholding information that borrowers need to complete their loss mitigation 


applications harms borrowers. Respondent rejected borrowers’ loss mitigation 


applications for reasons outside of their control, requiring borrowers to spend 


time and money to reapply, or forego a loss mitigation evaluation. Respondent 


deprived borrowers—whether eligible for loss mitigation or not—of their ability 


to make an informed choice about how to retain or dispose of their home. For 


borrowers eligible for a loan modification at the time of application, Respondent 


caused unnecessary foreclosures, or forced borrowers to select a less desirable 


option to mitigate the delinquency, such as bankruptcy or short sale. 


41. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 


or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or 


is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable 


and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 


consumers or to competition. 


42. Respondent’s acts and practice of withholding information that borrowers 


needed to complete their loss mitigation applications caused substantial injury 


to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any 


countervailing benefit to consumers or to competition.  
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43. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 


1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 


5531(c)(l). 


Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Improper Denial of  


Borrower Requests for Loan Modifications 


44. Respondent denied loan modifications to qualified borrowers by regularly and 


frequently miscalculating borrower income. 


45. Eligibility for some loss mitigation programs, such as a loan modification, is 


highly sensitive to the calculation of borrower income. If borrowers have too 


much income, they do not qualify for a loan modification. If borrowers have too 


little income, they do not qualify for a loan modification. As the administrator of 


investors’ loss mitigation programs, Respondent is responsible for (1) accurately 


calculating borrower income and (2) decisioning borrowers’ requests for loan 


modifications based on that calculation. 


46. Respondent lacked a systemized, controlled process for calculating borrower 


income. Prior to 2012, income calculation was performed manually by 


underwriters. Respondent’s escalations group, charged with investigating 


borrower complaints, regularly found that underwriters “fat fingered” a number 


and disqualified an eligible borrower from a loan modification.  


47. Respondent’s internal audit group, third-party auditor, and the GSEs all 


repeatedly cited the bank for failing to accurately calculate borrower income. 


Former employees attributed the errors to lack of a consistent income 


calculation process, an inaccurate income calculator, and insufficient training or 
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proficiency of underwriters. These errors persisted at least until Respondent 


subserviced delinquent loans in September 2013. 


48. Improperly denying borrower requests for loan modifications harms borrowers. 


Respondent deprived these borrowers of their ability to make an informed 


choice about how to retain or dispose of their home. These borrowers also 


suffered unnecessary foreclosures, or were forced to select a less desirable 


option to mitigate the delinquency, such as bankruptcy or short sale. 


49. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 


or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or 


is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable 


and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 


consumers or to competition. 


50. Respondent’s acts and practice of improperly denying borrower requests for 


loan modifications caused substantial injury to consumers that was not 


reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers 


or to competition.  


51. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 


1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 


5531(c)(l). 


Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Improper Prolonging of  


Trial Periods for Loan Modifications 


52. Respondent improperly prolonged borrowers’ trial period plans for loan 


modifications.  
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53. Before qualified borrowers obtain a loan modification, they must complete a 


trial period plan. Under a trial period plan, delinquent borrowers typically make 


reduced monthly mortgage payments for three consecutive months. If 


borrowers make all their trial payments on time and meet other investor 


requirements, the investor will permanently modify their note. For loans owned 


or guaranteed by the GSEs, for example, delinquent borrowers who meet the 


requirements described above are entitled to a permanent loan modification 


approximately 120 days from the first trial payment.  


54. As the administrator of investors’ loss mitigation programs, Respondent is 


responsible for executing permanent loan modifications for qualified borrowers 


within the time period prescribed by investors. 


55. Respondent prolonged trial period plans beyond the timeframe permitted by 


investors for a substantial number of borrowers. For example, the majority of 


trial period plans entered between October 2011 and June 2013 lasted more 


than 120 days, and a substantial number of trial period plans lasted more than 


150 days.  


56. Prolonging the trial period plan beyond the timeframe permitted by the investor 


harms borrowers. The GSEs are empowered to cancel trial period plans that are 


not converted to a permanent modification within a certain period of time. Once 


cancelled, the borrower may no longer be eligible for conversion to a permanent 


modification. For borrowers who ultimately obtained a permanent loan 


modification, Respondent’s delay increased the borrower’s loan amount under 


the modified note and resulted in continued and unnecessary delinquency 


reporting to credit reporting agencies. For borrowers who defaulted after 
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completion of the trial period plan but before execution of the permanent 


modification, Respondent’s delay denied borrowers the protection of a 


permanently modified note. These borrowers had less time before foreclosure 


referral and fewer options to cure their delinquency than they would have had if 


Respondent had timely executed the permanent loan modification. 


57. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 


or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or 


is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable 


and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 


consumers or to competition. 


58. Respondent’s acts and practice of improperly prolonging trial periods for loan 


modifications caused substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably 


avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or to 


competition.  


59. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 


1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 


5531(c)(l). 


Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Violations of the 


Mortgage Servicing Rule 


60. The Mortgage Servicing Rule became effective on January 10, 2014. The rule 


addresses widespread problems with servicers’ administration of loss mitigation 


programs and seeks to prevent borrower harm. Respondent is a servicer subject 


to the Mortgage Servicing Rule.  
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Deficient Acknowledgment of Initial Applications 


61. Section 1024.41(b) of the Mortgage Servicing Rule requires Respondent to 


acknowledge receipt of any loss mitigation application received 45 days or more 


before a foreclosure sale by providing a written notice, referred to as the 


“acknowledgement notice,” to borrowers within 5 business days of receipt of the 


loss mitigation application. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B).  


62. The acknowledgement notice must state that: (A) Respondent acknowledges 


receipt, (B) whether the application is complete or incomplete, (C) if the 


application is incomplete, the additional documents and information that the 


borrower must submit, and the date by which those documents must be 


submitted, and (D) that the borrower should consider contacting servicers of 


any other mortgage loans secured by the same property to discuss available loss 


mitigation options. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B). 


63. Respondent has failed to comply with Section 1024.41(b) for loss mitigation 


applications received 45 days or more before a foreclosure sale by failing to 


notify borrowers, in writing, of all information required by Section 


1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B) within 5 business days of receiving their loss mitigation 


application. For example, Respondent failed to notify borrowers within 5 days of 


receiving their application whether their application was complete and what 


documents were missing. 


Deficient Evaluation of Complete Applications 


64. Sections 1024.41(c) and (d) of the Mortgage Servicing Rule require Respondent 


to: (1) decision complete loss mitigation applications received more than 37 days 


before a foreclosure sale within 30 days of receipt, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(c)(1); (2) 
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provide written notice, referred to as the “evaluation notice,” to borrowers 


within 30 days of receiving the complete loss mitigation application stating 


Respondent’s determination of which loss mitigation options, if any, it will offer 


to the borrower, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(c)(1)(ii); and (3) if the application is denied 


for any loan modification option, state the specific reason or reasons for the 


denial of the loan modification option, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(d). 


65. Respondent has failed to comply with Section 1024.41(c) for complete loss 


mitigation applications received more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale by: 


(1) failing to decision complete loss mitigation applications within 30 days of 


receipt; (2) failing to notify borrowers, in writing, of Respondent’s 


determination of which loss mitigation options, if any, it will offer to borrowers 


within 30 days of receiving their complete loss mitigation applications; and (3) 


failing to provide the specific reason or reasons for the denial of each loan 


modification option. 


66. For example, Respondent took 90 days to decision one complete application and 


more than 60 days to decision two others. Respondent also failed to provide 


written evaluation notices to borrowers at all. Finally, Respondent’s evaluation 


notices did not provide borrowers with the specific reason for the denial of a 


loan modification option. Respondent historically used “Does not fulfill investor 


requirements/guidelines” as the only denial reason provided to borrowers 


applying for a loan modification, even though Respondent’s servicing system 


notes indicated a different, and more specific reason for the denial, including 


that the property was not owner occupied, or the borrower’s income was too low 


to qualify. Respondent’s template evaluation notices currently allow loss 
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mitigation staff to choose the following denial reason for borrowers denied a 


loan modification option: the borrower was “not approved for loss mitigation 


options by the investor/owner of the loan.” 


Failure to Notify Borrowers of Their Right to Appeal 


67. Section 1024.41(c) of the Mortgage Servicing Rule requires Respondent to notify 


borrowers eligible for appeal under Section 1024.41(h) of their appeal right in 


the evaluation notice. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(c)(1)(ii). Respondent is required to 


include the following information in the evaluation notice: (1) the borrower has 


the right to appeal the denial of any loan modification option; (2) the amount of 


time the borrower has to file such an appeal; and (3) the requirements for 


making an appeal. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(c)(1)(ii). 


68. Respondent has failed to comply with Section 1024.41(c) by failing to notify 


eligible borrowers that they had the right to appeal the denial of any loan 


modification option. From January 10, 2014 to at least June 2014, the 


evaluation notices Respondent sent to borrowers stated: 


In certain states, you can appeal Respondent’s decision. If 
applicable, there will be an enclosed Appeal Form that you 
can fax to (888)442-4280 or email to 
LossMitAppeals@Respondent.com within 17 days from the 
receipt of this letter. 


69. In addition to incorrectly stating that borrowers have the right to appeal the 


denial of a loan modification option only if they reside in certain states, 


Respondent also regularly failed to provide the Appeal Form to borrowers.  


Failure to Maintain Reasonable Policies and Procedures 


70. The Mortgage Servicing Rule requires Respondent to maintain policies and 


procedures reasonably designed to ensure the bank can (1) provide accurate and 
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timely disclosures to borrowers, and (2) comply with the acknowledgement 


notice requirements set forth in Section 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B) of the rule. 12 C.F.R. 


§§ 1024.38(a), (b)(1)(i), (b)(2)(iv).  


71. Respondent has not maintained policies and procedures reasonably designed to 


ensure the bank can provide accurate and timely disclosures to borrowers. Until 


June 2014, Respondent used a template evaluation notice that did not properly 


disclose borrowers’ right to appeal the denial of any loan modification program. 


In addition, the template evaluation notice allowed servicing employees to 


choose a non-specific denial reason that does not comply with the Mortgage 


Servicing Rule. 


72. Respondent has not maintained policies and procedures reasonably designed to 


ensure the bank can provide timely and accurate acknowledgement notices. 


Among other things, Respondent used two notices to satisfy the 


acknowledgement notice requirement instead of one. The first notice, which 


Respondent sometimes but not always sent within 5 business days, informed 


borrowers that the bank had received the application, and that the bank would 


review the application for completeness. This notice did not notify the borrower 


whether the application is complete or incomplete, or what documents were 


needed to complete the application and by what date. The second notice, often 


sent weeks after the first, included the additional required information.  


73. In addition, Respondent’s procedure manual provided vague and contradictory 


guidance regarding the content and timing of the acknowledgement notice. In 


some places, the manual stated that the acknowledgement notice must be sent 
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within five business days of receiving the application, and in other places, within 


five business days of reviewing the application. 


* * * 


74. Defendant’s acts or practices as described in paragraphs 61-73 violate the 


Mortgage Servicing Rule. 


75. The Mortgage Servicing Rule is a Federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. §§ 


5481(14). It is unlawful for any covered person “to offer or provide to a 


consumer any financial product or service not in conformity with Federal 


consumer financial law, or otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of 


a Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C 5536(a)(1)(A). Therefore, 


Defendant’s acts or practices as described in paragraphs 61-73 also violate the 


CFPA. Id. 


Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Misrepresentation of  


Borrowers’ Right to Appeal the Denial of a Loan Modification 


76. From January 10, 2014 until at least June 1, 2014, Respondent sent evaluation 


notices to borrowers that stated that borrowers have an appeal right only if they 


reside in certain states. 


77. But borrowers eligible for appeal under Section 1024.41(h) of the Mortgage 


Servicing Rule have the right to appeal the denial of a loan modification option 


in all states.  


78. Respondent also stated that, “if applicable,” borrowers eligible for appeal under 


Section 1024.41(h) of the Mortgage Servicing Rule would receive an appeal form 


with the evaluation notice.  
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79. But Respondent regularly failed to include appeal forms with the evaluation 


notices it sent to eligible borrowers. 


80. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 


or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 


81. As described in paragraphs 76-79, in connection with the servicing of delinquent 


residential mortgage loans, in numerous instances, Respondent has 


represented, expressly or impliedly, that only borrowers who reside in certain 


states are permitted to appeal the denial of a loan modification option. 


82. In truth and in fact, pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, borrowers in all states have 


the right to appeal the denial of a loan modification option. Thus, Respondent’s 


representations, as described in paragraphs 76-79 constitute deceptive acts or 


practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 


U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 


ORDER 


VI 


Conduct Provisions 


 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 


A.  


Prohibition on Violations of Federal Consumer Financial Law 


83. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 


have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, is 


permanently restrained and enjoined from violating the loss mitigation 


provisions of the Mortgage Servicing Rule, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.38-1024.41, and 


engaging in unfair, deceptive and abusive acts or practices in violation of 
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Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, in connection 


with loss mitigation, including without limitation the following: 


a. Failing to review, acknowledge, and evaluate loss mitigation applications in 


accordance with 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41; 


b. Failing to provide borrowers timely and accurate information about their loss 


mitigation applications in accordance with 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41; 


c. Failing to exercise reasonable diligence in obtaining documents and 


information to complete a loss mitigation application in accordance with 12 


C.F.R. § 1024.41; 


d. Failing to disclose borrowers’ right to appeal the denial of a loan modification 


in accordance with 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41; 


e. Misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, a borrower’s right to appeal the 


denial of a loan modification under the Mortgage Servicing Rule; 


f. Improperly denying loss mitigation applications; and 


g. Improperly prolonging the trial period for loan modifications. 


B.  


Prohibition on Acquiring the Right to Service Defaulted Loans 


84. Respondent shall not acquire the right to service or sub-service any Third Party 


Originated Loan that is in default. 


85. If a Third Party Originated Loan defaults after Respondent’s acquisition of the 


right to service or sub-service such loan, Respondent must assign all component 


default servicing activities to a service provider within 10 days of the borrower’s 


default. 
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86. Nothing in paragraph 84 shall be interpreted to prohibit Respondent from 


acquiring a Performing Loan Pool. 


87. The prohibitions contained in paragraphs 84 and 85 shall terminate upon 


Respondent’s implementation of the Compliance Plan referred to in Section VII, 


paragraph 97. The Compliance Plan is considered implemented in accordance 


with the process set forth in Section VII, subsection C. 


88. For purposes of this subsection:  


a. A loan is considered in default if (i) the borrower is 60 days or more 


delinquent; (ii) the borrower has applied for any loss mitigation option and 


the loss mitigation process is not completed; or (iii) the borrower has an 


active bankruptcy proceeding. 


b. Default servicing activities refers to activities relating to servicing loans in 


default, such as obtaining delinquent payments from borrowers, loss 


mitigation, foreclosure, and liquidation.  


C. 


Home Preservation Plan 


89. For any Affected Consumer who (a) is delinquent or in foreclosure as of 


September 4, 2014 and (b) is more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale as of 


the Effective Date or no foreclosure sale is scheduled (“Delinquent Consumer”), 


Respondent must: 


a. Perform the review described in paragraphs 90 and 91; and 


b. If a foreclosure trial, judgment or sale is scheduled, based upon the 


circumstances of the foreclosure and the applicable state law, petition the 
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court, or take other reasonable measures, to delay the foreclosure trial, 


judgment, or sale. 


90. Independent Review of Complete Loss Mitigation Applications. 


a. For any Delinquent Consumer who (i) submitted a complete loss mitigation 


application, (ii) had their complete loss mitigation application evaluated 


within 30 days of Respondent’s receipt of the complete package, and (iii) was 


denied a loss mitigation option, Respondent must independently review the 


Delinquent Consumer’s file to determine whether the Delinquent Consumer 


was offered all loss mitigation options for which he or she was qualified.  


b. If Respondent determines, based on its independent review, that the 


Delinquent Consumer was not offered all loss mitigation options for which he 


or she was qualified, Respondent must offer the Delinquent Consumer all loss 


mitigation options for which he or she was qualified.  


c. The independent review may be performed by Respondent or its service 


provider so long as the individuals performing the independent review are not 


the same individuals who denied the Delinquent Consumer’s loss mitigation 


application previously. 


91. Solicitation and Fast-Track Evaluation of Loss Mitigation Applications. 


a. For all other Delinquent Consumers, Respondent must take reasonable efforts 


to: 


i. Obtain complete loss mitigation applications by engaging in borrower 


outreach, including: 


(1) Telephone and mail outreach to contact Delinquent Consumers 


and collect documents; 
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(2) Door-knocking campaign to collect documents from Delinquent 


Consumers who have not responded to other means of 


communication; and 


(3) Translation services when requested by a Delinquent Consumer 


or if Respondent has reason to believe that the Delinquent 


Consumer is not proficient in English. 


ii. Promptly evaluate Delinquent Consumers for all available loss 


mitigation options, including by:  


(1) Providing a dedicated team of underwriters;  


(2) Reviewing complete loss mitigation applications within 20 days 


of receipt; and  


(3) Clearly identifying of the terms of the loss mitigation offer (such 


as interest rate, amortization term, balloon payments) and 


specifically itemizing any interest, fees or charges capitalized 


into a new balance. 


92. Respondent may resume foreclosure activities for Delinquent Consumers under 


any of the following conditions: 


a. Despite Respondent’s reasonable efforts, including taking all steps described 


in paragraph 91(a),the Delinquent Consumer (i) has not responded to 


Respondent’s outreach effort within 30 days of Respondent’s most recent 


attempt to contact the borrower or (ii) does not execute a loss mitigation offer 


prior to or at the expiration of the offer; 


b. The Delinquent Consumer states in writing that he or she does not want to be 


considered for a loss mitigation option; or 
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c.  Respondent has evaluated the Delinquent Consumer’s complete loss 


mitigation application for all available loss mitigation options, and (i) 


Respondent has determined the Delinquent Consumer does not qualify for 


any loss mitigation option and the time for appeal has expired or the appeal 


has been denied, or (ii) the Delinquent Consumer has accepted or rejected an 


offer of loss mitigation. 


93. The requirements of this subsection shall not apply to any loan for which 


Respondent does not own the right to service or sub-service as of the Effective 


Date. 


94. Nothing in this subsection shall be interpreted to limit or restrict in any way the 


protections provided to borrowers under 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41. To the extent any 


provision of this subsection is in conflict with any provision of 12 C.F.R. 


§ 1024.41, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41 shall apply. 


VII 


Independent Compliance Review and Compliance Plan 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


A. 


Compliance Management System Review 


95. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must secure and retain a third 


party consultant, with specialized experience in default mortgage servicing, and 


acceptable to the Enforcement Director, to conduct an independent review of 


Respondent’s default mortgage servicing compliance management system 


(CMS). The review must include a review of: 
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a.  Respondent’s policies, procedures, processes, and controls for its default 


mortgage servicing operations; 


b. Respondent’s oversight and auditing of its default mortgage servicing 


operations; and 


c. Respondent’s oversight and auditing of any service provider performing 


default mortgage servicing on behalf of Respondent. 


96. Within 90 days of retaining the third party consultant, the third party 


consultant must prepare a written report detailing the findings of the review 


(Compliance Review). The Compliance Review shall be submitted to the Board 


and the Enforcement Director.  


B. 


Compliance Plan 


97. Within 90 days of receiving the Compliance Review, the Board must develop 


and approve a comprehensive written compliance plan, which may include 


modifying an existing written compliance plan (Compliance Plan). The 


Compliance Plan must: 


a. Correct any deficiencies identified in the Compliance Review relating to 


Respondent’s default mortgage servicing operations, or explain in writing why 


a particular recommendation is not being implemented;  


b. Be reasonably designed to ensure compliance with the terms of the Consent 


Order; and  


c. Be reasonably designed to ensure compliance with Federal consumer financial 


laws governing default mortgage servicing and the processing of loss 


mitigation applications. 
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98. Respondent shall submit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director 


within 5 days of approval by the Board. If the Compliance Plan is not objected to 


by the Bureau within 20 days of submission, Respondent must proceed to 


implement the Compliance Plan. If the Bureau objects to the Compliance Plan 


within 10 days of submission, Respondent will make reasonable efforts to 


amend the Compliance Plan to address any objection and resubmit the 


Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days.  


C. 


Certification of Compliance Plan Implementation 


99. Upon implementation of the Compliance Plan, Respondent must submit to the 


Enforcement Director a report, approved by the Board, certifying that it has 


completed implementation of the Compliance Plan (Certification).   


100. The Certification shall describe in detail the manner and form in which 


Respondent has implemented the Compliance Plan. The Certification shall also 


address any contrary findings made in the Monitoring Report, as defined in 


Section XII, paragraphs 121 and 122. 


101. Respondent must not submit the Certification prior to the issuance of at least 


one Monitoring Report. 


102. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 


non-objection as to whether the Compliance Plan is fully implemented. If the 


Enforcement Director objects, Respondent will make reasonable efforts to 


correct any deficiencies and will resubmit the Certification to the Enforcement 


Director. 
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VIII 


Role of the Board 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


103. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 


policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 


the Bureau.  


104. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 


documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the 


Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 


Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 


financial law and this Consent Order. 


105. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 


to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 


a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with 


the Consent Order; 


b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 


compliance obligations; and 


c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-


compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this 


Section. 
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IX 


Order to Pay Redress 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


106. A judgment for equitable monetary relief and damages is entered in favor of the 


Bureau and against the Respondent in the amount of $27,500,000, provided 


however that at least $20,000,000 shall be distributed to Foreclosed 


Consumers. 


107. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by 


wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the 


Bureau’s wiring instructions, $27,500,000 in full satisfaction of the judgment as 


ordered in paragraph 106 of this Section.  


108. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment will be 


deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or to the Bureau’s 


agent according to applicable statutes and regulations to be used for redress for 


injured consumers, including, but not limited to, refund of moneys, restitution, 


damages, or other monetary relief, and for any attendant expenses for the 


administration of any such redress.  


109. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to consumers is 


wholly or partially impracticable or if funds remain after redress is completed, 


the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief 


(including consumer information remedies) as determined to be reasonably 


related to the violations described in Section V of this Consent Order. Any funds 


not used for such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as 
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disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the 


Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph. 


110. Payment of redress to any Affected Consumer under this Order may not be 


conditioned on that Affected Consumer waiving any right.  


X 


Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


111. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 


violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 


account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 


money penalty of $10,000,000 to the Bureau. 


112. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 


penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 


with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  


113. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 


Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 


U.S.C. § 5497(d). 


114. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 


a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 


ultimately uses those funds, Respondent must not: 


a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 


for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 


2014-CFPB-0014     Document 1     Filed 09/29/2014     Page 33 of 42







 


 
34 


 


b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 


any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 


policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 


XI 


Additional Monetary Provisions 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


115. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 


this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 


accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 


of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 


116. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 


the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 


Respondent. 


117. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 


to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 


of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 


Order.  


118. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 


Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of 


the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 


must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 


to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 


whom that redress has been or will be paid. 
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XII 


Reporting and Monitoring Requirements 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


119. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 


compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 


limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 


result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 


subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 


this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 


against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 


must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 


practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 


120. Within 30 days of receiving a non-objection to the Compliance Plan from the 


Enforcement Director, Respondent must secure and retain an third party 


consultant with specialized experience in default mortgage servicing, and 


acceptable to the Enforcement Director (Monitor). The Monitor may be the 


same third party consultant as the third party consultant engaged with respect 


to paragraph 95. 


121. The Monitor must perform the following activities for a period of 2 years from 


the Effective Date: 


a. Monitor Respondent’s compliance with the Consent Order on a semi-annual 


basis or as requested by Respondent; 


b. Monitor Respondent’s implementation of the Compliance Plan on a semi-


annual basis or as requested by Respondent; and  
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c. Provide semi-annual reports to the Bureau and the Board detailing its 


findings (Monitoring Report). 


122. The Monitoring Report will, at a minimum:  


a. Describe the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with the 


Consent Order; and 


b. Describe the manner and form in which Respondent has implemented the 


Compliance Plan. 


123. The Monitor must, at a minimum: 


a. Have access to Respondent’s system of record for default servicing, including 


loan-level data and imaged documents;  


b. Have access to the system of record, including loan-level data and imaged 


documents, of any service provider providing default servicing activities on 


behalf of Respondent; 


c. Conduct transaction testing of statistically significant samples of loan files; 


and 


d. Have access to Respondent and its service providers’ personnel to obtain 


information and answer questions as necessary. 


124. The Monitor shall perform the activities described in paragraph 121 in 


accordance with a reasonable budget and work plan that are submitted to the 


Enforcement Director for non-objection prior to the initiation of any of the 


activities described in paragraph 121.  


125. The parties to the Consent Order may agree to limit or extend the term of 


monitoring as appropriate. 
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XIII 


Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  


126. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 


Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 


any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives 


who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 


127. For 5  years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 


Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 


referred to in Section XII, any future board members and executive officers, as 


well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 


representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 


Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  


128. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 


a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 


with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days 


of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 


Section.  


XIV 


Recordkeeping 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  


129. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 


following business records: 


a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 
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each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 


Bureau. 


b. For each individual Affected Consumer: the consumer’s name, address, phone 


number, email address; type of loan serviced; status of loan as of the Effective 


Date. 


130. Respondent must retain the documents identified in paragraph 129 for at least 5 


years. 


131. Respondent must make the documents identified in paragraph 129 available to 


the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 


XV 


Notices 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 


132. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 


all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 


Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Flagstar Bank, F.S.B., File 


No. 2014-CFPB-0014,” and send them either: 


a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 


Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552; or 
 


b. By first-class mail to the address in paragraph 132(a) and contemporaneously 


by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 
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XVI 


Cooperation with the Bureau 


 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  


133. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 


location of each Affected Consumer. Respondent must provide such information 


in its or its agents’ possession or control within 30 days of receiving a written 


request from the Bureau. 


XVII 


Other Compliance Monitoring 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 


this Consent Order: 


134. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 


must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information 


within Respondent’s possession, custody or control, which must be made under 


penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  


135. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 


other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 


The person interviewed may have counsel present. If such person is a current 


employee of Respondent, Respondent may have counsel present. 


136. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory 


process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 


XVIII 


Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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137. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 


Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 


requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 


138. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 


requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 


changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 


modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 


writing.  


XIX 


Administrative Provisions 


139. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 


Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 


Respondent, except as described in paragraph 140. 


140. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 


law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 


described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 


occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 


Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 


Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, 


including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or 


the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 


of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 


determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 


for any violations of the Consent Order.  
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141. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 


Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 


does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 


or the United States. 


142. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 


from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 


violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the 


relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision 


of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or 


upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action 


had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable 


until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 


have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau 


or its designated agent. 


143. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 


calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  


144. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 


violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may seek to impose the maximum 


amount of civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 


12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce 


this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 


wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 


court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 
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CFPB Seeks to Improve Process for
Industry Submission of Consumer Credit
Card Agreements
Bureau Proposes to Temporarily Suspend Card Issuers’ Obligation to
Submit Credit Card Agreements


WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
issued a proposal aimed at improving the way that companies submit consumer credit
card agreements to the Bureau. The proposal would temporarily suspend a requirement
that each quarter certain credit card issuers send their agreements to the Bureau, which
publishes them in a public database on its website. Other requirements, including card
issuers’ obligations to post these agreements on their own publicly available websites,
would remain unaffected.


“Streamlining the process for how credit card companies submit their agreements to us
could help save time and reduce burden for both industry and our agency,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “Updating this process should also give consumers and other
users access to the data in a faster and more useable form.”


In 2009, Congress passed the Credit Card Accountability, Responsibility, and
Disclosure (CARD) Act, which requires that credit card issuers post consumer credit
card agreements on their websites as well as submit those agreements to the CFPB.
These agreements feature general terms and conditions, pricing, and fee information.
The CFPB maintains a public database on its website of these credit card agreements
from nearly 450 card issuers. Federal regulations require that companies submit their
agreements to the CFPB on a quarterly basis.


Today, the Bureau is proposing to suspend for one year credit card issuers’ obligations
to submit their credit card agreements to the Bureau. During this time, the Bureau will
work to develop a more streamlined and automated electronic submission system. The
Bureau intends for its new submission system to be easier for issuers to use than the
current manual submission system. The CFPB also intends for the new system to enable
faster posting of new and revised agreements on the Bureau’s website. In designing the
new system, the Bureau also intends to explore improved reporting formats for the
posted information.


The Bureau is proposing to suspend credit card agreement submissions that would
otherwise be due to the Bureau by the first business day on or after April 30, July 31,
and October 31 of 2015, and January 31, 2016. Credit card issuers would resume
submitting credit card agreements on a quarterly basis to the Bureau starting on April
30, 2016.


During the temporary suspension period, the CFPB will collect consumer credit card
agreements from the largest card issuers’ public websites and post the agreements to its
online consumer credit card agreements database. This will help ensure that the
database contains agreement terms that are currently offered to consumers by credit
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card issuers responsible for the substantial majority of existing and new credit cards in
the U.S.


Comments on the Bureau’s proposal are due by March 13, 2015.


The proposed rule:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_proposed-
rule_submission-of-credit-card-agreements.pdf


###


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes Action Against NewDay
Financial for Deceptive Mortgage
Advertising and Kickbacks
Lender to Pay $2 Million Civil Penalty for Illegal Conduct


WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action against NewDay Financial, LLC for deceptive mortgage advertising and
kickbacks. NewDay deceived consumers about a veterans’ organization’s endorsement
of NewDay products and participated in a scheme to pay kickbacks for customer
referrals. NewDay will pay a $2 million civil money penalty for its actions.


“NewDay profited from the trust that veterans place in their veteran service
organization,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Veterans, and any consumers
getting a mortgage, deserve honest information about lender endorsements.”


NewDay is a Maryland-based, nonbank mortgage lender owned by Chrysalis Holdings,
a private company. Its primary business is originating refinance mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Veterans Benefits Administration. These loans are available
exclusively to servicemembers, veterans, and their surviving spouses. NewDay mainly
advertises its mortgage products to consumers through direct mail campaigns. Between
July 2011 and July 2014, NewDay sent consumers over 50 million mortgage
solicitations by postal and electronic mail.


Beginning in 2010, NewDay entered into a marketing arrangement with a veterans’
organization. The arrangement was facilitated by a broker company. As part of that
agreement, NewDay paid “lead generation fees” to the veterans’ organization and the
broker company. NewDay also paid a $15,000 monthly licensing fee to the broker
company. As part of this arrangement, NewDay was named the “exclusive lender” of the
veterans’ organization.


In targeted marketing to members of this veterans’ organization, NewDay stated that
this title was based on its high standards for service and excellent value. At no point did
NewDay disclose to consumers that the veterans’ organization had a financial
relationship with NewDay. Under the circumstances, this failure to disclose the
relationship constituted a deceptive act or practice, which violates the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act).


The direct mail that NewDay sent contained a recommendation from the veterans’
organization to its members. The recommendation urged members to use NewDay’s
products, which, together with other telephone and web-based referral activities,
constituted a referral of settlement service business. NewDay’s payments to the
veterans’ organization and the coordinating company for these referral activities
constituted illegal kickbacks in violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
(RESPA).
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Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions violating federal consumer financial laws, including by engaging in unfair,
deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. NewDay is ending its relationship with the
veterans’ organization and the broker company. The CFPB’s order requires that
NewDay:


• End deceptive marketing: NewDay may not engage in deceptive marketing
related to mortgage credit products and may not assist others in making
misrepresentations.


• Cease deceptive endorsement relationships: NewDay may not enter into
any business relationship that would involve third-party endorsements
inconsistent with the Federal Trade Commission’s (FTC) guidance on
endorsements and any subsequent guidance issued by the FTC or the Bureau
concerning endorsements.


• End kickbacks: The consent order requires that NewDay fully comply with the
law and make no payments for referrals.


• Pay $2 million in civil penalties: For its conduct, NewDay will make a $2
million penalty payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.


The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-order_newday-
financial.pdf


###


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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MAR 26 2015


CFPB Considers Proposal to End Payday
Debt Traps
Proposal Would Cover Payday Loans, Vehicle Title Loans, and Certain
High-Cost Installment and Open-End Loans


WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
announced it is considering proposing rules that would end payday debt traps by
requiring lenders to take steps to make sure consumers can repay their loans. The
proposals under consideration would also restrict lenders from attempting to collect
payment from consumers’ bank accounts in ways that tend to rack up excessive fees.
The strong consumer protections being considered would apply to payday loans, vehicle
title loans, deposit advance products, and certain high-cost installment loans and open-
end loans.


“Today we are taking an important step toward ending the debt traps that plague
millions of consumers across the country,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Too
many short-term and longer-term loans are made based on a lender’s ability to collect
and not on a borrower’s ability to repay. The proposals we are considering would
require lenders to take steps to make sure consumers can pay back their loans. These
common sense protections are aimed at ensuring that consumers have access to credit
that helps, not harms them.”


Today, the Bureau is publishing an outline of the proposals under consideration in
preparation for convening a Small Business Review Panel to gather feedback from small
lenders, which is the next step in the rulemaking process. The proposals under
consideration cover both short-term and longer-term credit products that are often
marketed heavily to financially vulnerable consumers. The CFPB recognizes consumers’
need for affordable credit but is concerned that the practices often associated with these
products – such as failure to underwrite for affordable payments, repeatedly rolling
over or refinancing loans, holding a security interest in a vehicle as collateral, accessing
the consumer’s account for repayment, and performing costly withdrawal attempts –
can trap consumers in debt. These debt traps also can leave consumers vulnerable to
deposit account fees and closures, vehicle repossession, and other financial difficulties.


The proposals under consideration provide two different approaches to eliminating
debt traps – prevention and protection. Under the prevention requirements, lenders
would have to determine at the outset of each loan that the consumer is not taking on
unaffordable debt. Under the protection requirements, lenders would have to comply
with various restrictions designed to ensure that consumers can affordably repay their
debt. Lenders could choose which set of requirements to follow.


Ending Debt Traps: Short-Term Loans
The proposals under consideration would cover short-term credit products that require
consumers to pay back the loan in full within 45 days, such as payday loans, deposit
advance products, certain open-end lines of credit, and some vehicle title loans. Vehicle
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title loans typically are expensive credit, backed by a security interest in a car. They may
be short-term or longer-term and allow the lender to repossess the consumer’s vehicle if
the consumer defaults.


For consumers living paycheck to paycheck, the short timeframe of these loans can
make it difficult to accumulate the necessary funds to pay off the loan principal and fees
before the due date. Borrowers who cannot repay are often encouraged to roll over the
loan – pay more fees to delay the due date or take out a new loan to replace the old one.
The Bureau’s research has found that four out of five payday loans are rolled over or
renewed within two weeks. For many borrowers, what starts out as a short-term,
emergency loan turns into an unaffordable, long-term debt trap.


The proposals under consideration would include two ways that lenders could extend
short-term loans without causing borrowers to become trapped in debt. Lenders could
either prevent debt traps at the outset of each loan, or they could protect against debt
traps throughout the lending process. Specifically, all lenders making covered short-
term loans would have to adhere to one of the following sets of requirements:


• Debt trap prevention requirements: This option would eliminate debt traps
by requiring lenders to determine at the outset that the consumer can repay the
loan when due – including interest, principal, and fees for add-on products –
without defaulting or re-borrowing. For each loan, lenders would have to verify
the consumer’s income, major financial obligations, and borrowing history to
determine whether there is enough money left to repay the loan after covering
other major financial obligations and living expenses. Lenders would generally
have to adhere to a 60-day cooling off period between loans. To make a second or
third loan within the two-month window, lenders would have to document that
the borrower’s financial circumstances have improved enough to repay a new loan
without re-borrowing. After three loans in a row, all lenders would be prohibited
altogether from making a new short-term loan to the borrower for 60 days.
• Debt trap protection requirements: These requirements would eliminate
debt traps by requiring lenders to provide affordable repayment options and by
limiting the number of loans a borrower could take out in a row and over the
course of a year. Lenders could not keep consumers in debt on short-term loans
for more than 90 days in a 12-month period. Rollovers would be capped at two –
three loans total – followed by a mandatory 60-day cooling-off period. The second
and third consecutive loans would be permitted only if the lender offers an
affordable way out of debt. The Bureau is considering two options for this: either
by requiring that the principal decrease with each loan, so that it is repaid after
the third loan, or by requiring that the lender provide a no-cost “off-ramp” after
the third loan, to allow the consumer to pay the loan off over time without further
fees. For each loan under these requirements, the debt could not exceed $500,
carry more than one finance charge, or require the consumer’s vehicle as
collateral.


Ending Debt Traps: Longer-Term Loans
The proposals under consideration would also apply to high-cost, longer-term credit
products of more than 45 days where the lender collects payments through access to the
consumer’s deposit account or paycheck, or holds a security interest in the consumer’s
vehicle, and the all-in (including add-on charges) annual percentage rate is more than
36 percent. This includes longer-term vehicle title loans and certain installment and
open-end loans.


Installment loans typically stretch longer than a two-week or one-month payday loan,
have loan amounts ranging from a hundred dollars to several thousand dollars, and
may impose very high interest rates. The principal, interest, and other finance charges
on these loans are typically repaid in installments. Some have balloon payments. The
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proposal would also apply to high-cost open-end lines of credit with account access or a
security interest in a vehicle.


When lenders have the ability to access the consumer’s account or have a security
interest in a vehicle, consumers may lose control over their financial choices and these
longer-term loans can turn into debt traps. The CFPB’s proposals under consideration
for longer-term loans would eliminate debt traps by requiring that lenders take steps to
determine that borrowers can repay. Just as with short-term loans, lenders would have
two alternative ways to extend credit and meet this requirement – prevent debt traps at
the outset or protect against debt traps throughout the lending process. Specifically,
lenders making covered longer-term loans would have to adhere to one of the following
sets of requirements:


• Debt trap prevention requirements: Similar to short-term loans, this option
would eliminate debt traps by requiring lenders to determine at the outset that
the consumer can repay the loan when due – including interest, principal, and
fees for add-on products – without defaulting or re-borrowing. For each loan,
lenders would have to verify the consumer’s income, major financial obligations,
and borrowing history to determine whether there is enough money left to repay
the loan after covering other major financial obligations and living expenses.
Lenders would be required to determine if a consumer can repay the loan each
time the consumer seeks to refinance or re-borrow. If the borrower is having
difficulty affording the current loan, the lender would be prohibited from
refinancing into another loan with similar terms without documentation that the
consumer’s financial circumstances have improved enough to be able to repay the
loan.
• Debt trap protection requirements: The Bureau is considering two specific
approaches to the debt trap protection requirements for longer-term products.
Under either approach, loans would have a minimum duration of 45 days and a
maximum duration of six months. With the first, the proposal being considered
would require lenders to provide generally the same protections offered under the
National Credit Union Administration program for “payday alternative loans.”
These loans have a 28 percent interest rate cap and an application fee of no more
than $20. With the second, the lender could make a longer-term loan provided
the amount the consumer is required to repay each month is no more than 5
percent of the consumer’s gross monthly income; the lender couldn’t make more
than two of these loans within a 12-month period.


Restricting Harmful Payment Collection
Practices
Lenders of both short-term and longer-term loans often obtain access to a consumer’s
checking, savings, or prepaid account to collect payment through a variety of methods,
including post-dated checks, debit authorizations, or remotely created checks.
However, this can lead to unanticipated withdrawals or debits and transaction fees.
When lenders attempt to get repayment through repeated, unsuccessful withdrawal
attempts, consumers are charged insufficient funds fees by their depository institution
and returned payment fees by the lender, and may even face account closure. These fees
add to the spiraling costs of falling behind on these loan products and make it even
harder for a consumer to climb out of debt. To mitigate these problems, the Bureau is
considering proposals that would:


• Require borrower notification before accessing deposit accounts:
Under the proposals being considered, lenders would be required to provide
consumers with three business days advance notice before submitting a
transaction to the consumer’s bank, credit union, or prepaid account for payment.
The notice would include key information about the forthcoming payment
collection attempt. This requirement would apply to payment collection attempts
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through any method and would help consumers better manage their accounts and
overall finances.
• Limit unsuccessful withdrawal attempts that lead to excessive deposit
account fees: Under the proposals being considered, if two consecutive attempts
to collect money from the consumer’s account were unsuccessful, the lender
would not be allowed to make any further attempts to collect from the account
unless the consumer provided a new authorization. This would limit fees incurred
by multiple transactions that exacerbate a consumer’s financial woes.


A factsheet summarizing the proposals under consideration is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb-proposal-under-consideration.pdf


A factsheet summarizing the Small Business Review Panel process is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_factsheet-small-business-review-
panel-process.pdf


An outline of the proposals under consideration will be available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_outline-of-the-proposals-from-
small-business-review-panel.pdf


A list of questions on which the Bureau will seek input from the small business
representatives providing feedback to the Small Business Review Panel will be available
at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_list-of-questions-from-small-
business-review-panel.pdf


This is the first public step in the CFPB’s efforts to reform the markets for these
products. In addition to consulting with the Small Business Review Panel, the Bureau
will continue to seek input from a wide range of stakeholders before continuing with the
process of a rulemaking. Once the Bureau issues its proposed regulations, the public
will be invited to submit written comments which will be carefully considered before
final regulations are issued.


###
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes First Action Against ‘Buy-
Here, Pay-Here’ Auto Dealer
WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
took its first action against a “buy-here, pay-here” car dealer. The dealer, DriveTime,
harmed consumers by making harassing debt collection calls and providing inaccurate
credit information to credit reporting agencies. DriveTime must pay $8,000,000 as a
civil money penalty, end its unfair debt collection tactics, fix its credit reporting
practices, and arrange for harmed consumers to obtain free credit reports.


“Consumers who purchase a car at a buy-here, pay-here dealer deserve to be treated
fairly,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “DriveTime harassed and harmed
countless consumers, many of whom were economically vulnerable. Our action today
forces DriveTime to pay the price for its illegal debt collection tactics and for neglecting
the accuracy of consumers’ credit information.”


Arizona-based DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc. and its finance company, DT
Acceptance Corporation, make up the largest buy-here, pay-here car dealer in the
nation. Buy-here, pay-here means that the dealer sells the car as well as originates and
services the auto loan. Buy-here, pay-here dealers typically target subprime borrowers.
DriveTime’s average customer has an annual income of $37,000 to $50,000 and has a
FICO score between 461 and 554. It operates 117 dealerships in 20 states and, as of
December 31, 2013, held more than 150,000 outstanding auto installment contracts.


Generally, at least 45 percent of DriveTime’s auto installment contracts were delinquent
at a given time. When DriveTime consumers fell behind on their installment payments,
DriveTime’s extensive collections operation began calling them. DriveTime had at least
290 collection employees in two domestic call centers and 80 contractors in Barbados.
These employees and contractors placed tens of thousands of collection calls each
weekday. At the end of 2013, DriveTime had approximately 69,000 installment
contracts past due that these employees would have been calling about.


The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act)
establishes that companies’ practices can be unfair if consumers cannot reasonably
avoid being harmed. The Bureau determined that several of DriveTime’s debt collection
practices were unfair to consumers. The CFPB found that DriveTime violated federal
consumer financial laws and harmed consumers through illegal actions such as:


• Harassing borrowers at work: DriveTime collectors often called borrowers at
work, and DriveTime management encouraged these calls. Several consumers
requested that DriveTime not call them at work but DriveTime kept calling
anyway. For example, one consumer was unfairly called 30 times at work after her
do-not-call request.


• Harassing borrowers’ references: DriveTime required consumers to provide
the names and phone numbers of at least four references when they applied for
financing. When consumers fell behind on their payments, DriveTime called these
references. Many borrowers and references requested that DriveTime no longer
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make these calls, but DriveTime did not stop. Some references complained that
DriveTime collectors called them for months after they had requested that the
company stop. The CFPB determined that this practice was unfair to consumers.


• Making excessive, repeated calls to wrong numbers: To reach consumers
who fell behind, DriveTime frequently used third-party databases to find new
phone numbers. These databases were often wrong. Upon receiving DriveTime’s
calls, numerous third parties told DriveTime they had the wrong number and
requested that DriveTime stop calling them. Despite such requests, DriveTime
continued to make these calls. In some cases, DriveTime called these wrong
numbers for over a year before stopping.


• Providing inaccurate repossession information to credit reporting
agencies: DriveTime furnishes consumer account information for approximately
350,000 accounts to all three major consumer reporting agencies. In a number of
cases, DriveTime gave the agencies information that inaccurately reflected the
timing of repossessions and dates of first delinquency. This made it appear on
consumers’ credit reports that consumers’ vehicles had been repossessed more
recently than the actual date of repossession. This information can have a
negative effect on consumers’ credit reports, which in turn can impact their ability
to get credit, employment, or housing. The Fair Credit Reporting Act prohibits
companies from furnishing inaccurate information when they know or have
reasonable cause to believe the information is inaccurate.


• Failing to properly handle credit information furnishing disputes:
DriveTime also mishandled consumers’ complaints about the inaccurate
information it had provided to the credit reporting agencies. In several instances,
consumers disputed the same account information several times without the
inaccurate information being corrected. In other cases, DriveTime informed the
consumers in writing that the information had been corrected, when it had not
been. This was a violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which requires that
companies properly investigate disputes.


• Failing to implement reasonable procedures to ensure the accuracy of
consumers’ credit information: DriveTime failed to establish and implement
reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of
the information it furnished to credit reporting agencies. The policies and
procedures it had in place were not appropriate to the nature, size, complexity,
and scope of its furnishing activities. The Fair Credit Reporting Act requires that
companies have policies and procedures in place to ensure the accuracy and
integrity of consumers’ credit information.


Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The CFPB’s consent order
requires DriveTime to:


• End unfair calling practices: DriveTime must not communicate with
consumers at their workplaces if consumers have requested that DriveTime not
call them there or if DriveTime otherwise knows that the consumers’ employers
prohibit communications to their workplaces. DriveTime must not call a
particular phone number related to an account if any person has requested, orally
or in writing, that DriveTime stop calling such number.


• Disclose collection options to consumers: DriveTime must provide a clear
and conspicuous written notice to existing customers explaining how they can
limit the times of day that DriveTime will call them. For all new customers,
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DriveTime must provide this notice as part of a written welcome kit. DriveTime
must also provide this notice on the welcome call and, if applicable, at the time of
the first collection call on the account. DriveTime must accept customers’ oral or
written requests to limit calls.


• Cease furnishing inaccurate repossession information: DriveTime must
stop furnishing information related to the repossession of a consumer’s vehicle,
unless the company has confirmed that the information is correct.


• Correct credit reporting information: If DriveTime furnished information
to a credit reporting agency that was inaccurate for multiple accounts for similar
reasons, the company must provide corrected information to the agency or
request that the agency delete the wrong information from the consumer’s file.


• Provide credit reports to harmed consumers: For those consumers about
whom DriveTime furnished inaccurate credit information, DriveTime must
provide a notice that explains how to obtain a free credit report from each of the
nationwide consumer reporting agencies. If the customer has already received a
free report during the preceding 12 months, DriveTime must arrange for the
customer to obtain a credit report free of charge.


• Implement an audit program: DriveTime must implement a process for
auditing information it furnishes to the credit reporting agencies on a monthly
basis and monitoring the disputes it receives. The audit is designed to ensure the
integrity and accuracy of the information.


• Pay an $8million penalty: DriveTime will pay an $8 million penalty to the
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.


The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201411_cfpb_consent-order_drivetime.pdf


###


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes Action Against ACE Cash
Express for Pushing Payday Borrowers
Into Cycle of Debt
ACE to Pay $10 Million for Using Illegal Debt Collection Tactics to
Pressure Consumers Into Debt Traps


WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took enforcement action against ACE Cash Express, one of the largest payday lenders in
the United States, for pushing payday borrowers into a cycle of debt. The CFPB found
that ACE used illegal debt collection tactics – including harassment and false threats of
lawsuits or criminal prosecution – to pressure overdue borrowers into taking out
additional loans they could not afford. ACE will provide $5 million in refunds and pay a
$5 million penalty for these violations.


“ACE used false threats, intimidation, and harassing calls to bully payday borrowers
into a cycle of debt,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “This culture of coercion
drained millions of dollars from cash-strapped consumers who had few options to fight
back. The CFPB was created to stand up for consumers and today we are taking action
to put an end to this illegal, predatory behavior.”


ACE is a financial services company headquartered in Irving, Texas. The company
offers payday loans, check-cashing services, title loans, installment loans, and other
consumer financial products and services. ACE offers the loans online and at many of
its 1,500 retail storefronts. The storefronts are located in 36 states and the District of
Columbia.


Payday loans are often described as a way for consumers to bridge a cash-flow shortage
between paychecks or other income. They are usually expensive, small-dollar loans that
must be repaid in full in a short period of time. A March 2014 CFPB study found that
four out of five payday loans are rolled over or renewed within 14 days. It also found
that the majority of all payday loans are made to borrowers who renew their loans so
many times that they end up paying more in fees than the amount of money they
originally borrowed.


The CFPB has authority to oversee the payday loan market and began supervising
payday lenders in January 2012. Today’s action resulted from a CFPB examination,
which the Bureau conducted in coordination with the Texas Office of Consumer Credit
Commissioner, and subsequent enforcement investigation.


Illegal Debt Collection Threats and
Harassment
The CFPB found that ACE used unfair, deceptive, and abusive practices to collect
consumer debts, both when collecting its own debt and when using third-party debt
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collectors to collect its debts. The Bureau found that ACE collectors engaged in a
number of aggressive and unlawful collections practices, including:


• Threatening to sue or criminally prosecute: ACE debt collectors led
consumers to believe that they would be sued or subject to criminal prosecution if
they did not make payments. Collectors would use legal jargon in calls to
consumers, such as telling a consumer he could be subject to “immediate
proceedings based on the law” even though ACE did not actually sue consumers
or attempt to bring criminal charges against them for non-payment of debts.


• Threatening to charge extra fees and report consumers to credit
reporting agencies: As a matter of corporate policy, ACE’s debt collectors,
whether in-house or third-party, cannot charge collection fees and cannot report
non-payment to credit reporting agencies. The collectors, however, told
consumers all of these would occur or were possible.


• Harassing consumers with collection calls: Some ACE in-house and third-
party collectors abused and harassed consumers by making an excessive number
of collection calls. In some of these cases, ACE repeatedly called the consumers’
employers and relatives and shared the details of the debt.


Pressured into Payday Cycle of Debt
The Bureau found that ACE used these illegal debt collection tactics to create a false
sense of urgency to lure overdue borrowers into payday debt traps. ACE would
encourage overdue borrowers to temporarily pay off their loans and then quickly re-
borrow from ACE. Even after consumers explained to ACE that they could not afford to
repay the loan, ACE would continue to pressure them into taking on more debt.
Borrowers would pay new fees each time they took out another payday loan from ACE.
The Bureau found that ACE’s creation of the false sense of urgency to get delinquent
borrowers to take out more payday loans is abusive.


ACE’s 2011 training manual has a graphic illustrating this cycle of debt. According to
the graphic, consumers begin by applying to ACE for a loan, which ACE approves. Next,
if the consumer “exhausts the cash and does not have the ability to pay,” ACE “contacts
the customer for payment or offers the option to refinance or extend the loan.” Then,
when the consumer “does not make a payment and the account enters collections,” the
cycle starts all over again—with the formerly overdue borrower applying for another
payday loan.


The ACE cycle-of-debt training manual graphic is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_graphic_ace-cash-express-loan-
process.pdf


Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive
practices. The CFPB’s order requires ACE to take the following actions:


• Pay $5 million in consumer refunds: ACE must provide $5 million in
refunds to the overdue borrowers harmed by the illegal debt collection tactics
during the period covered by the order. These borrowers will receive a refund of
their payments to ACE, including fees and finance charges. ACE consumers will
be contacted by a third-party settlement administrator about how to make a claim
for a refund.


• End illegal debt collection threats and harassment: The order requires
ACE to ensure that it will not engage in unfair and deceptive collections practices.
Those practices include, but are not limited to, disclosing debts to unauthorized
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third parties; directly contacting consumers who are represented by an attorney;
and falsely threatening to sue consumers, report to credit bureaus, or add
collection fees.


• Stop pressuring consumers into cycles of debt: ACE’s collectors will no
longer pressure delinquent borrowers to pay off a loan and then quickly take out a
new loan from ACE. The Consent Order explicitly states that ACE may not use any
abusive tactics.


• Pay a $5 million fine:ACE will make a $5 million penalty payment to the
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.


The full text of the Bureau’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_consent-order_ace-cash-
express.pdf


CFPB takes complaints about payday loans. To submit a complaint, consumers can:


• Go online at consumerfinance.gov/complaint
• Call the toll-free phone number at 1-855-411-CFPB (2372) or TTY/TDD phone
number at 1-855-729-CFPB (2372)
• Fax the CFPB at 1-855-237-2392
• Mail a letter to: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, P.O. Box 4503, Iowa City,
Iowa 52244


###


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.


ESPAÑOL


Contact us Newsroom Jobs Open government


Page 3 of 3CFPB Takes Action Against ACE Cash Express for Pushing Payday Borrowers Into Cycl...


4/8/2015http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-ace-cash-express-for...








1 Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP


Cyrus Amir-Mokri
Partner, New York
Litigation


T: 212.735.3279
F: 917.777.3279
cyrus.amir-mokri@skadden.com


Education
J.D., University of Chicago  
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Ph.D., University of Chicago, 1992
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New York
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Law Clerk, Hon. Bruce M. Selya, U.S. 
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Cyrus Amir-Mokri handles complex litigation and investigations, and provides strategic 
advice to clients on global regulatory matters, compliance and operational risk. 


Mr. Amir-Mokri rejoined the firm in 2014 after serving as the Assistant Secretary for Finan-
cial Institutions at the U.S. Department of the Treasury, where he was responsible for devel-
oping and coordinating policy on issues affecting financial institutions. Before his service at 
Treasury, Mr. Amir-Mokri was Senior Counsel to the chairman of the Commodities Futures 
Trading Commission (CFTC). He participated in both the passage and implementation of the 
Dodd-Frank Act and international financial reform.


In addition to working with U.S. and international financial regulatory agencies on issues  
of financial stability, market structure, and safety and soundness, Mr. Amir-Mokri was 
responsible for developing and coordinating Treasury’s policy on insurance, consumer 
financial services and cybersecurity. At Treasury, Mr. Amir-Mokri’s most recent policy 
development efforts focused on the impact of emerging information and telecommunications 
technology on financial services. In particular, he supervised the agency’s efforts to develop 
a framework for cybersecurity policy and to coordinate the federal government’s response to 
incidents in the financial sector. He also supervised Treasury’s report on the modernization 
of insurance regulation.


Prior to his recent government service, Mr. Amir-Mokri was a partner at Skadden represent-
ing clients in complex and appellate litigation. Although his work emphasized representing 
financial services clients in federal antitrust, securities and regulatory matters, he also  
represented clients outside the financial services sector in general corporate and  
commercial litigation. 


At Treasury, Mr. Amir-Mokri was the recipient of the Alexander Hamilton Award. He was 
included on the Carnegie Corporation’s “Great Immigrants: The Pride of America” list in 
2012 and is a recipient of the Ellis Island Medal of Honor. He also is a life member of the 
Council on Foreign Relations.
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James R. Carroll heads the litigation practice of Skadden’s Boston office. Mr. Carroll has 
broad experience — including jury trial experience — in consumer products, insurance, 
subprime-related issues and securities class action defense, as well as a broad array of 
complex civil litigations. 


Mr. Carroll is handling a number of purported class actions for major national life insurers 
and is defending a variety of purported class and individual actions in the life, disability and 
casualty insurance contexts. He won an appeal for one of the nation’s largest mutual fund 
complexes that reversed a lower court’s refusal to dismiss three putative class actions involv-
ing allegations of improper mutual fund “market timing” activities. Mr. Carroll also is repre-
senting investment advisers in regulatory inquiries and civil litigations in connection with the 
Bernard Madoff scandal. He also is defending one of the nation’s leading providers of vari-
able annuities in class actions filed in multiple jurisdictions. In 2006-2007, Mr. Carroll spent 
a considerable amount of time representing special committees, companies and individuals 
in connection with multifront regulatory inquiries into stock option granting practices.


Mr. Carroll secured an important win for the pharmaceutical industry in the U.S. Court of 
Appeals for the First Circuit. In August 2008, the First Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed 
the dismissal with prejudice of purported securities fraud class action cases against a major 
Boston pharmaceutical company. In doing so, the First Circuit emphasized that drug compa-
nies have no obligation to immediately publicly disclose even very negative adverse events 
and that the securities laws permit — indeed, require — that issuers take the time to reason-
ably investigate important developments prior to public disclosure. Mr. Carroll, on behalf of 
a German-based global pharmaceutical and chemical company, also won denial of a prelim-
inary injunction motion seeking to enjoin a shareholder vote on whether to approve the 
company’s proposed $7 billion acquisition of a Massachusetts-based life science company.


Mr. Carroll’s practice also includes representing corporations and individuals in matters 
before the SEC, the Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office and the Massachusetts Secu-
rities Division. His current engagements include matters before each of those regulators. 
In particular, he has defended civil enforcement actions and regulatory inquiries relating to 
subprime lending and derivatives.


Mr. Carroll has utilized the Private Securities Litig ation Reform Act to obtain a rare denial of 
a class certification motion in a purported 10b-5 securities fraud class action. He also argued 
the first Rule 23 (f) class certification appeal accepted by the First Circuit. His engagements 
also include the defense of qui tam actions brought across the country and representations 
of financial institutions in “security breach” actions arising out of the criminal activity of 
computer hackers.


Mr. Carroll regularly litigates a variety of covenant-not-to-compete and “employee raiding” 
cases on behalf of several Massachusetts high-technology firms. He also has experience 
trying cases before arbitration panels of FINRA and AAA. In addition, he has tried so-called 
“whistleblower” cases to an administrative law judge pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley.
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James R. Carroll
Continued


Mr. Carroll has been a guest lecturer at the MIT Sloan School 
of Management on matters relating to insider trading and the 
federal securities laws. He is a former member of Skadden’s Policy 
Committee, the firm’s governing body. Mr. Carroll repeatedly has 
been selected for inclusion in Chambers USA: America’s Leading 
Lawyers for Business and The Best Lawyers in America. He also 
was named as one of the 500 leading lawyers in the country by 
Lawdragon Magazine. Mr. Carroll was named one of the 2013 
“BTI Client Service All-Stars” by The BTI Consulting Group for 
providing outstanding client service. “All-Stars” are nominated 
unprompted in interviews with corporate counsel at Fortune 1000 
and other large organizations.


In addition to courts in Massachusetts, he is admitted to practice in 
the U.S. Supreme Court, the U.S. Court of Appeals including the 
Federal, First, Second, Third, Fifth, Seventh and Ninth Circuits and 
numerous federal district courts across the country. Mr. Carroll’s 
practice is not limited to New England; he regularly litigates in 
courts throughout the United States.


Publications


“The SEC’s Renewed Scrutiny 
on Accounting Cases: Expected 
Focus Areas and How Compa-
nies Can Prepare,” Skadden, Arps, 
Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, 
September 23, 2013


Commonwealth v. Fremont: the 
SJC Addresses the Intersec-
tion Between the Massachu-
setts Public Records Law and 
Court-issued Protective Orders,” 
Boston Bar Journal, Fall 2011


“SEC Releases Proposed Rules 
for Implementing Dodd-Frank 
Whistleblower Provisions,” Skad-
den, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom 
LLP, November 23, 2010


“Dodd-Frank Act Tempts 
Securities Law Whistleblowers 
with Lucrative Cash Bounties, 
Highlighting the Need for Effec-
tive Compliance Procedures,” 
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & 
Flom LLP, October 20, 2010 


“Mergers & Acquisitions: 
Massachusetts Courts Reject 
Injunction Attempts,” The Boston 
Bar Journal, Fall 2010 


“Back to the Future: in Today’s 
Jones v. Harris Decision, The 
Supreme Court Enshrines The 
1982 Gartenberg Standard For 
Evaluating The Fees Charges By 
Mutual Fund Advisers,” Skadden, 
Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom 
LLP, March 30, 2010


“First Circuit En Banc Opinion 
Holds That Securities Profes-
sionals Must Actually ‘Make’ A 
Statement To Trigger Primary 
Liability Under Rule 10b-5(b),” 
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & 
Flom LLP, March 11, 2010


“Summary of New Massachu-
setts Privacy Law,” Skadden, 
Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom 
LLP, March 3, 2010 


“Faithless Servants Beware: 
Massachusetts Forfeiture Law is 
More Severe Than Astra USA, 
Inc. v. Bildman Might Suggest,” 
Boston Bar Journal, Winter 2010


“Mutual Fund Industry ‘Exces-
sive Fee’ Lawsuits,” National 
Law Journal, May 26, 2008


“Fiduciaries Beware: Dramatic 
Increase In ERISA Class 
Actions,” 19-6 Insights, The 
Corporate 8 Securities Law Advi-
sor, at 16, June 2005


“Holding Down The Fort” 
Litigation Update, Best’s Review, 
September 2001


Consumer Financial Services, 
Law Journal Press, 2001 
(contributing author)








1 Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP


Neepa K. Mehta
Associate, Washington, D.C. 
Litigation


T: 202.371.7676
F: 202.661.9016
neepa.mehta@skadden.com


Education
J.D., University of Virginia  
School of Law, 2011


B.S., University of North Carolina, 
Chapel Hill, 2006


Bar Admissions
District of Columbia


Publications
Co-Author, “‘Leveling the Playing Field’: 
Implications of CFPB Authority over 
Non-Depository Financial Institutions,” 
Antitrust, April 2013


Neepa Mehta is an associate in Skadden’s litigation practice. She assists clients in matters 
involving civil litigation and regulatory investigations, including actions involving the 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Securities 
and Exchange Commission, and state financial regulators. Ms. Mehta also has represented 
pro bono clients in connection with petitions for immigration relief.
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CFPB Takes Action Against Flagstar Bank
for Violating New Mortgage Servicing
Rules
Flagstar to Pay $37.5 Million for Blocking Mortgage Borrowers’ Attempts
to Save Their Homes


Washington, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took
action against Michigan-based Flagstar Bank for violating the CFPB’s new mortgage
servicing rules by illegally blocking borrowers’ attempts to save their homes. At every
step in the foreclosure relief process, Flagstar failed borrowers. The bank took excessive
time to process borrowers’ applications for foreclosure relief, failed to tell borrowers
when their applications were incomplete, denied loan modifications to qualified
borrowers, and illegally delayed finalizing permanent loan modifications. The CFPB is
ordering Flagstar to halt its illegal activities, pay $27.5 million to victims, and pay a $10
million fine.


“Because of Flagstar’s illegal actions and unacceptable delays, struggling homeowners
lost the opportunity to save their homes,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “The
Bureau has been clear that mortgage servicers must follow our new servicing rules and
treat homeowners fairly. Today’s action signals a new era of enforcement to protect
consumers against the cost of servicer runarounds.”


Flagstar is a federal savings bank and mortgage servicer based out of Troy, Michigan.
Flagstar administers foreclosure relief programs provided by the owner of the loan.
Foreclosure relief programs mitigate losses for both the borrower and the owners of the
loans by providing alternatives to foreclosure. These alternatives are known as “loss
mitigation” programs. Flagstar is responsible for soliciting borrowers for these
programs, collecting their applications, determining eligibility, and implementing the
loss mitigation program for qualified borrowers.


The Bureau’s examinations and investigation found that from 2011 to the present,
Flagstar failed to devote sufficient resources to administering loss mitigation programs
for distressed homeowners. For example, in 2011, Flagstar had 13,000 active loss
mitigation applications but only assigned 25 full-time employees and a third-party
vendor in India to review them. For a time, it took the staff up to nine months to review
a single application. In Flagstar’s loss mitigation call center, the average call wait time
was 25 minutes and the average call abandonment rate was almost 50 percent. And
Flagstar’s loss mitigation application backlog numbered well over a thousand. When
the CFPB’s new mortgage servicing rules went into effect in January 2014, Flagstar
committed violations of the new rules with respect to loss mitigation.


At every step in the foreclosure relief process, Flagstar failed consumers. Specifically,
the Bureau found that Flagstar:


• Closed borrower applications due to its own excessive delays: Flagstar
took excessive time to review loss mitigation applications, often causing
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application documents to expire. To move its backlog, Flagstar would close
applications due to expired documents, even though the documents had expired
because of Flagstar’s delay.


• Delayed approving or denying borrower applications: Under the new
CFPB mortgage servicing rules, Flagstar must evaluate a complete loss mitigation
application within 30 days, if it receives the complete application more than 37
days before a foreclosure sale. Flagstar also failed to adhere to these timelines.


• Failed to alert borrowers about incomplete applications: Flagstar is
responsible for reviewing borrowers’ initial loss mitigation applications to
determine what documents are missing. It must then tell borrowers what
documents are missing, usually by sending a “missing document” letter. Flagstar
failed to send, or delayed sending, missing document letters to borrowers.


• Miscalculated incomes: Eligibility for some loss mitigation programs, such as
a loan modification, is highly dependent on borrower income. If borrowers have
too much or too little income, they do not qualify. Flagstar routinely miscalculated
borrower income and wrongfully denied loan modifications.


• Denied applications for unspecified reasons: Under the CFPB’s new rules,
mortgage servicers must provide the specific reason a complete loan modification
application is rejected. Flagstar’s policy was to say only “not approved for loss
mitigation options by the investor/owner of the loan,” even though Flagstar’s
internal systems contained the true reason for the denial.


• Misinformed borrowers about their appeal rights: Under the CFPB’s new
rules, Flagstar must provide certain borrowers the right to appeal the denial of a
loan modification. But Flagstar failed to provide this notice, and it wrongly stated
that borrowers have an appeal right only if they reside in certain states.


• Put borrowers in trial period purgatory: Flagstar needlessly prolonged trial
periods for loan modifications. This caused some borrowers’ loan amount under
the modified note to increase and, in some cases, jeopardized borrowers’
permanent loan modification.


Flagstar’s failures as a mortgage servicer hurt homeowners. In many cases, Flagstar
deprived borrowers of the ability to make an informed choice about how to save or sell
their home, caused borrowers to drop out from the loss mitigation process entirely, and
drove borrowers into foreclosure.


Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions violating the January 2014 mortgage
servicing rules, and it has authority to take action against institutions engaging in
unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices. The CFPB’s order requires Flagstar to:


• Pay $27.5 million in redress to victims: Flagstar must pay $27.5 million to
the approximately 6,500 consumers whose loans were being serviced by Flagstar
and who were subject to its unlawful practices. At least $20 million of this will go
to the approximately 2,000 victims of foreclosure. Borrowers who receive
payments will not be prevented from taking individual action on their claims as a
result of this settlement.


• End all loss mitigation mortgage servicing violations: Flagstar is
prohibited from engaging in violations of the loss mitigation provisions of the
CFPB’s mortgage servicing rules and unfair, deceptive and abusive acts or
practices in connection with loss mitigation. Among other things, this means
Flagstar must properly review, acknowledge, and evaluate loss mitigation
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applications and cannot improperly deny loss mitigation applications or
improperly prolong the trial period for a loan modification.


• Stop acquiring default servicing rights from third parties: Flagstar is
prohibited from acquiring servicing rights for default loan portfolios until it
demonstrates it has the ability to comply with laws that protect consumers during
the loss mitigation process.


• Engage in efforts to help affected borrowers preserve their home: For
borrowers affected by Flagstar’s unlawful practices who were not foreclosed on,
Flagstar must engage in outreach, including a door knocking campaign and
translations services, to contact borrowers and offer them loss mitigation options.
And Flagstar must halt the foreclosure process, if one is happening, during this
outreach and qualification process for these borrowers. For affected borrowers
who were previously denied a loss mitigation option, Flagstar must do an
independent review to determine whether they were offered all loss mitigation
options for which they qualified. If they were not, Flagstar must offer the
borrower those loss mitigation options.


• Pay $10 million civil penalty: Flagstar will make a $10 million penalty
payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.


The consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_consent-order_flagstar.pdf


###


The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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Legal Issues

Liability under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA)

In September 2014, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) reminded indirect auto lenders that it is illegal for creditors to discriminate “in any aspect of the credit transaction on prohibited bases.”

CFPB indirect automobile Bulletin 2013-02 (March 2013) states that the “standard practices of indirect auto lenders likely constitute participation in a credit decision.” 

Dealer knowledge and understanding of the ECOA and fair lending practices.







A person who, 

“in the ordinary course of business, regularly participates in the decision of whether or not to extend credit,” is a creditor under Regulation B.
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Legal Issues	

The CFPB has limited jurisdiction over dealers under the Dodd-Frank Act.

“The law specifies that we generally do not have jurisdiction over auto dealers and their practices, but we do have jurisdiction over the largest auto lenders and their lending programs.”  CFPB Director Cordray, CFPB Auto Finance Field Hearing, November 2013

In September 2014, the CFPB issued a Proposed Rule to give it supervisory authority over nonbank auto finance companies that make, acquire or refinance 10,000 or more loans or leases annually.

About 38 auto finance companies, originating 90% of nonbank auto loans and leases, would qualify.

Since the issuance of its proposed rule, several major captive auto lenders have disclosed CFPB investigations into their indirect auto lending practices.
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Statistical Issues and Proxy Methodologies

How can indirect automobile lenders responsibly use proxies to assign protected class status?

BISG proxy method

Method outlined in health care study (Marc N. Elliott et al., Using the Census Bureau’s surname list to improve estimates of race/ethnicity and associated disparities, Health Servs. Outcomes Research Method 9:69-83 (2009)).

Combines name and geography

Continuous measure of race/ethnicity

CFPB recommendations

See CFPB’s White Paper, Using publicly available information to proxy for unidentified race and ethnicity: A methodology and assessment (Sept. 2014).

CFPB exam teams use data associated with consumer surnames and places of residence in order to calculate the probability an individual belongs to a specific race or ethnicity.

See also CFPB blog, “Preventing illegal discrimination in auto lending” (Nov. 4, 2013), describing proxy methodology.
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Statistical Issues and Proxy Methodologies

American Financial Services Association (AFSA) Study

The AFSA Study included a review of industry data and a database of over 8 million new and used motor vehicle retail installment contracts originated between 2012 and 2013.

BISG methodology – used by CFPB in examinations to proxy for race and ethnicity – was applied to measure disparities in dealer reserve.

The Study found:

Dealer reserve variations are largely explained when adjusting for proxy bias and error.

Many legitimate business factors may impact dealer reserve amounts, but these factors are generally unknown to the financial institution and regulators.

“Conclusions about dealer compensation patterns cannot be ascertained from the analysis of the contracts assigned to a given individual financial institution.” (AFSA Study 6).









“The methods commonly used by regulators to proxy race and ethnicity, including the [BISG] method, are conceptually flawed in their application and subject to significant bias and estimation error.”*



“Alternative dealer compensation structures, such as “flats,” may lead to increased borrowing costs for many minority and non-minority consumers and . . . may limit access to credit for some consumers.”**





*Arthur P. Baines & Dr. Marsha J. Courchane, Fair Lending: Implications for the Indirect Auto Finance Market, Charles River Assocs. 5-6 (2014).

**Id. at 6.
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The Post-Ally Auto Landscape

The DOJ and CFPB action against Ally Financial, Inc. and Ally Bank (Dec. 2013) was the largest federal government auto loan discrimination settlement. 

Both the DOJ and CFPB have continued to investigate possible dealer/lender discriminatory acts in loan pricing, underwriting, servicing, debt collection, and recently, credit bureau reporting.

In the 15 months since Ally, federal regulators have taken five actions against auto finance companies, totaling over $13 million in consumer restitution and $10.3 million in civil money penalties.

In the past two years, examination and enforcement teams have reached resolutions with indirect auto lenders that will collectively pay about $136 million in consumer redress.



“[B]oth the CFPB and the DOJ are authorized to file civil actions to enforce ECOA. . . . The Agencies also have a shared interest in ensuring that enforcement of Federal fair lending laws is consistent and not duplicative.”







Mem. of Understanding Between the CFPB and DOJ Regarding Fair Lending Coordination 2 (Dec. 2011)
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The Post-Ally Auto Landscape

CFPB research and proposed regulations

In its Summer 2014 Supervisory Highlights (Sept. 2014), the CFPB reported findings of discrimination against minorities in the auto finance industry were largely due to lenders’ discretionary pricing policies.

Reiterated importance of developing and monitoring a fair lending CMS, and identified and recommended how to limit risk:

Internal monitoring for discrimination and correction of potential discrimination from discretionary pricing policies.

Limiting or eliminating dealer discretionary markups on loans, and providing fair compensation through a different mechanism, e.g., flat rates.

“[F]air lending reviews to date have found no actionable disparities associated with certain auto lending products or business lines that limit, by policy, discretionary pricing adjustments to significantly less than 200 or 250 basis points (for example, limits of 100 basis points).”  Supervisory Highlights 21.
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Subprime Auto Loan Origination

State attorneys general have begun to launch investigations into subprime auto lenders.

In April 2014, the New York Department of Financial Services filed a complaint against Condor Capital Corporation, a subprime auto lender, alleging unfair, abusive, and deceptive practices, including withholding and retaining consumer positive balances.  Lawsky v. Condor Capital Corp. (S.D.N.Y. 2014).

First legal action initiated by a state regulator under § 1042 of the Dodd-Frank Act.

Since mid-2014, the press has actively reported on the subprime auto loan industry.

The New York Times has published a series of articles on subprime auto lending and increased regulator scrutiny.

To date, several large auto subprime lenders have disclosed regulator investigations into their underwriting and securitization practices of automobile loan contracts.
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Indirect Automobile Enforcement Actions

Pricing / Reverse Redlining

Auto Fare, Inc. (DOJ Consent Order, Feb. 2015)

The DOJ alleged that Auto Fare, two “buy-here, pay-here” used-car dealers, engaged in a pattern of reverse redlining by targeting African-American customers for installment sales contracts with inflated prices and interest rates without meaningfully assessing the customers’ credit.  

Dealers agreed to, among other things, limit monthly payments to no more than 25% of the borrower’s income, require interest rates of at least five percentage points below the state rate cap, and provide down payment refunds to quickly defaulting borrowers. $225,000 civil money penalty.

First DOJ discrimination lawsuit involving “buy here, pay here” auto lending.

Servicing

Consumer Portfolio Services, Inc. (FTC Consent Order, June 2014)

CPS, a subprime auto lender, allegedly violated multiple servicing practices, including misrepresenting fees owed and payment methods requiring service fees, improperly assessing and collecting fees, unilaterally modifying contracts, and failing to disclose financial effects of loan extensions.

CPS agreed to pay over $3,500,000 in consumer restitution and forebear collections on 35,000 accounts, as well as pay $2,000,000 in civil money penalties.
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Indirect Automobile Enforcement Actions 

Debt Collection

Santander Consumer USA Inc. (DOJ Consent Order, Feb. 2015)

DOJ alleged that the bank had initiated and completed 760 auto repossessions, without court orders, of automobiles owned by SCRA-protected servicemembers.  The bank also collected fees from 352 repossessions conducted by other lenders before the bank acquired the loans.  Further, the bank billed and reported active servicemembers’ deficiency balances to CRAs, and sold the balance to third-party debt buyers.

The bank agreed to pay $9,360,000 in consumer restitution and $55,000 in civil money penalties.

DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc. (CFPB Consent Order, Nov. 2014)

CFPB alleged that DT's debt collection practices were unfair to consumers in that DT, among other allegations, harassed borrowers at work, excessively called wrong numbers, inaccurately reported information to CRAs, and failed to implement written policies regarding accurate CRA reporting.

DT agreed to pay a $8,000,000 in civil money penalties.  

First CFPB action against a "buy-here, pay-here" dealer.







‹#›   Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates

23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

Indirect Automobile Enforcement Actions

Credit Bureau Reporting

First Investors Financial Services Group Inc. (CFPB Consent Order, Aug. 2014)

After a CFPB investigation, the Bureau alleged the auto finance company had furnished inaccurate consumer information to credit reporting agencies for at least three years beginning in 2011, and did not attempt to replace its reporting system or correct the inaccurate information it supplied.  

As a result of its misreporting, information about borrower payments, overdue amounts, delinquency dates, and the number of delinquent accounts was incorrect.  Additionally, consumers who voluntarily surrendered their vehicles were still reported as having their vehicle repossessed.

First Investors agreed to pay $2,750,000 in civil money penalties.
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Securitization Enforcement

The DOJ has expanded its use of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act (FIRREA) to including with respect to residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS). 

The DOJ has also been using its authority under FIRREA to investigate the securitization of subprime auto loans.  

Seven large lenders have already publicly disclosed DOJ, SEC and state investigations in relation to both their auto loan financing and securitization practices.





“[S]ubprime lending has increased in auto loans and credit cards to nearly the same levels that occurred prior to the financial crisis. While that alone does not signal that fraud is going on, we shouldn’t wait until there is a crisis to pay attention.”  (emphasis added)



“We can and should use our experience investigating [RMBS] to be on the lookout for, and head off, any potential threat.”





Acting Deputy Attorney General Sally Quillian Yates at the National Association of Attorneys General Winter Meeting, Feb. 24, 2015.
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Payday Lending and Short-Term Loans

In March 2015, the CFPB published an outline of proposals that would impose new regulations for short-term and longer-term credit products.

Covered products are:

Short-term loans (45 days or less); and 

Longer-term loans (Over 45 days) if:

APR, inclusive of all fees, exceeds 36% and either (a) payment is collected through access to consumer’s deposit account or paycheck, or (b) the lender holds a security interest in the consumer’s vehicle.

Proposals exclude traditional pawn loans, credit cards, real estate secured loans, student loans, and deposit account overdraft services.

The CFPB is concerned with:

Failure to underwrite for affordable payments

Accessing consumer’s deposit account for repayment

Performing costly withdrawal attempts

Repeatedly rolling over or refinancing loans

Proposals require lenders to take steps to determine that borrowers are able to repay their debt by following prevention or protection requirements.





‹#›   Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates

23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

Payday Lending and Short-Term Loans

				Prevention		Protection

		Short-Term Loans		Ability to repay determination
60-day cooling off period
No other outstanding covered loans with any lender
Second or third loan within two months requires proof that borrower’s financial circumstances improved enough to repay the loan
After three loans in a row, no more short-term loans for 60 days		Loans no higher than $500 and no more than 45 days
Loans cannot carry more than one finance charge or require vehicle as collateral
No other outstanding covered loans with any lender
Two rollovers allowed, followed by 60-day cooling-off period
Second and third consecutive loans permitted only if: 
(1) principal decreases so that it is repaid in full when the third loan is due; OR
(2) lender offers no-cost “off-ramp”
Consumers no more than 90 days in debt on covered short-term loans in a 12-month period

		Longer-Term Loans		Ability to repay determination, including each time consumer wants to refinance or re-borrow
If borrower delinquent, lender cannot refinance into another loan with similar terms without showing financial circumstances improved enough to repay the loan		Loans must be 45 days to six months
Option 1
Loan principal between $200 and $1,000, and the balance decreases over the loan term
No interest rate higher than 28% and no application fee more than $20
No other covered loans
Two loans allowed in six months, one at a time.
Option 2
Payment amount no more than 5% of gross monthly income
No other covered loans
No more than two loans in a 12-month period
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Payday Lending and Short-Term Loans

AMG Services, Inc. and MNE Services Inc. (FTC Consent Order, Jan. 2015)

FTC filed complaints against Internet-based payday lending companies, alleging that defendants made multiple withdrawals from borrower bank accounts, assessing a new fee each time, without disclosing the true costs of the loan.  Defendants also allegedly falsely threatened the arrest, prosecution, and imprisonment of consumers for failure to pay.

Defendants claimed affiliation with Native American tribes and immunity from defense.  In March 2014, the Court found that the Defendants were subject to authority under the FTC Act. 

Defendants agreed to pay $21,000,000 towards consumer redress and waive $285,000,000 in charges.  This is the largest FTC recovery in a payday lending case. 

Moseley (“Hydra Group”) (CFPB Compl. filed Sept. 2014)

CFPB alleged Defendants use information bought from online lead generators to access consumers’ checking accounts to illegally deposit payday loans and withdraw fees without consent.  Defendants allegedly used falsified loan documents to claim that the consumers had agreed to the invalid online payday loans.
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Payday Lending and Short-Term Lending

ACE Cash Express, Inc. (CFPB Consent Order, July 2014)

A CFPB examination of ACE, a payday lender, found that its debt collection practices violated UDAAP prohibitions.  

CFPB alleged ACE collectors engaged in aggressive collections practices by threatening to sue or criminally prosecute borrowers for missed payments, threatening to charge extra fees and report consumers to CRAs, and harassing consumers with collection calls.  

ACE allegedly used illegal tactics to encourage overdue borrowers to temporarily pay off their loans and quickly reborrow from ACE, creating a perpetual cycle of debt.

ACE agreed to pay $5,000,000 in consumer restitution and $5,000,000 in civil money penalties.  Further, ACE may not encourage or suggest that delinquent borrowers pay off their loan and take out a new loan from ACE, unless in response to a bona fide consumer inquiry.
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Student Lending

The CFPB has initiated several enforcement actions against for-profit colleges and student debt relief services relating to the UDAAP prohibition.

College Education Services (CFPB and FL AG Consent Order, Jan. 2015)

In its Complaint, the CFPB alleged that CES advertised student debt relief services to borrowers with loans in default, then illegally charged consumers between $195 and $2,000 in upfront fees. 

CES also promised to lower monthly payments and/or provide quick relief from default or garnishment through loan consolidation.  However, some consumers experienced an increase in payments, and loan consolidation did not provide the results as promised.

CES agreed to pay $25,000 in civil money penalties to the CFPB, $15,000 in fees and a $10,000 civil money penalty to the Florida Attorney General (FL collection deferred due to CES’ inability to pay).

IrvineWebWorks, Inc., d/b/a Student Loan Processing.US (Compl. filed Dec. 2014) 

CFPB alleged that SLP, a debt assistance company, falsely represented itself as having an affiliation with the U.S. Department of Education (DoE).  The CFPB also alleged that: 

SLP charged consumers illegal upfront enrollment fees of either 1% of the student's federal student loan balance or $250, whichever was higher.  

Fee payment was required before consumers were mailed application materials.  

Monthly services fees were not clearly explained or disclosed, resulting in the charge of a monthly fee until the consumer's federal loans were paid in full or discharged.









‹#›   Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates

23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

Student Lending

Corinthian Colleges, Inc. (Compl. filed Sept. 2014)

Similarly, the CFPB alleges Corinthian engaged in predatory student lending practices, by:  

Intentionally creating a “funding gap” between available federal student loan funding and tuition rates, forcing low-income students into excessive private loans.  

Aggressively pursuing illegal debt collection practices, including preventing students from attending or registering for class until payment was made. 

In Feb. 2015, the purchaser of most of Corinthian’s campuses came to an agreement with the CFPB to, among other things, provide $480 million in debt relief to consumers and not offer private student loans for 7 years.
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Student Lending

Although student lenders have not yet been the subject of any CFPB consent orders, several practices at issue in the 50+ CFPB consent orders are instructive for the student lending industry.













		Servicing		Credit Reporting		Marketing

		The CFPB discussed several student loan servicing issues in its Fall 2014 Supervisory Highlights, including debt collection, consumer reporting, and payment posting.

See DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc.; see also Sallie Mae Bank (FDIC Consent Order, May 2014).		Ensuring accurate credit reporting by loan servicers is a priority for the CFPB, who also noted the importance of regular credit report checks by service-disabled veterans who have requested to have their student debt discharged under benefits offered by the DoE. 

See First Investors Financial Services Group Inc. (CFPB Consent Order, Aug. 2014)		Through its blog posts, press releases, and college credit card products transparency campaign, the CFPB has publicly “warned” consumers and schools about aggressive marketing practices, student debt relief scams, and other “tricks” of financial institutions. 

See Flagship Financial Group, LLC (CFPB Consent Order, Feb. 2015)
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Credit Cards

In March 2015, the CFPB announced that it was seeking public comment on issues within the credit card industry, as required under the CARD Act.  

More specifically, the Bureau intends to collect information on:

Any changes by card issuers to the pricing, marketing, or underwriting of terms and conditions of credit card agreements;

Any existing unfair or deceptive acts and practices, or unlawful discrimination, and the frequency and effect on consumers;

Debt collection practices and how often third-party collection agencies are used and how those relationships are managed; and 

Transparency and clarity of rewards product disclosures.
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CFPB Arbitration Study

Section 1028 of the Dodd-Frank Act explicitly allows the CFPB to issue regulations to “prohibit or impose conditions or limitations on” arbitration clauses in consumer financial services contracts in a manner “consistent with the [findings of its] study.”

In March 2015, the CFPB issued a 728-page study that was generally critical of pre-dispute, mandatory arbitration clauses in contracts for consumer financial products and services.  See Arbitration Study: Report to Congress, pursuant to Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act § 1028(a).

Many non-mortgage financial products include pre-dispute, mandatory arbitration clauses, similar to those reviewed by the Bureau.
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CFPB Arbitration Study

Some of the key findings included:

Arbitration proceedings typically result in relatively modest relief for consumers and larger gains for lenders.  

Average consumer receives about 12 cents per dollar, while lenders – winning most claims and counterclaims – receive about seven times the total relief of consumers.

Class action litigation produces greater relief for consumers, who won about $2.6 billion in quantifiable relief from class action settlements over the two-year research period.

Lenders move to dismiss and compel arbitration in about 17% of class action lawsuits, compared to 1% of individual cases.

The CFPB found no significant difference in the prices of credit card contracts with and without mandatory arbitration clauses.

Most consumers surveyed in the study did not know that an arbitration clause can prevent a suit in court, and most were unaware of whether their current lending services included such a clause.
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Breakfast 


8:30 – 9:00 a.m. 


 


Welcome 
Anand S. Raman 


Joseph L. Barloon 


Disparate Impact and Disparate Treatment – What’s the Difference? Darren M. Welch 


Mortgage Lending Developments Austin K. Brown 


Enforcement in Auto and Other Non-Mortgage Lending 
Anand S. Raman 


James R. Carroll 


Break 


10:45 – 10:55 a.m. 
 


Big Data and Fair Lending: Promises and Perils Joseph L. Barloon 


Managing Fair Lending and UDAAP Risks Relating to Limited English Proficiency Customers Industry Panel 


Handling a CFPB Investigation  
Joseph L. Barloon  


Anand S. Raman 


The Future of Financial Institution Regulation Cyrus Amir-Mokri 


Lunch  


12:45  – 2:00 p.m. 
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OVERVIEW

Overview of CFPB Enforcement Actions

Civil Investigative Demand Process 

Cooperation and Remediation

Depositions and Interviews

Certification of Compliance

NORA / PARR Process

Potential Outcomes
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OVERVIEW OF CFPB ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

CFPB is keeping busy with enforcement actions; we predict 2015 will be another busy year
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CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE DEMAND PROCESS

Statutory authority to issue a CID to any person whom the CFPB has “reason to believe” may be in possession, custody, or control of any information relevant to a “violation” of Federal consumer financial law

Must state the nature of the conduct constituting the alleged violation

Must state a return date for information or documents

Compliance may be enforced by the CFPB in federal district court

CID rules set forth in 12 C.F.R. Part 1080
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CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE DEMAND PROCESS

Immediate steps following receipt of a CID include:

Calendaring the return date

Preserving potentially responsive documents

Setting a Meet and Confer date with the CFPB

CFPB expects IT professionals to attend

CFPB goal to file or settle an action within two years of opening an investigation, if enforcement action is warranted (CFPB Strategic Plan FY 2013 – FY 2017, Performance goal 1.2.6 / 1.3.6)
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CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE DEMAND PROCESS

Petition to Modify or Set Aside the CID

Must be filed within 20 calendar days after service of the CID or, if the return date is less than 20 calendar days after service, prior to the return date

Petition and any decision are presumptively public

CFPB has denied every petition to date

Informal negotiation and modification process

Modifications typically confirmed in writing

Administrative exhaustion- potential for waiver if objections not raised early
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CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE DEMAND PROCESS

CID may call for documentary material, “tangible things,” and written reports or answers to interrogatories

According to CID instructions, responsive documents include materials and information in the institution’s possession or actual or constructive custody or control, including documents held by attorneys, accountants, other agents or consultants, directors, officers, and employees

Written reports and answers to questions may require extensive fact-finding 

CID also may call for privileged information

Submission of privileged information to CFPB does not waive privilege under federal or state law (12 CFR Part 1070, 12 U.S.C. § 1828(x)), and CFPB may share privileged information with other federal agencies without waiver (12 U.S.C. § 1821(t))
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COOPERATION AND REMEDIATION

CFPB Bulletin 2013-06 on Responsible Business Conduct: Self-Policing, Self-Reporting, Remediation, and Cooperation

Cooperation “relates to the quality of a party’s interactions with the Bureau after the Bureau becomes aware of a potential violation of federal consumer financial laws, either through a party’s self-reporting or the Bureau’s own discovery efforts”

High standard

To receive cooperation credit, a party “must take substantial and material steps above and beyond what the law requires in its interactions with the Bureau”

“Simply meeting those obligations will not be rewarded by any special consideration”

Favorable consideration for remediation steps taken after party learns of potential or actual misconduct









‹#›   Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates

23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

DEPOSITIONS AND INTERVIEWS

Investigational hearing (deposition)

Investigational hearing rules set forth in 12 C.F.R. Part 1080.7

May be conducted pursuant to a CID “for the giving of oral testimony in the course of any Bureau investigation, including inquiries initiated for the purpose of determining whether or not a respondent is complying with an order of the Bureau”

Testimony required under oath or affirmation from corporate representatives on behalf of entity, or employees and other third parties

“Stenographically reported” and testimony may be recorded

Counsel may attend but objections are limited

Informal interview  

No court reporter 

Not under oath
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE

Compliance with the CID must be certified

Documents

Interrogatory Answers and Reports

Certification form typically included with the CID, or by a sworn affidavit

Form certification states, under penalty of perjury, that all answers and reports prepared in response to CID are “true, correct, and complete”
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NORA/PARR PROCESS

Opportunities for formal company response setting forth legal or policy arguments or facts

Notice and Opportunity to Respond and Advise (“NORA”)

Typically issued in the non-supervisory investigation context before CFPB files an enforcement action

CFPB Bulletin 2011-04 discusses NORA process

Proposed Action and Request for Response (“PARR”)

Similar to NORA but typically in the supervisory context

Notice of referral to DOJ or other agency







‹#›   Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates

23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

POTENTIAL OUTCOMES

No formal action

Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”)

Typically non-public, non-binding, and in the supervisory context

May have provisions similar to consent orders 

Consent order

Public, legally-binding resolution of enforcement action, filed in court or as administrative order

CFPB may file joint orders with prudential bank regulators or state Attorneys General

Enforcement litigation

Administrative adjudicative proceeding 

Civil action in a U.S. district court
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POTENTIAL OUTCOMES
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Articles 


“New and Re-Emerging Fair Lending Risks,” Mortgage Compliance Magazine, Austin Brown & Loretta Kirkwood     
(Oct. 2014) 


“Supreme Court May Nix Disparate Impact in Fair Lending Enforcement,” Skadden 2015 Insights, Joseph L. Barloon, 
Anand S. Raman & Darren M. Welch (Jan. 2015) 


“CFPB Defines ‘Unfair,’ ‘Deceptive’ and ‘Abusive’ Practices Through Enforcement Activity,” Joseph L. Barloon, Anand 
S. Raman & Austin K. Brown, Skadden 2015 Insights (Jan. 2015) 


Regulatory Materials 


"CFPB Proposes Rule to Improve Information About Access to Credit in the Mortgage Market,” CFPB (July 24, 2014) 


"CFPB Proposes New Federal Oversight of Nonbank Auto Finance Companies,” CFPB (Sept. 17, 2014) 


Supervisory Highlights, Summer 2014, CFPB (Sept. 17, 2014) 


CFPB White Paper, Using publicly available information to proxy for unidentified race and ethnicity: A methodology  
and assessment, Summer 2014, CFPB (Sept. 17, 2014)  


“CPFB Seeks to Improve Process for Industry Submission of Consumer Credit Card Agreements,” CFPB                  
(Feb. 24, 2015) 


CFPB Proposed Rule and Request for Public Comment, Submission of Credit Card Agreements Under the Truth in 
Lending Act (Regulation Z), Federal Register (Feb. 24, 2015) 


“CFPB Considers Proposal to End Payday Debt Traps,” CFPB (Mar. 26, 2015) 


CFPB Fact Sheet: CFPB Considers Proposal to End Payday Debt Traps, CFPB (Mar. 26, 2015) 







 


 


Enforcement Actions 


CFPB Press Release and Consent Order, Synchrony Bank f/k/a GE Capital Retail Bank, June 19, 2014 


CFPB Press Release and Consent Order, ACE Cash Express, Inc., July 10, 2014 


CFPB Press Release and Consent Order, First Investors Financial Services Group Inc., August 20, 2014 


CFPB Press Release and Consent Order, Flagstar Bank, September 29, 2014 


HUD Press Release and Conciliation Agreement, Midland States Bancorp, October 2, 2014 


CFPB Press Release and Consent Order, DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc. and DT Acceptance Corp., November 19, 
2014 


DOJ Press Release and Consent Order, First United Bank, January 15, 2015 


CFPB Press Release and Consent Order, NewDay Financial, LLC, February 10, 2015 


DOJ Press Release and Consent Order, Auto Fare Inc. and Southeastern Auto Corp., February 10, 2015 


 








1 Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP


Austin K. Brown
Counsel, Washington, D.C.  
Civil and Criminal Litigation, and Government Enforcement


T: 202.371.7142
F: 202.661.0542
austin.brown@skadden.com


Education
J.D., Georgetown University Law 
Center, 2005 (magna cum laude)


B.A., Vassar College, 1999 


Bar Admissions
District of Columbia 


Maryland


Austin Brown advises a wide range of entities with respect to compliance issues and 
programs. His practice focuses on regulatory investigations and enforcement proceedings, 
compliance advice and internal corporate investigations. 


Mr. Brown regularly assists financial institutions in matters involving consumer protection 
statutes and regulations, including the Fair Housing Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 
the Truth in Lending Act, and statutes prohibiting unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or prac-
tices. He has represented financial institutions and other entities in connection with investi-
gations and inquiries by the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, the 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, state attorneys general, and federal and state bank 
regulatory authorities.


Mr. Brown was selected for inclusion in Chambers USA: America’s Leading Lawyers for 
Business 2014.


Publications


“CFPB Defines ‘Unfair,’ ‘Deceptive’ and ‘Abusive’ Practices Through Enforcement Activity,” 
Skadden Insights, January, 2015 


“New and Re-emerging Fair Lending Risks,” Mortgage Compliance Magazine, October 2014


“CFPB Finalizes Sweeping New Mortgage Servicing Rule,” CMBA Legal News, Spring 2013


“Recent Focus on Non-Mortgage Fair Lending,” The Review of Banking & Financial Services, 
March 2013


“Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Inquiry Into Overdraft Fees Highlights Focus on 
‘Unfair, Deceptive, or Abusive’ Acts or Practices,” Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom 
LLP, April 12, 2012


“The Latest in Fair Lending ‘Disparate Impact’ Actions,” Law360, November 23, 2011


“Recent Supreme Court Actions Likely to Affect Fair Lending ‘Disparate Impact’ Litigation 
and Enforcement,” Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, November 17, 2011 


“Developing and Maintaining an Effective Program to Combat Mortgage Fraud,” The Review 
of Banking & Financial Services, February 2011
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Austin K. Brown
Continued


Speeches


“HMDA and Expectations of Privacy and Data Security,” Mortgage 
Bankers Association’s Legal Issues and Regulatory Compliance 
Conference 2014, May 2014


“Responding to a CFPB Civil Investigative Demand,” 22nd Annual 
Fair Lending Conference, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom 
LLP, April 2014


Co-presenter at 21st Annual Fair Lending Conference, Skadden, 
Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, April 2013


“Non-Mortgage Lending Developments,” 20th Annual Fair Lend-
ing Conference, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, April 
2012


“Non-Mortgage Lending Developments,” 19th Annual Fair Lend-
ing Conference, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, April 
2011


“New Standards in Consumer Protection,” 23rd Annual Card Forum 
and Expo, April 2011


“Privilege Considerations and Compliance Best Practices,” 18th 
Annual Fair Lending Conference, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & 
Flom LLP, April 2010


“Developments in Limited English Proficiency Law,” Housing and 
Development Law Institute Fall Conference, October 2008








FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE Tuesday, February 10, 2015


JUSTICE NEWS


Department of Justice


Office of Public Affairs


U.S. Justice Department and North Carolina Attorney General Reach Settlement to Resolve
Allegations of Auto Lending Discrimination by "Buy Here, Pay Here" Used-Car Dealerships


Settlement Requires Substantial Improvements to Dealerships’ Policies and Provides $225,000 in
Relief to Affected Customers


The U.S. Department of Justice Civil Rights Division, the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Western District of
North Carolina and the North Carolina Department of Justice today announced a settlement of the federal
government’s first-ever discrimination lawsuit involving “buy here, pay here” auto lending. The settlement,
which is subject to court approval, was filed today in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of North
Carolina.


The settlement resolves a lawsuit, filed in January 2014 by the Department of Justice and the State of North
Carolina, alleging that Auto Fare Inc. and Southeastern Auto Corp., two “buy here, pay here” used-car
dealerships in Charlotte, North Carolina, and their owner – violated the federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act
by engaging in a pattern or practice of “reverse redlining” by intentionally targeting African-American
customers for unfair and predatory credit practices in the financing of used car purchases. The state of
North Carolina also alleged that the dealerships’ actions violated the state’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade
Practices Act. The settlement came after the court denied the dealerships’ motion to dismiss the case and
agreed that reverse redlining by an auto lender is illegal discrimination.


“It is not only illegal, but also fundamentally wrong, to target borrowers of color for predatory loans and
exploit their need for a car to do essential tasks such as getting to work,” said Acting Assistant Attorney
General Vanita Gupta of the Civil Rights Division. “Combating discrimination in all segments of the auto
lending market is, and will remain, a top priority for the Civil Rights Division. I am pleased that these
dealerships have agreed to reform problematic lending and servicing practices and adopt policies that
promote responsible lending. I hope that other buy here, pay here dealerships will evaluate their practices
in light of this settlement.”


The settlement requires the dealerships to implement a number of specific practices to ensure that the
terms of their loans and repossession practices are no longer unfair and predatory. The required changes
include: limiting projected monthly payments to no more than 25% of a borrower’s income; requiring interest
rates to be at least five percentage points below the state’s rate cap; mandating a lower interest rate for
borrowers who have specified evidence of lower credit risk; requiring competitive sales prices; prohibiting
hidden fees on top of the required down payment; prohibiting repossessions until at least two consecutive
missed payments; providing down payment refunds to borrowers who quickly go into default; requiring strict
compliance with provisions of state repossession law enacted to protected consumers; providing borrowers
improved disclosures at the time of sale (including disclosing the presence of any GPS, or automatic shut
off, device); allowing borrowers to obtain an independent inspection of the car before completing the
purchase; and providing borrowers improved notices before repossession.
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“All consumers deserve to be treated fairly when they buy a car,” said North Carolina Attorney General Roy
Cooper. “We hope this case sends a strong message that car dealers cannot use race when targeting
buyers with overpriced cars and oppressive loans.”


The settlement also requires defendants to establish a $225,000 settlement fund to compensate victims of
their past discriminatory and predatory lending.


“Predatory lending practices that lock consumers into contracts they cannot afford are illegal and can spell
financial disaster for borrowers of lower income or challenged credit history,” said U.S. Attorney Anne M.
Tompkins of the Western District of North Carolina. “Today’s settlement ensures that all customers of Auto
Fare Inc. and Southeastern Auto Corp. will have equal access to credit regardless of their race.”


The lawsuit alleged that the two dealerships’ sales prices, down payments, and interest rates were
disproportionately high compared to other subprime used-car dealers. Because the dealerships did not
meaningfully assess the customers’ creditworthiness or ability to repay, their rates of default and
repossession were disproportionately high. Additionally, the dealerships engaged in repossessions when
customers were not in default.


The U.S. Department of Justice’s enforcement of fair lending laws is conducted by the Fair Lending Unit of
the Housing and Civil Enforcement Section in the Civil Right Division. Since the Fair Lending Unit was
established in February 2010, it has filed or resolved 36 lending matters under the Fair Housing Act,
Housing Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) and the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act. The settlements in
these matters provide for over $1.2 billion in monetary relief for impacted communities and individual
borrowers. The Attorney General’s annual reports to Congress on ECOA highlight the department’s
accomplishments in fair lending and are available at www.justice.gov/crt/publications.


The Civil Rights Division and other agencies involved in this matter are members of the Financial Fraud
Enforcement Task Force. President Obama established this task force to wage an aggressive, coordinated
and proactive effort to investigate and prosecute financial crimes. The task force includes representatives
from a broad range of federal agencies, regulatory authorities, inspectors general and state and local law
enforcement who, working together, bring to bear a powerful array of criminal and civil enforcement
resources. The task force is working to improve efforts across the federal executive branch, and with state
and local partners, to investigate and prosecute significant financial crimes, ensure just and effective
punishment for those who perpetrate financial crimes, combat discrimination in the lending and financial
markets, and recover proceeds for victims of financial crimes. For more information on the task force, visit
www.StopFraud.gov.


The settlement provides for an independent party to contact victims and distribute payments of
compensation at no cost to borrowers whom the United States Department of Justice and the North
Carolina Department of Justice identify as victims of defendants’ conduct. Former customers who are
eligible for compensation from the settlement will be contacted by mail later this year. Individuals who
believe that they may have been victims of illegal conduct by Auto Fare or Southeast Auto and have
questions about the settlement may contact the United States Department of Justice and the North Carolina
Department of Justice by calling 1-800-896-7743, mailbox 92, or emailing AutoFareLawsuit@usdoj.gov


.


A copy of the proposed order and other documents related to this lawsuit, as well as additional information
about fair lending enforcement by the United States Department of Justice, can be obtained from the United
States Department of Justice website at www.justice.gov/fairhousing.
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Contact us  (855) 411-2372


JUN 19 2014


CFPB Orders GE Capital to Pay $225
Million in Consumer Relief for Deceptive
and Discriminatory Credit Card Practices
Nearly 750,000 Consumers Harmed by Illegal Credit Card Practices


WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
ordering GE Capital Retail Bank (GE Capital), now known as Synchrony Bank, to
provide an estimated $225 million in relief to consumers harmed by illegal and
discriminatory credit card practices. GE Capital must refund $56 million to
approximately 638,000 consumers who were subjected to deceptive marketing
practices. As part of the joint enforcement action by the CFPB and Department of
Justice, GE Capital must also provide an additional $169 million to about 108,000
borrowers excluded from debt relief offers because of their national origin. This order
represents the federal government’s largest credit card discrimination settlement in
history.


“Today’s action will provide $225 million in relief to GE Capital credit card customers
who were harmed by deceptive marketing or discrimination,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “We will continue to take action against marketing tactics that trick
consumers into buying credit card products they do not want or cannot use. Consumers
also deserve to be treated fairly no matter where they live or what language they speak.”


“The blatant discrimination that occurred here is unlawful and will not be tolerated.
Borrowers have the right to credit card terms that do not differ based on their national
origin, and the settlement today sends the message that the Justice Department can
and will vigorously enforce the law against lenders who violate that right,” said Acting
Assistant Attorney General Jocelyn Samuels for the Civil Rights Division of the
Department of Justice.


GE Capital changed its name to Synchrony Bank on June 2, 2014. GE Capital is a
federal savings bank headquartered in Draper, Utah with assets totaling more than $39
billion. GE provides store-branded credit cards that are sold to consumers by
merchants and retailers across the country. Today’s enforcement action related to credit
card add-on products stems from a CFPB examination which was conducted between
December 2012 and February 2013. The action related to the discriminatory credit card
practices resulted from GE Capital’s self-reporting of the issue to the CFPB, which led to
a joint investigation between the CFPB and the Department of Justice.


Deceptive Marketing
Bureau examiners identified several deceptive marketing practices used by GE Capital
to promote its credit card add-on products. GE Capital offered five different debt
cancellation add-on products: “Card Security,” “Account Security,” “Account Security
Plus,” “Debt Security,” and “Debt Security Plus.” GE promoted these products as
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providing debt cancellation of a certain percent of the consumer’s balance in the event
of certain hardships like involuntary unemployment or disability. The Bureau found
that GE Capital’s telemarketers misrepresented these products to consumers in four
main ways:


• Marketed the product as free of charge: Telemarketers led consumers to
believe they would not have to pay for these products as long as they paid off the
balance on their billing statement. In fact, consumers could only avoid the fee in
very specific circumstances, such as if the account was not in use or if the
customer had paid off the balance prior to GE Capital issuing its monthly billing
statement.


• Failed to disclose consumers’ ineligibility: In calls with telemarketers,
many consumers mentioned that they were retired or disabled, which would mean
that they were not eligible for key benefits of the products. Even after hearing this,
the telemarketers neglected to tell the consumers that they would not be eligible
for key debt cancellation benefits, and the consumers bought the products without
this important information.


• Failed to disclose that consumers were making a purchase: In many
cases, the telemarketers did not make it clear that consumers were purchasing a
product. Rather, they made it seem like the consumers were receiving a benefit,
updating their accounts, or that the telemarketers were handling other
administrative tasks. In these conversations, it was not obvious to consumers that
they were buying something and would be charged a fee.


• Marketed products as a limited time offer:Many customer service
representatives falsely told consumers that these debt cancellation products were
a “limited time offer.” In reality, nothing about the availability of these products
was limited. However, leading consumers to believe they had a short timeframe to
sign up may have created a false sense of pressure and pushed them to enroll in
the products.


Discriminatory Credit Practices
GE Capital had two different promotions that allowed credit card customers with
delinquent accounts to settle their balances by paying off a specific portion of their debt.


• Statement Credit Offer: Customers with balances greater than $700, a credit
score below 670, and whose minimum payment due was more than $150 were
offered a credit of between $25 to $100 if they paid off their minimum amount
due. This promotion ran fromMarch 2010 to March 2012.


• Settlement Offer: Customers with balances greater than $200, a credit score
within certain thresholds, four or more payments overdue, and no payments in
the past 90 days received offers to waive their remaining account balance if they
paid between 25 percent and 55 percent of what was owed. This promotion ran
from January 2009 to March 2012.


GE Capital did not extend these offers to any customer who indicated that they
preferred to communicate in Spanish or had a mailing address in Puerto Rico, even if
the customer met the promotion’s qualifications. This meant that Hispanic populations
were unfairly denied the opportunity to benefit from these promotions. Such
discrimination is in direct violation of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA). The
ECOA prohibits creditors from discriminating in any aspect of a credit transaction on
the basis of characteristics such as race and national origin. In this case, the customers
did not receive either offer in any language, including English, and did not know they
were being discriminated against.
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Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
or abusive practices. The ECOA authorizes the CFPB and the DOJ to take action against
creditors engaging in illegal discrimination. The CFPB is issuing a consent order as an
administrative action covering both the deceptive marketing practices and the illegal
discrimination. The DOJ’s settlement on discrimination was filed in the U.S. District
Court for District of Utah. The CFPB’s order requires GE Capital:


• End deceptive marketing practices:GE Capital must cease its deceptive
marketing practices. GE Capital ended all telephone-based enrollments for all of
the add-on products involved in today’s action in October 2012. GE Capital is
prohibited from marketing or offering these products by telephone until it
submits a compliance plan to the Bureau.


• End illegal discrimination: GE Capital must end all discriminatory credit
practices. GE Capital has included qualified customers who prefer to
communicate in Spanish and customers with a mailing address in Puerto Rico in
the settlement offer since March 2012. GE Capital completely discontinued the
statement credit offer in March 2012.


• Provide $225 million to harmed consumers: GE Capital must refund $56
million to the approximately 638,000 consumers who were affected by its
deceptive marketing of the credit card add-on products. GE Capital must also
provide $169 million in relief to about 108,000 borrowers excluded from debt
relief offers because of their national origin. The $169 million represents the value
of the offer that the consumer did not receive plus interest and indirect damages.


• Conveniently provide consumer relief: Consumers do not need to take
action to obtain their relief. If the consumers still have credit cards with GE
Capital, they have received or will receive a credit to their accounts or a check. If
they no longer have credit cards with GE Capital, they will receive or have
received a check in the mail or have charged-off balances reduced by the amount
of the relief. If the relief is greater than the consumer’s existing balance, the
consumer will receive a check for the excess.


• Notify credit reporting agencies of new information: For those
consumers who did not receive the debt relief offers, GE Capital will work with
credit reporting agencies to ensure that any negative information associated with
the consumer’s GE Capital accounts as a result of these violations will be deleted
from their credit history.


• Forgive debt of accounts that did not receive debt relief offers: For the
customers that did not receive debt relief offers because they preferred to
communicate in Spanish or had a mailing address in Puerto Rico, if GE Capital
had written off or sold their debt, that debt will be forgiven.


• Pay a $3.5 million penalty: For its deceptive credit card marketing, GE Capital
will make a $3.5 million penalty payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. With
respect to the illegal discrimination, the Bureau is not assessing penalties based
on a number of factors, including that the company self-reported the violation,
self-initiated remediation for the harm done to affected consumers, and fully
cooperated with the Bureau’s investigation.


The Bureau has ongoing supervisory authority over GE Capital and will continue to
conduct examinations of GE Capital to ensure its compliance with federal consumer
financial law.
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 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 


 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  
  
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
FIRST UNITED BANK,   
  
 Defendant. 
 


)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)


 
 


 
 
 


CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:15-CV-144-L  
 


 


CONSENT ORDER 


I. INTRODUCTION 


Before the court is Plaintiff’s Unopposed Motion for Entry of Consent Order, filed 


January 15, 2015.  The court determines that the motion should be, and is hereby, granted.  


Accordingly, this Consent Order (“Order”) is submitted jointly by the parties for the approval of 


and entry by the court simultaneously with the filing of the United States’ Complaint in this 


action.  This Order resolves the claims of the United States that First United Bank, (“First 


United” or “Bank”) has engaged in a pattern or practice of lending discrimination on the basis of 


national origin in the pricing of unsecured consumer loans in violation of the Equal Credit 


Opportunity Act (ECOA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691-1691f. 


Under the provisions of the Order, First United agrees to maintain uniform pricing 


policies and procedures designed to provide that the prices it charges for the loans covered by 


this Order, including the portion of the price that reflects the discretion of the loan officer or any 


company employee, are set in a nondiscriminatory manner consistent with the requirements of 
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ECOA.  First United also will compensate Hispanic borrowers of unsecured consumer loans who 


were affected by its pricing policies between 2008 and 2012. 


There has been no factual finding or adjudication with respect to any matter alleged by 


the United States.  First United denies the United States’ allegations that it engaged in national 


origin discrimination and maintains that at all times it conducted its lending in compliance with 


the letter and spirit of fair lending laws and in a nondiscriminatory manner.  The parties have 


entered into this agreed Order to resolve voluntarily the claims asserted by the United States in 


order to avoid the risks and burdens of litigation.  The parties agree that full implementation of 


the terms of this Order will provide a resolution of the allegations of the United States in a 


manner consistent with First United’s legitimate business interests. 


II. BACKGROUND 


First United is a state-chartered bank based in Dimmitt, Texas.  First United operates 


fifteen locations in Texas, that include Lubbock, Amarillo, Wichita Falls and surrounding towns.  


First United offers a wide range of loan products, including mortgage loans, consumer loans, 


commercial loans, and agriculture loans.  The Bank originates its loans exclusively through loan 


officers at its branch offices.  As of December 21, 2013, the Bank had total assets of 


approximately $1.14 billion.  First United is subject to the regulatory authority of the Federal 


Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). 


Beginning in August 2012, the FDIC conducted an examination of the lending practices 


of First United to evaluate compliance with the ECOA.  Based on analysis of the average rates of 


interest that First United charged in 2011 and 2012 for unsecured consumer loans, the FDIC 


found reason to believe that First United had displayed a pattern or practice of discrimination on 


the basis of national origin against Hispanic borrowers.  On April 12, 2013, following the 
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examination described above, the FDIC referred the lending practices of First United to the 


United States Department of Justice pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(g). 


After conducting its own investigation and reviewing the information provided by the 


FDIC, the United States contends that First United has charged higher interest rates on unsecured 


consumer loans to Hispanic borrowers as compared to non-Hispanic borrowers from at least 


January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2012.  The Complaint alleges that prior to 2012, the 


higher rates of interest that First United charged to Hispanic borrowers for unsecured consumer 


loans are a result of First United’s policy or practice of giving its employees broad subjective 


discretion in every aspect of the unsecured consumer loan transaction, from the information 


collected at the application stage to setting the interest rate.  Information as to each applicant’s 


national origin was available and known to the Bank’s loan officers, who personally handled 


each loan transaction at one of First United’s offices.  The Complaint alleges that First United 


did not properly instruct its loan officers regarding their obligation to treat prospective customers 


without regard to national origin, and the Bank has failed to supervise or monitor the 


performance of its loan officers effectively to ensure compliance with fair lending laws.  The 


Complaint alleges that First United’s policy or practice of giving its employees broad subjective 


discretion in handling every aspect of the unsecured consumer loan transaction is not justified by 


business necessity or legitimate business interests. 


 First United denies the allegations in the Complaint and maintains that at all times it has 


complied with the law.  First United also states that immediately following the FDIC 


Compliance Examination in August 2012, the Bank significantly increased the oversight of its 


lending operations by its Board of Directors and Executive management, including a thorough 


review of the Bank’s underwriting and consumer loan pricing policies, procedures and practices.  
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The Bank states that it developed a comprehensive Consumer Loan Workbook that governs the 


entire underwriting process for all consumer loans and allows for the orderly collection and 


documentation of all data related to the consumer loan underwriting process.  The Bank states 


that it modified its consumer loan policy and developed a Uniform Pricing Matrix or Consumer 


Loan Rate Sheet.  First United states that it does not allow for any discretion of its loan officers 


to deviate from the Bank’s Consumer Loan Rate Sheet without approval from a more senior 


bank employee or official.  The Bank states that it has undergone extensive regulatory 


compliance training for its lending personnel as well as its Board of Directors to improve its 


Compliance Management System.   


 First United states that it has engaged an outside auditing firm to conduct an annual audit 


of the Bank’s compliance program, specifically the Bank’s Fair Lending program.  The Bank 


states that the first such audit was completed in December, 2013, and the report indicated the 


changes made to First United’s Fair Lending program have been effective.  First United states 


that it has implemented a Fair Lending Risk Assessment to identify potential threats and 


vulnerabilities related to Fair Lending compliance.  The results of the Risk Assessment will be 


used to determine if there are strategies that need to be implemented to further reduce the risk of 


noncompliance. 


III. TERMS OF ORDER 


1. Unless otherwise stated herein, the remedial provisions of this Order will be 


implemented within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Order and will continue 


throughout its term.  The Effective Date of this Order will be the date on which it is approved 


and entered by the court.  
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2. Unless otherwise stated herein, the types of loans covered by this Order include 


the following:  auto purchase, secured (except for commercial and agricultural loans), unsecured, 


home purchase, home equity, and home improvement loans. 


A. General Prohibitory Injunction  


3. First United, including all of its officers, employees, agents, representatives, 


assignees, and all those in active concert or participation with any of them, is hereby enjoined 


from engaging in any act or practice that discriminates on the basis of national origin in any 


aspect of a credit transaction in violation of ECOA.  This prohibition includes, but is not limited 


to:  the adoption, performance, or implementation of any policy, practice, or act that results in 


national origin discrimination in the charging of loan prices, including the portion of the loan 


price that reflects the discretion of the loan officer or any other company employee, to those who 


borrow money for loans covered by this Order.  


4. This Order requires the Bank to take actions to remedy its alleged discrimination.  


First United retains the discretion to take any additional actions that it believes are appropriate to 


achieve the goals of this Order. 


B. Pricing Policies and Procedures 


5. In 2013, First United began to develop uniform pricing policies and procedures 


for unsecured consumer loans.  First United’s pricing policies include a uniform pricing matrix 


for the loans covered by this Order.  The uniform pricing matrix, titled “Consumer Loan Rate 


Sheet” sets forth objective, nondiscriminatory standards for determining interest rates for the 


loans covered by this Order.  In order for a loan officer to set a loan rate different from the rate 


set by the Consumer Loan Rate Sheet, the loan originator must (i) document the reasons for the 


proposed loan rate; and (ii) obtain approval from a more senior employee or official of the Bank.  
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6. First United will continue to require all loan officers and employees who originate 


loans covered by this Order to comply with the pricing policies described in Paragraph 5.  First 


United also will continue to require an appropriate manager, under the supervision of a 


designated senior official of the Bank, to review compliance with these requirements, including 


the existence of a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for any disparities between Hispanic and 


non-Hispanic borrowers and taking steps to ensure that discretionary loan prices do not vary 


materially by national origin.  Any loan that is not in compliance with these requirements may 


not be funded.  In the event that a loan inadvertently is funded in material violation of the 


policies, an appropriate refund will be provided to the borrower.  All reviews shall be 


documented and kept in the loan files. 


7. During the term of this Order, First United may change its loan pricing policies as 


set forth in Paragraph 5 upon written advance notice to the United States, which will have thirty 


(30) days from receipt of such notice to raise any objection to the proposed change(s).  If it raises 


any objection, the parties shall confer to resolve their differences and the United States will 


obtain the position of First United’s regulator with respect to such differences.  If they are unable 


to do so, either party may bring the dispute to this court for resolution.  First United will not 


implement the change(s) during such a dispute.  


C. Monitoring Program 


8. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Order, First United will have 


in place a monitoring program designed to ensure compliance with this Order.  The program will 


be designed to monitor the Bank’s loans for potential disparities based on national origin.  At a 


minimum, First United will monitor the interest rates of its loan products covered by this Order.  


The program also will require a quarterly review by senior managers.  Each such quarterly 
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review will be documented and presented to First United’s Board of Directors for review and 


approval not later than sixty (60) days after the end of each quarter.  Each quarterly review shall 


include, but not be limited to, an analysis designed to detect interest rate disparities based on 


national origin with respect to the Bank’s loan products covered by this Order. 


 (a) In the event that any such review discloses interest rate disparities between 


Hispanic and non-Hispanic borrowers, First United will attempt to determine the reason(s) for 


those disparities and will promptly take corrective action to address disparities that are 


attributable to a policy or practice of First United and not justified by a legitimate business need.  


Corrective action will include, as warranted, financial remediation for borrowers, further 


modifications to First United’s pricing policies and/or monitoring programs as appropriate, and 


education, discipline, or termination of employee(s).  First United will document all such 


disparities, determinations, and actions taken and will provide a summary of the quarterly 


reviews and any documentation and analysis relating thereto to the United States on a quarterly 


basis. 


 (b) In the event that any such review discloses significant disparities with respect to 


any particular employee or branch, First United will require the employee or branch manager to 


explain the nondiscriminatory reason(s) for those disparities.  If there is no reasonable, non-


national origin-based explanation for the noted disparities, First United will require the employee 


or branch manager to take prompt corrective action to address the disparities. 


9. If the United States raises any objections to First United’s determinations or 


remedial actions, the parties will meet and confer to consider appropriate steps to address the 


concerns raised by the United States’ review.  If the parties are unable to come to an agreement 


regarding such objections, any party may bring the dispute to this court for resolution.  
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D. Notification to the United States and Right to Object 


10. First United will provide a copy of the policies it utilizes to implement Paragraphs 


5-6 of this Order and descriptions of the monitoring programs required under Paragraphs 8-9 to 


the United States within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Order.  The United States 


will have thirty (30) days from receipt of the policies and descriptions to raise any objections to 


them, and if it raises any, the parties shall confer to resolve their differences and the United 


States will obtain the position of First United’s regulator with respect to such differences.  In the 


event the parties are unable to do so, either party may bring the dispute to this court for 


resolution.  Until the court resolves such a dispute, the revised policies will not go into effect.  


E. Borrower Notices 


11. First United will post and prominently display in each location where loan 


applications are received by the Bank a notice of non-discrimination (a sample of which is 


attached as Appendix A).  


12. First United will require its employees who originate loans covered by this Order 


to provide a notice of non-discrimination that provides substantially the same information as is 


contained in Appendix A.  This disclosure will be in writing, signed by the originator and the 


borrower (if the borrower executes), and submitted by the originator to be made part of the loan 


file maintained by First United.  This disclosure shall be made as early as practicable but not 


later than the time of the loan application. 


F. Equal Credit Opportunity Training Program  


13. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Order, First United will 


provide equal credit opportunity training to its management officials, loan officers, and any other 


employees or agents who participate in the origination of the Bank’s loans covered by this Order.  
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During this training, First United will provide to each participant:  (a) access to a copy of this 


Order and the loan policies adopted pursuant to it; and (b) training on the terms of this Order, the 


loan policies adopted pursuant to it, the requirements of ECOA, and his or her responsibilities 


under each.  During the term of this Order, First United will provide annual training to covered 


employees with respect to his or her responsibilities and obligations under ECOA and this Order. 


14. First United will secure from each employee or agent specified in the preceding 


paragraph a signed statement acknowledging that he or she has received access to a copy of this 


Order and the loan policies and has completed the initial equal credit opportunity training.  The 


signature of the acknowledgement may be either manual or electronic.  These statements shall be 


substantially in the form of Appendix B (Acknowledgment) and Appendix C (Equal Credit 


Opportunity Training).  During the term of this Order, each new employee or agent with 


substantive responsibility relating to the Bank’s loan programs covered by this Order will be 


provided access to a copy of this Order and given an opportunity to have any questions 


answered, and will sign the acknowledgment form statement (Appendix B) within ten (10) days 


of beginning his or her employment in that position. 


15. The content of this training program will be approved in advance by the United 


States.  First United will bear all costs associated with the training.  


Case 3:15-cv-00144-L   Document 5   Filed 01/28/15    Page 9 of 21   PageID 46







 


Consent Order – Page 10 


 


G. Satisfaction of the United States’ Claims for Monetary Relief 


16. First United will deposit in an interest-bearing escrow account the total sum of 


$140,000 to compensate for monetary damages that affected persons may have suffered as a 


result of the alleged violations of ECOA with respect to unsecured consumer loans (the 


“Settlement Fund”).  Title to this account shall be in the name of “First United Bank for the 


benefit of affected persons pursuant to Order of the court in Civil Action No. 3:15-CV-144-L”.  


First United will provide written verification of the deposit to the United States within five (5) 


days of the Effective Date of this Order.  Any interest that accrues will become part of the 


Settlement Fund and be utilized and disposed of as set forth herein. 


17. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of this Order, the United States will 


request any information it believes will assist in identifying affected persons and determining 


any damages.  First United will, within thirty (30) days of receipt of such request, supply, to the 


extent that it is within the Bank’s control, such information as requested.  Requested data may be 


supplied as a supplement to the database already provided to the United States by the Bank in the 


course of the United States’ inquiry.  To the extent that the information is not within First 


United’s control, the Bank will, within thirty (30) days of receipt of such request, supply any 


data in its control that identifies other parties that may have that the information. 


18. The United States will, upon reasonable notice, be allowed access to the Bank’s 


records and files to verify the accuracy of the data provided and to otherwise identify persons 


entitled to the payments from the Settlement Fund. 


19. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Order, the United States will 


provide to First United a list of affected persons and an amount each individual will receive from 


the Settlement Fund to compensate for monetary damages these persons may have suffered, 
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subject to the conditions set forth in Paragraph 20.  First United will have sixty (60) days from 


receipt of such list in which to review the list and the United States will consider in good faith 


any issues raised by the Bank. 


20. Payments from the Settlement Fund to affected persons shall be subject to the 


following conditions, provided that the details in administration of the Settlement Fund set forth 


in Paragraphs 21-22, can be modified by agreement of the parties and without further court 


approval: 


(a) No affected person shall be paid any amount from the Settlement Fund until he or 


she has executed and delivered to First United a written release, as set forth in Appendix D, of all 


claims, legal or equitable, that he or she might have against the released persons and entities 


regarding the claims asserted by the United States in this lawsuit, so long as such claims accrued 


prior to the entry of this Order; and 


(b) The total amount paid by First United collectively to the affected persons shall not 


exceed the amount of the Settlement Fund, including accrued interest. 


21. First United will, no later than sixty (60) days after receiving the compensation 


list referred to in Paragraph 19, or no later than fourteen (14) days after the resolution of any 


issues raised with the United States pursuant to paragraph 19, whichever is later, notify each 


identified person eligible for compensation by a letter (using its reasonable best efforts to locate 


each person).  The form of this letter will be subject to the review and approval of the United 


States.  At a minimum, the letter will state that the identified person is eligible for compensation 


in the indicated amount provided he or she executes and returns to the Bank a copy of the 


agreed-upon release, which release will be enclosed with the notice along with an addressed and 


postage-paid return envelope.  Each letter will identify the loan(s) the Bank originated to the 
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identified person.  The letter will explain the complaint resolution program referenced in 


Paragraph 26 of this Order.  If the parties are unable to agree on the terms of the letter, any party 


may bring the dispute to the court for resolution.  Any letters that are returned with a forwarding 


address shall promptly be re-sent to that new address.  First United will provide an accounting of 


these notifications, indicating the name and address to which each was dispatched, within the 


sixty (60) day period referred to in this Paragraph.  


22. First United will issue checks in the amount indicated on the compensation list to 


all identified persons who execute and return the releases.  First United will issue and mail such 


checks no later than twenty-one (21) days after the receipt of the release.  First United will set 


forth reasonable deadlines for requirements of return of releases, and for the timely deposit of 


checks, subject to approval of the United States, so that the compensation is distributed and 


checks are presented for payment or become void prior to the date that is one year from the date 


the initial notifications are sent.  First United will provide, as part of the reporting required in 


Paragraph 28, an accounting of releases received, checks sent, and notifications for which no 


response has been received or that were reported to be undeliverable.  The United States may 


make its own efforts to locate affected persons.   


23. All money not distributed to identified persons from the Settlement Fund, 


including accrued interest, shall be distributed to one or more organizations that provide services 


including credit counseling (including assistance in obtaining loan modification), legal 


representation of borrowers seeking to obtain a loan modification, financial literacy, and other 


related programs targeted at Hispanic potential and former homeowners in communities where 


the Complaint alleges significant discrimination occurred against Hispanic borrowers 


(“Organization”).  Before selecting the qualified Organization(s), First United will obtain 
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proposals from the Organization(s) on how the funds will be used consistent with the above-


stated purpose, submit such proposal to the United States, and consult with and obtain the non-


objection of the United States.  The United States and First United may request modification of 


the proposal before approving the Organization(s).  Organization(s) must not be related to First 


United, First United’s parent, or any entity owned by First United’s parent. 


24. The parties shall obtain the court’s approval for the Organizations and the amount 


to be distributed to each prior to distribution provided by Paragraph 23.  Within 15 days of the 


United States’ non-objection to the Organizations, the parties shall move the court to order the 


distribution of the funds.  The parties shall provide the court with information regarding how the 


proposed organizations meet the requirements set forth in Paragraph 23.  First United shall 


require each Organization to submit to First United and the United States a report detailing that 


funds are utilized for the purposes identified in Paragraph 23 within one year after the funds are 


distributed and every year thereafter until the funds are exhausted.  Failure of any Organization 


to provide the report(s) required by First United shall not affect the termination of this Order or 


serve as a basis for reopening this case or the Order. 


25. First United will not be entitled to a set-off, or any other reduction, of the amount 


of payments to identified persons because of any debts owed by the identified persons.  First 


United also will not refuse to make a payment based on a release of legal claims or loan 


modification previously signed by any identified person. 


H. Complaint Resolution Program 


26. During the period of this Order, First United will maintain a complaint resolution 


program to address consumer complaints alleging discrimination regarding loans originated by 


First United.  Documentation regarding this complaint resolution program, including 
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documentation of individual complaints and resolutions, if any, will be made available to the 


United States on a quarterly basis and included in the reports referenced in Paragraph 28.  A 


person will not be deemed ineligible for the complaint resolution program on the basis of having 


executed the release described in Paragraph 20(a), but there is no requirement under this Order 


that any complaint necessarily be resolved for or against the Bank. 


IV. EVALUATING AND MONITORING COMPLIANCE 


27. For the duration of this Order, First United will retain all records relating to its 


obligations hereunder as well as its compliance activities as set forth herein.  The United States 


will have the right to review and copy such records upon request.  


28. Within six months of the effective date of this Order, First United will submit a 


report to the United States on the Bank’s progress in establishing and implementing each of the 


remedial items specified in this Order.  A second report will be filed on the first anniversary of 


this Order.  Thereafter, First United will submit a report annually for the term of the Order 


describing the actions taken in compliance with the provisions of the Order.  The report will 


include an objective assessment of the extent to which each quantifiable obligation was met, an 


explanation of why any particular component fell short of meeting the goal for that year, and any 


recommendations for additional actions to achieve the goals of this Order.  If applicable, First 


United will attach to the annual reports representative copies of training materials disseminated 


pursuant to this Order.  


V. ADMINISTRATION 


29. The Order will terminate three (3) months after the submission of First United’s 


third annual report to the United States.  Notwithstanding the above, this Order may be extended 


upon further motion of the United States to the court, for good cause shown.   
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30. Any time limits for performance fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual 


written agreement of the parties.  Other modifications to this Order may be made only upon 


approval of the court, by motion by either party.  The parties recognize that there may be 


changes in relevant and material factual circumstances during the term of this Order that may 


impact the accomplishment of its goals.  The parties agree to work cooperatively to discuss and 


attempt to agree upon any proposed modifications to this Order resulting therefrom. 


31. In the event that any disputes arise about the interpretation of or compliance with 


the terms of this Order, the parties will endeavor in good faith to resolve any such dispute 


between themselves before bringing it to this court for resolution.  The parties agree that if either 


reasonably believes that the other party failed to comply with any obligation under this Order, it 


will provide written notice thereof and allow a period of at least thirty (30) days to discuss a 


voluntarily resolution of the alleged violation before presenting the matter to this court.  In the 


event of either a failure by First United to perform in a timely manner any act required by this 


Order or an act by First United, in violation of any provision hereof, the United States may move 


this court to impose any remedy authorized by law or equity, including attorneys’ fees and costs. 


32. The parties agree that, as of the Effective Date, litigation is not “reasonably 


foreseeable” concerning the matters described in the Order.  To the extent that either party 


previously implemented a litigation hold to preserve documents, electronically stored 


information, or things related to the matters described in the Order, the party is no longer 


required to maintain such a litigation hold, with the exception of documents, electronically-


stored information, or other things relating to loans originated by First United between January 1, 


2008, and December 31, 2012.   
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33. The Order will be binding on First United, including its officers, employees, 


agents, assignees, and successors in interest, and all those in active concert or participation with 


any of them.  In the event First United seeks to transfer or assign all or part of its operations, and 


the successor or assign intends on carrying on the same or similar use, as a condition of sale, 


First United will obtain the written accession of the successor or assign to any obligations 


remaining under the Order for its remaining term. 


34. Nothing in this Order will excuse the Bank’s compliance with any currently or 


subsequently effective provision of law or order of a regulator with authority over First United 


that imposes additional obligations on the Bank.  


35. First United’s compliance with the terms of this Order will fully and finally 


resolve all claims of the United States relating to the alleged violation of the fair lending laws by 


means of discriminating on the basis of national origin, as alleged in the Complaint in this action, 


including all claims for equitable relief and monetary damages and penalties.  Each party to this 


Consent Order will bear its own costs and attorney’s fees associated with this litigation. 


36. The court will retain jurisdiction for the duration of this Consent Order to enforce 


the terms of the Order, after which time the case will be dismissed with prejudice. 


 It is ordered this 28th day of January, 2015.  


 
       _________________________________  
       Sam A. Lindsay 
       United States District Judge 
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1. Executive summary 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is charged with ensuring that lenders are 


complying with fair lending laws and addressing discrimination across the consumer credit 


industry. Information on consumer race and ethnicity is required to conduct fair lending 


analysis of non-mortgage credit products, but auto lenders and other non-mortgage lenders are 


generally not allowed to collect consumers’ demographic information. As a result, substitute, or 


“proxy” information is utilized to fill in information about consumers’ demographic 


characteristics. In conducting fair lending analysis of non-mortgage credit products in both 


supervisory and enforcement contexts, the Bureau’s Office of Research (OR) and Division of 


Supervision, Enforcement, and Fair Lending (SEFL) rely on a Bayesian Improved Surname 


Geocoding (BISG) proxy method, which combines geography- and surname-based information 


into a single proxy probability for race and ethnicity.  This paper explains the construction of the 


BISG proxy currently employed by OR and SEFL and provides an assessment of the 


performance of the BISG method using a sample of mortgage applicants for whom race and 


ethnicity are reported. Research has found that this approach produces proxies that correlate 


highly with self-reported race and national origin and is more accurate than relying only on 


demographic information associated with a borrower’s last name or place of residence alone.  


The Bureau is committed to continuing our dialogue with other federal agencies, lenders, 


advocates, and researchers regarding the methodology. 
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2. Introduction 
The Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) and Regulation B generally prohibit a creditor from 


inquiring “about the race, color, religion, national origin, or sex of an applicant or any other 


person in connection with a credit transaction”1 with a few exceptions, including for applications 


for home mortgages covered under the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA).2 Information 


on applicant race and ethnicity, however, is often required to conduct fair lending analysis to 


identify potential discriminatory practices in underwriting and pricing outcomes.3   


Various techniques exist for addressing this data problem. Demographic information that 


reflects applicants’ characteristics—for example, whether or not an individual is White—can be 


approximated by constructing a proxy for the information. A proxy may definitively assign a 


characteristic to a particular applicant—an individual is classified as being either White or non-


White—or may yield an assignment that is probabilistic—an individual is assigned a probability, 


ranging from 0% to 100%, of being White. When characteristics are not reported for an entire 


population of individuals, as is usually the case for non-mortgage credit products, techniques 


focused on approximating the demographic data generally require relying on additional sources 


of data and information to construct proxies. 


                                                        


1 12 C.F.R. § 1002.5(b). 


2 12 C.F.R. § 1002.5(a)(2) and 12 C.F.R. § 1002.13. For HMDA and its implementing regulation, Regulation C, see 29 


U.S.C § 2801-2810 and 12 C.F.R. Part 1003.  For the Regulation B provisions concerning requests for information 


generally, see 12 C.F.R. § 1002.5. 


3 The ECOA makes it unlawful for “any creditor to discriminate against any applicant, with respect to any aspect of a 


credit transaction (1) on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex or marital status, or age (provided the 


applicant has the capacity to contract); (2) because all or part of the applicant’s income derives from any public 


assistance program; or (3) because the applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the Consumer Credit 


Protection Act.” 15 U.S.C. § 1691(a). 
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3. Using census geography and 
surname data to construct 
proxies for race and ethnicity 


In a variety of settings, including the analysis of administrative health care data and the 


evaluation of fair lending risk in non-mortgage loan portfolios, researchers, statisticians, and 


financial institutions often rely on publicly available demographic information associated with 


an individual’s surname and place of residence from the U.S. Census Bureau to construct 


proxies for race and ethnicity when this information is not reported. A proxy for race and 


ethnicity may be based on the distribution of race and ethnicity within a particular geographic 


area. Similarly, a proxy for race and ethnicity may be based on the distribution of race and 


ethnicity across individuals who share the same last name. Traditionally, researchers and 


statisticians have relied on information associated with either geography or surnames to develop 


proxies.4 


A research paper by Elliott et al. (2009) proposes a method to proxy for race and ethnicity that 


integrates publicly available demographic information associated with surname and the 


geographic areas in which individuals reside and generates a proxy that is more accurate than 


those based on surname or geography alone.5 The method involves constructing a probability of 


                                                        


4 For example, in conducting fair lending analysis of indirect auto lending portfolios, the Federal Reserve relies on the 


U.S. Census Bureau’s Spanish Surname List to proxy for Hispanic borrowers. Information on the Federal Reserve’s 


methodology is available at: http://www.philadelphiafed.org/bank-resources/publications/consumer-compliance-


outlook/outlook-live/2013/indirect-auto-lending.cfm. 


5 Marc N. Elliott et al., Using the Census Bureau’s Surname List to Improve Estimates of Race/Ethnicity and 


Associated Disparities, HEALTH SERVICES & OUTCOMES RESEARCH METHODOLOGY (2009) 9:69-83. 



http://www.philadelphiafed.org/bank-resources/publications/consumer-compliance-outlook/outlook-live/2013/indirect-auto-lending.cfm

http://www.philadelphiafed.org/bank-resources/publications/consumer-compliance-outlook/outlook-live/2013/indirect-auto-lending.cfm
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assignment to race and ethnicity based on demographic information associated with surname 


and then updating this probability using the demographic characteristics of the census block 


group associated with place of residence. The updating is performed through the application of a 


Bayesian algorithm, which yields an integrated probability that can be used to proxy for an 


individual’s race and ethnicity. Elliott et al. (2009) refer to this method as Bayesian Improved 


Surname Geocoding (BISG). 


The Office of Research (OR) and the Division of Supervision, Enforcement, and Fair Lending 


(SEFL) employ a BISG proxy methodology for race and ethnicity in our fair lending analysis of 


non-mortgage credit products that relies on the same public data sources and general methods 


used in Elliott et al. (2009).6 The following sections describe these public data sources, explain 


the construction of the BISG proxy, identify any differences from the general methods used by 


Elliott et al. (2009), and provide an assessment of the performance of the BISG proxy. 


Statistical analysis based on proxies for race and ethnicity is only one factor taken into account 


by OR and SEFL in our fair lending review of non-mortgage credit products. This paper 


describes the methodology currently employed by OR and SEFL but does not set forth a 


requirement for the way proxies should be constructed or used by institutions supervised and 


regulated by the CFPB.7 Finally, our proxy methodology is not static: it will evolve over time as 


enhancements are identified that improve accuracy and performance. 


                                                        


6 We also rely on a proxy for sex based on publicly available data from the Social Security Administration, available at: 


http://www.ssa.gov/oact/babynames/limits.html. The focus of this paper, however, is on the BISG methodology 


and the construction of the proxies for race and ethnicity. 


7 The federal banking regulators have made it clear that proxy methods may be used in fair lending exams to estimate 


protected characteristics where direct evidence of the protected characteristic is unavailable. The CFPB adopted the 


Interagency Fair Lending Examination Procedures as part of its CFPB Supervision and Examination Manual. See 


CFPB Supervision and Examination Manual, Part II, C, ECOA, Interagency Fair Lending Examination Procedures at 


19, available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervision-and-examination-manual-v2.pdf 


(explaining that “[a] surrogate for a prohibited basis group characteristic may be used” in a comparative file review 


and providing examples of surname proxies for race/ethnicity and first name proxies for sex). 



http://www.ssa.gov/oact/babynames/limits.html

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervision-and-examination-manual-v2.pdf
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3.1 Data sources 


3.1.1 Surname 


Information used to calculate the probability of belonging to a specific race and ethnicity given 


an individual’s surname is based on data derived from Census 2000 that was released by the 


U.S. Census Bureau in 2007.8 This release provides each surname held by at least 100 


enumerated individuals, along with a breakdown of the percentage of individuals with that 


name belonging to one of six race and ethnicity categories: Hispanic; non-Hispanic White; non-


Hispanic Black or African American; non-Hispanic Asian/Pacific Islander; non-Hispanic 


American Indian and Alaska Native; and non-Hispanic Multiracial. These categories are 


consistent with 1997 Office of Management and Budget (OMB) definitions.9,10 In total, the list 


provides 151,671 surnames, covering approximately 90% of the U.S. population. Word et al. 


(2008) provides a detailed description of how the census surname list was constructed and 


describes the routines used to standardize surnames appearing on the list.11 


3.1.2 Geography 


Information on the racial and ethnic composition of the U.S. population by geography comes 


from the Summary File 1 (SF1) from Census 2010, which provides counts of enumerated 


                                                        


8 The data and documentation are available at: http://www.census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/. The 


most recent census year for which the surname list exists is 2000. We will rely on more current data when it 


becomes available.  


9 This classification holds Hispanic as mutually exclusive from the race categories, with individuals identified as 


Hispanic belonging only to that category, regardless of racial background. The Census relies on self-identification of 


both race and ethnicity when determining race and ethnicity for these individuals, with an exception made for 


classification to the “Some Other Race” category. In Census 2000, some individuals identifying as “Some Other 


Race” also specified a Hispanic nationality (e.g., Salvadoran, Puerto Rican); in these instances, the Census identified 


the respondent as Hispanic. OMB definitions are available at: 


http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/fedreg_1997standards. 


10 In the census surname data, the Census Bureau suppressed exact counts for race and ethnicity categories with 2-5 


occurrences for a given name. Similarly to Elliott et al. (2009), in these cases we distribute the sum of the 


suppressed counts for each surname evenly across all categories with missing nonzero counts. 


11 Word, D.L., Coleman, C.D., Nunziata, R., Kominski, R., Demographic aspects of surnames from Census 2000. 


Available at: http://www.census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/surnames.pdf. 



http://www.census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/fedreg_1997standards

http://www.census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/surnames.pdf
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individuals by race and ethnicity for various geographic area definitions, with census block 


serving as the highest level of disaggregation (the smallest geography).12 In the decennial Census 


of the Population, the Census Bureau uses a classification scheme for race and ethnicity that 


differs slightly from the scheme used by OMB. Census treats Hispanic as an ethnicity and the 


other OMB categories as racial identities. However, Census does report population counts by 


race and ethnicity in a way that allows for the creation of race and ethnicity population totals 


that are consistent with the OMB definition.13 Our method relies on race and ethnicity 


information for the adult (age 18 and over) population at the census block group, census tract, 


and 5-digit zip code levels, as discussed in the next section.14,15  


3.2 Constructing the BISG probability  
Constructing the BISG proxy for race and ethnicity for a given set of applicants requires place of 


residence (address) and name information for those applicants, the census surname list, and 


census demographic information by census block group, census tract, and 5-digit zip code. The 


process occurs in a number of steps:  


1. Applicants’ surnames are standardized and edited, including removing special characters 


and titles, such as JR and SR, and parsing compound names.  


                                                        


12 The hierarchy of census geographic entities, from smallest to largest, is: block, block group, tract, county, state, 


division, region, and nation. Block group level information appears in Table P9 (“Hispanic or Latino, and Not 


Hispanic or Latino by Race”) in the SF1. Table P11 in the SF1 provides similar counts for the restricted population of 


individuals 18 and over. The public can access these data in a variety of ways, including through the American 


FactFinder portal at: http://factfinder2.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml. 


13 In the 2010 SF1, Census produced tabulations that report counts of Hispanics and non-Hispanics by race.  These 


tabulations include a “Some Other Race” category. As in Elliott et al. (2009), we reallocate the “Some Other Race” 


counts to each of the remaining six race and ethnicity categories using an Iterative Proportional Fitting procedure to 


make geography based demographic categories consistent with those on the census surname list. 


14 Throughout this paper, we use 5-digit zip code, when referring to zip code demographics, as a synonym for ZIP 


Code Tabulation Areas (ZCTAs) as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau. More information on the construction of 


ZCTAs is available at: https://www.census.gov/geo/reference/zctas.html.  


15 From the SF1, we retain population counts for the contiguous U.S., Alaska, and Hawaii in order to ensure 


consistency with the population covered by the census surname list. 



http://factfinder2.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml

https://www.census.gov/geo/reference/zctas.html
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2. Standardized surnames are matched to the census surname list. For applicants with 


compound surnames, if the first word of the compound surname successfully matches to 


the surname data, it is used to calculate the surname based probability.  If the first word 


does not match, the second word is then tried.  For example, if an applicant’s last name is 


Smith-Jones, the demographic information associated with Smith is used if Smith 


appears on the name list. If Smith does not appear on the name list, then the information 


associated with Jones is used if Jones is on the list.  


3. For each name that matches the census surname list, the probability of belonging to a 


given racial or ethnic group (for each of the six race and ethnicity categories) is 


constructed. The probability is simply the proportion (or percentage) of individuals who 


identify as being a member of a given race or ethnicity for a given surname. For example, 


according to the census surname list, 73% of individuals with the surname Smith report 


being non-Hispanic White; thus, for any individual with the last name Smith, the 


surname-based probability of being non-Hispanic White is 73%. For applications with 


names that do not match the census surname list, a probability is not constructed. These 


records are excluded in subsequent analysis.16 Given that approximately 10% of the U.S. 


population is not included on the census surname list, one would reasonably expect 


roughly a 10% reduction in the number of records in a proxied dataset due to non-


matches to the census surname list. 


4. Applicant address information is standardized in preparation for geocoding. 


Standardization includes basic checks such as removing non-numeric characters from 


zip codes, making sure zip codes with leading zeroes are accurately identified, and 


ensuring address information is in the correct format, for example, that house number, 


street, city, state, and zip code are appropriately parsed into separate fields. 


5. Addresses are mapped into census geographic areas using a geocoding and mapping 


software application.17 The geocoding application used by OR and SEFL in building the 


                                                        


16 Elliott et al. (2009) retain records in their assessment data that do not appear on the surname list. To do so, they 


use the distribution of race and ethnicity appearing on the name list and the national population counts in the 


Census 2000 SF1 to characterize the unlisted population. OR and SEFL continue to evaluate the approach 


undertaken by Elliott et al. (2009) and may adopt a method for proxying the unlisted surname population in future 


updates to the proxy methodology. 


17 We currently use ArcGIS Version 10.1 with Street Map Premium 2011 Release 3 to geocode data when building the 


proxy. We may rely on updated releases as they become available or may move to different geocoding technology in 


the future. The BISG proxy methodology does not require the use of a specific geocoding technology. 
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proxy identifies the geographic precision to which an address is geocoded, and the 


precision of geocoding determines the precision of the demographic information relied 


upon.18 For addresses that are geocoded to the latitude and longitude of an exact street 


address (often referred to as a “rooftop”), information on race and ethnicity for the adult 


population residing in the census block group containing the street address is used; if the 


census block group has zero population, information for the census tract is used. For 


addresses that are geocoded to street name, 9-digit zip code, and 5-digit zip code, the 


race and ethnicity information for the adult population residing in the 5-digit zip code is 


used. Addresses that cannot be geocoded or that can be geocoded only to a geographical 


area that is less precise than 5-digit zip code (for example, city or state) are excluded in 


subsequent analysis. 


6. For geocoded addresses, the proportion (or percentage) of the U.S. adult population for 


each race and ethnicity residing in the geographic area containing the address or 


associated with the 5-digit zip code is calculated. 


7. Bayes Theorem is used to update the surname-based probabilities constructed in Step 3 


with the information on the concentration of the U.S. adult population constructed in 


Step 6 to create a probability—a value between, or equal to, 0 and 1—of assignment to 


each of the 6 race and ethnicity categories. These proxy probabilities can be used in 


statistical analysis aimed at identifying potential differences in lending outcomes. 


Appendix A provides the mathematical formula associated with Step 7 and an example of the 


construction of the BISG proxy probabilities for an individual with the last name Smith residing 


in California. The statistical software code, written in Stata, and the publicly available census 


data files used to build the BISG proxy are available at: https://github.com/cfpb/proxy-


methodology. Because OR and SEFL currently use ArcGIS to geocode address information when 


building the proxy, the geocoding of address information must occur before running the Stata 


code that builds the BISG proxy. The use of alternative geocoding applications may return 


slightly different geocoding results and, therefore, may yield different BISG probabilities than 


those generated using ArcGIS.  


Steps 1 through 7 describe the general process currently undertaken by OR and SEFL to 


construct proxies for race and ethnicity for fair lending analysis. Unique features of a dataset 


                                                        


18 The precision of the geocoding is driven by the availability of address information and the geocoding software 


application’s assessment of the quality of address information provided. 



https://github.com/cfpb/proxy-methodology

https://github.com/cfpb/proxy-methodology
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under review, for example, the quality of surname data and the ability to match individuals to 


the census surname list, or the quality of address information and the ability to geocode to an 


acceptable level of precision, may lead to a modification of the general methodology, as 


appropriate. 
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4. Assessing the ability to 
predict race and ethnicity: an 
application to mortgage data 


Elliott et al. (2009) demonstrate, using health plan enrollment data with reported race and 


ethnicity, that the BISG proxy methodology is more accurate than either the traditional 


surname-only or geography-only methodologies.  In this section, we discuss a similar validation 


of the BISG proxy in the mortgage lending context.   


To assess the performance of the BISG proxy in this context, the geography-only, surname-only, 


and BISG proxies for race and ethnicity were constructed for applicants appearing in a sample of 


mortgage loan applications in 2011 and 2012 for which address, name, and race and ethnicity 


were reported.19,20 These data were provided to the CFPB by a number of lenders pursuant to the 


CFPB’s supervisory authority. Applications with surnames that did not match the surname list 


                                                        


19 The geography-only probability proxy is constructed in a manner that is similar to the construction of the surname-


only proxy. For each geocoded address, the probability of belonging to a given racial or ethnic group (for each of the 


six race and ethnicity categories) is constructed. The probability is simply the proportion (or percentage) of 


individuals who identify as being a member of a given race or ethnicity who reside in the block group, census tract, 


or area corresponding to the 5-digit zip code, depending on the precision to which an applicant’s address is 


geocoded. 


20 The reported race and ethnicity used in the assessment are derived from the HMDA reported race and ethnicity 


contained in the mortgage data sample. Ethnicity (Hispanic) and race—American Indian/Alaska Native, Asian, 


Black or African American, Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, and White—are reported at the applicant 


level. For a given applicant, up to five races may be reported. The reported HMDA race and ethnicity are used to 


classify applicants in a manner consistent with the six mutually exclusive race and ethnicity categories defined by 


the Office of Management and Budget and used on the census surname list. Applications for which race or ethnicity 


information was not provided were omitted from the initial sample. 
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and with addresses that could not be geocoded to at least the 5-digit zip code were omitted from 


the analysis. Table 1 shows that for the initial sample of 216,798 mortgage applications, 26,363 


applications—approximately 12% of the initial sample—were omitted from the analysis, 


resulting in a final sample of 190,435. 


TABLE 1: MORTGAGE LOAN SAMPLE 


  Not Geocoded Geocoded 


Surname did not match 8 26,297 


Surname did match 58 190,435 


 


For each applicant, three probabilities of assignment to each of the six race and ethnicity 


categories were constructed: a probability based on census race and ethnicity information 


associated with geography (geography-only); a probability based on census race and ethnicity 


information associated with surname (surname-only); and the BISG probability based on census 


race and ethnicity information associated with surname and geography (BISG). As previously 


discussed, the probabilities themselves may be used to proxy for race and ethnicity by assigning 


to each record a probability of belonging to a particular racial or ethnic group. These 


probabilities can be used to estimate the number of individuals by race and ethnicity and to 


identify potential disparities in outcomes through statistical analysis.  


Assessing the accuracy of the proxy involves comparing a probability that can range between 0 


and 1 (a continuous measure) to reported race and ethnicity classifications that, by definition, 


take on values of only 0 or 1 (a dichotomous measure). Accuracy can be evaluated in at least two 


ways: (1) by comparing the distribution of race and ethnicity across all applicants based on the 


proxy to the distribution based on reported characteristics and (2) by assessing how well the 


proxy is able to sort applicants into the reported race and ethnicity categories. The tendency for 


low values of the proxy to be associated with low incidence of individuals in a particular racial or 


ethnic group and for high values of the proxy to be associated with high incidence is measured 


by the correlation between the proxy and reported classification for a given race and ethnicity. 


Additional diagnostic measures, such as Area Under the Curve (AUC) statistics, reflect the 


extent to which a proxy probability accurately sorts individuals into target race and ethnicity 


and provides a statistical framework for assessing improvements in sorting attributable to the 


BISG proxy. Section 4 provides an evaluation of the use of the BISG probability proxy and 
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assesses performance relative to reported race and ethnicity, illustrating the merits of relying on 


the BISG probability proxy rather than on a proxy based solely on information associated with 


geography or surname alone. 


4.1 Composition of lending by race and 
ethnicity 


Table 2 provides the distribution of reported race and ethnicity (Reported) and the distributions 


based on the BISG, surname-only, and geography-only proxies. For the Reported row, the 


percentage in each cell is calculated as the sum of the reported number of individuals in each 


racial or ethnic group divided by the number of applicants in the sample (multiplied by 100). 


For the proxies, the percentage is simply the sum of the probabilities for each race and ethnicity 


divided by the number of applicants in the sample (multiplied by 100).  For example, two 


individuals each with a 0.5 probability of being Black and a 0.5 probability of being White would 


contribute a count of 1 to both the Black and the White totals. 


TABLE 2: DISTRUBUTION OF LOANS BY RACE AND ETHNICITY21 


Classifier 


or Proxy 
Hispanic White Black 


Asian/Pacific 


Islander 


American 


Indian/Alaska 


Native 


Multiracial 


Reported 5.8% 82.9% 6.2% 4.5% 0.1% 0.4% 


BISG 6.1% 79.7% 7.5% 5.0% 0.2% 1.4% 


Surname-


only 
7.4% 75.4% 10.0% 4.9% 0.6% 1.7% 


Geography


-only 
7.2% 78.6% 8.1% 4.8% 0.3% 1.0% 


 


                                                        


21 In this table and in subsequent tables, we refer only to the race for a non-Hispanic race group. For instance, the 


“White” category refers to “Non-Hispanic White.” 
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As the table indicates, all three proxies tend to approximate the reported population race and 


ethnicity.  However, each also tends to underestimate the population of non-Hispanic Whites 


and overestimate the other race and ethnicity categories, which may reflect differences between 


the racial and ethnic composition of the census based populations used to construct the proxies 


and the racial and ethnic composition of individuals applying for mortgages.  


Importantly, however, the BISG proxy comes closer to approximating the reported race and 


ethnicity than the traditional proxy methodologies, with the only exception being for 


Asian/Pacific Islanders and Multiracial.  Though we see small absolute gains in accuracy from 


use of a BISG proxy for some groups relative to the traditional methods of proxying, these gains 


frequently represent a sizeable improvement in terms of relative performance. For example, the 


gap between reported race and estimated race for non-Hispanic Whites shrinks by 1.1% (from 


82.9% – 78.6% = 4.3% to 82.9% – 79.7% = 3.2%) when moving from a geography-only to the 


BISG proxy. Given the initial gap of 4.3% this represents an almost 25% reduction in the 


difference between estimated and reported race. The gaps for non-Hispanic Black, non-Hispanic 


American Indian/Alaska Native, and Hispanic shrink in a similar manner. For non-Hispanic 


Asian/Pacific Islander, the gap between estimated and reported totals increases by 0.2% in 


absolute terms compared to the geography-only alternative and by 0.1% compared to the 


surname-only alternative. For the non-Hispanic Multiracial category, the BISG proxy does 


slightly better than the surname-only and slightly worse than the geography-only proxy in 


approximating the reported percentage. 


4.2 Predicting race and ethnicity for 
applicants 


4.2.1 Correlations between the proxy and reported race and 
ethnicity 


Table 3 provides the correlations between reported race and ethnicity and the BISG, surname-


only, and geography-only proxies.  


 







 


16 USING PUBLICLY AVAILABLE INFORMATION TO PROXY FOR UNIDENTIFIED RACE AND ETHNICITY 


TABLE 3: CORRELATIONS BETWEEN PROXY PROBABILITY AND REPORTED RACE AND ETHNICITY 


Proxy Hispanic White Black 
Asian/Pacific 
Islander 


American 
Indian/Alaska 
Native 


Multiracial 


BISG 0.81 0.77 0.70 0.83 0.06 0.05 


Surname-only 0.78 0.66 0.40 0.81 0.03 0.05 


Geography-
only 


0.45 0.54 0.58 0.38 0.05 0.03 


 


Correlation is a statistical measure of the relationship between different variables—in this case 


the race and ethnicity proxy and an applicant’s reported race and ethnicity. Positive values 


indicate a positive correlation (as one variable increases in value, so does the other), negative 


values imply negative correlation (as one variable increases in value, the other decreases), and 0 


indicates no statistical relationship. By definition, a correlation coefficient of 0 means that the 


proxy probability has no predictive power in explaining movement in the reported value, while a 


coefficient of 1 means that an increase in the proxy probability perfectly predicts increases in the 


reported values. Higher values of the correlation measure indicate a stronger ability to 


accurately sort individuals both into and out of a given race and ethnicity classification.  


Correlations associated with the BISG proxy probabilities for Hispanic and non-Hispanic White, 


Black, and Asian/Pacific Islander are large and suggest strong positive co-movement with 


reported race and ethnicity. This means, for example, that the Hispanic proxy value is higher on 


average for individuals who are reported as Hispanic than for those who are not. For non-


Hispanic American Indian/Alaska Native and the Multiracial classifications, correlations are 


positive but close to zero for all proxy methods, suggesting a low degree of power in predicting 


reported race and ethnicity for these two groups.   


Looking across the rows in Table 3, correlations associated with the BISG are higher than those 


associated with the surname-only and geography-only proxies, notably for non-Hispanic Black 


and non-Hispanic White, reflecting the increase in the strength of the relationship between the 


proxy and reported characteristic from the integration of information associated with surname 


and geography in the BISG proxy. These results align closely with those found in Elliott et al. 
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(2009), which, as previously noted, assessed the BISG proxy using national health plan 


enrollment data.22 


4.2.2 Area Under the Curve (AUC) 


While correlations illustrate the overall extent of co-movement between the proxies and 


reported race and ethnicity, it is also important to assess the extent to which the proxy 


probabilities successfully sort individuals into each race and ethnicity.  


A statistic that can be used to calculate this is called the Area Under the Curve (AUC), which 


represents the likelihood that the proxy will accurately sort individuals into a particular racial or 


ethnic group.23 For example, if one randomly selects an individual who is reported as Hispanic 


and a second individual who is reported as non-Hispanic, the AUC represents the likelihood that 


the randomly selected individual reported as Hispanic has a higher proxy value of being 


Hispanic than the randomly selected individual reported as non-Hispanic. The AUC can be used 


to test the hypothesis that one proxy is more accurate than another at sorting individuals in 


order of likelihood of belonging to a given race and ethnicity. An AUC value of 1 (or 100%) 


reflects perfect sorting and classification, and a value of 0.5 (or 50%) suggests that the proxy is 


only as good as a random guess (e.g., a coin toss).   


Table 4 provides the results of statistical comparisons of the geography-only, surname-only, and 


BISG probabilities. The AUC statistics associated with the BISG proxy for Hispanic and non-


Hispanic White, Black, and Asian/Pacific Islander are large and exceed 90%. For instance, the 


AUC statistic associated with the BISG proxy for non-Hispanic Black is 0.9540, suggesting that 


95% of the time, a randomly chosen individual reported as Black will have a higher BISG 


probability of being Black than a randomly chosen individual reported as non-Black. 


                                                        


22 Table 4 of Elliott et al. (2009): Non-Hispanic White (0.76); Hispanic (0.82); Black (0.70); Asian/Pacific Islander 


(0.77); American Indian/Alaska Native (0.11); and Multiracial (0.02). 


23 The AUC is based on the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve, which plots the tradeoff between the true 


positive rate and the false positive rate for a given proxy probability over the entire range of possible threshold 


values that could be used to classify individuals with certainty to the race and ethnicity being proxied. See Appendix 


B for more detail on the construction of the ROC curves and calculation of the AUC. 
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TABLE 4: LIKELIHOOD OF ASSIGNMENT OF HIGHER PROXY PROBABILITY FOR GROUP MEMBERSHIP 
GIVEN THAT BORROWER IS REPORTED AS MEMBER OF GROUP (AREA UNDER THE CURVE STATISTIC) 


Proxy Hispanic White Black 
Asian/Pacific 
Islander 


American 
Indian/Alaska 
Native 


Multiracial 


BISG 0.9446 0.9430 0.9540 0.9723 0.6840 0.6846 


Geography-
only 


0.8386 0.8389 0.8959 0.8359 0.6574 0.6015 


Surname-
only 


0.9302 0.8968 0.8678 0.9651 0.5907 0.7075 


p-value, H0: 
BISG=Geo 


<0.0001 <0.0001 <0.0001 <0.0001 0.0262 <0.0001 


p-value, H0: 
BISG=Name 


<0.0001 <0.0001 <0.0001 <0.0001 <0.0001 0.0289 


 


For each of these four race and ethnicity categories, the AUC for the BISG proxy probability is 


statistically significantly larger than the AUC for the surname-only and geography-only 


probabilities, suggesting that, at or above the 99% level of statistical significance, the BISG more 


accurately sorts individuals than the traditional proxy methodologies.24  The greatest 


improvements in the AUC are associated with the BISG proxy for non-Hispanic White and 


Black, as the AUC is considerably higher than the AUCs associated with the geography-only and 


surname-only proxies. For Hispanic and non-Hispanic Asian/Pacific Islander, this improvement 


is only marginal relative to the performance of the surname-only proxy. Performance for non-


Hispanic American Indian/Alaska Native and Multiracial, while generally improved by the use 


of the BISG proxy probabilities, is weak overall regardless of proxy choice, with only an 18% 


improvement in sorting over a random guess. These results suggest that proxies based on census 


geography and surname data are not particularly powerful in their ability to sort individuals into 


these two race and ethnicity categories. 


                                                        


24 The p-values for the tests of equivalence of the AUC statistics for the BISG and geography-only proxies and the 


BISG and surname-only proxies for each race and ethnicity appear in the last two rows of Table 4. 







 


19 USING PUBLICLY AVAILABLE INFORMATION TO PROXY FOR UNIDENTIFIED RACE AND ETHNICITY 


4.2.3 Classification over the range of proxy values 


The BISG proxy’s ability to sort individuals is made clear through an evaluation of the number of 


applicants falling within ranges of proxy probability values. For example, for 10% bands of the 


BISG proxy probability for Hispanics, Table 5 provides: the number of total applicants (column 


1); the estimated number of Hispanic applicants based on the summation of the BISG 


probability (column 2); the number of reported Hispanic applicants (column 3); the number of 


reported non-Hispanic White applicants (column 4); and the number of reported other 


minority, non-Hispanic applicants (column 5). A few results are worth noting. 


TABLE 5: CLASSIFICATION OVER RANGE OF BISG PROXY FOR HISPANIC 


Hispanic 
BISG Proxy 
Probability 
Range 


Total 
Applicants  
 
(1) 


Estimated 
Hispanic 
(BISG)                   
(2) 


Reported 
Hispanic  
                    
(3)              


Reported 
White                                   
 
(4)                                


Reported 
Other 
Minority                                         
(5)                                    


0% - 10% 176,116 1,129 1,677 153,974 20,465 


10% - 20% 1,720 240 163 1,207 350 


20% - 30% 653 163 130 414 109 


30% - 40% 541 189 147 312 82 


40% - 50% 557 251 226 261 70 


50% - 60% 597 328 279 258 60 


60% - 70% 802 522 455 263 84 


70% - 80% 1,135 853 766 286 83 


80% - 90% 1,788 1,529 1,347 347 94 


90% - 100% 6,526 6,312 5,883 534 109 


Total 190,435 11,516 11,073 157,856 21,506 


*Estimated Hispanic (BISG) is calculated as the sum of the BISG probabilities for being Hispanic within the corresponding proxy 


probability range. 
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First, the distribution of the BISG proxy probability is bimodal with concentrations of total 


applicants for low (e.g., 0%-20%) and high (e.g., 80%-100%) values of the proxy, which 


illustrates the sorting feature of the proxy. Reported Hispanic applicants are concentrated 


within high values of the proxy. For example, 65% ((1,347+5,883)/11,073) of reported Hispanic 


applicants (column 3) have BISG proxy probabilities greater than 80%; this concentration is 


mirrored by the estimated number of Hispanic applicants (column 2), 68% of whom have BISG 


proxy probabilities greater than 80% ((1,529+6,312)/11,516). While the BISG proxy may assign 


high values to some non-Hispanic applicants, 98% ((153,974+1,207)/157,856) of the reported 


non-Hispanic White and 97% ((20,465+350)/21,506) of the reported other non-Hispanic 


minority borrowers have Hispanic BISG proxy probabilities that are less than 20%. 


Second, there are reported Hispanic applicants over the full range of values of the BISG proxy; 


this is also reflected by the estimated counts in column 2. For example, there are 597 applicants 


with BISG proxy values between 50% and 60%, of whom 279 are reported as being Hispanic, 


while the BISG proxy estimate of the number of Hispanic applicants in this range—calculated by 


summing probabilities for individuals within this probability range—is 328. 


As suggested by Table 5 the BISG proxy tends to overestimate the number of Hispanic 


applicants for the mortgage pool under review. In the final row of column (3) we see that the 


total number of reported Hispanic applicants is 11,073. The estimated total number of Hispanic 


applicants—calculated as the sum of the BISG probabilities for Hispanic applicants—is 11,516 


(column 2), which overestimates the number of Hispanic applicants by 4%. This overestimation 


may reflect, as discussed in Section 4.1, the use of demographic information based on the 


population at large to proxy the characteristics of mortgage applicants. According to the 2010 


Census of Population, 14% of the U.S. adult population was Hispanic; 67% non-Hispanic White; 


12% non-Hispanic Black; 5% Asian/Pacific Islander; and 1% American Indian/Alaska Native. 


According to the 2010 HMDA loan application data for all reporting mortgage originators, only 


7% of applicants for home mortgages were Hispanic; 80% non-Hispanic White; 6% non-


Hispanic Black; 6% Asian/Pacific Islander; and less than 1% American Indian/Alaska Native.25 


Mortgage borrowers tend to be disproportionately non-Hispanic White and, in particular, 


underrepresent Hispanic and non-Hispanic Blacks relative to the population of the U.S. 


                                                        


25 The HMDA distributions for race and ethnicity are based only on applicant information for which race and 


ethnicity is reported and for applications that were originated, approved but not accepted, and denied by lenders. 
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OR and SEFL rely directly on the BISG probability in our fair lending related statistical analyses. 


In contrast, some practitioners rely on the use of a probability proxy and a threshold rule to 


classify individuals into race and ethnicity.  When a threshold rule is used, individuals with 


proxy probabilities equal to and greater than a specific value, for example 80%, are considered 


to belong to a group with certainty, while all others are considered non-members with certainty. 


Consider two individuals who are assigned BISG probabilities of being non-Hispanic Black: 


individual A with 82% and individual B with 53%. The application of an 80% threshold rule for 


assignment would force individual A’s probability to 100% and classify that individual as being 


Black and force individual B’s probability to 0% and classify that individual as being non-Black.   


The threshold rule removes the uncertainty about group membership at the cost of decreased 


statistical precision, with that precision deteriorating with decreases in the proxy’s ability to 


create separation across races and ethnicity. In situations in which researchers can obtain clear 


separation between groups—for instance, situations for which the probabilities of assignment 


tend to be very close to 0 or 1—the consequences of using a threshold assignment rule, beyond 


simple measurement error, would be minor. However, when insufficient separation exists—for 


example, when there are a significant number of individuals with probabilities between 20% and 


80% of belonging to a particular group—the use of thresholds can artificially bias, usually 


downward, estimates of the number of individuals belonging to particular racial and ethnic 


groups and potentially attenuate estimates of differences in outcomes between groups. 


Table 5 makes clear the consequence of applying a threshold rule to the BISG proxy probability 


to force classification with certainty. If an 80% threshold rule is applied, the estimated number 


of Hispanic applicants is 8,314—the sum of all applicants in column (1) with a BISG probability 


equal to or greater than 80%—which underestimates the reported number of 11,073 Hispanic 


applicants by 25%.  The underestimation is driven by the failure to count the large number of 


individuals in column (3) who are reported as being Hispanic in the mortgage sample but for 


whom the BISG probability of assignment is less than 80%. 


It is worth noting that the application of an 80% threshold rule to classify individuals also yields 


false positives: individuals who are reported as being non-Hispanic but, nonetheless, are 


assigned BISG proxy probabilities of being Hispanic equal to or greater than 80%. For the 


mortgage pool under review, 881 applicants who are reported as being non-Hispanic White and 


203 applicants who are reported as being some other minority would be classified as Hispanic 


by an 80% threshold rule. The false positive rate associated with these 1,084 observations is 


0.6%, measured as the number of false positives (1,084) as a percentage of the total number of 


false positives plus the 178,278 true negative reported non-Hispanics with BISG probabilities 
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less than 80%. The false discovery rate for these same 1,084 observations is 13%, measured as 


the number of false positives (1,084) as a percentage of 8,314 applicants identified as Hispanic 


by the 80% threshold rule. 


Classification and misclassification tables for the other five race and ethnicity categories appear 


in Appendix C. 
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5. Conclusion 
Information on consumer race and ethnicity is generally not collected for non-mortgage credit 


products. However, information on consumer race and ethnicity is required to conduct fair 


lending analysis. Publicly available data characterizing the distribution of the population across 


race and ethnicity on the basis of geography and surname can be used to develop a proxy for 


race and ethnicity. Historically, practitioners have relied on proxies based on geography or 


surname only. A new approach proposed in the academic literature—the BISG method—


combines geography- and surname-based information into a single proxy probability. In 


supervisory and enforcement contexts, OR and SEFL rely on a BISG proxy probability for race 


and ethnicity in fair lending analysis conducted for non-mortgage products. 


This paper explains the construction of the BISG proxy currently employed by OR and SEFL and 


provides an assessment of the performance of the BISG method using a sample of mortgage 


applicants for whom race and ethnicity are reported. Our assessment demonstrates that the 


BISG proxy probability is more accurate than a geography-only or surname-only proxy in its 


ability to predict individual applicants’ reported race and ethnicity and is generally more 


accurate than a geography-only or surname-only proxy at approximating the overall reported 


distribution of race and ethnicity. We also demonstrate that the direct use of the BISG 


probability does not introduce the sample attrition and significant underestimation of the 


number of individuals by race and ethnicity that occurs when commonly-relied-upon threshold 


values are used to classify individuals into race and ethnicity categories. 


OR and SEFL do not require the use of or reliance on the specific proxy methodology put forth 


in this paper, but we are making available to the public the methodology, statistical software 


code, and our understanding of the performance of the methodology for a pool of mortgage 


applicants in an effort to foster transparency around our work. The methodology has evolved 


over time and will continue to evolve as enhancements are identified that improve accuracy and 


performance. Finally, the Bureau is committed to continuing our dialogue with other federal 


agencies, lenders, advocates, and researchers regarding the methodology. 
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6. Technical Appendix A: 
Constructing the BISG 
probability  


For race and ethnicity, demographic information associated with surname and place of 


residence are combined to form a joint probability using the Bayesian updating methodology 


described in Elliott, et al. (2009). For an individual with surname 𝑠 who resides in geographic 


area 𝑔:  


1. Calculate the probability of belonging to race or ethnicity r (for each of the six race and 


ethnicity categories) for a given surname s. Call this probability p(r|s).  


2. Calculate the proportion of the population of individuals in race or ethnicity r (for each 


of the six race and ethnicity categories) that lives in geographic area g. Call this 


proportion q(g|r). 


3. Apply Bayes’ Theorem to calculate the likelihood that an individual with surname s living 


in geographic area g belongs to race or ethnicity r. This is described by 


  ( |𝑔 𝑠)  
 ( |𝑠) (𝑔| )


∑       
 


where 𝑅 refers to the set of six OMB defined race and ethnicity categories. To maintain the 


statistical validity of the Bayesian updating process, one assumption is required: the probability 


of residing in a given geography, given one’s race, is independent of one’s surname. For 


example, the accuracy of the proxy would be impacted if Blacks with the last name Jones 


preferred to live in a certain neighborhood more than both Blacks in general and all people with 


the last name Jones. 
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Suppose we want to construct the BISG probabilities on the basis of surname and state of 


residence for an individual with the last name Smith who resides in California.26 Table 6 


provides the distribution across race and ethnicity for individuals in the U.S. with the last name 


Smith.27 For individuals with the surname Smith, the probability of being non-Hispanic Black, 


based on surname alone, is simply the percentage of the Smith population that is non-Hispanic 


Black: 22.22%. 


TABLE 6: DISTRIBUTION OF RACE AND ETHNICITY FOR INDIVIDUALS IN THE U.S. POPULATION WITH THE 
SURNAME SMITH 


Race/Ethnicity Distribution 


Hispanic 1.56% 


White  73.35% 


Black  22.22% 


Asian/Pacific Islander  0.40% 


American Indian/Alaska Native  0.85% 


Multiracial  1.63% 


 


To update the probabilities of assignment to race and ethnicity, the percentage of the U.S. 


population residing in California by race and ethnicity is calculated. These percentages appear in 


Table 7. 


                                                        


26 In the example, we choose to use state to make the example easy to understand. In practice, a finer level of 


geographic detail is used as discussed earlier. 


27 “Smith” is the most frequently occurring surname in the 2000 Decennial Census of the Population. There are 


2,376,206 individuals in the 2000 Decennial Census of Population with the last name “Smith” according to the 


surname list (http://www.census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/). 



http://www.census.gov/genealogy/www/data/2000surnames/
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TABLE 7: POPULATION RESIDING IN CALIFORNIA AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE TOTAL U.S. POPULATION 
BY RACE AND ETHNICITY 


Race/Ethnicity U.S. Population 
California 


Population 


%  of U.S. 


Population 


Residing in 


California 


Hispanic 33,346,703 9,257,499 27.76% 


White  157,444,597 12,461,055 7.91% 


Black  27,464,591 1,655,298 6.03% 


Asian/Pacific Islander  11,901,269 3,968,506 33.35% 


American Indian/Alaska Native  1,609,046 126,421 7.86% 


Multiracial  2,797,866 490,137 17.52% 


Total 234,564,071 27,958,916 11.92% 


 


Given the information provided in these two tables, we can now construct the probability that 


Smith’s race is non-Hispanic Black, given surname and residence in California using Bayes’ 


Theorem. The probability of being non-Hispanic Black for the surname Smith (22.22%) is 


multiplied by the percentage of the non-Hispanic Black population residing in California 


(6.03%) and then divided by the sum of the products of the surname-based probabilities and 


percentage of the population residing in California for all six of the race and ethnicity categories:  


           


                                                                        
        


This same calculation is performed for the remaining race and ethnicity categories.  Table 8 


provides the surname-only and updated BISG probabilities for all six race and ethnicity 


categories for individuals with the last name Smith residing in California. 
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TABLE 8: SURNAME-ONLY AND BISG PROBABILITIES FOR "SMITH" IN CALIFORNIA 
 


Race/Ethnicity Surname-only BISG 


Hispanic 1.56% 5.37% 


White  73.35% 72.00% 


Black  22.22% 16.61% 


Asian and Pacific Islander  0.40% 1.65% 


American Indian/Alaska Native  0.85% 0.83% 


Multiracial  1.63% 3.54% 


 


The impact of the adjustment of the surname based probabilities is readily apparent: the 


surname probability is weighted downward or upward depending on the degree of 


overrepresentation or underrepresentation of the population of a given race and ethnicity in 


California relative to the percentage of the U.S. population residing in California. For example, 


just under 12% of the U.S. population resides in California but nearly 28% of Hispanics in the 


U.S. reside in California. Knowing that Smith resides in California and that California is more 


heavily Hispanic than the nation as a whole leads to an increase in the probability that Smith is 


Hispanic compared to the probability calculated based on surname information alone. 
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7. Technical Appendix B: 
Receiver Operating 
Characteristics and Area 
Under the Curve 


One way to characterize the proxy’s ability to sort individuals into race and ethnicity is to plot 


the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve. The ROC curve is constructed by applying a 


threshold rule for classification to each race and ethnicity, where probabilities above the 


threshold yield classification to a given race and ethnicity and those below do not, and then 


plotting the relationship between the false positive rate and the true positive rate over the range 


of possible threshold values. 


Figures 1 through 6 show the ROC curves for the geography-only, name-only, and BISG 


probabilities by race and ethnicity.  In each plot, the true positive rate is measured on the y-axis 


and the false positive rate is measured on the x-axis.28 The slope of the ROC curve represents the 


tradeoff between identifying true positives at the expense of increasing false positives over the 


range of possible threshold values. The ROC curve for a perfect proxy—one that could classify 


individuals into and out of a given race and ethnicity with no misclassification—moves along the 


edges of the figure from (0,0) to (0,1) to (1,1). The closer that the ROC curve is to the left and 


upper edge of the plot area, the better the proxy is at correctly classifying individuals. A proxy 


                                                        


28 The true positive rate is defined as the ratio of the number of applicants correctly classified into a reported race and 


ethnicity by a given threshold divided by the total number applicants reporting the race and ethnicity; the false 


positive rate is defined as the ratio of applicants incorrectly classified into a reported race and ethnicity by a given 


threshold divided by the total number of applicants not reporting the race and ethnicity.  
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that provides no useful information instead moves along the 45-degree line that runs through 


the middle of the figure. Movement along this line implies that a proxy measure has no ability to 


meaningfully identify more true members of a group without simultaneously identifying a 


similar proportion of non-members. 


The graphs demonstrate that for Hispanic and non-Hispanic White, Black, and Asian/Pacific 


Islander, the BISG proxy is generally associated with a higher ratio of true positives to false 


positives across all possible threshold values, as shown by the general tendency for BISG’s ROC 


curve to be located to the left and above of the ROC curves for the surname-only and geography-


only proxies. The BISG proxy’s overall ability to improve sorting, relative to the surname-only or 


geography-only proxy, is especially notable for non-Hispanic Whites and Blacks. The AUC 


statistic discussed in Section 4.2.2 simply represents the area beneath the ROC curve and above 


the x-axis. 


FIGURE 1: RECEIVER OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (ROC) CURVES FOR NON-HISPANIC WHITE 
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FIGURE 2: RECEIVER OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (ROC) CURVES FOR NON-HISPANIC BLACK 


 


FIGURE 3: RECEIVER OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (ROC) CURVES FOR HISPANIC 
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FIGURE 4: RECEIVER OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (ROC) CURVES FOR NON-HISPANIC ASIAN/PACIFIC 


 


FIGURE 5: RECEIVER OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (ROC) CURVES FOR NON-HISPANIC NATIVE 
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FIGURE 6: RECEIVER OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (ROC) CURVES FOR NON-HISPANIC MULTIRACIAL 
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8. Technical Appendix C: 
Additional tables 


TABLE 9: CLASSIFICATION OVER RANGES OF BISG PROXY FOR NON-HISPANIC WHITE 


White BISG 


Proxy 


Probability 


Range 


Total 


Applicants 


  


(1) 


Estimated 


White (BISG)  


                       


(2) 


Reported White  


 


 


(3)                                   


Reported 


Minority           


 


(4)                                


0% - 10% 20,108 506 2,114 17,994 


10% - 20% 3,995 582 937 3,058 


20% - 30% 2,738 680 962 1,776 


30% - 40% 2,483 867 1,206 1,277 


40% - 50% 2,748 1,240 1,596 1,152 


50% - 60% 3,346 1,847 2,196 1,150 


60% - 70% 4,480 2,927 3,477 1,003 


70% - 80% 7,105 5,363 5,851 1,254 


80% - 90% 15,620 13,409 14,201 1,419 


90% - 100% 127,812 124,411 125,316 2,496 


Total 190,435 151,832 157,856 32,579 
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TABLE 10: CLASSIFICATION OVER RANGES OF BISG PROXY FOR NON-HISPANIC BLACK 


Black BISG 


Proxy 


Probability 


Range 


Total 


Applicants        


 


(1)    


Estimated 


Black 


(BISG)  


(2) 


Reported 


Black             


 


(3)                                   


Reported 


White            


 


(4) 


Reported 


Other 


Minority        


(5)  


0% - 10% 160,733 1,859 1,466 139,684 19,583 


10% - 20% 9,742 1,387 941 8,403 398 


20% - 30% 4,916 1,207 906 3,814 196 


30% - 40% 3,101 1,072 726 2,242 133 


40% - 50% 2,229 997 738 1,408 83 


50% - 60% 1,680 922 736 877 67 


60% - 70% 1,417 920 765 596 56 


70% - 80% 1,407 1,057 963 391 53 


80% - 90% 1,517 1,293 1,222 241 54 


90% - 100% 3,693 3,548 3,408 200 85 


Total 190,435 14,262 11,871 157,856 20,708 
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TABLE 11: CLASSIFICATION OVER RANGES OF BISG PROXY FOR NON-HISPANIC ASIAN/PACIFIC 
ISLANDER 


Asian/ 


Pacific 


Islander 


BISG Proxy 


Probability 


Range 


Total 


Applicants                   


 


 


 


(1) 


Estimated 


Asian and 


Pacific 


Islander 


(BISG)                                 


(2) 


Reported 


Asian and 


Pacific 


Islander                         


 


(3) 


Reported 


White                                  


 


 


 


(4) 


Reported 


Other 


Minority                           


 


 


(5) 


0% - 10% 178,533 867 861 154,872 22,800 


10% - 20% 1,536 216 234 890 412 


20% - 30% 657 160 147 366 144 


30% - 40% 492 170 157 247 88 


40% - 50% 385 174 145 176 64 


50% - 60% 361 199 168 139 54 


60% - 70% 411 267 223 156 32 


70% - 80% 649 488 421 180 48 


80% - 90% 1,268 1,085 923 270 75 


90% - 100% 6,143 5,941 5,367 560 216 


Total 190,435 9,567 8,646 157,856 23,933 
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TABLE 12: CLASSIFICATION OVER RANGES OF BISG PROXY FOR NON-HISPANIC AMERICAN 
INDIAN/ALASKA NATIVE 


American 


Indian/Alaska 


Native BISG 


Proxy 


Probability 


Range 


Total 


Applicants  


 


 


 


(1) 


Estimated 


American 


Indian/Alaska 


Native (BISG)                       


 


(2) 


Reported 


American 


Indian/Alaska 


Native                                        


 


(3) 


Reported 


White                                        


 


 


 


(4) 


Reported 


Other 


Minority                               


 


 


(5) 


0% - 10% 190,212 377 238 157,680 32,294 


10% - 20% 137 19 3 106 28 


20% - 30% 38 9 2 30 6 


30% - 40% 12 4 1 9 2 


40% - 50% 15 7 1 13 1 


50% - 60% 6 3 0 6 0 


60% - 70% 5 3 1 4 0 


70% - 80% 4 3 1 3 0 


80% - 90% 1 1 1 0 0 


90% - 100% 5 5 0 5 0 


Total 190,435 431 248 157,856 32,331 
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TABLE 13: CLASSIFICATION OVER RANGES OF BISG PROXY PROBABILITIES FOR NON-HISPANIC 
MULTIRACIAL 


Multiracial 


BISG Proxy 


Probability 


Range 


Total 


Applicants             


 


(1) 


Estimated 


Multiracial 


(BISG)                               


(2) 


Reported 


Multiracial                              


 


(3) 


Reported 


White                                   


 


(4) 


Reported 


Other 


Minority                              


(5) 


0% - 10% 187,964 2,102 682 156,439 30,843 


10% - 20% 1,615 224 34 937 644 


20% - 30% 443 107 8 255 180 


30% - 40% 199 68 5 115 79 


40% - 50% 113 50 9 47 57 


50% - 60% 56 31 3 34 19 


60% - 70% 33 21 0 18 15 


70% - 80% 9 7 0 8 1 


80% - 90% 3 2 0 3 0 


90% - 100% 0 0 0 0 0 


Total 190,435 2,612 741 157,856 31,838 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 


FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 


CHARLOTTE DIVISION 


3:14-cv-00008-RJC-DSC 


 


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA; 


and the STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 


ex rel. ROY COOPER, Attorney General, 


) 


) 


) 


) 


) 


) 


) 


) 


) 


) 


) 


 


CONSENT DECREE 


 


Plaintiffs 


 


v. 


 


AUTO FARE, INC.; SOUTHEASTERN 


AUTO CORP.; and ZUHDI A. SAADEH, 


 


Defendants. 


 


I.     INTRODUCTION 


1. This Consent Decree (“Decree”) is submitted jointly by the parties for the approval 


of and entry by the Court, to resolve all claims, matters and things that are the subject of the 


Complaint filed in this action by the United States of America and the State of North Carolina, 


by and through its Attorney General Roy Cooper (hereinafter collectively “Plaintiffs”) to enforce 


the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691-1691f (“ECOA”), and its implementing 


regulations located at 12 C.F.R. Part 1002 (“Regulation B”), and the Unfair and Deceptive Trade 


Practices Act (“UDTPA”), N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1.  This Decree resolves Plaintiffs’ claims that 


Defendants Auto Fare, Inc. and Southeastern Auto Corp. – two Buy Here Pay Here used 


automobile dealerships in Charlotte, North Carolina – and their owner and operator Zuhdi A. 


Saadeh (hereinafter collectively “Defendants”) engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination 


in credit transactions on the basis of race or color in violation of ECOA and the UDTPA and 


engaged in unlawful repossession activity in violation of UDTPA and Article 9 of the North 


Carolina Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”). 
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2. Specifically, Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that, from at least 2006 through at least 


2011, Defendants intentionally targeted African American customers for the extension and 


servicing of credit on unfair and predatory terms without meaningfully assessing the customers’ 


creditworthiness, a practice commonly referred to as “reverse redlining,” and also violated 


UDTPA and the provisions of Article 9 of the UCC.   


3. Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that Defendants’ actions, policies, and practices 


constitute a pattern or practice of discrimination against applicants on the basis of race or color 


with respect to credit transactions in violation of the UDTPA, N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1, and ECOA, 15 


U.S.C. § 1691(a)(1), and that applicants who have been victims of Defendants’ discriminatory 


policies and practices are aggrieved applicants as defined in ECOA, 15 U.S.C. § 1691e. 


4. Defendants deny the allegations in Plaintiffs’ Complaint, and specifically deny any 


violation of law or wrongdoing in connection with the sale, financing or repossession of 


automobiles.  Plaintiffs and Defendants have agreed to this Decree in order to avoid the risks and 


burdens of costly litigation.  The parties agree that the full implementation of the terms of this 


Decree will resolve Plaintiffs’ allegations in a manner consistent with Defendants’ legitimate 


business interests.  Therefore, the parties consent to the entry of this Decree.  


5. The Effective Date of this Decree shall be the date on which it is approved and 


entered by the Court. 


ACCORDINGLY, it is hereby ADJUDGED, ORDERED and DECREED: 


II.     GENERAL INJUNCTION 


6. Defendants and their officers, agents, employees, representatives, successors, 


assigns, and all other persons in active concert or participation with them are hereby enjoined 


from engaging in any act, policy, or practice that discriminates on the basis of race or color in any 


aspect of a credit transactions, in violation of ECOA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691-1691f.  This injunction 
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includes, but is not limited to, the adoption, performance, or implementation of any policy, 


practice, or act that intentionally targets African Americans for the extension and servicing of 


credit for the purchase of motor vehicles on unfair and predatory terms.  This Decree further 


requires Defendants to take actions to remedy their alleged discrimination.  Nothing in this Decree 


will require Defendants to engage in unsafe or unsound credit transactions. 


7. Defendants are hereby enjoined from engaging in any unfair or deceptive practices 


in or affecting commerce in violation of N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1, and shall comply with all provisions 


of N.C.G.S. Chapter 20 (Motor Vehicles Act), Chapter 25A (Retail Installment Sales Act), and 


Chapter 25 (Uniform Commercial Code). 


III. SPECIFIC REFORMS TO DEFENDANTS’ PRACTICES 


A. Documentation, Recordkeeping, and Disclosures   


8. Defendants shall develop and implement written policies and procedures for 


collecting applications and current financial documents for all credit applicants (“Applicants”).  


The written policies and procedures shall set forth examples of all forms and describe any 


additional information or documentation that Defendants will require of Applicants as a 


precondition of applying for or as part of the process of entering into a retail installment sales 


contract or other credit transaction for the purchase of motor vehicles.  These written policies and 


procedures shall include, but not be limited to, specific information or documentation 


requirements sufficient to allow Defendants to assess meaningfully Applicants’ income and 


ability to meet the payments on any vehicle purchased.   


9. Defendants shall not enter into a retail installment sales contract or other credit 


transaction for the purchase of motor vehicles requiring Applicant(s) to make total monthly 


payments that exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total documented monthly net income.  
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For purposes of this paragraph “total monthly payments” shall not include periodic payment(s) 


of deferred down payment, tax, tags or title fees (collective, “deferred payments”), provided that 


the period of deferred payments shall not exceed 4 months (8 bi-weekly payments) and the total 


amount of the deferred payments shall not exceed eight hundred dollars ($800.00). 


10. Defendants shall develop and implement written policies and procedures for 


maintaining customer account files that include, but not be limited to: 


a. Retention of copies of all forms, information, or documents, whether 


electronic or paper, obtained from or provided to the customer relating to any aspect of a 


credit transaction; and 


b. Provisions for Defendants’ adoption of and reliance on a computerized 


system as the primary means for accurately maintaining the accounts of customers who 


finance motor vehicle purchases through retail installment sales contracts or other credit 


transactions, including features that will correctly apply payments made by customers on 


their accounts and will correctly determine instances of customer default and pursue 


remedies for default in compliance with applicable provisions of North Carolina law. 


11. The disclosures to be provided to each customer shall include the following, in 


addition to any other disclosures required by applicable law: 


a. A notice that Defendants shall provide to all customers who purchase motor 


vehicles on which a global positioning system (“GPS”) or automatic shut off device is 


affixed informing them of the presence of the device; and 


b. A notice affixed to the windshield of each car indicating mileage, year, 


make, model, sales price and down payment required.   
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c. A notice that Defendants will provide at customer’s expense a “Carfax”, 


“Auto Fax” or similar report upon request. 


12. Defendants will allow each customer to test drive and seek independent inspection 


of any vehicle selected for purchase by the customer.  Defendants shall provide a written notice 


and encourage each customer to take such test drive and to obtain inspection by a mechanic of 


customer’s choice at customer’s expense prior to purchase, shall allow the customer to maintain 


possession of the vehicle for a reasonable time not to exceed three (3) hours during Defendants’ 


regular business hours prior to purchase for the applicant or potential applicant to obtain 


inspection.  Defendants may require a customer to post a reasonable, refundable deposit, or to 


leave customer’s vehicle and keys with Defendants, before taking a vehicle for inspection. 


13. Defendants have provided a copy of the written notices, forms, policies, and 


procedures required by Paragraphs 8 and 10-12 to Plaintiffs by documents labeled Auto Fare 1 to 


16.  Defendants’ good faith continued and consistent use of such forms, or materially similar 


forms and policies, shall be considered compliance with the relevant requirements of Paragraphs 


8 and 10-12. 


B. Pricing, Payments, and Interest 


14. Defendants shall not charge an annual percentage rate of interest (“APR”)1 in 


excess of the amount allowed by N.C.G.S. § 25A-15(c) minus five percentage points (5%)2 (the 


“Standard Rate”) Defendants shall charge the same interest rate to all customers, except that the 


interest rate shall be reduced by at least three percentage points (3%) below the then-Standard 


                                                           
1 Annual Percentage Rate, or “APR,” is the measure of the cost of credit, expressed as a yearly 


rate, as defined in Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. Part 1006, implementing the Truth in Lending Act, 15 


U.S.C. § 1601 et seq. 


 
2 For vehicles five (5) model years and older, this paragraph limits the APR to 24%. 
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Rate if: (1) the customer makes a down payment that exceeds the posted down payment amount 


by at least fifty percent (50%); (2) the customer documents average net monthly income in excess 


of $2,499.00; (3) the customer has previously financed a separate car with Defendants with no 


defaults; or (4) the Customer provides, at his or her own expense, a current (same day) credit 


report showing a 550 FICO score or better.  Defendants shall not be required to provide credit 


reports, but may offer to obtain credit reports and scores for the Customer at Customer’s expense, 


so long as it is made clear to the customer that a low credit score will not cause interest rate to 


increase above the Standard Rate.  


15. Defendants’ sales prices shall be competitive with prices offered by other Buy 


Here-Pay Here dealers in the Charlotte-Mecklenburg area.3 


16. Defendants shall not require the payment of “doc fees” or similar cash charges at 


time of sale in addition to its posted or advertised down payment.  Defendants may, however, 


require payment of government-imposed tax, tag and title fees at time of sale. 


17. Defendants shall not charge late payment penalties except as allowed by N.C.G.S. 


§ 25A-29. 


C. Servicing, Repossessions and Account Closures 


18. Defendants shall maintain and service the accounts of customers who finance motor 


vehicle purchases through retail installment sales contracts or other credit transactions, in 


accordance with relevant provisions of federal and state law, including, but not limited to: 


                                                           
3 For purposes of Paragraph 15, a price will be deemed to be “competitive” if it is not more than 


fifteen percent (15%) above the published NADA retail value for vehicles of a similar condition, 


body type, year, and mileage; provided that this presumption shall not prevent Defendants from 


showing that a price in excess of such amount is competitive. 
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a.  North Carolina General Statutes Chapter 25A (Retail Installment Sales 


Act), including, but not limited to: 


i. N.C.G.S. § 25A-19 (regarding limitations on repossession and acceleration) 


ii.  N.C.G.S. § 25A-22 (regarding the requirement for written receipts for cash 


payments); 


iii. N.C.G.S. § 25A-29 (regarding lawful default charges); 


iv. N.C.G.S. § 25A-32 (regarding rebates on prepayment); and 


v. N.C.G.S. § 25A-35 (regarding statements of account); 


b. North Carolina General Statutes Chapter 25, Article 1 (Uniform 


Commercial Code – General Provisions), including, but not limited to, N.C.G.S. § 25-1-


304 (regarding the obligation of good faith); 


c. North Carolina General Statutes Chapter 25, Article 9 (Uniform 


Commercial Code – Secured Transaction), including, but not limited to: 


i. N.C.G.S. § 25-9-602 (regarding non-waiver or variance of rights and 


duties); 


ii. N.C.G.S. § 25-9-608(4) (regarding refunding the debtor with the difference 


between the amount owed on the debtor’s installment sale contract and the 


amount obtained by Defendants when reselling the repossessed vehicle); 


iii. N.C.G.S. § 25-9-610 (regarding commercially reasonable disposition of 


collateral after default); 


iv. N.C.G.S. § 25-9-611 through § 25-9-614 (regarding required notifications 


before disposition of collateral) unless waived in writing after default 


pursuant to § 25-9-624; 
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v. N.C.G.S. § 25-9-615 through § 25-9-616 (regarding application of proceeds 


of disposition, deficiencies, the debtor’s right to surplus, and required 


explanations thereof); and 


vi. N.C.G.S. § 25-9-620 (regarding acceptance of collateral in satisfaction of 


obligation, and circumstances under which disposition of collateral is 


compulsory) unless waived in writing after default pursuant to § 25-9-624. 


19. Defendants shall use good faith efforts, which at a minimum must include giving 


written notice, to provide actual notice of default and opportunity for each customer to cure the 


first instance of default for failure to make a required payment on that customer’s account by 


allowing the payment of past due installments and any late charges within fifteen (15) days of the 


date on which Defendants first mail or otherwise deliver written notice of the default and 


opportunity to cure.  Written notice shall be deemed given upon mailing to the customer’s last 


known address by a method allowing confirmation of mailing, and need only (a) notify the 


customer that the loan is in default for non-payment; (b) that the vehicle may be repossessed if 


payment in full of all past due payments is not made within fifteen (15) days of the date of notice; 


and (c) provide a telephone number for the customer to call concerning his or her loan and 


payments.  Defendants shall document electronically in the customer account file all notices and 


efforts to notify.  


20. Defendants shall not repossess (whether by Defendants themselves or by their 


employees, agents, or contractors) a vehicle by reason of payment default until two (2) 


consecutive missed payments. 
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21. The Defendants shall not charge any repossession fees or expense other than those 


allowed under N.C.G.S. § 25-9-615(a)(1) for reasonable expenses of retaking, holding, preparing 


for disposition, processing, and disposing of the vehicle. 


22. Defendants shall preserve any personal property found in any repossessed motor 


vehicle for at least thirty (30) days and release such personal property to the customer upon 


request and without condition. 


23. Defendants shall strictly comply with the provisions of N.C.G.S. § 25-9-615(d) 


with respect to any excess received upon disposition of any repossessed vehicle.  


24. In the event a vehicle is repossessed for non-payment within forty-five (45) days of 


the date of sale and is not redeemed by the borrower pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 25-9-623, Defendants 


shall pay the customer any excess received as required by Paragraph 23 and refund to the customer 


thirty percent (30%) of the down payment actually received, less the reasonable fees incurred in 


connection with the repossession allowed by Paragraph 21; provided, however, that no refund 


shall be due if the vehicle has been driven in excess of 2,000 miles before repossession. 


25. Beginning six (6) months after entry of this Decree, and every six months thereafter 


during the term of this Decree, Defendants shall determine and report to Plaintiffs the percentage 


of all retail installment sales contracts that were active during any part of that period against which 


Defendants repossessed (whether by Defendants themselves or by their employees, agents, or 


contractors) the vehicle, by reason of payment default, and which was not redeemed by the 


Customer.  For any such six (6) month period in which more than thirty-five percent (35%) of 


Defendants’ active retail installment sales contracts resulted in repossession for non-payment and 


was not redeemed by the Customer, Defendants shall provide the Plaintiffs with a copy of all 


documentation in each customer file relating to all such repossessions in the six (6) month period, 
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along with the name and contact information of each customer whose car was repossessed.  If 


such documentation shows non-compliance with the terms of this Decree, Defendants shall fully 


reimburse all customers affected by such non-compliance for all damages and costs caused by the 


non-compliance. 


D. Non-Discrimination Notices 


26. Defendants shall post and prominently display in each location where financing 


applications are received a notice of non-discrimination, the content of which shall be 


substantially the same as Appendix A, and a notice prominently setting forth the then-standard 


interest rate and a statement that the borrower may qualify for a lower rate as provided by 


Paragraph 14, in form and content substantially the same as Appendix B.   


27. Defendants shall require any of its principals, employees, or agents who originate 


retail installment sales contracts or other credit transactions covered by this Decree to provide to 


any Applicant a notice of non-discrimination that provides substantially the same information as 


is contained in Appendix A, and a notice prominently setting forth the interest rate agreed to and 


a statement that the borrower may qualify for a lower rate as provided by Paragraph 14 in form 


and content substantially the same as Appendix B.  These disclosures shall be in writing, signed 


by the originator and the Applicant (if the applicant executes), and made part of the customer file 


maintained by Defendants.  These disclosures shall be made as early as practicable, but not later 


than the time of the credit application. 


E. Trainings on Equal Credit Opportunity and N.C.G.S. Chapters 25 and 25A 


28. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Decree, and annually thereafter 


for the duration of this Decree, Defendants, their principals, and any employees or agents who 


participate in any way in the origination, processing, underwriting, or servicing of retail 
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installment sales contracts or other credit transactions covered by this Decree shall undergo 


training on equal credit opportunity and relevant provisions of state law.  The training shall be 


conducted by an independent, qualified third party, approved in advance by the Plaintiffs (which 


approval shall not be unreasonably withheld).  During this training, each participant will receive:  


(a) a copy of the policies, procedures, and notices adopted pursuant to this Decree; and (b) training 


on the requirements of ECOA and N.C.G.S chapters 25 and 25A, the terms of this Decree, the 


policies, procedures, and notices adopted pursuant to it, and his or her responsibilities under each. 


29. At the conclusion of each training session, Defendants shall secure from each 


attendee a signed statement acknowledging that he or she has received a copy of the documents 


and training required by Paragraph 28.  These statements shall be substantially in the form of 


Appendix C (Acknowledgment of Receipt of Policies, Procedures, and Notices) and Appendix D 


(Training Certification).   


30. During the term of this Decree, each newly designated or hired principal, employee, 


or agent who participates in any way in the origination, processing, underwriting, or servicing of 


retail installment sales contracts or other credit transactions covered by this Decree shall be 


provided a copy of the policies, procedures, and notices adopted pursuant to this Decree, given 


an opportunity to have any questions answered, and shall sign the acknowledgment statement 


(Appendix C) within ten (10) days of beginning his or her designation or employment in that 


position. 


31. Defendants shall bear all costs associated with the trainings described by Paragraph 


28. 
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IV. COMPENSATION OF AGGRIEVED BORROWERS 


32. Defendants shall deposit in an interest-bearing escrow account maintained by a 


third party as Escrow Agent the total sum of two hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars 


($225,000.00) to compensate borrowers for damages they may have suffered as a result of 


Defendants’ alleged violations of ECOA and/or UDTPA with respect to retail installment sales 


contracts or other credit transactions (the “Settlement Fund”).  Defendants shall provide written 


verification of the deposit to Plaintiffs within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of this Decree.  


Any interest that accrues shall become part of the Settlement Fund and be utilized and disposed of 


as set forth herein. 


33. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of this Decree, Plaintiffs shall request 


any information it believes shall assist it in identifying borrowers who may have suffered damages 


as a result of the alleged violations of ECOA and/or UDTPA or determining the amount of 


damages and payments.  Defendants shall, within thirty (30) days of receipt of such request, 


supply such information as reasonably requested to the extent that it is within their control.  To 


the extent that the information is not within Defendants’ control, they shall, within thirty (30) 


days of receipt of such request, supply any information in their control that identifies other parties 


that may have the information.  Defendants shall not be required to incur any extraordinary copy 


expense or any expense to an unrelated party in complying with this paragraph.  Plaintiffs will 


agree to one 30-day extension of Defendants’ deadline to complete the actions required by this 


paragraph, as provided by Paragraph 47, if Defendants make diligent and good-faith efforts to 


complete the actions prior to the original deadline. 
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34. Plaintiffs shall, upon reasonable notice, be allowed access to Defendants’ records 


and files to verify the accuracy of the information provided and to otherwise identify borrowers 


it believes to be entitled to the payments from the Settlement Fund. 


35. Within one hundred twenty (120) days of the Effective Date of this Decree, 


Plaintiffs shall provide Escrow Agent with a list of borrowers to be paid (“Identified Borrowers”) 


and an amount each Identified Borrower will be paid from the Settlement Fund, subject to the 


conditions set forth in Paragraph 36.   


36. Payments from the Settlement Fund to Identified Borrowers shall be subject to the 


following conditions:    


a. No Identified Borrower shall be paid any amount from the Settlement Fund 


until he or she has executed and delivered a written release, in the form set forth in 


Appendix E to this Decree (the “Release”), of all claims, legal or equitable, that he or she 


might have against the released persons and entities regarding the claims asserted by 


Plaintiffs in this lawsuit, so long as such claims accrued prior to the entry of this Decree; 


b. The total amount paid by Defendants collectively to the Identified 


Borrowers shall not exceed the amount of the Settlement Fund, including accrued interest; 


c. Defendants shall not be entitled a set-off, or any other reduction, of the 


amount of payments to Identified Borrowers because of any debts owed by the Identified 


Borrowers;  


d. Defendants shall not refuse to make a payment based on a release of legal 


claims previously signed by the Identified Borrowers; and     


e. Payment to any Identified Borrower shall not change the terms of any 


Identified Borrower’s outstanding loan with Defendants. 
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37. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of the list of Identified Borrowers, Escrow Agent 


shall notify each Identified Borrower in writing by first-class mail of his or her right to payment, 


and the procedure for obtaining payment.  Escrow Agent’s notice shall be approved by Plaintiffs 


as to form and content before mailing, which approval shall not unreasonably be withheld.  


Escrow Agent may request, and Defendants shall provide, the most recent contact information 


for Identified Borrowers in Defendants’ records and files.  Escrow Agent shall, if necessary and 


upon reasonable notice, be allowed access to Defendants’ records and files to review the contact 


information.  Escrow Agent shall make reasonable efforts using publicly available information to 


find new contact information for each Identified Borrower whose notice is returned as 


undeliverable, and promptly resend a notice to each Identified Borrower for whom it finds new 


contact information.  If no response is received within thirty (30) days from any addressee, then 


Escrow Agent shall re-mail the notice and shall also use reasonable effort to contact the Identified 


Borrower by telephone at the Identified Borrower’s last known telephone number.  If the 


Identified Borrower fails to contact Escrow Agent within ninety (90) days of the second mailing, 


then he or she shall no longer be deemed an Identified Borrower and his or her payment amount 


shall be redistributed, in a manner determined by Plaintiffs, to Identified Borrowers who 


contacted Escrow Agent.  Plaintiffs shall provide Escrow Agent a modified list of Identified 


Borrowers showing final payment amounts (after the redistribution) within thirty (30) days of 


Escrow Agent providing the list of Identified Borrowers who contacted Escrow Agents within 


ninety (90) days of the second mailing.  No funds shall be paid to any Identified Borrower until 


all amounts allocated to non-responsive Identified Borrowers have been redistributed by 


Plaintiffs. 
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38. All expenses or charges by Escrow Agent shall be borne by Defendants, and 


Defendants’ contract with Escrow Agent shall require Escrow Agent to comply with the 


provisions of this Consent Order as applicable to Escrow Agent.  Within fifteen (15) days of the 


Effective Date of this Decree, Defendants shall select and appoint Escrow Agent, subject to 


Plaintiffs’ approval, which shall not unreasonably be withheld. 


39. It is the intention of the Parties that by reason of reallocation under Paragraph 37, 


one hundred percent (100%) of the Settlement Fund will be paid to Identified Borrowers.  To that 


end, for any settlement check that is returned undeliverable or is not cashed within thirty (30) 


days of mailing, Escrow Agent shall make reasonable efforts to locate the intended payee to cause 


the check to be remailed, cashed or re-issued, as necessary.  One hundred and eighty (180) days 


after the initial mailing, all funds represented by uncashed or returned checks shall be deemed 


unwanted by the relevant Identified Borrower, and Escrow Agent shall distribute the entire 


remaining balance of the Settlement Fund (including accrued interest and after paying any 


necessary stop-pay or similar bank fees) to the North Carolina Attorney General.  Such sum may 


be used by the North Carolina Attorney General for attorney’s fees, investigative costs, consumer 


education, enforcement and/or other consumer protection purposes at the discretion of the North 


Carolina Attorney General.   


V. COMPLIANCE MONITORING AND EVALUATION 


40. For the duration of this Decree, Defendants shall retain all records relating to their 


obligations hereunder and their compliance activities as set forth herein, including, but not limited 


to, all customer records, both hard copy and electronic.  Plaintiffs shall have the right to review 


and copy such records upon request. 


Case 3:14-cv-00008-RJC-DSC   Document 33   Filed 03/30/15   Page 15 of 30







 
 


16 
 


41. For the duration of this Decree, Defendants shall notify Plaintiffs in writing within 


thirty (30) days of receipt of any complaint of racial discrimination against them, their employees 


or agents.  Defendants shall also promptly provide the Plaintiffs with all non-privileged 


information it may request concerning any such complaint.  Within thirty (30) days of the 


resolution of any such complaint, Defendants shall advise Plaintiffs of such resolution.  For 


purposes of this paragraph, a complaint shall mean a written communication alleging racial 


discrimination received directly by Defendants or forwarded to Defendants by any government 


agency or by the Better Business Bureau or similar consumer organization, an investigation of 


alleged racial discrimination initiated by any government agency, or the filing of suit alleging 


racial discrimination in any court. 


42. Six (6) months after the effective date of this Decree, and every six months 


thereafter for the term of this Decree, Defendants shall submit a report to Plaintiffs describing 


their actions taken in compliance with the provisions of the Decree and their progress in 


establishing and implementing each of the remedial items specified in this Decree.  The reports 


shall be submitted within thirty (30) days of the end of each such period and shall also include 


the following information: 


a. For each motor vehicle sold by Defendants during the reporting period: the 


customer’s name, address, and telephone number; the date of the transaction; the retail 


price charged to the customer; the posted down payment (exclusive of tax, tag, title and 


customary dealer document and prep charges) required for any vehicle sold on credit; the 


actual down payment made by the customer; and the APR.  Defendants may satisfy the 


obligations of this subparagraph by providing a copy of the Bill of Sale for each vehicle 


sold during the period so long as the Bill of Sale contains all of the preceding information; 
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b. For each motor vehicle repossessed and not redeemed by the customer during the 


reporting period, a report containing the name of the customer, vehicle year and model, 


reason for repossession, date of repossession, secured amount due at time of repossession, 


costs of repossession and resale, date of resale and resale price; and 


c. Copies of any signed Acknowledgements (Appendix C) and Training Certifications 


(Appendix D) required by Paragraphs 29 and 30. 


43. Plaintiffs will not pursue any potential violations of ECOA or UDTPA against 


Defendants for conduct in compliance with this Consent Decree. 


VI. JURISDICTION AND SCOPE OF DECREE 


44. The parties stipulate and the Court finds that the Court has personal jurisdiction 


over Defendants for purposes of this civil action, and subject matter jurisdiction over the 


Plaintiffs’ claims in this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, 1367 and 15 U.S.C. § 1691e. 


45. This Decree shall be binding on Defendants, including all of their principals, 


officers, employees, agents, representatives, assignees, and successors in interest, and all those in 


active concert or participation with any of them, including any entities that may be created or 


operated by any of Defendants in the future for the purpose of motor vehicle sales.  In the event 


Defendants seek to transfer, sell, or assign all or part of their interest in either or both of the 


Dealerships, and the successor(s) or assign(s) intend to carry on the same or similar use, then as 


a condition of the transfer, sale or assignment, Defendants shall obtain the written accession of 


the successor(s) or assign(s) to any obligations remaining under this Decree for the remaining 


term of this Decree.  The parties acknowledge that beginning January 1, 2013, Defendants’ auto 


sales and finance business have been operated by three newly formed affiliates of Defendants, 


Rea Group Auto No. 1, LLC d/b/a United Car Sales (“Rea 1”), Rea Group Auto No. 2, LLC d/b/a 


Case 3:14-cv-00008-RJC-DSC   Document 33   Filed 03/30/15   Page 17 of 30







 
 


18 
 


Auto Fare (“Rea 2”) and Silver Landing Financial, LLC (“SLF”).  By their execution hereof, Rea 


1, Rea 2 and SLF each consents to and binds itself and all of its members, managers, employees, 


agents, representatives, successors and assigns to the terms of the Decree. 


46. This Decree shall remain in effect for a period of forty-eight (48) months after its 


entry.  Plaintiffs may move the Court to extend the duration of the Decree upon showing of a 


pattern of material violations of the terms thereof. 


47. Any time limits for performance imposed by this Decree may be extended by 


mutual written agreement of the parties.  The other provisions of this Decree may be modified by 


written agreement of the parties or by motion to the Court.  If the modification of a provision 


other than a time limit for performance is made by written agreement of the parties, then such 


modification will be effective upon filing of the written agreement with the Court and remain in 


effect for the duration of the Decree or until such time as the Court indicates through written order 


that it has not approved the modification. 


48. Nothing in this Decree shall excuse Defendants’ compliance with any currently or 


subsequently effective provisions of law or order of a regulator with authority over Defendants 


that imposes additional obligations on Defendants. 


49. Nothing in this Decree may be taken or construed to be an admission or concession 


of any violation of law or regulation by any of Defendants.  This Decree is only effective between 


Plaintiffs and Defendants for the purpose of resolving this case.  It shall not be admissible as 


evidence for any purpose in any other civil case. 


50. The Decree does not create any third-party beneficiaries. 


VII. ENFORCEMENT OF THIS DECREE 
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51. Defendants will not participate, directly or indirectly, in any activity or form a 


separate entity or corporation for the purpose of engaging in acts or practices in whole or in part 


in the State of North Carolina, which are prohibited in this Decree or for any other purpose which 


would otherwise circumvent any part of this Decree or the spirit or purposes of this Decree. 


52. The parties shall endeavor in good faith to resolve informally any differences 


regarding interpretation of and compliance with this Decree prior to bringing such matters to the 


Court for resolution.  However, in the event of a failure by Defendants to perform in a timely 


manner any act required by this Decree, or otherwise to act in conformance with any provision 


thereof, Plaintiffs may move this Court to impose any remedy authorized by law or equity.  


Remedies include, but are not limited to, findings of contempt, an order requiring performance of 


such act or deeming such act to have been performed, and an award of any damages, costs, and 


reasonable attorneys’ fees that may have been occasioned by the violation or failure to perform. 


53. Defendants have provided financial information to Plaintiffs in connection with the 


settlement of this matter.  Defendants warrant that the information provided is true and accurate 


and fully and fairly reflects their financial condition as of the date on which the information was 


provided.  If any part of the financial information provided to Plaintiffs by Defendants is false, 


unfair, deceptive, misleading, or inaccurate in any material respect, Plaintiffs, in their sole 


discretion, may: 


a. Move the Court to impose sanctions; 


b. Move the Court to rescind this Decree and proceed on their original complaint; and 


c. Seek any other remedy or relief afforded by law or equity. 


VIII. COSTS AND FEES 


54. The parties will bear their own costs and fees associated with this litigation. 
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IX.    NOTICE 


55. All notices or written submissions under this Decree shall be sent by overnight 


delivery service to the following addresses:  


 TO: UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 


 


Chief 


Attn: DJ# 188-55-8 


U.S. Department of Justice 


Civil Rights Division 


Housing and Civil Enforcement Section 


1800 G St. NW, Suite 7002 


Washington, DC  20006 


 


 TO: NORTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL 


 


North Carolina Attorney General  


Attn: Torrey D. Dixon 


Consumer Protection Division 


114 West Edenton Street 


Raleigh, NC  27602 


 


 TO: DEFENDANTS 


 


Mr. Zuhdi A. Saadeh 


3911 Wilkinson Boulevard 


Charlotte, NC  28208 


 


With a copy to: 


Richard L. Farley, Esq.  


KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN, LLP 


550 South Tryon Street, Suite 2900 


Charlotte, NC  28202 


 


and 


 


James F. Wyatt, III 


Robert A. Blake, Jr. 


WYATT & BLAKE, LLP 


435 East Morehead Street 


Charlotte, NC  28202 


 


or at such other address as any party may designate by notice duly given in accordance with this 
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Section. 


X. TERMINATION OF LITIGATION HOLD 


56. The parties agree that, as of the date of the entry of this Decree, litigation is no 


longer “reasonably foreseeable” concerning the matters described above.  To the extent that either 


party previously implemented a litigation hold to preserve documents, electronically stored 


information (ESI), or things related to the matters described above, the party is no longer required 


to maintain such litigation hold.  Nothing in this paragraph relieves the parties of any other 


obligations imposed by this Decree. 
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XI. DISMISSAL AND RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 


57. The Court shall retain jurisdiction for the duration of this Consent Order referenced 


in Paragraph 46 to enforce its terms, after which time the case shall be dismissed with prejudice. 


 


IT IS SO ORDERED. 


 


Signed: March 30, 2015 
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The undersigned hereby consent to and apply for entry of this Consent Decree: 


FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: 


Dated: February 10, 2015 


 


 


ANNE M. TOMPKINS 


United States Attorney 


 


 


 


/s Paul B. Taylor                                        


PAUL B. TAYLOR, Civil Chief 


N.C. Bar No. 10067 


U.S. Courthouse, Room 233 


100 Otis Street 


Asheville, NC  28801 


Phone:  828-271-4661 


Fax:   828-271-4327 


Paul.Taylor@usdoj.gov  


 


 


/s Tiffany M. Mallory                                 


TIFFANY M. MALLORY, 


Assistant United States Attorney 


Ga. Bar No. 744522 


Suite 1650, Carillon Building 


227 West Trade Street 


Charlotte, NC 28202 


Phone: 704-338-6222 


Fax: 704-227-0248 


Tiffany.Mallory@usdoj.gov 


 


 


VANITA GUPTA 


Acting Assistant Attorney General 


Civil Rights Division 


 


  


 


STEVEN H. ROSENBAUM, Chief 


 


JON M. SEWARD, Deputy Chief 


 


/s Tamica H. Daniel                                      


TAMICA H. DANIEL, Trial Attorney 


 


/s Daniel P. Mosteller                                   


DANIEL P. MOSTELLER, Trial Attorney 


N.C. Bar No. 36958 


 


Housing and Civil Enforcement Section 


Civil Rights Division 


950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 


Northwestern Building 


Washington, D.C.  20530 


Phone:  202-514-4713 


Fax:  202-514-1116 


Tamica.Daniel@usdoj.gov 


Daniel.Mosteller@usdoj.gov 


 


Attorneys for The United States of America 
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FOR THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA ex rel. ROY COOPER, Attorney General: 


Dated: February 10, 2015 


 


 


 


 


 


/s Torrey D. Dixon                                        


TORREY D. DIXON 


N. C. Bar No. 36176 


Assistant Attorney General 


Consumer Protection Division 


114 West Edenton Street 


Raleigh, NC   27602 


Phone:  919-716-6030 


Fax:  919-716-6050 


tdixon@ncdoj.gov  


 


Attorney for Plaintiff State of North Carolina 
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FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 


 


Dated: February 10, 2015 


 


 


 


 


_______________________________  /s James F. Wyatt                                         


ZUHDI A. SAADEH     JAMES F. WYATT, III 


President      N.C. Bar No. 13766 


Auto Fare, Inc. and Southeastern Auto Corp.  ROBERT A. BLAKE, JR. 


       N.C. Bar No. 20858 


       WYATT & BLAKE, LLP 


REA GROUP AUTO NO. 1, LLC   435 East Morehead Street 


       Charlotte, NC 28202 


By:  ____________________________ Phone:  704-331-0767 


 Fax:  704-337-0773 


       jwyatt@wyattlaw.net 


REA GROUP AUTO NO. 2, LLC   rblake@wyattlaw.net 


 


By:  ____________________________ 


 


       /s Richard L. Farley                                      


SILVER LANDING FINANCIAL, LLC  RICHARD L. FARLEY 


       N.C. Bar No. 14100 


By:  ____________________________  KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN LLP 


       550 S. Tryon Street, Suite 2900 


       Charlotte, NC 28202 


       Phone: 704-444-2037 


       Fax: 704-344-3075 


       richard.farley@kattenlaw.com 


 


 Attorneys for the Defendants 
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1 Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP


Darren M. Welch
Counsel, Washington, D.C. 
Civil and Criminal Litigation 
and Government Enforcement


T: 202.371.7804
F: 202.661.8267
darren.welch@skadden.com


Education
J.D., College of William and Mary, 
Marshall-Wythe School of Law, 2000


B.A., University of Colorado, 1996 


Bar Admissions
District of Columbia
Virginia


Experience 
Law Clerk, Hon. Glen E. Conrad, 
U.S. District Court for the Western 
District of Virginia (2000-2001)


Darren Welch represents fi nancial institutions in regulatory investigations, enforcement 
proceedings and examinations, as well as in civil litigation on a broad range of consumer 
fi nancial services issues. Mr. Welch’s practice focuses on fair lending; laws governing unfair, 
deceptive and abusive acts or practices; and a wide variety of other consumer fi nancial 
protection issues. His practice also includes transactional diligence; securities, class action 
and general litigation; safety and soundness examinations and enforcement; and internal 
investigations.


Mr. Welch represents clients before the U.S. Department of Justice, the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, the Federal 
Trade Commission, federal banking regulators and state attorneys general.


Mr. Welch publishes and speaks regularly on consumer fi nancial services topics.


Selected Publications


“Supreme Court May Nix Disparate Impact 
in Fair Lending Enforcement,” Skadden’s 
2015 Insights, January 2015


“Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
Focuses on Fair Lending,” Skadden’s 2014 
Insights, January 2014


“Broad Reach of the ‘Credit’ Laws and 
Potential Compliance Pitfalls,” The Review 
of Banking and Financial Services, Decem-
ber 2013


“CFPB Finalizes Sweeping New Mort-
gage Servicing Rule,” CMBA Legal News, 
Spring 2013


“‘Leveling the Playing Field’: Implications 
of CFPB Authority Over Non-Depository 
Financial Institutions,” Antitrust, Vol. 27, 
No. 2, Spring 2013


“Financial Regulation,” Skadden’s 2013 
Insights, January 2013 


“Social Media: A New Fair Lending 


Frontier,” Mortgage Banking Magazine, 
December 2012


“Social Media: Emerging Fair Lending 
Issues,” The Review of Banking and Finan-
cial Services, July 2012 


“UDAP Developments in the Consumer 
Financial Services Industry,” The Review of 
Banking & Financial Services, March 2012


“The Latest in Fair Lending ‘Disparate 
Impact’ Actions,” Law360, November 
23, 2011


“New Consumer Bureau to Focus on Fair 
Lending,” CMBA Legal News, Summer 2011


“Primer on the Consumer Financial Protec-
tion Bureau,” Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher 
& Flom LLP, July 2011


“Bank Preemption After the Dodd-Frank 
Act,” Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & 
Flom LLP, September 2010
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Darren M. Welch
Continued


Speeches


“Fair Lending Developments,” ACI’s 16th National Forum on 
Residential Mortgage Litigation & Regulatory Enforcement, Los 
Angeles, January 15, 2015


“Emerging Fair Lending Mortgage Issues,” ACI’s 14th National 
Forum on Residential Mortgage Litigation and Regulatory Enforce-
ment, Washington, D.C., April 24, 2014


“Mortgage Fair Lending Developments,” Skadden’s 22nd Annual 
Fair Lending Conference, Washington, D.C., April 14, 2014


“Fair Lending: Managing and Defending Against Claims of 
Discriminatory Lending and Assessing the Status of ‘Disparate 
Impact,’” ACI’s 17th National Conference on Consumer Finance 
Class Actions & Litigation, New York, January 30, 2014


“Default Servicing Fair Lending Analysis,” ACI Bank and Non-Bank 
Forum on Mortgage Servicing Compliance, Washington, D.C., 
November 2013


“Recent Fair Lending Enforcement Actions and Agency Settle-
ments,” ACI 12th National Forum on Residential Mortgage Litiga-
tion and Regulatory Enforcement, Dallas, September 27, 2013


“Social Media and Fair Lending: Navigating the Compliance Risks,” 
Commercial Law WebAdvisor, July 2013


“UDAAP – The New Fair Lending Paradigm?,” Skadden’s 20th 
Annual Fair Lending Conference, Washington, D.C., April 16, 2012


“Dodd-Frank Expands Compliance Visibility throughout the Organi-
zation,” CRA & Fair Lending Colloquium, Baltimore, November 
8, 2011


“Fair Credit Reporting Act,” MBA Legal Issues and Regulatory 
Compliance Conference, Boca Raton, Fla., May 15, 2011


“Update on the CFPB and Dodd-Frank Act,” Skadden’s 19th Annual 
Fair Lending Conference, Washington, D.C., April 18, 2011
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HUD No. 14-122
Elena Gaona
(202) 708-0685


FOR RELEASE
Thursday


October 2, 2014


WASHINGTON – The Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD) announced today that it has
negotiated a Conciliation Agreement with Illinois-based
Midland States Bancorp, resolving allegations that the
bank avoided doing business in predominantly African
American and Hispanic neighborhoods in St. Louis,
Missouri and northern Illinois.


The Fair Housing Act makes it unlawful to deny or discriminate
in the terms and conditions of a mortgage or loan
modification based on race, color, national origin,
religion, sex, familial status, or disability.


“Today’s settlement demonstrates HUD’s ongoing
commitment to addressing lending discrimination, no
matter what form it takes,” said Gustavo Velasquez, HUD
Assistant Secretary for Fair Housing and Equal
Opportunity. “Everyone, regardless of their race or
national origin, should have equal access to banking
services and HUD will continue to take appropriate action
to end discriminatory practices.”


The settlement with Midland States Bancorp is the result of a
housing discrimination complaint that was filed by
Metropolitan St. Louis Equal Housing and Opportunity
Council (EHOC), a HUD Fair Housing Initiatives Program
agency. EHOC’s complaint alleged that the bank
delineated its service area in a discriminatory manner
that excluded areas of high minority concentration, a
practice known as redlining. EHOC’s complaint also
alleged that the bank located branches in a manner that
did not give equal access to customers based on race and
national origin, and failed to market residential real
estate loans in African American and Hispanic
communities.


Under the terms of the agreement, Midland States
Bancorp will:


• originate $8 million in mortgage loans in majority-
minority neighborhoods over the next three years,
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and establish a $550,000 Subsidy Fund to provide
discounted home purchases or home refinancing
loans in majority-minority markets in St. Louis,
Central Illinois/Champaign, and Northern Illinois
and/or Joliet;


• originate $3 million in home repair loans in majority-
minority census tracts, and establish a $400,000
Subsidy Fund for affordable home repair loans that
will assist homeowners in majority-minority census
tracts in St. Louis and northern Illinois, including
Joliet, who experienced financial distress and deferred
maintenance on their properties, and


• originate an aggregate of $4 million in loans for
multifamily housing located in majority-minority
census tracts in St. Louis and northern Illinois over
the next three years.


In addition, the bank will open a full-service branch in
Joliet, Illinois, a loan production branch in St. Louis, and,
tentatively, a full service branch in St. Louis. All of the
branches will be located in majority-minority census
tracts.


The agreement also provides funding for affirmative
marketing to African Americans and Hispanics, financial
education for individuals and small businesses, support
for training and education, and $200,000 for EHOC.


Persons who believe they have experienced
discrimination may file a complaint by contacting HUD’s
Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity at (800)
669-9777 (voice) or (800) 927-9275 (TTY). Housing
discrimination complaints may also be filed by going to
www.hud.gov/fairhousing, or by downloading HUD’s free housing
discrimination mobile application, which can be accessed
through Apple devices, such as the iPhone, iPad, and iPod
Touch.


###


HUD's mission is to create strong, sustainable, inclusive
communities and quality affordable homes for all.


HUD is working to strengthen the housing market to bolster
the economy and protect consumers; meet the


need for quality affordable rental homes: utilize housing as a
platform for improving quality of life; build


inclusive and sustainable communities free from
discrimination; and transform the way HUD does business.
More information about HUD and its programs is available on
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23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

Dodd-Frank Act Amendments to HMDA

The Dodd-Frank Act transferred HMDA rulemaking authority to the CFPB and required reporting of the following new data elements:











		Age
Credit score
Points and fees
Rate spread on all loans
Prepayment penalty term
Property value
Introductory rate period		Non-fully amortizing features
Loan Term
Application channel (e.g., broker)
Lien status 
Unique loan identifier (if required by the CFPB)
Property parcel number (if required by the CFPB)
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23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

Key Provisions of the New HMDA Rule

In July 2014, the CFPB issued a 572-page Proposed Rulemaking to add new data fields.

		 		Dodd-Frank Act Amendments		CFPB Additional Data Points

		Application / Loan Information		Total points and fees
Rate spread (for all loans)
Prepayment penalty term
Introductory interest rate term
Non-amortizing features
Loan term
Application channel (retail, broker, other)
Universal loan ID
Loan originator ID		Automated underwriting systems (AUS) results
Mandatory, rather than optional, reporting of the reason an application was denied
Qualified Mortgage (QM) status of loan
Combined loan-to-value (CLTV) ratio
Additional points and fees information, including:
Total origination charges
Total discount points
Borrower’s risk-adjusted, pre-discounted interest rate
Interest rate received

		Property Information		Property value
Parcel ID		Replacing property type with the number of units financed and the dwelling’s construction method
Whether multifamily property has an affordable housing deed restriction
Information concerning manufactured housing:
Whether the loan is secured by real or personal property
Whether homeowner rents or owns the property where home is sited

		Applicant / Borrower Information		Age
Credit Score		Debt-to-income ratio

		Other Information		 		Unique entity identification number (to modify or replace the current Reporter’s identification number)
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Key Provisions of the New HMDA Rule

Larger HMDA reporters (75,000+ loans reported annually) would be required to report within 60 days of the end of each quarter, accounting for approximately 50 percent of all HMDA transactions.

Comment period closed October 29, 2014.

According to its Fall Agenda (November 2014), the CFPB intends to proceed to the Final Rule Stage in July 2015.  
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Mortgage Pricing Consistency

Historically, regulators have analyzed several different interest rate and fee metrics in fair lending analyses of mortgage lending data.

APR, interest rate, and overages/underages have been the most common fair lending pricing metrics analyzed for fair lending compliance.

Recently, regulators have focused on origination or processing fees (particularly those assessed by brokers) in some fair lending reviews.

Regulation B prohibits discrimination in “any aspect of a credit transaction.”  12 C.F.R. § 1002.4 (a).

Regulators may seek to hold lenders accountable for disparities in broker fees at the portfolio level.

Isolated fee disparities may be scrutinized even if there are no disparities in APR or interest rate.
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Underwriting

Regulators are actively pursuing underwriting disparity cases.

The CFPB has identified underwriting consistency as one of its top fair lending enforcement priorities.

Statistical analyses may show “odds ratio” disparities between protected class borrowers and White borrowers.

Key issues that may affect the analysis:

Whether the reasons for denial are reflected in the electronic data.

Whether the analysis controls for all of the factors (or at least the major factors) that affect the outcome.

Whether a file review should be conducted to validate or supplement the electronic data.

Issues relating to maternity leave and disability continue to arise during examinations. 
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Loan Modifications

Loan modification practices have also been the subject of fair lending reviews.

GAO Report 14-117, “Troubled Asset Relief Program: More Efforts Needed on Fair Lending Controls and Access for Non-English Speakers in Housing Programs” (Feb. 2014).

The report stated that there were statistically significant, adverse differences in HAMP loan modification application outcomes for minorities compared with non-minorities in the following areas:

African-American applicants had a higher trial modification denial rate due to DTIs being less than 31%;

African-American borrowers had a higher re-default rate; and

Hispanic borrowers had a higher denial rate due to not providing complete information to the servicer.
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Underwriting Enforcement

U.S. Bank N.A. (HUD Conciliation Agreement, Sept. 2014)

The bank, its appraiser Red Sky Risk Services, and a bank loan officer allegedly discriminated against a Native American couple when it denied the couple’s loan application to refinance their mortgage due to insufficient value or collateral.  The loan officer allegedly told the couple that the bank was unable to make the loan because the property was located on a Native American reservation.

The bank agreed to pay the couple’s bank credit card balance in the amount of $11,489.56 and approve their application for a home mortgage refinance loan, as well as revise the bank’s policies regarding mortgage loans on Native American reservations.

MortgageIT, Inc. (HUD Conciliation Agreement, Nov. 2013)

HUD secretary-initiated complaint alleged that wholesale lender’s 2007-2008 data showed African-American mortgage loan applicants were 45% more likely to be denied, and Hispanic applicants 35% more likely to be denied, than similarly-situated White applicants.  The Complaint also alleged that African-American and Hispanic borrowers paid higher APRs (8-10 basis points) and loan fees.

MortgageIT agreed to pay $12.1 million in restitution to consumers.
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Underwriting Enforcement

Maternity leave

Wells Fargo Home Mortgage (HUD Conciliation Agreement, Oct. 2014)

HUD alleged that the bank’s underwriting policy for its FHA-insured home mortgage loans and the implementation of its policy discriminated against women on maternity leave by making loans unavailable based on sex and familial status.  The bank allegedly requested that women return to work prior to closing a loan, and made discriminatory statements towards pregnant women or women who had recently given birth.  The bank agreed to distribute $165,000 among six affected families, and create a fund with at least $3.5 million to compensate other affected applicants.

Disability documentation

American Bank Federal Savings Bank (HUD Conciliation Agreement, Nov. 3, 2014)

HUD alleged that the bank had engaged in unlawful discrimination against applicants with disabilities applying for home refinance mortgage loans.  The bank allegedly required an applicant with a permanent disability to provide SSA documentation proving two years of disability-related income, and provide additional medical documentation proving that the applicant would receive disability income for an additional three years.  The bank also allegedly required the name and phone number of the applicant’s physician to inquire about the applicant’s disability.

The bank agreed to pay $25,000 to the couple who filed the complaint with HUD, and up to $5,500 in compensatory damages for each affected applicant.
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Redlining

Regulatory and enforcement agencies have focused intently on redlining issues over the past year.

There has been very little consistency in the approaches taken by regulators for identifying redlining issues.
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Redlining

Recent redlining analyses by regulators have included the following:

Proportion of institution’s loans or applications in majority-minority census tracts (defined as >=50% minority) or high-minority census tracts (defined as >=80% minority) compared with low-minority tracts.

Percent of applications and/or loans in majority-minority or high-minority census tracts compared with “peers.”

Number of applications and/or loans in census tract groupings (e.g., 0-20% minority, 20-40% minority, etc.)

Defining peer institutions can be challenging.

Issues include the size of the institution, number of loans or applications, number of branches, history in the market, whether the institution has a retail presence, market share, product offerings, and whether institution is based in the relevant market.
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Redlining

Other potentially relevant considerations include:

Assessment Area delineation

How does the percentage of the Assessment Area tracts that are high-minority or low-minority compare to the percentage of such tracts in the MSA?

Marketing efforts

Are marketing efforts directed towards low-minority areas?

Branch locations

Are branches predominately located in low-minority areas?

Minimum loan amounts 

Has the institution established a minimum loan amount that disproportionately excludes minority customers?

Lending and application patterns in MSAs without branches.
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Redlining

Issues that regulators may not take into account, but that may nonetheless be relevant include:

Denial rates in majority-minority or high-minority tracts vs. low-minority tracts.

Total number of originations in majority-minority or high-minority tracts vs. other institutions.

Whether the institution recently entered the market.

Demand-adjusted loan and application rates.

Owner-occupied housing units, unemployment rate, etc.
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Redlining Enforcement Actions

Midland States Bancorp (HUD Conciliation Agreement, Oct. 2014)

The bank allegedly delineated its service area to exclude areas of high minority concentration and failed to market residential real estate loans in African-American and Hispanic communities.

The bank agreed to originate more than $15 million in mortgage loans in majority-minority neighborhoods over the next three years, and establish a $950,000 subsidy fund for home purchases, home repair loans, etc.

Community State Bank (DOJ, Mar. 2013)

The bank allegedly failed to serve the credit needs of majority-African-American census tracts in the Saginaw and Flint, Michigan metropolitan areas.

The bank agreed to invest $165,000 in the community for lending and marketing initiatives and open a loan production office in a minority census tract.
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New York State Redlining Enforcement Actions

Five Star Bank (NY AG, Jan. 2015)

A State investigation in November 2012 found that the bank and its parent company, Financial Institutions, Inc., had defined the bank’s lending area to include the surrounding areas of Rochester, NY, but excluded the City and its predominately minority neighborhoods. Further, the bank adopted policies that automatically designated any residential mortgage secured by property outside of the bank’s lending area as an “undesirable loan type,” and excluded borrowers seeking a mortgage of $75,000 or less from 7 of the 12 mortgage products that it offered.

The bank agreed to pay $150,000 to the State, open two Rochester branches in 30% minority-populated neighborhoods, provide $500,000 in discounts or subsidies on loans to majority-minority neighborhoods in the Rochester-metro area, and devote $250,000 to advertising directed to minority communities.

Evans Bancorp, Inc. (Complaint filed Sept. 2014)

In its Complaint, the State alleges that the bank considered the City of Buffalo its lending “Trade Area,” but excluded the predominately African-American neighborhoods on Buffalo’s Eastside and automatically disqualified these residents – regardless of creditworthiness – from certain mortgage products.  

The State also alleges that the bank has excluded over 75% of Buffalo’s African-American population from the marketing and sales of its mortgage products and services. 
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Looking Ahead

Correspondent lending

Potential for increased scrutiny of correspondent lending portfolios.

Qualified Mortgages

Institutions that originate only QM loans may be may be subject to scrutinized for fair lending compliance.

Income Standards

Continuing focus on disability and marital status discrimination may lead to other income issues.







‹#›   Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Affiliates

23rd Annual Fair Lending Conference

image1.jpeg



image11.jpeg





